Perioperative neutrophil immune function

David Jonathan Cain University College London

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Medicine (Research)

I, David Jonathan Cain, confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where the information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been indicated in the thesis.

Chapter 4

Patient data collected and recorded by research nurses and doctors working for the PostOperative Morbidity (POM) study (Sister Sadaf Iqbal, Sister Laura Gallego-Paredes) Murine bone marrow neutrophil samples were prepared by Dr Gareth Ackland

Chapter 5

HL-60 cell line was differentiated and maintained by Dr Ana Gutierrez del Arroyo

Signed:

Abstract

Within the UK severe sepsis is responsible for 29% of intensive care admissions and carries a mortality of 44.7%. Decades of research have failed to deliver a single clinically successful immune modulating therapeutic agent. These failings may be explained by fundamental methodological challenges of sepsis laboratory investigations, namely diagnostic uncertainty, an indeterminate onset and the identification of an immunologically similar control population.

The underlying hypothesis for this thesis is that the translational investigation of surgical patients may overcome many of these methodological challenges, since surgical trauma generates a homogenous inflammatory insult at a planned time to a carefully phenotyped human population. The biological basis for modelling sepsis with traumatic injury is discussed.

Firstly, I reviewed the current literature to demonstrate the methodological advantages of studying surgical patients as a surrogate for sepsis. Next, I performed an observational study of neutrophil immune function following major elective surgery which identified a reduced neutrophil respiratory burst and changes in cell surface immune receptor expression.

This impairment of activated neutrophil immune function was associated with resting neutrophil mitochondrial dysfunction, namely a raised mitochondrial membrane potential and increased production of reactive oxygen species. Using two different models of mitochondrial dysfunction I demonstrated that neutrophil respiratory burst may be regulated by altered mitochondrial functionality.

Finally, I provide evidence that the cytoplasmic target for this mitochondrial signal is the enzyme pyruvate kinase M2, which through oxidative inhibition reduces the production of the respiratory burst substrate NADPH by limiting flow of glucose through the hexose monophosphate shunt.

In summary, major elective surgery provides a translational model of human sepsis. Using this model, I demonstrate impairment of the neutrophil respiratory burst, and provide evidence that this is mediated through neutrophil mitochondrial dysfunction which promotes oxidative inhibition of the glycolytic regulatory enzyme pyruvate kinase.

3

Table of Contents

Abstract	3
Table of Contents	4
List of Figures	10
List of Tables	
Abbreviations	
Acknowledgements	20
Chapter I – Introduction	21
I.I The challenges of studying sepsis	22
I.2 Models of human sepsis	24
I.2.I Animal models	24
1.2.2 Healthy volunteer endotoxin and cytokine models	25
I.2.3 Major elective surgery	26
I.3 Neutrophils as key players in sepsis and organ injury	31
I.4 The metabolic nature of sepsis	
I.4.I Mitochondria and sepsis	34
I.5 Reactive oxygen species – a cellular signal	
I.6 Neutrophil metabolism in health and sepsis	
I.6.I Neutrophil glycolysis and the hexose monophosphate shunt	
I.6.2 The role of neutrophil mitochondria	40
I.6.3 Neutrophil metabolism during sepsis	41
I.7 Neutrophil immune function	43
I.7.I Neutrophil surface receptors	43
I.7.2 Phagocytosis	47
1.7.3 Respiratory burst	47

1.8 Neutrophil activation, effector function and life span	50
I.8.I Constitutive neutrophil death	52
1.8.2 Survival signals and activation induced death	53
1.8.3 Functional phenotypes and heterogeneity	54
I.8.4 Neutrophil priming and tolerance	54
1.9 Conclusion	56
I.I0 Hypothesis	57
I.II Aims	57
Chapter 2 – General Methods	
2.1 Clinical data collection	59
2.1.1 Study conduct	59
2.1.2 Data collection	61
2.1.3 Statistics	61
2.2 Laboratory materials	62
2.2.1 Equipment	62
2.2.2 Chemicals and reagents	63
2.2.3 Monoclonal antibodies and microbeads	65
2.2.4 Fluorescent cellular probes	67
2.2.5 Neutrophil activation agents	
2.3. Blood work	69
2.3.1 Granulocyte isolation from whole blood	69
2.3.2 Neutrophil isolation from murine bone marrow	70
2.4 Animal models	71
2.5 HL-60 cell line	71
2.6 Flow cytometry	71
2.6.1 General conduct	74
2.6.2 Filter compensation and fluorescence-minus-one	74

	6	
	4.1.1 Hypothesis	144
4	4.1 Introduction	143
Ch	apter 4. The perioperative neutrophil phenotype	142
	- 3.4.4 Conclusions	141
	3.4.3 Strengths and weaknesses	140
	3.4.2 Interpretation of results	138
	3.4.1 Key findings	137
	3.4 Discussion	137
	3.3 Results	106
	3.2 Methods	104
	3.1.2 Aims	103
	3.1.1 Hypothesis	103
	3.1 Introduction	102
Ch	apter 3 – Establishing a clinical translational model for sepsis	101
	2.10.2 Experimental protocol	100
	2.10.1 The Radiometer ABL 800 Flex	100
-	2.10 Extracellular lactate and glucose measurement	100
	2.9 Bone marrow response to surgery	97
	2.8 Reactive oxygen species time course experiments	95
-	2.7 Pharmacological manipulation of neutrophil metabolism	93
	2.6.10 2-NBDG Glucose uptake assay	91
	2.6.9 Apoptosis: Annexin-V-FITC / Propidium Iodide (PI)	90
	2.6.8 Assays of neutrophil mitochondria	85
	2.6.7 Assays of neutrophil function	82
	2.6.5 Monoclonal antibodies	81
	2.6.4 Gating and positive staining	76
	2.6.3 Reporting and presentation of flow cytometry data	75

4.1.2 Aims	44
4.2 Methods	145
4.3 Results	46
4.3.1 Patient details	46
4.3.2 Perioperative change in blood leukocyte numbers	5
4.3.3 Perioperative neutrophil respiratory burst	52
4.3.4 Perioperative neutrophil phagocytosis.	57
4.3.5 Perioperative change in neutrophil adhesion and chemotaxis receptors	59
4.3.6 Perioperative expression of neutrophil pattern recognition receptors.	60
4.3.7 Isolated granulocyte experiments	161
4.4 Discussion	162
4.4.1 Key findings	162
4.4.2 Interpretation of key findings	163
4.4.3 Strengths and limitations	66
4.4.4 Conclusions and further work	67
Chapter 5 – Postoperative neutrophil mitochondrial dysfunction and regulation of the	
respiratory burst	68
5.1 Introduction	69
5.1.1 Hypothesis	70
5.1.2 Aims	70
5.2 Methods	7
5.2.1 Perioperative human mitochondrial function	7
5.2.2 Model I: Respiratory complex inhibition within human neutrophils	7
5.2.3 Model 2: ROS manipulation within cell line model	7
5.3 Results	172
5.3.1 Patient characteristics	172
5.3.2 Perioperative neutrophil mitochondrial phenotype	76

5.3.3 Model 1: Respiratory complex inhibition within human neutrophils	
5.3.4 Model 2: HL-60 cell line model	
5.4 Discussion	
5.4.1 Key findings	
5.4.2 Interpretation of results	
5.4.3 Strengths and weaknesses	
5.4.4 Conclusions	
Chapter 6 – Neutrophil pyruvate kinase and perioperative respiratory burst	203
6.1 Introduction	204
6.1.1 Hypothesis	
6.1.2 Aims	
6.2 Methods	
6.2.1 Perioperative neutrophil glucose uptake	
6.2.2 Redox regulation of pyruvate kinase	
6.3 Results	
6.3.1 Patient characteristics	
6.3.2 Perioperative neutrophil glucose uptake	
6.3.3 DASA stimulation of pyruvate kinase	214
6.3.4 DASA reversal of Myxothiazol mediated respiratory burst inhibition	216
6.4 Discussion	
6.4.1 Key Findings	
6.4.2 Interpretaton of results	221
6.4.3 Strengths and weaknesses	223
6.4.4 Conclusions	225
Chapter 7 – Discussion	
7.1 Introduction	
7.2 Summary of key findings	

7.3 Translational relevance of results	230
7.3.1 The surgical model of inflammation	230
7.3.2 Postoperative neutrophil immune impairment (tolerance)	231
7.3.3 Postoperative neutrophil metabolic dysfunction	233
7.4 Unifying explanations for immunological and metabolic impairments within	
postoperative neutrophils	235
7.4.1 The relevance of mitochondrial dysfunction	236
7.4.2 Cellular targets for mitochondrial ROS signalling	238
7.4.3 A neutrophil specific manifestation of a global metabolic phenotype	240
7.4.4 A consequence of circulating, immature neutrophil precursors.	241
7.5 Clinical relevance	242
7.5.1 Clinical study design	242
7.5.2 Assays of inflammation	242
7.5.3 Novel targets for immunomodulation	243
7.6 Further work	243
7.6.1 Extension of the postoperative immune function and metabolic postoperative	2
phenotype	243
7.6.2 Correlation with clinical outcome	243
7.7 Conclusions	244
APPENDIX A – Experimental assay details for studies included in Chapter 3.	245
References	257

List of Figures

Figure I.I Molecular recognition of infective and traumatic injury	27
Figure 1.2 Mitochondrial Oxidative Phosphorylation	35
Figure 1.3 Redox regulation of enzyme function	37
Figure I.4. Neutrophil metabolism: glycolysis, the hexose monophosphate shunt and the	
respiratory burst	39
Figure 1.5 The neutrophil respiratory burst	49
Figure 2.1 Compensation of FITC/PI sample	75
Figure 2.2 Flow cytometric identification of neutrophils within an isolated granulocyte	
sample	77
Figure 2.3 Flow cytometric identification of neutrophils within whole blood	78
Figure 2.4 Gating strategies for Cluster of Differentiation (CD) antigens	80
Figure 2.5 Neutrophil phagocytosis assay analysis	82
Figure 2.6.Neutrophil respiratory burst assay analysis	84
Figure 2.7 JC-I assay analysis	86
Figure 2.8 TMRM assay analysis	87
Figure 2.9 MitoSOX Red assay analysis.	89
Figure 2.10 Annexin-V/PI apoptosis assay analysis	91
Figure 3.1 Flow diagram of study selection process for literature review	106
Figure 3.2 Identity of control groups used by for different study populations	132
Figure 3.3 Proportion of studies which excluded, or documented the presence of	133
major immunological comorbidities	133
Figure 3.4 Septic patient sample timing	134
Figure 3.5 Documentation of administered drugs which affect immune function	135
Figure 4.1 Perioperative change in blood leukocyte counts	151
Figure 4.2 Perioperative change in whole blood granulocyte PMA stimulated respiratory	
burstI	53
Figure 4.3 Perioperative change in whole blood granulocyte E.coli stimulated respiratory	
burstI	54
Figure 4.4 Perioperative change in whole blood granulocyte fMLP stimulated respiratory	
burstl	55
Figure 4.5 PMA simulated oxygen consumption of murine bone marrow neutrophils 24hr	`S
after surgeryI	56

Figure 4.6 Perioperative change in whole blood granulocyte phagocytosis of heat-inactivated
FITC-labelled E. coli bacteria
Figure 4.7 Perioperative change in granulocyte cell surface expression of CD16159
Figure 4.8 Perioperative expression of neutrophil cell surface receptors facilitating
transmigration and chemotaxis
Figure 4.9 Perioperative change in neutrophil cell surface expression of TREM1160
Figure 4.10 Perioperative change in neutrophil cell surface expression of TLR4
Figure 4.11 Perioperative change in isolated neutrophil respiratory burst and CD16
expression
Figure 5.1 Perioperative resting neutrophil reactive oxygen species production
Figure 5.2 Perioperative resting neutrophil mitochondrial membrane potential: TMRM assay
(whole blood and isolated granulocytes)
Figure 5.3 Perioperative resting isolated neutrophil mitochondrial membrane potential:
JC-1 assay
Figure 5.4 Perioperative isolated neutrophil apoptosis: Annexin-V assay
Figure 5.5 Perioperative neutrophil apoptosis: cell surface Fas (CD95)
Figure 5.6 The effect of respiratory complex I inhibition with Rotenone $10\mu M$ upon isolated
neutrophil PMA respiratory burst
Figure 5.7 Perioperative change in isolated neutrophil PMA stimulated respiratory burst
following incubation with rotenone 10µM184
Figure 5.8 The effect of myxothiazol 10µM upon isolated neutrophil ROS185
Figure 5.9 The effect of myxothiazol 10uM upon isolated neutrophil apoptosis186
Figure 5.10 The effect of Antimycin A $10\mu M$ upon isolated neutrophil ROS
Figure 5.11 The effect of Antimycin A $10\mu M$ upon isolated neutrophil apoptosis187
Figure 5.12 The effect of Myxothiazol 1 μ M upon isolated neutrophil ROS and apoptosis188
Figure 5.13 The effect of Myxothiazol 1uM and 10uM upon isolated resting and PMA
stimulated neutrophil DHE fluorescence
Figure 5.14 Resting HL-60 cell ROS characteristics
Figure 5.15 PMA activated HL-60 cell ROS characteristics
Figure 5.16 The effect of Myxothiazol upon resting and PMA stimulated DMSO
differentiated ('preoperative') HL-60 cell ROS production
Figure 5.17 The effect of mitochondrial antioxidant mitoTEMPO upon resting and PMA
stimulated undifferentiated ('postoperative') HL-60 cells

Figure 6.1 Glycolytic profile of neutrophils at rest, following PMA activation and under	
myxothiazol 10uM redox stress	212
Figure 6.2 Neutrophil uptake of glucose analog 2-NBDG following surgery and addition c	of
respiratory complex inhibitors	213
Figure 6.3 The effect of PKM2 activator DASA upon	214
whole blood respiratory burst and glycolytic profile	214
Figure 6.4. Perioperative effect of DASA 100 μ M upon whole blood PMA and E. coli	
stimulated respiratory burst	215
Figure 6.5 The effect of DASA upon isolated granulocyte PMA stimulated respiratory bur	rst.
	217
Figure 6.6 The effect of preincubation with DASA upon myxothiazol mediated inhibition	of
the PMA stimulated respiratory burst in isolated granulocytes	218

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Exogenous and endogenous Toll-like Receptor 4 agonists	28
Table 2.1 Patient sampling criteria / protocol.	60
Table 2.2 Laboratory equipment	62
Table 2.3 Chemicals and reagents	64
Table 2.4 Monoclonal antibodies and beads.	66
Table 2.5 Fluorescent cellular probes	67
Table 2.6 Neutrophil activating agents	68
Table 2.7 Optical specifications of CyAn ADP flow cytometer	73
Table 2.8 Operating features of CyAn ADP flow cytometer	73
Table 3.1 Principal features of neutrophil respiratory burst studies	108
Table 3.2 Demographic information of neutrophil respiratory burst studies	
Table 3.3 Experimental conduct and exclusion criteria of neutrophil respiratory burst	
studies	3
Table 3.4 Principal features of monocyte tolerance studies	5
Table 3.5 Demographic information of monocyte tolerance studies	117
Table 3.6 Experimental conduct and exclusion criteria of monocyte tolerance studies	9
Table 3.7 Principal features of lymphocyte apoptosis studies	122
Table 3.8 Demographic information of lymphocyte apoptosis studies.	126
Table 3.9 Experimental conduct and exclusion criteria of lymphocyte apoptosis studies.	129
Table 3.10 Respiratory burst assay results.	3
Table 4.1 Demographic and clinical features of study patients.	46
Table 4.2 Comorbidities and preoperative medication use of study patients.	48
Table 4.3 Perioperative care of study patients.	48
Table 4.4 Key demographic, co-morbidity and medication data for individual experimen	tal
assays	50
Table 5.1 Characteristics of the patients for Chapter 5 experimental assays	175
Table 6.1 Characteristics of the patients for Chapter 6 experimental assays	210
Table AI Experimental assay details for respiratory burst studies	248
Table A2 Experimental assay details for monocyte endotoxin tolerance studies	250
Table A3 Experimental assay details of lymphocyte apoptosis studies	255

Abbreviations

2-NBDG	2-(N-(7-Nitrobenz-2-oxa-1,3-diazol-4-yl)Amino)-2-Deoxyglucose
ADP	Adenosine Diphosphate
АССР	American College of Chest Physicians
AMP	Adenosine Monophosphate
АМРК	Adenosine Monophosphate Kinase
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
APACHE	Acute Physiology And Chronic Health Evaluation Score
Apaf	Apoptotic Protease Activating Factor
APC	Allophycocyanin
ARDS	Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome
ASA	American Society of Anaesthesiology
АТР	Adenosine Triphosphate
BAL	Broncho Alveolar Lavage
Bax	Bcl-2-associated X protein
Bcl2	B-Cell Lymphoma 2 Apoptosis Regulator Proteins
Bid	BH3 Interacting-domain Death agonist
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
CD	Cluster of Differentiation Antigen
CDC	Centre for Disease Control
cDNA	Complimentary Deoxyribonucleic Acid
CGD	Chronic Granulomatous Disease
СО	Carbon Monoxide
CO ₂	Carbon Dioxide
COPD	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
CoQ	Co-Enzyme Q
CRP	C-Reactive Protein
CSF	Cerebrospinal Fluid
CXCR2	Chemokine-X-C Receptor 2 (IL-8 receptor)

CytC	Cytochrome-C Oxidase
DAMPs	Damage-Associated Molecular Patterns
DASA	Diarylsulfonamide
DCFH-DA	2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate
DHE	Dihydroethidium
DHEA	Dehydroepiandrosterone
DHR	Dihydrorhodamine
DiOC ₆	3,3'-Dihexyloxacarbocyanine lodide
DMEM	Dulbecco Modified Eagles Medium
DMSO	Dimethyl Sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
dTTP	Thymidine triphosphate
dUTP	Deoxyuridine Triphosphate
ECG	Electrocardiogram
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid
EGFR	Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor
ELISA	Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay
ERK	Extracellular signal-Regulated Kinase
ESR	Erythrocyte Sedimentation Rate
FACS	Fluorescence Activated Cell Sorting
Fc	(Immunoglobulin) Fixed Chain
FCCP	Carbonyl cyanide-4-(trifluoromethoxy)phenylhydrazone
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
fMLP	<u>N</u> -Formylmethionine-leucyl-phenylalanine
FN	Fibronectin
FSC	Forward Scatter
G6P	Glucose-6-Phosphate
G6PDH	Glucose-6-Phosphate Dehydrogenase
GA3P	Glyceraldehyde-3-Phosphate
GFR	Glomerular Filtration Rate
GLUT	Glucose Transporter
GM-CSF	Granulocyte Macrophage – Colony Stimulating Factor

GTP	Guanosine Triphosphate
H ₂ O ₂	Hydrogen Peroxide
HBSS	Hank Balanced Salt Solution
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-I-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HIF	Hypoxia Inducible Factor
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HL-60	Human Leukocyte 60 Cell Line
HLA	Human Leukocyte Antigen
HMGBI	High Mobility Group Box Protein I
HPO	Horseradish Peroxidase
HV	Healthy Volunteer
ICU	Intensive Care Unit
lg	Immunoglobulin
ІКВ	Inhibitory Kappa Beta
IL-1β	Interleukin-I Beta
IQR	Interquartile Range
IRAK	Interleukin-I Receptor Associated Kinase
ISS	Injury Severity Score
ЈАК	Janus Kinase
JC-I	Tetraethylbenzimidazolylcarbocyanine iodide
ЈИК	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
LED	Light Emitting Diode
LOS	Length Of Stay
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
mAb	Monoclonal Antibody
МАРК	Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase
McII	Induced Myeloid Leukaemia cell differentiation protein
METs	Metabolic Equivalents
MFI	Median Fluorescence Intensity
ММР	Mitochondrial Membrane Potential
MNF	Mononuclear Fraction
MnSOD	Manganese Superoxide Dismutase

MODs	Multi Organ Dysfunction Syndrome
MREC	Medical Research and Ethics Committee
mRNA	Messenger Ribonucleic Acid
mtDNA	Mitochondria Deoxyribonucleic Acid
mTOR	Mammalian Target Of Rapamycin
NAD	Nicotinamide Adenosine Dinucleotide
NADH	Reduced Nicotinamide Adenosine Dinucleotide
NDMA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
NETs	Neutrophil Extracellular Traps
NF-kB	Nuclear Factor - Kappa Beta transcription factor
NLRP3	NACHT, LRR and PYD domains-containing protein 3
NO	Nitric Oxide
NOD	Nod-like Receptor
NOX	NADPH Oxidase
NRF2	Nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2
O ₂	Oxygen
O ₂ ⁻	Superoxide
OCR	Oxygen Consumption Rate
P ₂ Y ₂	Purinergic Receptor Y2
PAMPs	Pathogen-Associated Molecular Patterns
PBL	Peripheral Blood Leukocyte
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PE	Phycoerythrin
PEG	Polyethylene Glycol
PEP	Phosphophenylpyruvate
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
РНОХ	Phagocyte NADPH Oxidase (NOX2)
Pi	Inorganic Phosphate
PI	Propidium Iodide
PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PINK-I	PTEN-Induced putative Kinase
PIP ₃	Phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-trisphosphate

РК	Pyruvate Kinase
РКС	Protein Kinase C
PKM2	Pyruvate Kinase M2 isoform
PMA	Phorbol Myristate Acetate
РМТ	Photomultiplier Tube
POD	Post-Operative Day
POMs	Post-Operative Morbidity Score
POSSUM	Physiological and Operative Surgery Severity Score for
	enumeration of Mortality and Morbidity
PRRs	Pattern Recognition Receptors
PTEN	Phosphatase and Tensin homolog
qRT-PCR	(Semi) quantitative Reverse Transcription Polymerase Chain
	Reaction
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
RPMI-1640	Roswell Park Memorial Institute 1640 solution
SAPS	Simplified Acute Physiology Score
SCCM	Society of Critical Care Medicine
SD	Standard Deviation
SDS PAGE	Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis
SIRS	Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome
SOD	Superoxide Dismutase
SSC	Side Scatter
STAT	Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription
TIRAP	Toll-Interleukin I Receptor Adapter Protein
TLR	Toll-like Receptor
TMRM	Tetramethylrhodamine, Methyl Ester, Perchlorate
TNF-α	Tumour Necrosis Factor Alpha
TNM	Tumour Nodes Metastasis classification system
TREM-I	Triggering Receptor Expressed on Myeloid cells I
TUNEL	Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labelling
UDG	Uracil-DNA Glycosylase

VAP	Ventilator Associated Pneumonia
VDAC	Voltage-Dependent Anion Channel
VSAQ	Veterans Specific Activity Questionnaire
wcc	White Cell Count

Acknowledgements

I wish to thank my primary supervisor, Dr Gareth Ackland, for proposing and funding this study and for the enormous support he has shown. I have learned, and developed so much during these years of study and I am forever grateful. I especially thank him for developing my scientific approach and the many hours he has spent critiquing my writing technique and style. I thank my secondary supervisor, Professor Mervyn Singer, for the immersive scientific experience which working within his laboratory has provided, for his kindness, and wonderful barbeques.

Dr Ana Gutierrez-del-Arroyo and Dr Mark Edwards have taught me the laboratory techniques used within this thesis, kindly proof read my writing and provided ready sources of advice throughout.

Thanks for my friends and co-workers within the Wolfson Institute for Biomedical Research: Drs Mark Edwards, John Whittle, Pervez Sultan, Alex Dyson, Simone Sharma, Tomas Adejumo, Verena Simona and Bernardo Bollen Pinto.

Thank you to the patients who kindly agreed to take part.

I thank my wife Joanna for the support and understanding she shown throughout this process, and the inventiveness of my daughters Astrid and Evie who (temporarily) replaced me with a plastic figure named 'Daddy' while I was busy writing.

Chapter I – Introduction

1.1 The challenges of studying sepsis

Sepsis is a clinical syndrome. It was newly defined in February 2016 as organ dysfunction caused by a dysregulated host response to suspected infection, and carries a mortality of 10% (Singer et al., 2016). The previous definition of sepsis, used by much of the published literature, described a systemic inflammatory response (SIRS) in the context of presumed infection, with sub-classifications of severe sepsis and septic shock describing coexistent organ dysfunction and treatment resistant hypotension respectively (Dellinger et al., 2013).

Within the United Kingdom severe sepsis accounts for 28.7% of intensive care admissions and confers a mortality of 44.7% (Harrison et al., 2006). The international incidence of sepsis may be rising (Dombrovskiy et al., 2007; Martin et al., 2003). To date, enormous investment and decades of research have failed to deliver a single immune-modulating agent that has been reliably shown to improve outcome from human sepsis (Alejandria et al., 2013; Angus et al., 2000; Lehmann et al., 2014; Ranieri et al., 2012; Sprung et al., 2008). This thesis will explore how the methodological challenges presented by study of human sepsis may be responsible for these limitations, and if an alternative model of human inflammation – using blood samples taken from major elective surgery patients – can overcome these challenges.

The methodological challenges of human sepsis research begin with the very diagnosis of sepsis itself. Sepsis definitions were designed to guide empirical bedside management of sepsis (Dellinger et al., 2013; Singer et al., 2016), not to facilitate the scientific interrogation of the pathophysiological mechanisms responsible. As such they rely upon non-specific physiological and laboratory parameters to identify inflammation and clinical suspicion to identify infection. Although the diagnostic accuracy maybe improved by the inclusion of latterly returned microbiological data, these data are often non-specific and the 'dose' of infection can never be known. It follows that the relative contribution of infective burden, maladaptive inflammatory responses and therapeutic plus iatrogenic interventions to disease progression within individual patients cannot be determined.

Identification of an appropriate control population presents the second key methodological challenge to human sepsis studies. Cohort or longitudinal study design is methodologically advantageous because septic samples may be compared to an individual's pre-illness control samples, improving the likelihood that the development of sepsis is responsible for observed changes to immune readouts. However, such studies are neither economically feasible nor

22

practicable for a disease which is relatively infrequent and has such a capricious onset as sepsis. Therefore, case-control investigations are often performed, where a separate control population – such as healthy volunteers - is identified. However, septic patients may possess a range of immunologically relevant confounding factors that are not represented within the non-septic control population. Specific examples include:

- Age Sepsis is more common in the elderly (Henriksen et al., 2015). Advancing age is associated with reduced lymphocyte number and functionality (Montecino-Rodriguez et al., 2013), and diminished granulocyte effector activities such as respiratory burst (Valente et al., 2009).
- Gender Sepsis is more common in men (McGowan et al., 1975; Offner et al., 1999). Enhanced protection during the proestrus period and following oestrogen replacement in postmenopausal women suggests oestrogen may confer direct protective effects from sepsis (Weniger et al., 2015), possibly through oestrogen mediated attenuation of proinflammatory cytokine secretion (Angele et al., 2014).
- Comorbid disease Patients with overt immunosuppressive diseases such as Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) are more likely to develop sepsis (Henriksen et al., 2015). Cancer is associated with an increased incidence of infection and a host of immunological changes, such as altered distribution of leukocytes across the gut and lung, natural killer cell depletion and lymphopenia (Ray-coquard et al., 2009; Snyder and Greenberg, 2010). Other diseases and syndromes are also associated with changes in resting markers of inflammation such as erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) and C-reactive peptide (CRP), e.g. chronic heart failure (Fildes et al., 2009). Many of these confounding diseases and conditions may be undiagnosed at the time of sepsis presentation and remain so throughout the patient's intensive care unit (ICU) admission.
- Therapeutic interventions. Commonly administered therapies such as antibiotics (Kalghatgi et al., 2013; Kanoh, 2010), sedatives (Mikawa et al., 1998) and steroids (Clarke et al., 1993) have off-target immunological effects. These include inhibition of NF-kB secretion (Kanoh, 2010), enhanced production of reactive oxygen species (Kalghatgi et al., 2013), impaired neutrophil respiratory burst activity (Mikawa et al., 1998), and lymphocyte apoptosis (Clarke et al., 1993).

23

It follows that the overwhelming experimental noise present within clinical investigations may prevent real and relevant experimental signals from being identified. Traditionally, translational research has employed a range of laboratory models that aim to overcome this experimental noise and in which preliminary observations may be made. For example, the use of animal models, and healthy volunteer endotoxin/cytokine exposure are well established within sepsis research. With these models, the timed administration of an inflammatory insult, coupled with carefully controlled laboratory conditions avoid many of the methodological challenges of real-world sepsis research. However, these methodological advantages may be offset by their limited biological relevance. The biology of animal model sepsis is different to that in humans, while healthy volunteer studies cannot reproduce the severity of real-world disease. In principle, the use of patients undergoing major elective surgery provides many of the methodological benefits of animal model research coupled with the administration of a major inflammatory stimulus within human beings.

1.2 Models of human sepsis

I.2.1 Animal models

Modern transgenic and knock-down technology allow control over the location and timing of gene expression. Humanised models, where human myeloid cells are grafted into immunocompetent mice, reproduce specific features of human disease with greater accuracy. Despite these developments there are inherent physiological, pathological and phenotypic differences that limit their applicability. Murine metabolism (Radermacher, 2013), cardiovascular regulation (Doevendans et al., 1998) and gut flora (Salzman et al., 2002) are very different to humans. Wide variations in survival of different mouse strains has been reported (De Maio et al., 2005; Stewart et al., 2002). Pattern recognition receptor activation and signalling is fundamentally different (Lund et al., 2003; Rehli, 2002). For example, 10,000-fold higher doses of lipopolysaccharide required to recreate sepsis syndrome in rats (Shultz et al., 2007). In contrast to humans, circulating murine lymphocytes greatly outnumber circulating granulocytes. While human leukocyte messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) expression is highly conserved following trauma, burns and endotoxin, murine homologs show little correlation and much wider variation to these different stimuli (Xiao et al., 2011). Immune effector functions differ, as do distribution of leukocyte subsets across gastrointestinal and pulmonary surfaces (Doeing et al., 2003; Rehli, 2002). The modality of septic death is also fundamentally different. Model animals typically die early, as a direct consequence of the initial pathophysiological insult (Warren, 2009), whereas human death usually follows a delayed multisystem dysfunction some time after initial resuscitation and therapeutic support (Martin et al., 2003).

Large animal models have also been developed. For ethical reasons these models are rarely used for survival studies (Fink, 2014). Similar to humans, sheep display marked changes in pulmonary artery pressure, cardiac output and lung microvascular permeability with nanomolar/kg doses of endotoxin (Traber et al., 1988) while pseudomonas aeruginosa infusions have been used to replicate sepsis itself (Booke et al., 2000). Non-human primates, such as Papio anubis are incredibly resistant to endotoxin and bacterial infusion (Hinshaw et al., 1981), and the use of such models to test pharmacological agents have not correlated with outcomes in human sepsis trials (Fink, 2014).

1.2.2 Healthy volunteer endotoxin and cytokine models

The administration of endotoxin (1-4ng/kg iv) or specific cytokines to healthy volunteers mimics certain aspects of sepsis such as the loss of granulocyte tumour necrosis factor receptor (TNF-R) (Calvano and Coyle, 2012; van der Poll et al., 1995) and the early hyperdynamic circulatory response phase of sepsis (Andreasen et al., 2008; Bahador and Cross, 2007; Lowry, 2005). However other aspects, such as the dynamic pattern of cytokine expression, differ markedly to patterns observed in established sepsis (Damas et al., 1992; Krabbe et al., 2002). For obvious ethical reasons the magnitude and duration of organ dysfunction, therapeutic interventions and comorbidities which characterise human sepsis cannot be replicated within these models (Andreasen et al., 2008).

1.2.3 Major elective surgery

Major elective surgery provides two distinct opportunities for cohort investigations of human sepsis. Firstly, the inflammatory insult of surgery itself may serve as a model of infection, and secondly, postoperative sepsis is relatively common. In both instances, the planned nature of elective surgery overcomes the methodological challenges of studying humans with established sepsis.

The planned nature of elective surgery permits cohort study design, enabling comparison of accurately timed post-insult samples with individualised control samples. By specifying operation types and surgical teams the 'dose' of surgery is relatively controlled. Such patients typically undergo extensive preoperative investigation, and are therefore carefully phenotyped (Stringer, 2010). Large numbers of patients may be recruited, with an estimated 234 million surgical procedures performed each year (Weiser et al., 2008). Surgical procedures themselves allow the acquisition of body tissue samples (Brealey et al., 2002; Henriksen et al., 2003; Kobayashi et al., 2008) the placement of indwelling catheters for future sampling (Moore et al., 1991) and access to non-invasive imaging modalities (Izquierdo et al., 2013; Purdon et al., 2009), while routine perioperative blood sampling allows serial collection of data without added risk. When these aspects are considered, major elective surgery may be considered to bring the methodological precision of laboratory research to real-world human inflammatory disease.

1.2.3.1 Modelling human sepsis with a surgical insult.

Experimental observations from postoperative patients are directly relevant to those with sepsis because human responses to infective and traumatic injury are highly conserved at molecular, genomic and clinical levels.

The molecular similarities begin with the very first checkpoint of inflammation, the release and detection of danger signals (Nathan, 2006). Endogenous danger signals are termed damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), and consist of a diverse range of compartmentalised molecules/compounds whose presence out-with their usual location signals cellular injury. Exogenous danger signals are termed pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). DAMPs and PAMPs bind to membrane and cytoplasmic receptors termed pattern recognition receptors (PRR). Ultimately, both DAMPs and PAMPs promote the assembly of shared signalling platforms, such as the inflammasome and apoptosome, and the activation of identical transcription factors, such as Nuclear Factor -kB (NF-kB). Shared responses to these infective and traumatic injury signals are apparent at many levels of the inflammatory cascade (Fig 1.1). Inflammation is not an all or nothing response, and exists on a homeostatic continuum. Some DAMPs, such as endotoxin are continuously released and the complex receptor signalling systems more similar to endogenous hormone-receptor interactions than those of bacterial toxins (Marshall, 2005).



Figure 1.1 Molecular recognition of infective and traumatic injury.

Adapted from (Mollen et al., 2006)

Similarities between the molecular recognition of infective and traumatic injury include:

 Shared activation of the same PRR by multiple DAMPs and PAMPs. Some PRRs respond to both DAMP and PAMP ligands (Matzinger, 1994; Medzhitov and Janeway, 2002). This may be achieved through multiple ligand domains on the receptor itself, conserved molecular motifs on ligands, such as uncovered hydrophobic portions (Seong and Matzinger, 2004), the use of adapter proteins plus co-receptors and co-activation at lipid rafts (Pfeiffer et al., 2001; Triantafilou and Triantafilou, 2002). Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) is the most heavily investigated PRR, and is critical to the host response across a multitude of experimental paradigms (Ayala et al., 2002; Barsness et al., 2004). The TLR4 ligand repertoire is vast (Table 1.1).

High Mobility Group Box I
Heparin sulphate
Extra domain A of fibronectin
Heat proteins 60, 70, Gp96
Surfactant Protein A
B-Defensin 2
Fibrinogen
Biglycan
Hyaluronan oligomers

Table 1.1 Exogenous and endogenous Toll-like Receptor 4 agonists.

Adapted from (Mollen et al., 2006)

 Shared signal transduction machinery by different PRR. Toll like receptors and other PRR activate a highly conserved number of intracellular adapter proteins, such as MyD88 and TIRAP (Henneke and Golenbock, 2001; Tamassia et al., 2007). MyD88 recruits the IRAK family kinases, and subsequently MAPK and NF-kB. The transcription factor NF-kB is a key activator of innate immunity, and is a complex of Rela (p65)/p50 heterodimers which remain in the cytoplasm bound to inhibitory kB (IkB). Upon activation, IkB dissociates and NFkB translocate to the nucleus, binding to gene promotors (Ghosh and Karin, 2002). Some of these down-stream pathways, such as Hypoxia Inducible Factor (HIF) are also directly activated by commonly used anaesthetic agents (Cramer et al., 2003; Peyssonnaux et al., 2005).

- Co-release of DAMPs and PAMPs. Tissue injury provides a portal for infection which will cause further tissue injury. Therefore, the release of DAMPs will be accompanied by PAMPs and vice versa.
- **Translocation of endotoxin.** The physiological redistribution of blood flow away from the gut which accompanies severe systemic inflammation may lead to translocation of PAMPs (such as endotoxin) to the systemic circulation (Ackland et al., 2000; Van Leeuwen et al., 1994).
- Mitochondrial DAMPs are structurally similar to bacterial PAMPs. Mitochondria contain molecular signatures of their protobacterial origins, such as circular Deoxyribonucleic Acid (DNA) with CpG repeats and formyl-peptides which activate TLR9 and formyl-peptide receptors respectively, and exemplify the evolutionary relationship between DAMPs and PAMPs (Bianchetti et al., 1977; Taanman, 1999). Plasma levels of mitochondrial DAMPs maybe elevated a thousand-fold higher in trauma patients (Zhang et al. 2010; Haimovich et al. 2014) and correlate with mortality (Simmons et al., 2013). The infusion of mitochondrial DAMPs into rats leads to the accumulation of fluid, albumin and neutrophils within the lungs, which maybe prevented by the co-administration of blocking antibodies, while the *in vitro* incubation of neutrophils with mitochondrial DAMPs leads to an activated neutrophil phenotype, with Ca influx, p38 MAP-kinase phosphorylation and IL-8 release (Q. Zhang et al., 2010).

The molecular similarities between infective and non-infective inflammation are supported by genomic investigations of circulating leukocyte mRNA expression. Highly conserved responses within the circulating leukocyte transcriptome have been identified following trauma, burns and endotoxin administration [(Xiao et al., 2011), with endotoxin-exposed volunteers and trauma patients demonstrating an 88% concordance in expression. Such observations provide genomic support to the clinical similarities between major surgery and sepsis patients. These investigations have identified genome wide changes in expression – one investigation found that 16,820 of 20,720 reported genes changed expression (Xiao et al., 2011), while studies of more limited expression have also identified changes in many non-immune genes, such as glycolytic and circadian clock modules (Haimovich et al., 2014). Genomic studies of circulating leukocyte mRNA expression have shown strong concordance despite using different technologies (Fessler et al., 2002; Malcolm et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2004).

The correlation between transcriptome and proteome expression is less clear. de Godoy et al found a strong relationship when investigating yeast replication (de Godoy et al., 2008), however a similar investigation of inflammatory gene/protein expression found little correlation (Fessler et al., 2002). The alternative approach to these 'bottom-up' technologies is to measure specific cellular functions that may be expected to alter clinical outcomes, such as assays of immune cell effector activities. For example, the investigation of sepsis induced lymphocyte apoptosis (Boomer et al., 2011; Hotchkiss et al., 1997).

These molecular and genomic data may therefore explain why patients with primarily traumatic or infective injury appear clinically similar (Matzinger, 1994; Seong and Matzinger, 2004). In contrast to the robust evidence base supporting the biological basis for modelling human sepsis with traumatic injury, it is unclear whether the theoretical methodological advantages of studying surgical patients are realised within the translational literature.

1.2.3.2 Modelling sepsis with postoperative infectious complications.

Postoperative sepsis is sufficiently common to make cohort investigations feasible. Even in prospective randomized controlled trials investigating surgical site infections, the incidence often exceeds 15% (Belda et al., 2005; Melling et al., 2001).

Postoperative sepsis is more common in patients with immunosuppressive disease (Charlson et al., 1994) cancer (Bateman et al., 2010; Charlson et al., 1994; Copeland et al., 1991), advanced age (Charlson et al., 1994; Copeland et al., 1991; Gupta et al., 2013; Manilich et al., 2013), malnutrition (Warnold and Lundholm, 1984; Windsor and Hill, 1988) and congestive cardiac failure (Charlson et al. 1994; T. H. Lee et al. 1999; Bateman et al. 2010). All of these conditions are common in non-surgical patients who develop sepsis (Angus et al., 2001).

1.3 Neutrophils as key players in sepsis and organ injury

Neutrophils are the predominant cell type of the early SIRS response, readily entering inflamed tissues and possessing a powerful antimicrobial arsenal (Smith, 1994). Inherited deficiencies of neutrophil function, such as chronic granulomatous disease and leukocyte adhesion deficiency, predispose to life-threatening bacterial infection. While an appropriate response to infection is necessary for survival, such powerful antimicrobial functions may also cause harm.

The experimental and clinical literature supports the autotoxic potential of neutrophils. Experimental data from animal models suggest that the timing of neutrophil activity in response to an index insult is critical in determining outcome, however this cannot be reliably tested within human sepsis patients because the time at which sepsis began is not known.

Autotoxic neutrophil behaviour may be associated with every stage of neutrophil activation and activity. Accumulation of neutrophils within the vasculature has been demonstrated during systemic illness (Brown et al., 2006). Migration of neutrophils through venules may directly damage endothelium, and promote further tissue injury (Abe et al., 1990). The passage of neutrophils into distant tissues, such as the lung (Mallick et al., 1989) and liver (Holman and Saba, 1988), may promote distant organ dysfunction. The release of toxic granules within infected tissues may damage local tissues. Through these mechanisms neutrophils may promote continued release of DAMPs, sustaining the inflammatory response and leading to a state of chronic non-resolving inflammation (Nathan, 2006). Due to the large numbers of neutrophils released each day, small changes in the rate of apoptosis may increase both circulating and tissue neutrophil numbers dramatically.

Neutrophils are also key regulators of the adaptive immune response. They may recruit classical antigen presenting cells through outside-in integrin signalling (Pillay et al., 2012), the release of granule contents (Chertov et al., 2000) and the secretion of cytokines/chemokines (Pelletier et al., 2010). Neutrophils may possibly present antigen directly, through cell surface Human Leukocyte Antigen-DR (HLA-DR) (Gosselin et al., 1993). Finally, neutrophils may polarise macrophage differentiation into pro and anti-inflammatory subtypes (Nathan, 2006), dependent upon prevalent conditions.

These potentially autotoxic behaviours may be offset by anti-inflammatory processes. Neutrophil extracellular traps are networks of extruded DNA that concentrate killing power, and in doing so, prevent the systemic spread of granule contents. The generation of an early robust neutrophil response may be necessary for the transition to the timely resolution of inflammation. Patients with chronic granulomatous disease, an inherited defect of the neutrophil respiratory burst, have foci of sterile inflammation and a predisposition to soft tissue abscesses. This observation is supported by mouse models that show unrestrained $\chi\Delta$ lymphocyte activity, enhanced IL-17 production and defective regulatory Tcell production, plus and a predisposition to autoimmune disease (Romani et al., 2008).

Within animal models neutrophil function has been dynamically manipulated through the timed depletion of the circulating pool with cytotoxic vinblastine or anti–GR1 antibodies. Within a model of ischaemia-reperfusion injury, pre-insult vinblastine increased the systemic translocation of gut bacteria, while post-insult depletion reduced distant organ injury (Deitch et al., 1990; Hoesel et al., 2005). Delayed neutrophil depletion may confer protection by reducing delayed injury to distant organs such as the lung and liver (Poggetti et al., 1992; Raghavendran et al., 2005). Within murine models of pancreatitis (Chen et al., 2015) and hepatitis (Liu et al., 2006), GR-1 antibody-mediated neutrophil depletion consistently reduces local tissue injury and systemic markers of inflammation. Similarly, pharmacological inhibition of neutrophil activation confers protection within murine models of endotoxic shock (Lowell and Berton, 1998; Nathens et al., 1997).

Definitive conclusions regarding the role of neutrophils in human sepsis have been frustrated by variability in experimental results. Bronchoalveolar lavage samples from patients with established lung injury reveal a correlation between alveolar neutrophil numbers and clinical outcome (Chollet-Martin et al., 1996; Miller et al., 1992; Steinberg et al., 1994), and similarly the presence of neutrophil precursors on admission to critical care is associated with both the presence of sepsis and worse clinical outcomes (Mare et al., 2015). Tests of actual neutrophil function, such as the neutrophil respiratory burst may be increased (Bass et al., 1986; Martins et al., 2003) or decreased (Wenisch and Graninger, 1995) in septic patients. Furthermore, the functional significance of the widespread reprogramming of the circulating leukocyte transcriptome, which includes metabolic as well as classical immune genes, remains unknown. Therefore, the surgical model of inflammation provides an opportunity to readdress these studies, using precisely timed clinical samples to investigate the proposed dynamic interaction between neutrophil function in relation to an index inflammatory insult.

1.4 The metabolic nature of sepsis

The sepsis literature describes a hypometabolic and oxidative stress phenotype, present throughout bodily organs and circulating cells. Septic patient tissues demonstrate diminished ATP production with preserved dissolved oxygen tensions, (Carré and Singer, 2008; Fink, 2001; Padfield et al., 2005; Svistunenko et al., 2006), implying impaired cellular/mitochondrial utilisation of oxygen - a state termed cytopathic dysoxia. Patients with severe sepsis consume less oxygen than those with uncomplicated sepsis (Kreymann et al., 1993). Ex vivo interrogation of septic mitochondria has identified a broad range of functional changes across the full range of established mitochondrial activities.

The hypometabolic septic phenotype is supported by clinical trial data from studies of goal directed therapy, where the manipulation of oxygen delivery to peripheral tissues in sepsis does not appear to improve clinical outcome, suggesting that dysoxia is an important cellular feature of sepsis/tissue injury (Gattinoni et al., 1995; Hayes et al., 1993; Mouncey et al., 2015; Peake et al., 2014; Yealy et al., 2014)

The interpretation of these sepsis metabolic studies is limited by the absence of reliable control data. Like immune function, age, comorbid disease and therapeutic interventions may all alter metabolic function. Off target mitochondrial effects have been demonstrated with volatile anaesthetic agents (Cohen, 1973; Eckenhoff and Johansson, 1997; Hanley et al., 2002; Mazzanti et al., 1979), lignocaine (Werdehausen et al., 2007), antibiotics (Gootz et al., 1990; Pochini et al., 2008) and propofol (Marian et al., 1997; Schenkman and Yan, 2000; Stevanato et al., 2002). Anaesthetic agents also inhibit central nervous system glycolytic enzymes (Webb and Elliott, 1951). The surgical model of inflammation may therefore support the investigation of these (likely) dynamic metabolic changes by providing accurately timed patient samples.

How the hypometabolic phenotype affects circulating immune cells is less clear. Within lymphocytes a hypometabolic phenotype has been previously shown to be associated with both diminished circulating numbers and multiple deficiencies of lymphocyte function, such

33

as cellular proliferation, cytokine production and a tendency to apoptosis (Edwards et al., 2015). This phenotype was associated with excess postoperative morbidity.

A hypometabolic phenotype would be directly relevant to neutrophils. Activated neutrophils are critically dependent upon glycolysis and the hexose monophosphate shunt to provide bioenergetic adenine triphosphate (ATP) (chemotaxis/phagocytosis) and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) (the respiratory burst). ATP is also required for gene regulation and protein synthesis within activated neutrophils (Kobayashi et al., 2003; McDonald et al., 1997).

Transcriptional and metabolic profiling of peripheral blood mononuclear cells has identified a shift from oxidative phosphorylation to aerobic glycolysis following addition of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and C.albicans (Cheng et al., 2016) i.e. the same metabolic phenotype observed in cancer cells, termed the Warburg effect.

I.4.1 Mitochondria and sepsis

Mitochondrial dysfunction underlies the hypometabolism and oxidative stress of sepsis, as well as the increasing likelihood of cellular apoptosis. Mitochondria produce ATP through oxidative phosphorylation, where electrons are transferred from high energy substrates across four respiratory complexes to the terminal acceptor oxygen (Fig 1.2). The passage of electrons liberates protons that are pumped across the inner mitochondrial membranes, thereby creating a mitochondrial membrane potential (MMP). These protons pass back into the mitochondrial matrix through F1F0 ATP synthase, synthesising ATP from ADP.

Beyond production of bioenergetic ATP, the MMP also supports the transfer of other ions (such as calcium) and compounds into and out of mitochondria. The MMP is necessary for osmotic regulation and therefore mitochondrial viability, which in turn activates cellular apoptosis. Control of oxidative phosphorylation is mediated through substrate level allosteric control – i.e. ATP/Pi, NAD:NADH and O_2 - but remains incompletely understood (Balaban et al., 2005; Brown, 1992; Hüttemann et al., 2008).

Within the inner membrane individual respiratory complexes are grouped into larger super complexes which facilitate efficient electron transfer. Despite this, between 0.1% and 5% of electrons escape and react with local oxygen to form reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Boveris et al., 1972; Fridovich, 2004). Mitochondrial ROS are principally generated as superoxide during oxidative phosphorylation, mostly at respiratory complex III (Vincent et

al., 2004), but also from complex I (Lambert and Brand, 2004; Lenaz et al., 2006) and II (Dikalov, 2011).

Several processes have been identified which regulate and maintain the MMP. Obstructions to electron flow, including hypoxia and pharmacological inhibition of complexes, will increase ROS production and dissipate the membrane potential (Madesh and Hajnóczky, 2001; Zoratti and Szabb, 1995). This process may be actively regulated by promotion of reverse electron flow through the respiratory complexes (Lambert and Brand, 2004) and mitochondrial ATP levels (Costa and Garlid, 2008; Queliconi et al., 2011). Similarly, if mitochondrial respiration is compromised the F1F0 ATP-synthase may maintain the MMP through ATP consumption and reverse transport of hydrogen ions (Campanella et al., 2008).



Figure 1.2 Mitochondrial Oxidative Phosphorylation.

The red line represents the route of electron flow. Blue shaded area depicts the intermembrane space.

Dysfunction of mitochondrial respiratory complexes has been demonstrated within muscle samples from septic patients (Brealey et al., 2002). This dysfunction may be reversibly regulated by small molecular mediators such as ROS, nitric oxide (NO) and carbon monoxide (CO) (Brunori et al., 1999).

Specific pharmacological inhibitors of respiratory complexes are commercially available, and maybe used as to create laboratory models of mitochondrial dysfunction. These inhibitors

demonstrate dose dependency, with lower doses causing hyperpolarisation and ROS production and higher doses leading to lipid peroxidation and super complex disaggregation (Lenaz et al., 2006). Hyperpolarisation of the MMP may lead to ROS production at complexes proximal to the inhibited complex (Chen et al., 2003). The addition of the respiratory complex I inhibitor metformin to human peripheral blood mononuclear cells leads to decreased cytokine production in presence of C.albicans, and decreased survival within a murine model of bacterial sepsis (Cheng et al., 2016).

The principal mitochondrial ROS product is O_2^- , which is charged and may only leave the mitochondrion following dismutation to lipid permeable H_2O_2 by mitochondrial manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD/SOD2). As well as affecting mitochondrial energy production, mitochondrial ROS may also affect cellular redox balance (Ballinger, 2005).

In addition to ROS production, the proton gradient across the inner mitochondrial membrane may be dissipated through membrane uncoupling proteins, which permit the facilitated transport of hydrogen ions along concentration gradients and essentially 'uncouple' proton movement from ATP production (Boss et al., 1998; Clapham et al., 2000). They may provide an alternative route to dissipating the proton gradient and limiting hyperpolarisation mediated ROS production (Brownlee, 2001; Kim-Han et al., 2001).

Within neutrophils, mitochondria have an established role in the regulation of neutrophil lifespan through a process termed constitutive apoptosis. The presence of neutrophil mitochondrial dysfunction may therefore plausibly alter their immune functionality.
1.5 Reactive oxygen species – a cellular signal

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) produced during these metabolic reactions may activate several cellular signalling processes. ROS reversibly oxidize specific amino acid residues (Dröge, 2002; Janssen-Heininger et al., 2008; Jones, 2008) at concentrations which occur during physiological metabolism, for example cysteine group oxidation by H_2O_2 (McDonagh et al., 2009). Any protein/enzyme system with exposed cysteine residues at the receptor or allosteric site may be subject to oxidative regulation; sequential reducing/non-reducing SDS PAGE western blotting has identified many cellular proteins that are sensitive to disulphide oxidation (Cumming et al., 2004).

The specific nature of these molecular interactions means ROS species should be considered individually, since their affinities for different targets will vary at these low doses. This molecular specificity – rather than ligand/receptor specificity of classical signalling pathways – may permit ROS to simultaneously alter multiple signalling pathways, transmitting a signal both widely and quickly.

The amplitude of ROS signals depends upon the rate of ROS detoxification as well as ROS production. These detoxification pathways are cellular compartment and species specific. The dismutation of O₂⁻ is catalysed by copper and zinc superoxide dismutase in the cytoplasm (McCord and Fridovich, 1969), and by manganese superoxide dismutase in mitochondria (Fosslien, 2003; Lebovitz et al., 1996). H₂O₂ is catalysed by catalase (Klichko et al., 2004), peroxiredoxins (Rhee et al., 2005) and glutathione peroxidase (Hellmich et al., 2005). Within an in-vitro endothelial model of sepsis, the peroxiredoxin/thioredoxin pathway appears more important than mitochondrial GSH for preventing mitochondrial dysfunction (Lowes and Galley, 2011). The glutathione pathway requires NADPH, and is essential for cellular ROS regulation (Pandolfi et al., 1995). NADPH synthesis is upregulated during oxidative stress, possibly through NADPH:NAD mediated control of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PDH) activity (Filosa et al., 2003).



Figure 1.3 Redox regulation of enzyme function.

1.6 Neutrophil metabolism in health and sepsis

The intense metabolic requirements of activated neutrophils suggest that changes in supply of ATP and NADPH may alter neutrophil immune function, life span and, ultimately, sepsis outcome. The presence of such changes is supported by genomic investigations of the circulating leukocyte transcriptome, which describe a general increase in glycolytic gene expression and depression of mitochondrial gene expression. However, the functional consequence of these changes remains relatively underexplored. Many investigations have examined resting and ex-vivo activated neutrophil metabolism, and the genomic changes to metabolic genes, however few have addressed how the neutrophil metabolic profile alters during an inflammatory insult.

1.6.1 Neutrophil glycolysis and the hexose monophosphate shunt

Resting neutrophil ATP is principally supplied by glycolysis (Fig 1.4), and is readily demonstrated through use of metabolic inhibitors and radio-labelled carbon studies (Borregaard and Herlin, 1982; Cohn and Morse, 1959; Kakinuma, 1970; Reed and Tepperman, 1969; Sbarra and Karnovsky, 1959). Fractional CO₂ production is 5% in isolated human leukocytes (Beck, 1958), 8% in resting guinea pig leukocytes (Sbarra and Karnovsky, 1959) and 2% in resting DMSO differentiated HL60 cells (Ahmed et al., 1993). There is evidence to support reciprocal regulation between glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation, with high levels of glucose reducing CO₂ formation, while high levels of oxygen impede glycolysis (Sbarra and Karnovsky, 1959).

Whether activated neutrophils utilise cytoplasmic ATP reserves (Borregaard and Herlin, 1982) or increase glycolytic ATP production is unclear (Sbarra and Karnovsky, 1959). Similarly, depending upon experimental conditions, glycolytic glucose may be obtained from endogenous glycogen stores or passively transported from the extracellular space via the Glucose transporter I (GLUTI) (Tan et al., 1998). Different sources of glucose may be used for different functions, for example extracellular glucose for chemotaxis and intracellular glycogen for phagocytosis (Weisdorf et al., 1982).

Neutrophils possess a propensity for the hexose monophosphate shunt pathway, with low fructose 1,6, bis-phosphate activity and six-fold higher G6PDH activity (Beck, 1958). Inhibition of G6PDH reduces activated neutrophil ROS production, but does not affect

other functions (Bender and Van Epps, 1985). The rate-limiting step of glycolysis is the conversion of phosphophenylpyruvate to pyruvate, by the enzyme pyruvate kinase (Minakami, 1968). Therefore, regulation of pyruvate kinase activity could exert substrate level control over the neutrophil respiratory burst (Olsen et al., 2003; Petty, 2001).



Figure 1.4. Neutrophil metabolism: glycolysis, the hexose monophosphate shunt and the respiratory burst.

Size of arrows represents enzyme activities (Fauth et al., 1993). Thick arrows = 400-2000 mU/mg; dashed arrows <100mU/mg. G6P=glucose-6-phosphate; G6PDH=glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase; GA3P=glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate; PEP=phosphoenolpyruvate; PK=pyruvate kinase. Adapted from Oehler et al 2000.

1.6.2 The role of neutrophil mitochondria

Although neutrophils are reliant upon glycolytic ATP, they do contain functional mitochondria. The addition of fluorescent mitochondrial probes, such as JC-1, Mitotracker and dihydrorhodamine-123 (DHR-123), reveals a complex mitochondrial network. These mitochondria can be depolarised by the uncoupling agent FCCP (Fossati et al., 2003; Maianski et al., 2004).

Neutrophil mitochondria demonstrate important differences to those from cells which rely mainly upon mitochondria for bioenergetic ATP production. Cytochrome c is poorly expressed (Maianski et al., 2004), while supracomplex organisation is absent in differentiated neutrophils and DMSO-differentiated HL-60 cells (van Raam et al., 2008). This may explain the relatively high levels of mitochondrial O_2^- (Maianski et al., 2004; Murphy et al., 2003). Inhibition of ATP transport into mitochondria and of glycolysis does not affect neutrophil mitochondrial MMP, suggesting it is maintained through de novo oxidative phosphorylation.

Ablation of the MMP with FCCP immediately inhibits neutrophil chemotaxis, but not the respiratory burst (Fossati et al., 2003). By contrast, PMA stimulation of the respiratory burst was inhibited following a two-hour incubation with the F1F0 ATP synthase inhibitor oligomycin. Although the loss of MMP is an early feature of apoptosis, addition of FCCP and oligomycin were not associated with an increased rate of *in vitro* apoptosis (Fossati et al., 2003). Neutrophils isolated from patients 12 hours after major surgery demonstrate MMP hyperpolarisation, increased mitochondrial ROS and an increased rate of apoptosis (using 7-AAD staining) which normalised at 24 hours (Delogu et al., 2001).

Inhibition of neutrophil mitochondrial complex I (rotenone, metformin) and complex III (antimycin-A, myxothiazol) are both associated with increased cytoplasmic H_2O_2 , reduced activation of NF-kB and inflammatory cytokine production – as for exogenous H_2O_2 – which is reversed by polyethylene glycol-catalase. The systemic administration of these inhibitors conferred survival benefit within a murine LPS model, although no effector assays of neutrophil function were performed (Zmijewski et al., 2009, 2008)

Neutrophil mitochondria have an established role in mediating neutrophil apoptosis. Given the extended and interlinked roles of mitochondria within other cell types, mitochondria may therefore play a wider role within the regulation of neutrophil function. For example, within other cells mitochondria mediate ROS signalling, O_2 sensing (Brunelle et al., 2005), calcium homeostasis, anion flux through the voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC) family (Colombini, 2004), integrin signal transduction and the target of many drugs. VDAC activity and calcium exchange are critical for ROS production, with inhibition of VDAC reducing mitochondrial ROS (Zhou et al., 2011). These non-energetic processes may utilise respiratory complexes independently of oxidative phosphorylation, such as oxygen tension sensing at mitochondrial complex III (Brunelle et al., 2005).

1.6.3 Neutrophil metabolism during sepsis

Studies of neutrophil metabolism in septic patients have provided inconsistent results (Martins et al., 1999; Sheth et al., 2001; Watts et al., 2004). This may be partly explained by the many confounding factors of sepsis research. By contrast, the studies from trauma patients and healthy volunteers given endotoxin support highly conserved changes within the circulating leukocyte transcriptome to inflammatory stimuli. These extend far beyond those genes classically involved with immunity, such as those involved in metabolic function.

Exposure of healthy volunteers to low dose endotoxin increases circulating leukocyte transcription of glycolytic genes and decreases the expression of mitochondrial genes encoding for proteins within respiratory complexes I-V and pyruvate dehydrogenase (Calvano et al., 2005; Talwar et al., 2006). Changes in glycolytic genes are accompanied by increased expression of genes coding for components of the respiratory burst pathway.

These changes are associated with a fall in leukocyte ATP, a signal for activation of AMP activated protein kinase (AMPK), an increase in Hypoxia inducible factor alpha (HIF-1α) and prolongation of autophagy (Haimovich et al., 2014). AMPK and HIF-1 alpha have distinct, yet synergistic effects upon cellular metabolism. AMPK regulates mitochondrial biogenesis (Jäger et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2006) and is activated by the build-up of AMP, a signal for diminished energetic substrate availability. It acts in synergy with the growth signal integrating mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) (Papandreou et al., 2006; Semenza et al., 1994; Zhang et al., 2007). HIF-1 regulates cellular oxygen consumption by promoting glycolysis and inhibition of mitochondrial biogenesis and function (Papandreou et al., 2006), as well as by activating neutrophil immune functions (Peyssonnaux et al., 2005).

Rather than a secondary phenomenon, these metabolic changes may even precede the classical immunological changes of inflammation. Healthy volunteers exposed to low doses of endotoxin demonstrate an altered metabolic transcriptome in the absence of measurable increases in systemic cytokine expression (Haimovich et al., 2014). Collectively these alternative models of human sepsis describe how inflammation, immunity and metabolism are intrinsically linked aspects of the cellular response to damage, and that the metabolic changes within circulating leukocytes may parallel those within solid organs/tissues during established critical illness.

The genomic evidence for upregulation of glycolytic activity is supported by a study of trauma patient neutrophil metabolic function (Oehler et al., 2000). The authors demonstrated an increase in pyruvate kinase expression – a rate-limiting step in resting neutrophil metabolism - associated with a 600-fold increase in enzyme activity on post injury days 5-7 post injury which was supported by increased glucose utilisation. Neutrophils isolated at 48 hours and incubated in presence of glucose had twice the respiratory burst capacity. This was abolished by addition of the G6PDH inhibitor dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) (Oehler et al., 2000). No other studies have addressed the impact of metabolic changes upon neutrophil immune functionality.

1.7 Neutrophil immune function

Neutrophil activation leads to the coordinated upregulation of several cellular immune processes, including phagocytic ingestion of bacteria, rapid production of ROS through the respiratory burst and the mobilisation of granule contents. These processes rely upon cellular remodelling, which, in turn, depends upon bioenergetic ATP. Tests of these effector processes are not routinely available in clinical practice, instead neutrophil function is commonly equated to circulating neutrophil numbers (Melvan et al., 2010).

1.7.1 Neutrophil surface receptors

I.7.I.I Adhesion receptors

CD62L (L-selectin), and the CD11/CD18 family of integrins are the principal receptors responsible for neutrophil adhesion to endothelium, and the initiation of transmigration. CD62L is a single chain transmembrane glycoprotein responsible for low-affinity carbohydrate interactions (McEver and Zhu, 2010). Following receptor cleavage, signalling occurs via the retained membrane fragment through protein kinase C (PKC) and p38 MAPK (Smolen et al., 2000).

Integrins are heterodimeric transmembrane glycoproteins. Of the four CD11 subtypes, CD11b/CD18 (MAC-I complement receptor) has the broadest functional role, mediating adhesion to endothelium (Smith et al., 1989) plus fibrinogen (Pluskota et al., 2004), Fc receptor mediated cytotoxicity (Van Spriel et al., 2001) and initiating a cascade of intracellular signalling processes (Plow et al., 2000; Schymeinsky et al., 2007; Walzog et al., 1995), including activation of the Src-family kinases. CD11b/CD18 signalling is ligand dependent. While ICAM-1, fibrinogen and myeloperoxidase may suppress apoptosis through CD11b/CD18, MAC-1 mediated phagocytosis hastens apoptosis (El Kebir and Filep, 2013).

Congenital deficiency of CD18 causes leukocyte adhesion deficiency syndrome, where patients have grossly reduced tissue neutrophil numbers (Anderson et al., 1985), which may be recreated by the addition of blocking antibodies to cells from healthy volunteers. Within

experimental models blockade of CD11/18 abolishes tissue plasma leakage and oedema (Lindbom, 2003; Wedmore and Williams, 1981). CD11b/CD18 has been identified as the target for the pro-resolving mediators lipoxin A4 and E1(El Kebir and Filep, 2013).

Dynamic changes in neutrophil cell surface CDIIb and CD62L are well characterised. Both cytokine and PMA stimulation leads to a rapid (20 minutes) cleavage or "shedding" of L-selectin (Killock and Ivetić, 2010), with associated rise in soluble L-selectin (McGill et al., 1996; Smalley and Ley) and a more delayed increase in cell surface CDIIb.

Following trauma the magnitude of CD11b rise and CD62 fall is correlated with the Injury Severity Score and the likelihood of postoperative complications (Rinder, 2006; Seekamp et al., 2001). These changes may persist for up to one week, although some authors have demonstrated a decrease (Chishti et al., 2004; McGill et al., 1996). Following vascular (Foulds et al., 2001) and orthopaedic surgery (Hughes et al., 2010) CD11b increase and CD62 decrease may persist for up to 3 days.

1.7.1.2 G protein coupled receptors

CXC chemokine receptor 2 (CXCR2) is a G-protein coupled IL-8 (CXCL8) receptor (Stadtmann and Zarbock, 2012) and has a demonstrable role within many inflammatory conditions. It is the most functionally diverse of all the neutrophil chemokine receptors (Chapman et al., 2009; Kurdowska et al., 2001). Activation of the receptor triggers dissociation into G α and G $\beta\gamma$ subunits which regulate adenylyl cyclase and phospholipase C β (PLC β) plus phosphatidylinositol-3-kinases respectively (PI3K) (Stadtmann and Zarbock, 2012). PLC β is believed to initiate a biphasic change in intracellular Ca²⁺, and PI3K leads to PIP₃ and PKB/Akt activation (Futosi et al., 2013). These messengers then target membranous integrins (Stadtmann and Zarbock, 2012), Extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) plus p38 MAP kinases (Mócsai et al., 2000), and the Src family of tyrosine kinases.

Within experimental models blockade of CXCR2 substantially reduces leukocyte recruitment, tissue damage and mortality (Stadtmann and Zarbock, 2012), possibly through reduction in CXCL-1 mediated CXCR2 signalling, following the release of IL-1 α from necrotic cells (Chen and Nuñez, 2010). In established sepsis neutrophil cell surface CXCR2 expression is reduced by 50% (Cummings et al., 1999), and these cells displayed diminished responses to established CXCR2 ligands. Following blunt chest trauma CXCR2 is reduced at 24hrs (Visser et al., 2011)

1.7.1.3 Pattern recognition receptors (PRR)

The majority of PRR characterisation has been performed in cell types other than neutrophils and there is evidence for cell specific aspects of apparently identical receptors (Sabroe et al., 2002). Neutrophil TLR stimulation activates neutrophils, causing cytokine/chemokine production and delayed apoptosis (Hayashi et al., 2003). Neutrophil TLR4 is downregulated following cardiopulmonary bypass, and returns to baseline at 24hrs (Hadley et al., 2007) and may be upregulated in sepsis (Härter et al., 2004). Lipopolysaccharide detection by TLR is dependent upon the CD14 co-receptor (Chow et al., 1999; Qureshi et al., 1999), which in turn requires plasma lipopolysaccharide binding protein for efficient binding (Wright et al., 1991). CD14 may also enhance TLR2 signals. In vitro addition of cytokines causes a two-fold increase in neutrophil cell surface CD14 over twenty minutes (Wright et al., 1991). Following cardiopulmonary bypass neutrophil CD14 transiently increases, before returning to baseline values at 24 hours (Kawasaki et al., 2001). While the down-regulation of monocyte CD14 is well established, the relevance in neutrophils has not been determined (Hadley et al., 2007).

The triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells (TREM-1) is expressed on blood neutrophils, and through the adapter protein DAP12, serves to amplify TLR signalling pathways, with both TREM-1 and TLR4 being recruited to the same lipid rafts (Baruah et al., 2015; El Mezayen et al., 2007). Lipid rafts are dynamic, nanoscale, organised areas of cell membrane focussed around sphingolipids and cholesterol (Simons and Gerl, 2010). Signalling receptors may be concentrated within lipid rafts, which facilitates inter-receptor interactions.

Surface TREM-1 activation promotes neutrophil degranulation, the release of IL-8 plus TNF- α and activation of the phagocytosis/respiratory burst processes (Baruah et al., 2015; Bouchon et al., 2000). Conversely, soluble TREM-1 is released from neutrophil granules and appears to have counterregulatory properties (Baruah et al., 2015). Soluble TREM-1 is increased following LPS exposure in humans, however neutrophil surface TREM1 may be either increased or remain unchanged (Bouchon et al., 2000; Mahdy et al., 2006). Within septic patients samples both soluble and neutrophil surface TREM-1are raised (Gibot et al., 2005). TREM-1 blockade is protective within murine models of lipopolysaccharide administration and abdominal sepsis (Bouchon et al., 2001).

I.7.I.4 Fcy receptors.

These are responsible for phagocytosis of immunoglobulin-G opsonised pathogens and immune complexes. They belong to the immunoglobulin superfamily, and are sub-classified by ligand affinity. The low affinity receptors, which include CD16 (FcyRIII) and CD32 (FcyRII) are most important to neutrophil phagocytosis. Young neutrophils, with banded nuclei, express lower levels of cell surface CD16, termed CD16^{dim}, when compared to mature counterparts (Brown et al., 1989). Some authors have suggested CD16^{dim} is a reliable marker of neutrophil immaturity, and recent bone marrow release (Orr et al., 2005). Following healthy volunteer endotoxin exposure, the circulating CD16^{dim} population is increased, and these cells demonstrate impaired functionality when compared to preendotoxin control cells. Blood neutrophil CD16 cell surface receptor density is reduced following major trauma and maybe reduced (Fung et al., 2008; Holzer et al., 2010) or unchanged after major elective surgery (Wakefield et al., 1995). Preoperative and postoperative CD16 levels are higher in patients who develop postoperative sepsis than those who do not (Wakefield et al., 1995). Neutrophil apoptosis is accompanied by a 90% down-regulation of cell surface CD16, with no other cell surface markers showing such dramatic change (Dransfield et al., 1994).

I.7.I.5 Cytokine receptors

Cytokine receptors are grouped according to structure and ligand specificity into Type I, Type II, IL-I and TNF families (Futosi et al., 2013). Type I and II receptors activate the constitutively associated JAK-STAT pathway (Ghoreschi et al., 2009) plus the Src-family, PI3kinase-Akt and ERK/p38 MAP kinase. The activation of ERK promotes neutrophil survival in response to oxidative challenges (Midwinter et al., 2001). Phosphorylated STAT shuttles to the nucleus and regulates gene transcription. The IL-1 receptor family detect the early proinflammatory mediators IL-1 and IL-18. Within neutrophils IL-1 in neutrophils principally extends life span (Colotta et al., 1993). IL-18 has wider range of effects, including autocrine neutrophil activation (Fortin et al., 2009). TNF-α is a major cytokine triggering neutrophil activation (Nathan, 1987) through Janus kinase (JNK) and NF-kB activation (MacEwan, 2002). The TNF family includes the Fas receptors, which receive extracellular proapoptotic signalling through Fas-ligand.

1.7.2 Phagocytosis

Following engagement of Fc and complement receptors the plasma membrane extends around particulate matter, creating a phagocytic vacuole that then fuses with cellular granules. Phagocytosis requires extensive cytoskeletal rearrangement, activates the respiratory burst and ultimately commits the neutrophil to apoptosis (Rotstein et al., 2000; Watson et al., 1996). Neutrophils from a NADPH oxidase murine knockout (PHOX^{-/-}) demonstrate impaired salmonella phagocytosis (Huang et al., 2009).

Neutrophils may engulf IgG coated latex beads within 20 seconds (Segal et al., 1980), and phagocytose up to 50 individual bacteria in total. Circulating neutrophil phagocytosis is impaired following major abdominal surgery (Kawasaki et al., 2007) and lung resection surgery (Jones et al., 2014), but much more so in patients with established sepsis (Jones et al., 2014). Within critically ill patients diminished neutrophil phagocytosis is an independent risk factor for the acquisition of nosocomial infection (Morris et al., 2011).

I.7.3 Respiratory burst

The respiratory burst describes production of O₂⁻ by cell membrane and vesicle-bound NADPH oxidase (PHOX, or NOX2) (Fig 1.5). It is so called because of the rapid consumption of oxygen by activated neutrophils. p47^{phox} translocation from cytoplasm to membrane causes a 100-fold increase in oxygen consumption (Guzik and Griendling, 2009). These intense metabolic demands suggest that the respiratory burst maybe substrate limited (Kindzelskii and Petty, 2002; Petty, 2001). Within macrophages, hexokinase localises with PHOX during the respiratory burst (Pedley et al., 1993). Genomic data from healthy volunteers exposed to LPS (Calvano et al., 2005) and proteomic analysis of trauma patients (Oehler et al., 2000) have identified an increase in the expression and activity of neutrophil glycolytic enzymes during human inflammatory responses.

Neutrophil ROS support more complex immunological processes than just the direct oxidation of pathogenic organisms. The potential difference across the vacuole membrane created by movement of O_2^- is compensated by movement of intracellular ions which create the osmotic and electrochemical conditions that favour activation of many enzymes and proteins contained within neutrophil granules (Segal, 2005), and formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) (Fuchs et al., 2007).

NETs are extracellular DNA structures released from viable neutrophils that serve to concentrate and localise neutrophil killing power. By localising and degrading cytokines NETs may also serve to limit inflammation (Schauer et al., 2014). The respiratory burst may therefore be considered a 'master switch' of neutrophil killing. Genomic investigations from healthy volunteer endotoxin studies support an early increase in burst machinery expression (Calvano et al., 2005).

The signal transduction pathways leading to PHOX activation is stimulus dependent. For example p38 MAPK is essential for TNF- α induced activation and for approximately 70% of the fMLP response, but is unnecessary following activation by complement–opsonised zymosan (Brown et al., 2004). Specific agents may therefore be used to investigate changes in O₂⁻ production, such as the protein kinase c activator phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) which maximally stimulates the sub-membrane burst machinery (Tyagi et al., 1988) by directly phosphorylating p47^{phox} (Wyche et al., 2004) in the presence of Ca²⁺ (El Jamali et al., 2010). H₂O₂ stimulation of PHOX is likely upstream of PKC, acting through Ca²⁺ influx and c-Abl tyrosine kinase signalling (El Jamali et al., 2010). Initiation of NADPH oxidase activity has a lag phase of approximately 20 seconds (Briggs et al., 1986; Segal et al., 1980)

Excessive neutrophil ROS is associated with organ dysfunction [(Brown et al., 2006; Chabot et al., 1998; Crimi et al., 2006; Kolls, 2006; Strassheim et al., 2002). Paradoxically, studies of patients with chronic granulomatous disease - who possess functional mutations in PHOX subunits - and associated animal models have identified important anti-inflammatory roles for neutrophil ROS. As well as being predisposed to infection, chronic granulomatous disease patients also demonstrate sterile inflammatory lesions (Morgenstern et al., 1997) and an increased incidence of inflammatory bowel disease, granulomatous genitourinary obstruction and wound dehiscence (Almyroudis et al., 2013). Neutrophils isolated from these patients reveal enhanced secretion of IL-8 (Hatanaka et al., 2004), prolonged survival (Kasahara et al., 1997) and reduced uptake by macrophages (Hampton et al., 2002).



Figure 1.5 The neutrophil respiratory burst.

Adapted from (Segal, 2005) PHOX is activated by phosphorylation and translocation of cytoplasmic subunits $p47^{phox}$, $p67^{phox}$, $p40^{phox}$ and $p21^{rac}$ to membranous electron transporting flavocytochrome b558 (gp91^{phox}) heterodimer and $p22^{phox}$) (Lambeth, 2004), as well as PKC and hexokinase (Nixon and McPhail, 1999). Hexomonophosphate shunt derived NADPH provides electrons that pass through flavocytochrome b558 to combine with vacuolar oxygen, generating O_2^{-} (Cross 2004). A proton pump completes the circuit (Henderson and Chappell, 1992; Henderson and Meech, 1999).

Murine models of chronic granulomatous disease consistently demonstrate sustained and exaggerated lung inflammation (Davidson et al., 2013; Deng et al., 2012; Schauer et al., 2014; Segal, 2007; Segal et al., 2010), and predisposition to autoimmune arthritis that may be prevented through reactivation of PHOX (Hultqvist et al., 2004). These observations may be explained by the associated impairment of phagocytosis and NET formation (Darrah and Andrade, 2012). These roles appear to require neutrophil activation, since baseline energy metabolism and glycolytic rate are unaffected in chronic granulomatous disease neutrophils (Borregaard and Herlin, 1982).

PHOX is now appreciated to be part of a wider NOX family. The unifying feature of NOX function is the transfer of electrons from NADPH to oxygen. NOX isoforms are expressed out-with professional phagocytes, have distinct subcellular location, regulatory factors and synthesise distinct ROS species, and have established roles in signalling and ion homeostasis (Lambeth, 2004; Steinberg and Grinstein, 2007). These observations suggest that PHOX may also possess an extended signalling role, through production of cellular ROS.

1.8 Neutrophil activation, effector function and life span.

Neutrophil life span is intrinsically linked to functional activity. In the absence of proinflammatory signals, unstimulated neutrophils readily enter constitutive apoptosis (Savill et al., 2002)], with an estimated life span of less than I day. Similarly, successful phagocytosis also signals apoptosis (Gilroy et al., 2004; Nathan and Ding, 2010; Savill et al., 2002). Between these two extremes of stimulation, 'activated' neutrophils may display increased longevity. Functional heterogeneity may exist within the wider circulating and sequestered neutrophil pool, as identified by variation within the circulatory and tissue pools of cell surface receptor expression, effector activities and life span.

Neutrophil lifespan is estimated to be 8-20 hours (Maianski et al. 2004; Luo & Loison 2008; Pillay et al. 2010). Without a survival signal neutrophils enter an automatic, or constitutive, death process that leads to reticuloendothelial (Savill et al., 2002, 1989) and tissue macrophage mediated removal. This short life span means changes in survival/death patterns will rapidly alter blood and tissue numbers. While prolonged neutrophil longevity may assist with pathogen removal (Nathan, 2006; Savill et al., 2002; Watson et al., 1997), inappropriate prolongation or failure to isolate dying neutrophils may perpetuate local tissue damage and prevent effective resolution of inflammation (Nathan, 2006; Nathan and Ding, 2010; Serhan and Petasis, 2011).

Established survival signals include many of the classical pro-inflammatory mediators governing activation and tissue migration, which act through a range of cell surface and cytoplasmic receptors. In vitro culture of neutrophils from healthy volunteers leads to rapid death (Akgul et al., 2001; Moulding et al., 2001). However the addition of inflammatory mediators or serum from septic/trauma patients may increase survival to 24-36 hours (Ertel et al., 1998; Haslett, 1992; Lee et al., 1993). These observations make in vitro neutrophil investigations challenging, and the comparison of data from different laboratories difficult (Luo and Loison, 2008) with 6 hour apoptosis rates varying between 10% and 75% (Blomgran et al., 2007; Cowburn et al., 2005).

Most clinical studies from patients with active inflammation have identified prolonged neutrophil survival when compared to healthy volunteers. This includes sepsis (Ertel et al., 1998; Jimenez et al., 1997; Keel et al., 1997; Taneja et al., 2004), non-infective SIRS (Melley et al., 2005), burns (Chitnis et al., 1996) and Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) (Matute-Bello et al., 1997), as well as chronic inflammatory diseases such as Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Brown et al., 2009) and coronary artery disease (Garlichs et al., 2004).

In ARDS, worsening disease severity is associated with increased neutrophil survival (Feterowski et al., 2001; Matute-Bello et al., 1997). Data from trauma patients suggest apoptosis may be suppressed for up to three weeks (Ogura et al., 1999). Results from elective surgery are less clear, with apoptosis shown to be increased at 12 hours (Delogu et al., 2001) and decreased at 24 hours (Fanning et al., 1999).

Despite this inflammation driven prolongation of neutrophil lifespan, the very process of phagocytosis initiates apoptosis. Other morphological patterns of death include NETosis (Brinkmann et al., 2004; Fuchs et al., 2007), necrosis (Simon, 2003; von Gunten and Simon, 2006) and autophagy (Remijsen et al., 2011).

Neutrophil apoptosis promotes several processes that facilitate the timely resolution of inflammation. Apoptotic neutrophils become unresponsive to agonists, stop producing inflammatory mediators (Kobayashi et al., 2003) and may act as cytokine sinks where cell surface receptors persist in the absence of functional transduction machinery (Ariel et al., 2006). Macrophages which ingest apoptotic neutrophils switch from a pro-inflammatory to a pro-resolution phenotype (Fadok et al., 1998), releasing FasL which may further promote neutrophil apoptosis (Brown and Savill, 1999). Within a mouse model of endotoxic shock the infusion of apoptotic neutrophils improved survival, while infusion of necrotic neutrophils increased mortality (Ren et al., 2008).

5 I

Both intrinsic apoptosis (mitochondrial mediated, caspase-9 dependent) and extrinsic apoptosis (TNF, Fas-L dependent activation of caspase-8) occur within neutrophils. Constitutive neutrophil death represents a specialised form of intrinsic apoptosis. There is significant overlap between these two apoptotic modes within neutrophils; addition of Fas/Fas-L antagonists partially inhibited constitutive neutrophil death, while preservation of mitochondrial membrane potential inhibited Fas-L mediated death (Brown and Savill, 1999; Liles et al., 1996; Renshaw et al., 2000).

I.8.1 Constitutive neutrophil death

The morphological appearance of constitutive neutrophil death resembles classical intrinsic apoptosis in other cell types, with exteriorization of phosphatidylserine, formation of cytoplasmic vacuoles, and nuclear condensation (Payne et al., 1994; Savill et al., 1989). While caspase inhibition is widely reported to inhibit neutrophil apoptosis, it is unclear if caspase activation is absolutely necessary for constitutive death (Luo and Loison, 2008).

Neutrophil mitochondria appear essential for constitutive death. In other cell types localisation of the pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 homologs Bid and Bax to the outer mitochondrial membrane permits release of cytochrome-c through the mitochondrial permeability transition pore, leading to activation of caspase 9. However neutrophils express very low levels of cytochrome c (Liu et al., 2003; Maianski et al., 2004; Murphy et al., 2003; Pryde et al., 2000), and may compensate instead through the release of Apaf-1. Wide variations in neutrophil Bcl-2 expression has been reported (Moulding et al., 2001). The principal neutrophil anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 homolog, Mcl-1, has a very short half-life, and is regulated at transcriptional and translational levels by NF-kB and PI3K (Brenner and Mak, 2009; Edwards et al., 2004; Reed, 2006). Mcl-1 may therefore provide a common explanation to early constitutive death, and its inhibition during inflammation.

Neutrophil ROS contribute to apoptosis regulation. Neutrophils from patients with chronic granulomatous disease (Kasahara et al., 1997; Yamamoto et al., 2002), and those from healthy volunteers exposed to PHOX inhibitors (Coxon et al., 1996; Lundqvist-Gustafsson and Bengtsson, 1999; Perskvist et al., 2002) and ROS scavengers (Kasahara et al., 1997) demonstrate reduced rates of apoptosis in vitro. PHOX-independent ROS production may also occur (Fay et al., 2006) through hyperpolarisation of neutrophil mitochondria (Vincent

52

et al., 2004). While intracellular non-phagosomal ROS trigger apoptosis, post-phagocytosis intraphagosomal ROS does not (Blomgran et al., 2007, 2004). Possible ROS-dependent apoptotic targets include DNA damage/p54 (X. Zhang et al., 2003), MAPK/NF-kB (Fortenberry et al., 2001) and Fas-L independent Fas receptor clustering in lipid rafts.

1.8.2 Survival signals and activation induced death

Neutrophil functionality and survival are intrinsically linked, because most activation signals prolong lifespan. Pro-survival signals include CD11b/CD18 (Ross et al., 2006), Granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (Lee et al., 1993), Interferon gamma (IFN- γ), leukotriene B4 (a C. Lee et al., 1999), C5a (Lee et al., 1993), CRP (Khreiss et al., 2002), serum amyloid (El Kebir and Filep, 2013), LPS (Colotta et al., 1992) and bacterial DNA (József et al., 2004). Many of these signals are situation dependent. For example, while integrin-mediated adhesion prolongs neutrophil lifespan, so does the addition of CD11b/CD18 blocking antibodies to extravasated neutrophils (Coxon et al., 1996). Intracellular signalling pathways overlap but show considerable ligand specificity, including PKB/Akt, p38 MAP-kinase, and NF-kB (Francois et al., 2005). Caspase-I dependent cleavage of IL-1 β may act as both a pro and anti-apoptotic signal in neutrophils (William et al., 1999).

In contrast to the effects of pro-survival signals inhibiting apoptosis, phagocytosis of a range of microorganisms is a powerful apoptotic signal (Perskvist et al., 2002; Rotstein et al., 2000; Watson et al., 1996). Phagocytosis driven apoptosis is prevented by antagonism of CD11b/CD18 (Coxon et al., 1996), and proceeds through PHOX and caspase-8 dependent pathways (Yamamoto et al., 2002; B. Zhang et al., 2003), possibly dependent upon ROS mediated lysosomal membrane permeabilisation (Blomgran et al., 2007).

Neutrophil apoptosis research has predominantly focussed upon the fate of blood-derived cells. It is less clear how tissue neutrophil survival is regulated. Tissue neutrophils may migrate back to the circulation (Buckley et al., 2006; Hughes et al., 1997) or through the lymphatics (Schwab et al., 2007).

1.8.3 Functional phenotypes and heterogeneity

The current literature describes a range of subtly different functional neutrophil phenotypes. It is unclear whether these exist within a spectrum, whether neutrophils move between them, and to what extent they may represent the product of experimental artefact. Subpopulations of differing functionality may exist within the wider neutrophil pool, although comparisons between studies are complicated by the different techniques and protocols used. The molecular basis for these functional changes is unclear. Possible explanations include variations in priming and tolerance phenomena, neutrophil maturity, and co-stimuli determined by neutrophil location acting through signal transduction modulation, preassembly of components such as PHOX, and genomic-driven changes in protein content.

While routine laboratory tests provide some information about neutrophil age through morphological quantification of nuclear segmentation, tests of actual neutrophil function are not routinely available. Flow cytometric quantification of cell surface receptors is widely used to define lymphocyte subpopulations, however it is currently unclear whether neutrophil surface receptors equate to similar functional phenotypes (Fontes et al., 1995; Seely et al., 2003; Stocks et al., 1996). Development of analogous neutrophil surface markers of function, or readily accessible functional assays may dramatically improve our understanding of an individual's inflammatory response and permit delivery of immune tailored medications.

1.8.4 Neutrophil priming and tolerance

The serial application of DAMP/PAMP signals may promote enhanced (priming) or diminished (tolerance) inflammatory responses. At a cellular level these responses may be partly explained by changes in neutrophil functionality (Condliffe et al., 1998). Priming could explain the predisposition of trauma patients who receive apparently minor secondary insults to develop ARDS and multiorgan failure (Moore et al., 2005). Similarly, a combined murine model of sequential gut ischaemic-reperfusion injury and endotoxin administration is consistently lethal, even though each insult alone is not (Koike et al., 1992). Tolerance is exemplified by the anergic responses to coliform colonisation of the respiratory tract within the critically ill, and in a murine model of septic peritonitis, where prior administration of LPS improved survival (Feterowski et al., 2001). *In vitro* investigations of priming with pure ligands have identified ligand specific signalling cascades. For example, functional p38 MAPK is essential for TNF-α priming and responsible for 70% of the fMLP response but unnecessary for complement-opsonised zymosan stimulation (Brown et al., 2004). It is also implicated in LPS and GM-CSF priming (Johnson and Gomez-Cambronero, 1995; McLeish et al., 1998; Nahas et al., 1996; Waterman and Sha'afi, 1995). Lipopolysaccharide priming proceeds through TLR4 and CD14, with HMGB1 also priming PHOX function through TLR4 (Fan et al., 2007). At a cellular level LPS causes down-regulation of TLR4 within 30 mins, and this is magnified by a smaller priming dose of LPS (Parker et al., 2005).

In vivo data are more complicated. Within a single insult model of haemorrhagic shock, lung injury is TLR4 dependent (Ayala et al., 2002; Barsness et al., 2004). However when a sequential LPS injury is applied whole lung TLR4 expression is maintained (Fan et al., 2002). Tolerance, as defined by diminished cytokine production, has been described at 24 hours following endotoxin exposure (van der Poll et al., 1996), and up to four weeks in those with established critical illness (McCall et al., 1993).

The sub-cellular changes ultimately responsible for priming and tolerance are uncertain. While PHOX components are redistributed and partially phosphorylated following LPS and TNF- α application (DeLeo et al., 1998; Ward et al., 2000), preassembly of PHOX subunits does not seem to be responsible (Brown et al., 2004). The hexose monophosphate shunt may be upregulated within primed cells (Bass et al., 1986). In combination with wide spread changes in 'metabolic genes', it is plausible that metabolic control of substrate supply may represent an essential but relatively underexplored regulatory mechanism

1.9 Conclusion

The investigation of human immune function presents significant challenges. Specifically, the study of septic patients is complicated by uncertainty surrounding the sepsis diagnosis, the time at which sepsis began, premorbid status and off-site effects of therapeutic interventions. Healthy volunteer studies can never replicate the severity of real-world disease. In contrast, the study of the surgical patient appears to offer a methodological rigor that these other studies lack. Surgical patients are heavily phenotyped and receive a relatively homogenous insult at a known time, facilitating the acquisition of pre-insult control samples. Biological plausibility for modelling sepsis with surgical patients is provided by genotyping investigations that describe a highly conserved genomic response of circulating leukocytes to both trauma and infection, and clinical similarities of these two populations.

An appropriate inflammatory response to infection and trauma is essential so that the magnitude and duration of injury may be minimised, and autotoxic harm limited. Neutrophils are the most numerous cell type during the early, innate inflammatory response and possess a range of potent effector mechanisms. The respiratory burst appears to act as a master regulator by controlling the activation of these mechanisms and simultaneously serving to limit longer-term activity. Therefore, the surgical model presents an opportunity to investigate how neutrophil function changes following a major inflammatory insult, and for the characterisation and description of the cellular mechanisms that may underlie these changes.

56

I.I0 Hypothesis

Patients undergoing major elective surgery demonstrate dynamic changes in neutrophil immune function, which may be mediated through alterations in neutrophil metabolic processes.

I.II Aims

- To determine whether the theoretical methodological advantages which the study of human surgical patients offers over the study of septic and trauma patients are realised in the translational surgical literature
- 2. To characterise the temporal response of neutrophil effector functions following major elective surgery.
- 3. To explore the metabolic processes which may underlie these changes in effector function.

Chapter 2 – General Methods

Patient samples were used throughout chapters 4, 5 and 6. Chapters 4 and 5 present observational data, that describes the perioperative neutrophil phenotype. All postoperative samples were compared to individualised preoperative controls. Chapter 5 and 6 provide mechanistic data, where chemical modulators of metabolic function were added to *preoperative* samples with the intention of mimicking the postoperative neutrophil phenotype.

2.1 Clinical data collection

Patient samples were collected from two clinical studies, following written informed consent, as detailed in Table 2.1

2.1.1 Study conduct

Patients were recruited from University College Hospital and The Royal Free Hospital between February 2011 and February 2014 from POMO and VISION-UK trials (Table 2.1) All postoperative samples were compared to their individual, matched preoperative control samples. Preoperative and postoperative care was conducted as per local guidelines. Both institutions have nurse-led preassessment clinics, with consultant support available as required. Surgery and anaesthesia were either delivered or immediately supervised by consultants. Local protocols regarding antibiotic and thrombo-prophylaxis, oral intake and physiotherapy plus occupational therapy were followed.

Postoperative Morbidity and Oxygen	VISION-UK		
(POMO)			
MREC 09/H0805/58	MREC 10/WNo03/25		
Collection timing:	Collection timing:		
February 2011 to March 2012	March 2012 to August 2014		
Inclusion criteria	Inclusion criteria		
- Major elective surgery	- Non-cardiac surgery and received		
(abdominal/oesophageal/hepatic	general anaesthetic		
resection/gynaecological/urological	- At least overnight admission to		
reconstructive surgery and who meet	hospital		
following criteria:	- >45 years of age		
I. ASA 3-4			
2. Age >50 years			
3. >2 risk factors defined by Revised			
Cardiac Risk Index			
Exclusion Criteria	Exclusion Criteria		
- Refusal of consent	- Refusal of consent		
- Concurrent lithium therapy			
- Acute myocardial ischaemia			
- Acute arrhythmias			
- Pregnancy			
- Palliative treatment only			
Laboratory sampling time points			
Preoperative (Preassessment clinic),			
POD 3, POD 5.			
Immune assay sampling time points	Immune assay sampling time points		
Preoperative (day of surgery), POD 1, POD	Preoperative (day of surgery), PODI,		
3, POD 5.	POD2, POD3.		

Table 2.1 Patient sampling criteria / protocol.

POD=Postoperative day

2.1.2 Data collection

Clinical and demographic data were collected prospectively as part of the POMO study protocol by trained research staff through analysis of written notes, electronic patient records and visits. Perioperative risk scores were calculated using the American Society of Anaesthesiology Physical Status Score (ASA, 2014), Physiological and Operative Severity Score for the enumeration of Morbidity and Mortality (POSSUM) (Copeland et al., 1991), Duke Activity Status Index (Hlatky et al., 1989) and Veterans Specific Activity Questionnaire Metabolic Equivalents (Myers et al., 2001). Full blood count samples were analysed by the hospital haematology laboratory using a Sysmex XE2100 analyser (Sysmex, Milton Keynes UK). The VISION patient database is currently locked to analysis, therefore only age, sex and operation type are presented for these patients.

2.1.3 Statistics

Continuous data are presented as mean with 95% confidence intervals for normally distributed data, otherwise median with interquartile range. For clarity, graphical data for all paired preoperative and postoperative are presented as paired line charts where n<10, and as box and whisker plots (median/IQR/min-max) where n>10. Where n<6 statistics are not provided. If n≥6 Wilcoxon matched pairs test was used, unless n>10 and box whisker plots suggested data was normally distributed, in which case Student's paired t-test was used. Categorical data are presented as absolute plus percentage values, and compared using Pearson's Chi² or Fisher's exact test as appropriate. All statistics were analysed using Prism 5.00 (Graphpad, USA).

2.2 Laboratory materials

2.2.1 Equipment

Equipment	Supplier	Address
Biological safety cabinet (Class II): Holten LaminAir Model 1,2	Thermo Scientific	Waltham, USA
Centrifuge: ALC PK120	ALC	Cologno Monzese, Italy
Centrifuge: Haraeus Megafuge 1.0R	Kendro Laboratory products	Langenselbold, Germany
Cryogenic vials: 2ml	Corning International	NY, USA
Falcon polypropylene tubes: 15ml, 50ml, 250ml	BD Biosciences	Oxford, UK
Filter unit: Nalgene 90mm (0.2µm filter)	Nalge Nunc International	NY, USA
Flow Cytometer off-line analysis: Kaluza 1.3	Beckman Coulter Inc	High Wycombe, UK
Flow Cytometer: Cyan ADP 9 colour (Summit 4.3.1)	Beckman Coulter Inc	High Wycombe, UK
Flow cytometry tubes: 5ml polystyrene round bottomed		
Haemocytometer (Neubauer)	Assistent	Germany
Heated water bath: Grant JB4	Grant Instruments	Cambridge, UK
Incubator for cell culture Galaxy R 170litre	RS Biotech Laboratory Ltd	Irving, UK
Microcentrifuge tubes: 1.5ml	StarLab GmbH	Ahrensburg, Germany
Microcentrifuge: Eppendorf 5415 C	Eppendorf	Hamburg, Germany
Microplate reader: Synergy Mx monochromator- based multi-mode	BioTek	Winooski, USA
Microscope: Zeiss Axiovert 25	Zeiss	Oberkochen, Germany
Pasteur pipettes (sterile): 3ml	Ramboldi Ltd	Limassol, Cyprus
Pipette tips (Diamond, sterilised) tips: 10, 200 and 1000uL	Gilson Inc	Middleton, USA
Radiometer ABL800 Flex blood gas analyser	Radiometer	Bronshoj, Denmark.
Real Time PCR: Rotor-Gene 6000	Corbett Life Sciences	Cambridgeshire, UK
Respirometer: Seahorse XF System	Seahorse	Copenhagen, Denmark
Serological pipettes (Costar, disposable): 10, 25, 50ml	Corning International	NY, USA

Table 2.2 Laboratory equipment

2.2.2 Chemicals and reagents

Reagent	Supplier*
(Batch number)	(Product number)
2-NBDG-FITC (Lot 1204217) Working solution 10mg/ml DMSO, stored at -20°C	Life technologies N13195
Annexin Buffer, made from: 100mM HEPES, 140mM NaCl, 25mM CaCl ₂ , in distilled water Sterile filtered as above, stored at 4°C.	Sigma Aldrich
Antimycin A from Streptomyces (lot 061M4063V) Stock solution 10mM in ethanol, stored at -20°C	Sigma Aldrich (A8674)
Blood Lysis Buffer, made from: 0.84g NaHCO₃ 7.7g NH₄CL 1000ml distilled water Sterilized by passing through 0.22µm filter, stored at 4°C	Sigma Aldrich
Bovine Serum Albumin (lot 099K1447) Stock solution 2% (w/v) in PBS, sterile filtered and stored at 4°C	Sigma Aldrich (B4287)
Carbonyl cyanide -4(trifluoromethoxy)phenyldydrazone (FCCP) Stock solution 10mM in ethanol, stored at -20°C	Sigma Aldrich
Cell Tak Stored at 4°C	Corning
D-Glucose (Lot K29908114)	CTL Scientific Supply Corp (101174Y)
Diarylsulfonamide (DASA) (Lot d00138745) Working solution 50mg/ml in DMSO, stored at -20°C	Calbiochem (550602)
Dihydroethidium (DHE) (1446356v) Working solution 10mM in DMSO, stored at -20°C	Sigma Aldrich (37291)
Dimethyl Sulphoxide (DMSO)# Stored at room temperature	Sigma Aldrich (154938)
Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium Glutamax, 1g glc + pyruvate. Stored at 4°C	Invitrogen (21885-025)
Dulbeccos's Phosphate-Buffered Saline, Calcium and Magnesium- free. (PBS) Stored at 4°C	Invitrogen Ltd (14190-094)
E. coli-fitc (k-12 strain) (lot 929563)	Invitrogen (e2861)
E. coli LPS 0111:b4 12630 – 25mg	Invitrogen
Ethanol (09/479 a10)	Prolab diagnostics (1 947907)
Ficoll-Paque PLUS (Ficoll sodium diatrizoate)	GE Healthcare
Stored at room temperature.	(17-1440-03)
Hanks Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) + CaCl ₂ +MgCl ₂ Stored at 4°C	Invitrogen (14025-050)
Heparin sodium 1000iu.ml ⁻¹ (sterile)	Leo Laboratories Ltd

Stored at 4°C HEPES huffor(4 (2 hydroxyothyl) Diporazinoothanosulfonic acid)	Sigma Aldrich
2% gluteraldehyde	
JC-I	Immunochemistry
Stock solution 200x in DMSO, stored at -20°C	(#6260)
Intracellular staining kit	Life Technologies
Stored at -4°C	
Lipopolysaccharide, from Salmonella Typhosa	Sigma Aldrich
(lot 113K4087)	(L6386)
Stock solution in PBS sterile filtered, stored at 4°C	
MitoSOX Red	Invitrogen
(Lot 449012)	(M36008)
Working solution 5µM in HBSS/Ca/Mg, stored at -20°C	C
	Santa cruz
(IOT HZII3) Working colution 10mg/ml DMSO stored at 2000	(30-221945)
Myxothiazol from Myxococcus	Sigma Aldrich
Stock solution TUM/M in Ethanol, stored at -20°C	(155580)
Oligomycin	Sigma Aldrich
(lot 061M8613)	(04876)
Stock solution 8mg.ml ⁻¹ in ethanol, stored at -20°C	Cience Alduish
Paratormaldenyde	Sigma Aldrich
2% (V/V) WORKING SOLUTION IN PBS, STORED at 4°C	(P6148)
(Lot no 1323313109)	Glycotope biotechnology
Phagotest kit	Glycotope biotechnology
(Lot no 13948)	
Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA)	Sigma Aldrich
(108K1443)	(P1585)
Stock solution 100µM in ethanol, stored at -20°C	
	Abcam plc
Stock solution SUpg.mr ⁻ in PBS, stored at 4 C	Sigma Aldwigh
	Sigma Aldrich (P007E)
(100 040K1107) Stock solution 10mM in ethanol stored at 20°C	(10873)
$\frac{1}{200}$	Invitrogen
fetal calf serum	(21875-034)
Stored at -4°C	
Seahorse assay medium	Sigma Aldrich
DMEM without sodium bicarbonate or phenol red, + 5.6mM	5
glucose, 5mM pyruvate, 2mM L-glutamine. pH adjusted to 7.4 at	
37oC and sterile filtered.	
Tetramethylrhodamine, Methyl Ester, Perchlorate (TMRM) Stock solution 10mM in DMSO, stored at -20°C	Life technologies
Trypan Blue solution (0.4%)	Sigma Aldrich
Stored at room temperature	(T8154)

Table 2.3 Chemicals and reagents.

* Abcam PLC, Cambridge UK, GE Healthcare, Buckinghamshire UK; Corning, Bedford, MA; CTL Scientific Supply Corp, NY, USA; Sigma Aldrich, Dorset UK Glycotope biotechnology – Heidelberg Germany, Leo Laboratories, Berkshire, UK; Invitrogen Ltd, Paisley UK Life technologies Paisley UK, Immunochemistry Technologies, MN, USA; Prolab diagnostics, Wirral, UK. # The concentrations of DMSO were all less than 0.02%, well below those documented to have direct effects upon mitochondrial membrane potential and apoptosis (1.5 - 2% v/v) (Lin et al. 1995; Liu et al. 2001). In addition, appropriate volumes of DMSO were added to all control wells.

2.2.3 Monoclonal antibodies and microbeads

Antibody- fluorochrome	Clone (product / batch)	lsotype (product / batch)	Source	Role
Annexin-V-FITC	(120-002- 355/51309270 69)	n/a	Miltenyi Biotec Ltd	Binds to externalised phosphatidylserine (in the presence of calcium).
CD11-APC	M1/70.15.11.5 (130-091-241/ 5110802100	Rat IgG2b Santa Cruz Sc-2895/ lot H2709	Miltenyi Biotec Ltd	As above
CD11b-FITC	M1/70.15.11.5 (1300x81201/5 110916041)	Rat IgG2b Santa Cruz Sc-2895/ lot H2709	Miltenyi Biotec Ltd	Integrin receptor for C3bi, fibrinogen and factor X. Strongly expressed on myeloid cells, scanty expression on some lymphocytes
CD14-APC	TUK4 (1300x91243/5 110929113)	Mouse IgG2a (130-091-837/ 5120614134	Miltenyi Biotec Ltd	As above
CD14-FITC	TUK4 (130-080-701/ 5110527016	Mouse lgG2a (130-091-837/ 5120614134	Miltenyi Biotec Ltd	Part of the LPS receptor complex. Strongly expressed on monocytes / macrophages and weakly expressed on some neutrophils
CD16-APC	VEP13 (130-091-246/ 5130718150)	Mouse IgM (130-093-176/ 512102119)	Miltenyi Biotec Ltd	As above
CD16-FITC	VEP13 (1300×91244/5 110308207)	Mouse IgM (1300x93178/5 101208144)	Miltenyi Biotec Ltd	Low affinity IgG receptor. Present on neutrophils, macrophages and NK cells.
CD62L-APC	145/15 (130-091-755 5110906351)	Mouse IgG1 (1300x92214/5 120706226)	MACS	Recruitment of leukocytes across endothelium to inflamed tissues. Most haematopoietic cells express CD62L.
CD95(Fas)-APC	DX2 (305612/B128	Mouse lgG1 (1300x92214/5	Miltenyi Biotec	Member of TNF receptor superfamily – mediates

	820)	120706226)	Ltd	apoptosis. Expressed upon granulocytes, monocytes and many lymphocytes.
CXCR2 (CD182)	5E8/CXCR2 320704/B1472 74	Mouse IgG I (1300x92214/5 120706226)	Biolegend	IL-8 receptor, as homo or heterodimer with CXCRI. Expressed on granulocytes, and many other haematopoietic cells
FcR blocker	120-000-442 512128065		MACS	
Ly-6G MicroBeads	130-092-332			Positive selection of mouse neutrophils
TLR4-PE (CD284)	HTA125 (312805/B156 775)	Mouse IgG2a (130-091-837/ 5120614134	Biolegend	Pathogen recognition receptor. Expressed on monocytes/macrophages, endothelial cells and low levels on neutrophils and B cells.
TREM-1-PE	193015 (FAB1278P/LC 10411011	Mouse IgG I (1300x92214/5 120706226)	RD Systems	Amplification/transduction of pattern recognition receptor signals. Expressed on neutrophils, monocytes/macrophages and dendritic cells.

Table 2.4 Monoclonal antibodies and beads.

2.2.4 Fluorescent cellular probes

Probe*	Conversion	Marker	Notes
	product		
	(excitation/		
	Fluorescence		
	nm)		
Dihydrorhodamine-123	Rhodamine I 23	H ₂ O ₂ , (Royall	Used for clinical tests of
(Poot et al., 1996; Rothe	(511/534)	and	neutrophil burst. Accumulates in
et al., 1988; Rothe and		lschiropoulos,	mitochondria.
Valet, 1990)		1993) HOCI	
Dihydroethidium	Ethidium	O ₂ -	Hyper-fluoresce when bound to
(Lehmann et al., 1998)	(520/610)	(Walrand et	DNA.
		al., 2003)	
MitoSOX RED	Ethidium	O ₂ -	Ethidium conjugated with cationic
(Mukhopadhyay et al.,	(520/610)	(Cationic)	triphosphohenyllinium [#] to target
2007)			mitochondria
TMRM	TMRM	Mitochondrial	Accumulates unchanged within
(Ehrenberg et al., 1988;	(535/573)	membrane	mitochondrial intermembrane
Feng et al., 2009).		potential	space.
		(Cationic)	
JC-I	Green	Mitochondrial	Accumulates unchanged within
(Minamikawa et al., 1999;	monomers	membrane	mitochondrial intermembrane
Salvioli et al., 1997)	(514/529nm)	potential	space. Density dependent
	Red J-aggregates	(Cationic)	aggregation and colour change.
	(514/590nm)		

Table 2.5 Fluorescent cellular probes

*Stock details listed under Table 2.3, Chemicals and Reagents. #The inner mitochondrial membrane is far more negative (-140mV) than other organelles within the cell, therefore lipophilic cations preferentially accumulate there, (Murphy and Smith, 2000)

2.2.5 Neutrophil activation agents

Activator*	Target	Working	Application / notes
		concentration	
Opsonised E. coli	Phagocytosis: Fcγ,	Typically, x10 ⁹ /ml	FITC labelled bacteria to
	PRR, complement		quantify phagocytosis,
	receptors.		unlabelled bacteria to
			measure respiratory burst
Lipopolysaccharide	LPS receptor	Dependent upon	Requires lipopolysaccharide
(LPS)	(TLR4/CD14)	bacterial strain	binding protein.
		and LPS subtype.	
		(0.5 to 100ng/ml)	
fMLP	fMLP receptor	l to 50 ng/ml	A potent chemoattractant,
			also a weak stimulus of
			respiratory burst –
			commonly used to identify
			primed neutrophils.
PMA	Protein Kinase C	100ng/ml to	Potent and persistent
	(Higher	l ug/ml.	activator of PKC –
	concentrations		endogenous signals are
	may directly		more transient. Bypasses
	activate NF-kB).		cell surface signalling
			machinery.

Table 2.6 Neutrophil activating agents

*Stock details listed within Table 2.3, Chemicals and Reagents.

2.3. Blood work

Laboratory isolation of neutrophils has been repeatedly demonstrated to alter neutrophil function (Kotz et al., 2010; Kuijpers et al., 1991; Pallister and Topley, 2004). However, assays within whole blood maybe affected by the presence of other cell types and variable concentrations of neutrophils (Wenisch et al., 2001). Therefore, experiments were repeated within whole blood and isolated neutrophils where possible. Some assays, such as JC-1, cannot be used in whole blood. Heparin anticoagulation better preserves cell surface antigen expression (Elghetany and Davis, 2005), while citrate depletion of calcium may impair signalling processes necessary for neutrophil activation.

20ml of heparinised whole blood (19ml blood plus Iml [1000 units] heparin) were collected for immune study studies, along with full blood count and chemistry samples for hospital laboratory analysis. Heparinised whole blood samples were immediately placed on ice and processed with 2 hours of collection.

2.3.1 Granulocyte isolation from whole blood

Neutrophil isolation was by density gradient centrifugation. 15ml whole blood was diluted 1:1 with phosphate buffered saline, layered over 15ml Ficoll-Paque within a 50ml Falcon tube and centrifuged at 220x g for 30minutes with braking disabled. After removal of all layers above the neutrophil/red cell fraction using Pasteur pipettes, 30ml lysis buffer was added and samples were placed on ice for 20 minutes and regularly vortexed. These falcon tubes were then centrifuged at 220x g for 6 minutes and the supernatant discarded. A second lysis stage was performed, as described above. Samples were then washed in PBS, and a 100 μ L aliquot mixed with 100 μ L trypan blue, counted with a haemocytometer and resuspended at 1×10⁶ cells per ml in PBS with 10mg/ml sterile filtered glucose and placed on ice. Manual counting of leukocytes is considered a reference standard (Roussel et al., 2012). Trypan blue revealed >98% viability of cells.

The granulocyte population includes neutrophils, eosinophils and occasional basophils. Neutrophils typically outnumber eosinophils 300-fold, therefore large scale investigations have considered the granulocyte population to be equivalent to a pure neutrophil population (Kotz et al., 2010; Xiao et al., 2011). Further isolation procedures may increase iatrogenic injury and activate neutrophils. Eosinophil contamination rates of 3% are typically considered to be acceptable (Kotz et al., 2010). In addition to physical separation, during flow cytometry experiments neutrophils were specifically identified by co-labelling with a conjugated CD16 monoclonal antibody. For the respiratory burst experiments 'backgating' was used to remove cells with very low burst responses (see 2.6.4).

2.3.2 Neutrophil isolation from murine bone marrow

The Miltenyi Biotec isolation kit was used to positively select murine neutrophils. Ly-6G antibody is highly specific for murine neutrophils. Mixed cellular preparations were incubated with Anti-Ly-6G Biotin labelled monoclonal antibodies, then subsequently with Anti-Biotin magnetic microbeads. The cells were then passed through a magnetic field which retains the co-labelled cells, but allows other cells to pass through.

The Separation Buffer stock was diluted 1:20 with PBS to create a working solution (pH 7.2, 0.5% bovine serum albumin, 2mM EDTA). Heparinised murine bone marrow was extracted as described below, passed through a 30µm nylon mesh to remove clumps, counted and resuspended in 200uL buffer per 10⁸ cells. 50µL Anti-Ly-6G-Biotin was added per 10⁸ cells, samples mixed and incubated at 4°C for 10 minutes. A further 150µL of buffer was added per 10⁸ cells, then 100uL Ani-Biotin Microbeads per 10⁸ cells. Samples were mixed and incubated for further 15 minutes at 4°C, then a further 5ml of buffer added per 10⁸ cells and centrifuged at 300g for 10 minutes. Supernatant was aspirated and cells re-suspended in 500µL of buffer per 10⁸ cells.

The MACS MS separation column was rinsed with 500uL buffer and placed in the separator. 500µL aliquots of cell suspension were then added to the reservoir, and repeated once reservoir was empty. The column was then removed, placed over a collection tube and flushed with 1ml buffer.

70

2.4 Animal models

An animal model was used for bone marrow experiments within Chapter 4. 8-12 week old male mice (weight 20-25g) were selected. Animals were housed with food and water available *ad libitum* in the specific pathogen-free central animal facilities of University College London Medical School (London, UK). Experimental protocols were approved by the UCL Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee, and performed per UK Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act, 1986. Experiments were conducted in accordance with the ARRIVE guidelines (Kilkenny et al., 2013).

Experiments were performed within a laboratory, in a separate room from the home cages. Topical bupivacaine was used for analgesia. During experiments body temperature was maintained using a warming mat regulated by a rectal temperature probe. Animals were randomised through numbering and random (blinded) selection of numbers, with treatment and control animals selected in alternating manner. Animal welfare was overseen by UCL biological services department.

2.5 HL-60 cell line

HL60 cells were obtained from ATCC (ATCC CCL-240). Cultures were performed within RS Biotech Galaxy R 170litre incubator (37.0° C, pCO₂ 5.0kPa). All instrumentation was performed within a cleaned culture hood with laminar air-flow. Experiments were performed upon cells between passage 10 and 40. The cell line was maintained and differentiated by Ana Gutierrez del Arroyo. Cells were seeded at 2.5x10⁵/ml in RPMI 1640 (with 0.3g/L L-glutamine and 20% heat inactivated fetal calf serum). Cells were differentiated into neutrophil-like cells by the addition of 1.25% DMSO for 6 days prior to experimentation (Collins et al., 1979). All cells were washed twice in plain RPMI before functional assays were performed. Cells were counted using trypan blue as described above, and resuspended at 0.5M/ml.

2.6 Flow cytometry

Flow cytometry uses lasers to describe the optical properties of individual cells. The scattering of laser light provides gross information about cell size and shape. The highly specific fluorescent properties of fluorochrome chemicals are used to provide more detailed

information about each cell. Fluorescence describes the optical property whereby excitation of an electron with a specific wavelength of light leads to a change in electron energy levels and subsequent emission of a second photon of light at a different, but equally specific wavelength. The flow cytometer contains a series of lasers that are used to excite these electrons, and a series of detectors, which consist of photomultiplier tube detectors covered by monochromatic filters.

Fluorochromes may be conjugated to monoclonal antibodies to measure specific antigens either outside, or within cells. A range of fluorescent probes is also available, whose emission spectra change during highly specific chemical reactions, and may therefore be used to measure the rates of these reactions and make inferences about the quantities of reactants and reaction rates. It is possible to combine fluorochromes and probes, provided emission spectra are different – however, even if peak fluorescence's are different, the spectra may still overlap. To isolate each signal, individual control samples are run to measure relative contributions from each signal, and to also measure background/autofluorescence. The flow cytometry techniques used throughout this thesis follow International Society for Analytical Cytometry MIFlowCyt guidelines (Lee et al., 2008), and recommendations by Tung et al (Tung et al., 2007).

Measurements were performed using the Beckman Coulter CyAn ADP flow cytometer (Beckman Coulter, High Wycombe, UK), using Summit 4.3.1 software to gather flow cytometry files (.fcs). Off-line analysis was performed using Beckman Coulter Cyan Kaluza v1.3 software.

Laser alignment was checked every day using Multicheck beads (Moflo, Beckman Coulter) and every two weeks using SpectrAlign beads (CyAn) to a target fluorescence resolution coefficient of variation <3% of full peak for 488nm excitation and <4% for 633nm excitation by a formally trained support scientist. Lasers were allowed to warm up for 30 minutes before sample acquisition. A routine cleaning protocol was run by each user at the end of each session, and an extended protocol run at the end of each working day. A maintenance contract with Beckman Coulter provided yearly servicing and on-request engineer visits.

72
CyAn ADP specifications:

Laser source	Emission Filter	Fluorochrome / probe
488nm, 25mW	FLI (530/40nm)	FITC, rhodamine-123, JC-1
488nm, 25mW	FL2 (575/25nm)	PE, JC-1, TMRM, DHE, MitoSOX Red
488nm, 25mW	FL3 (613/20nm)	PI
642nm, 60mW	FL8 (665/20nm)	APC

Table 2.7 Optical specifications of CyAn ADP flow cytometer.

Taken from (Beckman-Coulter, 2009)

Feature	CyAn ADP
Maximal processing speed	Up to 70,000 events per second
Sample flow rate	Up to 150µL/min
Quartz cuvette	Fused silica, 250µM square sectioned
	internal channel
Compensation	9x9 matrix, auto compensation
Signal resolution	4096 channels on all parameters
Sensitivity (Molecules of equivalent soluble	FITC <100; PE <50
fluorochrome)	
Beam geometry	Elliptical / spherical
Sheath management system	Electronic fluidic control of sheath, waste
	and cleaning fluid with continuous
	adjustable flow rate
Operating system	Windows XP Professional

Table 2.8 Operating features of CyAn ADP flow cytometer

2.6.1 General conduct

Individual control samples were used for each patient sample. Photomultiplier tube voltages (gain) were set using control samples, and the voltage was adjusted to ensure the control (background) population fell within the first log order of fluorescence. These settings, along with gating strategies, were saved as acquisition protocols to ensure comparability between data collected on different days. All .fcs files were anonymised and saved onto the local hard drive and backed up onto the local network server, onto a home computer, and are available on request.

The choice of control sample depended upon the experimental assay. In the case of monoclonal antibodies isotype controls were used (O'Gorman and Thomas, 1999). Isotype controls are of the same subtype from the same animal (e.g. Mouse IgGI), but are polyclonal and therefore directed to many different epitopes. They account for class or non-specific binding of antibodies, and are particularly important when investigating cells with Fc receptors, such as neutrophils. They were used in the same concentration as test antibodies. For fluorescent cellular probes, such as Rhodamine-123, unstained or untreated control samples were used instead.

2.6.2 Filter compensation and fluorescence-minus-one

The emission spectra of fluorochromes may overlap, leading to detection by an unintended photomultiplier tube. Therefore, when two overlapping probes are used simultaneously a compensation process must be applied to isolate individual fluorochrome responses. Compensation is the first part of any analysis procedure. Compensation uses each of the two overlapping antibody/probes individually as single compensation control samples, allowing the proportion of light detected by the unintended detector to be measured. This proportion is then subtracted from the combined test sample containing both probes. Within modern flow cytometry machines compensation is a post-recording mathematical transformation and does not affect the protocol voltage settings during primary sample acquisition (Roederer et al., 2004). The effects of compensation are demonstrated within the Annexin section below, where Annexin-FITC antibody overlaps with the PI cellular probe.



Figure 2.1 Compensation of FITC/PI sample.

(A)In uncompensated sample the FITC emission spectra overlaps with the detection filter (B) With compensation applied PI detection of FITC signal is eliminated.

Fluorescence-minus-one is an alternative method of eliminating spectra overlap. It is particularly useful for samples with low level probe/antibody fluorescence where the relative contribution of autofluorescence to probe/antibody fluorescence will be high, or when several overlapping fluorochromes are being used together. Rather than running each fluorochrome separately, a control sample is created which contains every fluorochrome except the probe of interest. This may then be used to set background fluorescence gates, before the actual test sample is run, containing every probe of interest.

2.6.3 Reporting and presentation of flow cytometry data

FACS data are presented as fluorescence, in dimensionless arbitrary units, typically on a logarithmic scale. However, since logarithmic values are asymptotic to zero, they cannot represent fluorescence values that are close, or approximate to zero. Here, a logicle – or bi-exponential – scale is used, where values around zero have a linear scale. Transformed data from filter compensation often leads to values that fall to zero, necessitating the use of logicle scales.

Neutrophil death and apoptosis were assessed by specific assays, including measurement of mitochondrial membrane potential, early and late apoptosis and cell death. The addition of specific markers of cell death to other assays (e.g. of neutrophil function) were not performed, as has been generally advised by authors commenting on lymphocyte flow cytometry (Tung et al., 2007).

Where possible, co-labelling of conjugated CD16 antibody was used to identify neutrophils during whole blood and isolated neutrophil flow cytometry experiments.

2.6.4 Gating and positive staining

Light scattered by cells passing through the machines laser beam is determined by cellular morphology. Larger cells scatter more light in a forward direction, facing the laser beam (narrow angle, forward scatter, FSC), and denser cells (due to more cytoplasmic granules or organelles) scatter more light sideways (wide angle, side scatter, SSC). Scattering of light may therefore be used to identify granulocytes within isolated samples (Fig 2.2) and lysed whole blood (Fig 2.3) since granulocytes possess distinct morphological features.

Light scattering may also be used to identify cell clumping with the sample stream, and was the first gate set for all analyses. The 'pulse width' contains size information which is independent of many of the factors which contribute to forward and side scattering (Hoffman, 2009), and may be used to exclude clumps and doublets.



granulocyte sample.

(A)Isolated granulocyte selected from contaminating lymphocytes/monocytes/debris. (B) CD16^{hi} population selected. (C) CD16^{hi} backgated onto fs/ss plot to confirm purity of isolation procedure.





(A) Granulocytes identified on fs/ss plot. (B) The CD16 isotype sample was loaded, and a gate set beyond 95% of the isotype population. (C) The test sample was then loaded. (D) Back gating of this population onto the original fs/ss plot confirms these cells are granulocytes. (E) Here, the entire leukocyte population is gated, which shows (F) A population of cells with low expression of CD16 (G) When this population is gated back onto the fs/ss plot, these cells are shown to be lymphocytes/monocytes and a few 'granulocytes'. These CD16¹⁶ cells may be apoptosing neutrophils, eosinophils or possibly activated monocytes.

The technique used to describe positive staining was determined by the extent to which the test sample was separated from the relevant control sample. Where there were discrete subpopulations of cells staining positive, the percentage of cells present in the subpopulation and the median fluorescent intensity of the subpopulation were recorded (Fig 2.4 A-E). Samples were considered positive if they fell outside the 95th percentile of the relevant control sample.

Where these samples overlapped, the percentage of cells which fell outside the 95% percentile of the control sample were recorded (Fig 2.4 F-H), unless the population was not normally distributed, in which case median fluorescent intensity (MFI) was reported. Where the test population was completely separated from the control population, MFI was recorded.





A-E Measurement of CD14 on neutrophils. Here CD14 expression overlaps the isotype control, and monocytes must be excluded from whole blood sample. (A) Granulocyte population selected. (B) Monocyte subpopulations express variable amounts of CD14, therefore expression of CD16 was used to select the neutrophil population (C) This was backgated onto fs/ss plot to confirm neutrophil population correctly identified. (D) CD14 isotype control run. (E) Overlay plot created, 95% markers created using isotype, then proportion of neutrophils expressing CD14 recorded. F-I Measurement of CD16 on neutrophils. Here the CD16 population is completely separated from the isotype control. (F) Granulocyte population selected. (G) CD16 cells selected (H) Isotype control run (I) MFI of CD16 population recorded.

2.6.5 Monoclonal antibodies

2.6.5.1 Extracellular: Cluster of Differentiation markers (CD)

CD markers used are detailed in table 2.4, and their function and significance described in more detail within chapters I and 4. For whole blood samples, 2μ L of the relevant conjugated monoclonal antibody (or isotype) was suspended in 100uL 2% BSA then added to 100µL heparinized whole blood and thoroughly mixed. Samples were incubated for I hour at 4°C, then fixed with 100µL 2% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 5 minutes prior to addition of 3mls of Blood Lysis Buffer for a further 10 minutes with regular agitation. Samples were then centrifuged at 300g for three minutes, supernatants discarded, agitated and washed in PBS before repeat centrifuge for 3 minutes at 300g. Supernatants were discarded, then samples agitated plus resuspended in 500µL of PBS and stored in dark at 4°C ready for analysis. All samples were processed within 24 hours of preparation.

Isolated neutrophils were treated similarly. 1×10^{6} cells (1ml) were centrifuged at 300x g for 3 minutes, supernatant was then discarded and the pellet agitated prior to addition of 2μ L antibody suspended in 100 μ L 2% BSA. Samples were incubated for 30 minutes, then fixed and processed as before.

2.6.7 Assays of neutrophil function

2.6.7.1 Phagocytosis

Neutrophil phagocytosis was assessed using PhagoTest (Orpegen Pharma, Heidelberg, Germany). 100µL heparinised whole blood was added to two (test and control) flow cytometry tubes, then cooled to 0°C for 10 minutes. 20µL of precooled, vortexed opsonised FITC-labelled E. coli suspension $(2\times10^9/ml=4000$ bacteria) were added to both tubes then vortexed again. The control tube was kept on ice and test tube incubated at 37°C in a water bath for 10 minutes in the dark. At the end of incubation, the test sample was returned to 0°C. 100µL quenching solution (Trypan Blue) was added to each sample, then vortexed. Two wash steps consisting of 3ml cooled wash solution, centrifugation at 300g for 5 minutes at 4°C, and discarding of supernatant were then performed. 2 ml of fix/lysis solution were then added and samples incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature, with regular vortexing. Samples were then washed as before, resuspended in PBS then immediately analysed.



Figure 2.5 Neutrophil phagocytosis assay analysis.

[A] Neutrophils were identified on fs/ss plot. (B) 0°C control sample used to set 95% gate. (C) 37°C test sample run and (D) MFI of test population recorded.

2.6.7.2 Respiratory burst

Neutrophil respiratory burst was assessed using the BurstTest assay (Orpegen Pharma, Heidelberg, Germany). 100µL heparinised whole blood was added to 4 flow cytometry tubes (control, E. coli, fMLP and PMA) and placed on ice. 20μ L wash solution were added to the control tube, with 20μ L opsonised E. coli bacteria suspension (1×10^9 /ml), 20μ L fMLP working solution (5μ M) and 20μ L PMA working solution (8.1μ M) to respective test tubes. Samples were then vortexed and placed in a 37.0° C water bath for ten minutes. Samples were then returned to ice before addition of 20μ L dihydrorhodamine-123 solution, vortexed and incubated for a further 10 minutes at 37° C in a water bath. Samples were then returned to ice and fixed with 100μ L PFA for 3 minutes, before addition of 2ml lysing solution and kept at room temperature with regular vortexing. Finally, samples were washed once with 3ml of wash solution, vortexed, centrifuged at 300g for 5 minutes before aspiration of supernatant and resuspension in 100μ I wash solution. Samples were then processed immediately on the flow cytometer.

For isolated cells, 1×10^6 /ml (1ml) isolated neutrophils suspended in PBS with 10mg/ml glucose was used in place of whole blood, and the lysis step was omitted. Only PMA test samples were run for isolated cells, since neutrophils do not readily respond to E. coli bacteria in the absence of serum.





(A) Control sample loaded, and granulocytes identified by fs/ss. (B) Control FITC fluorescence recorded. (C,D,E) Next, fMLP, E. coli and PMA test samples were sequentially loaded, identified on FS/SS (not shown) and FITC fluorescence MFI recorded. (F) Demonstrates overlay plot of all test samples. For fMLP stimulus the percentage of granulocytes positive was also recorded, using a 95% marker previously set on the control sample.

2.6.8 Assays of neutrophil mitochondria

Neutrophils contain functional mitochondria that maintain a mitochondrial membrane potential independent of cytoplasmic ATP production (Fossati et al., 2003; Maianski et al., 2004). The loss of neutrophil mitochondrial membrane potential is believed to be a critical regulator of constitutive apoptosis.

2.6.8.1 Mitochondrial membrane potential

Cell permeable, fluorescent cationic probes may be used with flow cytometry to measure changes within the mitochondrial membrane potential of individual cells. JC-1 is a carbocyanine dye that exists as a green monomer at low concentrations and forms red J-aggregates at high concentrations (Minamikawa et al., 1999; Salvioli et al., 1997). The loss of red fluorescence and gain of green fluorescence may therefore be used to monitor mitochondrial membrane potential. TMRM possesses red-orange fluorescence and accumulates within the positively charged mitochondrial intermembrane space. The magnitude of fluorescence is therefore an indicator of mitochondrial membrane potential. TMRM may be used within whole blood samples, unlike JC-1 which requires an isolated cell system. The uncoupling agent FCCP dissipates the mitochondrial membrane potential independently of ATP production, by providing a route for H⁺ to re-enter mitochondrial matrix along a concentration gradient. FCCP may therefore be used as a positive control.

JC-I

I used the MitoPT JC-1 assay kit (Serotec, Kidlington, Oxon, UK, which is only validated within isolated cell preparations (Bassøe et al., 2003). The assay was performed within a darkened room. Working solutions were prepared as per manufacturer's instructions: Ix assay buffer solution and Ix JC-1 solution. Isolated neutrophils were prepared as described above, 1×10^{6} /ml in PBS with 10mg/ml glucose, then Iml neutrophil preparation was added to three flow cytometry tubes (test, control, isotype). These tubes were centrifuged at 300g for 5 minutes, supernatants discarded and re-suspended in Iml Ix JC-1 buffer. IµL f FCCP stock (50mM) was added to the control sample (equivalent to 50µM FCCP) and IµL DMSO to the test sample, all tubes were then incubated at 37°C in water bath for 15 minutes. Then, Iml Ix JC-1 solution was added to test and control tubes, Iml JC-1 buffer to the

isotype and 2µL CD16 antibody (or isotype) plus 100µL BSA to test, control and isotype tubes as appropriate. All samples were incubated for a further 15 minutes at 37°C, before being centrifuged at 300g for 5 minutes at room temperature. Supernatants were discarded and all samples washed once with 2ml assay buffer, centrifuged at 300g for 5 minutes, Supernatants were then discarded and re-suspended in 0.5ml of JC-1 buffer and processed immediately on the flow cytometer.



Figure 2.7 JC-1 assay analysis.

(A) FCCP positive control sample loaded, and granulocyte population identified by fs/ss. (B) Positive control neutrophil population identified by CD I 6hi (C) FITC/PE plot of positive control sample used to identify a gate containing 95% of the neutrophil population. The test sample was loaded and population identified by FS/SS (D) Test neutrophil population identified by CD I 6^{hi}. (E) The proportion of neutrophils present within the positive control gate, and therefore which had lost their membrane potential, was recorded.

TMRM

TMRM stock solution (10mM) was diluted to form 200nM working solution in JC-1 buffer solution. 100µL heparinised whole blood was added to three tubes (test, control, isotype) and placed on ice. 1µL FCCP stock (50mM) to control sample and 1uL DMSO to the test sample, and incubate at 37°C in water bath for 15 minutes. Next, 1ml of TMRM working solution, and 2µL CD16 antibody (or isotype) suspended in 100uL BSA was added to each tube. Samples were returned to the water bath at 37°C in the dark for a further 15 minutes, before returning to ice. Two wash steps were performed, with 2ml JC-1 buffer, centrifuged at 300g and the supernatant then discarded. Samples were then lysed with 2ml blood lysis buffer before being washed a final time, re-suspended in JC-1 buffer and processed immediately on the flow cytometer.



Figure 2.8 TMRM assay analysis.

(A) Positive control sample loaded, and granulocyte population identified by FS/SS (B) Neutrophils then identified by CD I 6^{hi} (not shown). Test sample loaded and granulocytes identified by FS/SS (C) Test neutrophil identified by CD I 6^{hi} (D) An overlay plot of positive control and test samples was created. Both the MFI of the test sample, and the % of neutrophils that lost their membrane potential were recorded.

2.6.8.2 Mitochondrial superoxide production

Redox sensitive fluorescent probes may be targeted to mitochondria through conjugation with a negatively charged moiety. MitoSOX Red consists of the hydroethidium probe, which undergoes 2-hydroxylation in the presence of superoxide, attaching to the cationic triphenylphosphonium which promotes electrophoretic uptake by respiring mitochondria (Mukhopadhyay et al., 2007). When oxidised MitoSOX Red binds to cellular DNA it becomes hyper fluorescent (Robinson et al., 2006). This must be considered during flow cytometry analysis. Dihydrorhodamine-123 is less specific, and measures H_2O_2 – including that generated by mitochondrial superoxide dismutase - throughout the cell (Henderson and Chappell, 1993).

MitoSOX Red

The MitoSOX Red assay kit (Invitrogen, Paisley UK) was used. A 50µg vial of MitoSOX was added to 13µl of DMSO, to make 5mM stock solution. 2 µL stock solution and 1µL CD16 antibody were added to 100µl MitoSOX assay buffer to create a test solution. 2 µL of DMSO plus 1µL CD16 antibody was added to 100µL of MitoSOX assay buffer to create a control solution and 2 µL DMSO plus1µL CD16 isotype was added to 100µL of MitoSOX assay buffer to make an isotype solution. 100µL of isolated neutrophils (prepared as described above – 1x10⁶ cells/ml in PBS with 10mg/ml glucose) were added to flow cytometry tubes labelled test, control and isotype, with 100µL of the test solution, control solution and isotype solutions added as appropriate. These samples were vortexed, then incubated at 37°C for 15 minutes at 5kPa CO₂. These samples were placed on ice and washed once by adding 2ml of 4°C assay buffer, vortexed, centrifuged at 300g for 5 minutes and supernatants discarded. Samples were resuspended in 100µL of 4°C assay buffer, placed on ice in the dark and processed immediately on the flow cytometer.



(A) Unstained, negative control sample loaded and granulocyte population identified by fs/ss. (B) PE fluorescence of negative sample noted. (C) Test sample loaded, granulocyte population identified and higher staining cells excluded. (D) Overlay plot of negative and test sample. A 95% gate was created from test sample, and the proportion of test neutrophils beyond this recorded.

2.6.9 Apoptosis: Annexin-V-FITC / Propidium Iodide (PI)

Phosphatidylserine is usually present on the cytoplasmic side of the cellular membrane, but becomes externalised early in apoptosis (Vermes et al., 1995). Annexin-V avidly binds to negatively charged phosphatidylserine, and is commercially available in a FITC conjugated form to detect apoptosis. Further progression of apoptosis leads to fragmentation of the cellular membrane, allowing the vital dye PI to enter and bind to DNA. Therefore, combination Annexin/PI staining may be used to classify cellular viability. Cells that have entered early apoptosis will only stain with Annexin-FITC, while those which have progressed to late apoptosis or secondary necrosis will stain for both Annexin-FITC and PI. Meanwhile cells which are primarily necrotic will only stain with PI, while healthy nonapoptotic cells will stain with neither. The Annexin-V assay is widely used, and correlates with other techniques such as TUNEL and the DNA ladder assay (Yasuhara et al., 2003).

 1×10^{6} cells/ml of isolated neutrophils in PBS plus 10mg/ml glucose were prepared as described above, with 1ml added to four flow cytometry tubes labelled Negative, Annexin, Pl and Annexin+Pl. These samples were centrifuged at 300g for five minutes, supernatants were discarded and re-suspended in 100µL of Annexin buffer that contained either no added agent (negative, Pl) or 0.5µL of Annexin-FITC (Annexin, Annexin+Pl). These samples were incubated for 20 minutes in the dark at room temperature. A further 500µL of Annexin buffer was added to each tube, and samples were again incubated in the dark for 20 minutes at room temperature. Finally, samples were placed on ice and 5µL Pl was added to the Pl and Annexin-Pl tubes, vortexed and run immediately on the flow cytometer.

Negative control samples were used to identify granulocytes on a FS/SS plot. PMT voltages were adjusted so that this granulocyte population fell within the first log decade on the FITC/PI dot plot and to set the location of quadrant gates. Annexin and PI tubes were then used to set compensation boundaries, prior to processing the Annexin+PI test sample.

90



Figure 2.10 Annexin-V/PI apoptosis assay analysis.

(A) Negative control sample loaded and isolated granulocytes identified by fs/ss (B) FITC/PI PMT voltage adjusted so that population falls within 1 log decade for each. Quadrants plotted to encompass 90% of neutrophil population, with 5% FITC positive and 5% PI positive (C) PI control loaded and compensation applied as described above (D) Annexin-FITC control loaded and compensation applied as described above (E) The Annexin-FITC and PI test sample was loaded and proportion of neutrophils within each quadrant recorded.

2.6.10 2-NBDG Glucose uptake assay

The fluorescent glucose analog 2-NBDG [CAS 186689-07-6] may be used to monitor glucose uptake in living cells (Yamada et al., 2007; Yoshioka et al., 1996). Stock 10mg/ml was made by dissolving crystalline solid in DMSO, and stored at -20°C. Isolated neutrophils were prepared as described above (1×10^6 cells/ml, PBS both with, and without glucose 10mmol/L), and incubated with 2NBDG at 1, 10 and 100µM for 15 minutes at 37°C in a water bath. Samples were then placed on ice and washed with ice-cold PBS, centrifuged at

300g for 5 minutes, washes again then re-suspended in PBS, and then processed immediately.



Figure 2.11 2-NBDG glucose uptake assay.

(A) Isolated granulocytes were identified on fs/ss plot (B) Negative control sample loaded and neutrophils identified by CD16^{hi} – isotype control not shown. (C) FITC PMT voltage adjusted so that negative population falls within first log decade. (D) Test sample loaded and neutrophils identified by fs/ss then CD16^{hi}. (E) 2-NBDG FITC fluorescence noted (F) Overlay plot of negative control and 2-NBDG test sample. A gate was created to encompass 95 % of the control population, the proportion of neutrophils falling beyond this gate were recorded as positive.

2.7 Pharmacological manipulation of neutrophil metabolism

2.7.1 Mitochondrial respiratory complex inhibitor assays

To assess whether mitochondrial dysfunction may be responsible for the postoperative neutrophil phenotype, preoperative neutrophils were incubated with respiratory complex inhibitors and the functional assays described above were repeated. Stock solutions of respiratory complex inhibitors rotenone 10mM, antimycin A 10mM and myxothiazol 10mM were prepared in 100% ethanol.

Rotenone inhibits complex I by preventing transfer of electrons from the Fe-S site to ubiquinone. Antimycin A and myoxthiazol both inhibit the Q cycle at complex III, by binding to the Q_i and Q_o sites of cytochrome c reductase, respectively (Thierbach and Reichenbach, 1981).

Isolated neutrophils. 1×10⁶ cells/ml isolated neutrophils in PBS containing 10mg/dL of sterile glucose were incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C in a water bath with relevant respiratory chain inhibiting drugs. Appropriate functional assays were then performed, as described above. Identical volumes of ethanol were added to control samples.

HL60 cells. 500x10⁵ cells washed HL60 cells (6day DMSO differentiated and undifferentiated) were suspended in 1ml plain RPMI 1640 and incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C and 5.0 kPa CO₂ with respiratory chain inhibiting drugs. Functional assays were then performed as described above. Identical volumes of ethanol were added to control samples.

2.7.2 Mitochondrial ROS scavenging: MitoTEMPO

To assess how a reduction of mitochondrial ROS affects neutrophil immune function, neutrophils were preincubated with the mitochondrial ROS scavenger MitoTEMPO prior to performing functional immune assays. MitoTEMPO is a commercially available mitochondrial ROS scavenger, which consists of the antioxidant piperidine nitroxide conjugated to the lipophilic, cationic moiety triphenylphosphonium. This leads to a 1000-fold concentration within mitochondria (Skulachev, 2007). It may be considered a mitochondrial superoxide dismutase mimetic (Dikalov et al., 1997).

MitoTEMPO was dissolved in DMSO to create a stock solution of 10mM and stored at -20°C. MitoTEMPO has been used at concentrations ranging from 1nM (Liang et al., 2010)

to 5μM (Liu et al., 2010), and demonstrated to reduce mitochondria ROS, measured using MitoSOX Red.

Six-day DMSO differentiated and undifferentiated HL60 cells were washed and prepared at a concentration of 3×10^5 /ml in RMPI 1640 + L glutamine without added fetal calf serum. HL60 cells were then incubated with MitoTEMPO 100nM or 500nM for 1 hour at 37°C in CO₂ 5.0 kPa, prior to performing functional assays described previously. Control samples contained an equivalent amount of DMSO.

2.7.3 Pyruvate kinase M2 activation: DASA

A cell permeable substituted *N,N*' diarylsulphonamide (NCGC00181061; DASA) was used to selectively activate the M2 isoform of pyruvate kinase (PKM2). PKM2 is the only isoform of pyruvate kinase which demonstrates oxidative inhibition. Briefly, oxidation of cysteine residues at the active site of PKM2 leads to a change in the macrocomplex structure, with active tetramers dissociating to inactive dimers. Pre-treatment of lung cancer cells with 20µM DASA prevents inhibition of PKM2 induced by hydrogen peroxide, diamide and hypoxia (Anastasiou et al., 2012; Boxer et al., 2010).

50 mg/ml DASA stock solution was made by dissolving DMSO and aliquots stored at -20°C. Neutrophil function assays were then performed in the presence of DASA, with equivalent amount of DMSO added to control samples. 10μ M and 100μ M DASA was added both immediately before functional assays, and incubated with neutrophils for 30minutes at 37°C in water bath. These experiments were repeated in isolated neutrophils and HL60 cells.

94

2.8 Reactive oxygen species time course experiments

To assess the temporal impact of mitochondrial inhibitors upon neutrophil baseline function and respiratory burst, the experiments described in section 2.8.1 were repeated with the samples loaded onto a 96-well plate and recordings made at 10-minute intervals for 1 hour using a monochromatic plate reader (Synergy MX microplate reader).

2.8.1 Synergy MX Monochromator-based Multi-Mode Microplate Reader

Microplate readers allow experiments to be set up on a multi-well plate, with 96 conditions, and absorbance/fluorescence intensity or luminescence measured for each condition at specified time points.

Features include:

- Four slits on excitation and emission permit upto 16 bandpass combinations for each wavelength pair
- Accurate temperature control (±0.5°C at 37°C)
- Fluorescence (top and bottom), absorbance and luminescence detection systems.
- Absorbance sample illuminated by a specific wavelength of light, selected by placing a monochromator in front of a light source, and a light detector on the other side of the sample records how much light passes through the sample.
- Fluorescence a specific wavelength of light, selected by a monochromator, excites the sample, causing light to be emitted at a different that is detected by a photomultiplier tube.
- Luminescence produced through a chemical or biochemical reaction. Unlike fluorescence no light source is required.

2.8.2 Neutrophil ROS time course protocol: dihydroethidium (DHE)

Human neutrophils were isolated and prepared from a single preoperative patient as described before, at a concentration of 2x10⁶ per ml in PBS with 10mg/dL glucose. The ROS probe dihydroethidium (DHE) was selected to confirm and extend previous findings with the ROS probe DHR. DHE crystalline solid was dissolved in DMSO to create 10mM stock. The same doses of myxothiazol were chosen as for the flow cytometry respiratory burst experiments. A fluorescence protocol was created, with excitation 530/25 nm, fluorescence detection 620/15nm, sensitivity set to 65, temperature 37.0°C and reading every 10 minutes.

A 96-well plate was placed on ice. Experimental conditions were negative, control, myxothiazol 1 μ M, myxothiazol 10 μ M, these were repeated with 1 μ M PMA. 195 μ L neutrophil suspension were placed in each well. All conditions except negative had DHE added to a final concentration of 5 μ M. Appropriate volumes of DMSO and ethanol were added to unstimulated and control wells as appropriate. All experimental conditions were repeated in triplicate. The 96-well plate was inserted into the platereader, and the protocol started.

2.9 Bone marrow response to surgery

Having established the effects of major elective surgery upon circulating neutrophils, the effects of anaesthesia and surgery upon the respiratory burst of murine bone marrow neutrophils were assessed. Bone marrow samples were prepared by Gareth Ackland. Cells were processed by density centrifugation prior to seeding, providing >90% purity. The Seahorse XF24 (Seahorse, North Billerica, MA, USA) measures cellular oxygen consumption and acid production, and in combination with specific metabolic inhibitors, may quantify the rate of oxidative phosphorylation and glycolysis. The magnitude of the respiratory burst may also be estimated by recording oxygen consumption in the presence of an activator, such as PMA.

2.9.1 The Seahorse XF24 microplate respirometer

The Seahorse permits the interrogation of whole cell mitochondrial and glycolytic function, through measurement of oxygen consumption and extracellular H⁺ through timed/programmed administration of specific metabolic inhibitors.

The Seahorse utilises a 24-well culture plate into which samples are loaded. A separate disposable sensor cartridge mirrors the 24-well plate structure. It contains oxygen and pH sensors and four injection ports for metabolic inhibitors/substrates on a moveable platform. The sensor cartridge is placed on top of the culture plate and loaded into the respirometer. Samples are warmed to 37.0° C, and a series of measurement cycles performed. During each 2-minute measurement cycle the moveable platform lowers down, partially isolating each well below the measurement sensors and injection ports, thereby limiting, but not completely preventing, O_2 and CO_2 exchange. Baseline data are obtained during 3 measurement cycles, then the loaded metabolic inhibitors are hydraulically injected in a sequential manner and changes to the oxygen plus pH profile recorded over further measurement steps.

The O_2 and pH sensors are embedded within a polymeric substrate that selectively permits the diffusion of O_2 and H⁺ ions to the fluorescent material. Monochromatic light emitting diode (LED) sources excite the sensor fluorochromes. The oxygen sensor is excited by a 530nm LED source, and maximally emits at 650nm, while pH sensor is excited by a 470nm source and maximally emits at 530nm. Fluorescence is affected by temperature, therefore temperature control wells, which contain cell free medium, must be included within the plate. A calibration protocol is run before each assay, using calibration solution provided by the manufacturer.

Oxygen acts to quench the sensor fluorescence. A mathematical model that relates fluorescence at 0mmHg O₂ (maximal) to the recorded fluorescence is used to calculate the partial pressure of oxygen in the sample. Oxygen readings are made every 12 seconds during the measurement cycles, permitting calculation of the oxygen consumption rate (OCR). Several replicates are used for each experimental condition to create a mean OCR. OCR accuracy is typically <30pmole/min, therefore optimisation assays were performed with different concentrations of neutrophils and a concentration of 1.5×10^6 cells/600µL was chosen. Acceptable inter-well variability was considered to be a coefficient of variation of <20%. Measurement of extracellular pH works on a similar principle, only using a fluorescent probe which is quenched by H⁺. The Seahorse medium is unbuffered, therefore seeded plates must be stored within an air incubator.

Cells must remain adherent to the plate base so that they are not washed away with medium changes and mixing procedures. Plates are therefore coated with Cell-Tak (BD Biosciences, Bedford, MA, USA), which is a non-immunogenic polyphenolic compound commonly used to immobilise tissues and cells. It has been successfully used for lymphocytes (Edwards et al., 2015). Cell-Tak is reconstituted into a neutral pH solution that leads to precipitation and adsorption onto the polystyrene plastic well wall.

2.9.2 Experimental protocol

Murine bone marrow neutrophils were isolated by Gareth Ackland. Male C57 black mice (age 8-12 week; weight 20-25g) were selected. Animals were housed with food and water available *ad libitum* in the specific pathogen-free central animal facilities at University College London Medical School (London, UK). All experimental protocols were reviewed and approved by the UCL Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee and carried out in accordance with UK Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act, 1986 and ARRIVE guidelines (Animal Research: Reporting of In Vivo Experiments) (Kilkenny et al., 2013)

Six test mice underwent midline laparotomy under isoflurane anaesthesia (oxygen flowmeter 1L/min; isoflurane 3.5% for induction and 1.5% for maintenance) for 30 minutes.

Topical bupivacaine was administered for analgesia, and a core temperature of 36.9°C maintained through a closed loop heating mat/rectal temperature probe system. Six control non-operated animals were caged in the same surgical environment. Twelve hours before the assay run the sensor cartridge was hydrated in Seahorse calibration medium at 37°C in the air incubator. An assay plate was prepared with 5μ L Cell-Tak /cm², which was left for 45 minutes then aspirated and the wells washed twice with sterile distilled water and left to dry in a sterile hood. Mice were systemically heparinised then culled I day after surgery and bone marrow was extracted following cervical dislocation. Bone marrow neutrophils were isolated using Ly-6G microbeads, as described above, counted with trypan blue then resuspended in Seahorse assay medium, with 1.5×10^6 cells per 100μ L added to each Cell-Tak coated well. All experiments were performed in triplicate. Neutrophils were allowed to adhere to Cell-Tak in the air incubator at 37° C, after 30 minutes a further 500μ L of assay medium was carefully added to each well and returned to the air incubator for I hour. PMA (final concentration $I\mu M$) was added to the first channel of each sensor plate well, then the sensor plate was inserted in the Seahorse XF and the calibration protocol started. Next, assay medium was changed to remove any residual buffer and metabolites from extracellular medium. The protocol was run so that baseline oxygen consumption was measured for 20 minutes prior to addition of PMA.

For these data to be accurate it is vital that the correct number of cells is placed, and remains, within each well. Therefore, at the start of the experiment seeded wells were examined under the microscope to ensure neutrophils were evenly distributed. At the end of the assay the cell plate was examined under a light microscope to check whether neutrophils had become detached. Automated fluorescence microscopy was used to confirm cell counts at the end of the experiment. A selection of plates were stained with Hoeschst 3342, images acquired with the Zeiss Cell Observer imaging system and counted using Velocity 5.0 software.

99

2.10 Extracellular lactate and glucose measurement.

The effect of mitochondrial respiratory complex inhibitors and stimulation of pyruvate kinase M2 upon extracellular lactate and glucose was measured the Radiometer ABL 800 Flex blood gas analyser. using a blood gas analyser.

2.10.1 The Radiometer ABL 800 Flex

Provides measurement of pH, blood gas tensions, electrolytes, metabolites and oximetry.

- Automated sample processing reduces likelihood of measurement errors.
- A three-layer membrane over the glucose and lactate sensors provides protection against interference.
- Measurement of capillary tube samples up to 35µL volume.
- 128 wavelengths f(478-672nm) for Co-Oximetry

2.10.2 Experimental protocol

Heparinised whole blood was obtained from five preoperative patients as described above. Samples were prepared in 4x4 plates that were placed on ice. The same drug concentrations were used as in previous whole blood experiments. Experimental conditions were control, DASA 100µM and Myxothiazol 10µM, with each repeated in the presence of PMA 1µM. Appropriate volumes of DMSO, ethanol and PBS were added to necessary conditions to ensure volumes and conditions were equal throughout. Incubations were performed for 30 minutes at 37°C, pCO₂ 5.0. Samples were then placed on ice, and processed in the blood gas analyser. Chapter 3 – Establishing a clinical translational model for sepsis

3.1 Introduction

The study of human sepsis presents fundamental challenges to the design of translational immunological investigations. These begin with the very definition of sepsis, which incorporates a number of non-specific bed side parameters and the clinical suspicion of *probable* infection (Dellinger et al., 2013). The results from microbiological investigations may not be available for several days, are often negative and even when positive do not confirm causation nor permit quantitative extrapolation of the infective dose.

The identification of a suitable control population presents the second key challenge. The outcome of case control studies may be affected by a range of confounding factors, which include age (Henriksen et al., 2015, Montecino-Rodriguez et al., 2013; Valente et al., 2009), gender (McGowan et al., 1975; Offner et al., 1999), comorbid disease (Henriksen et al., 2015; Snyder and Greenberg, 2010, Fildes et al., 2009) and therapeutic interventions (Kalghatgi et al., 2013 Mikawa et al., 1998; Kanoh and Rubin, 2010, (Clarke et al., 1993)

Cohort study designs are methodologically superior to case-control studies because study samples maybe compared to individualised pre-illness controls, rather than a separate control population. However, the technologies used are expensive and time consuming, therefore it is not practical for small laboratories to follow healthy patients and await the development of sepsis.

The precise time at which sepsis begins cannot be known, which makes temporal descriptions of the subsequent dynamic inflammatory processes difficult. While healthy volunteer endotoxin/cytokine models do permit cohort design, they cannot reproduce the severity of critical illness present within the ICU (Andreasen et al., 2008).

The use of major elective surgery as a translational model of human sepsis may overcome many of these methodological challenges. Cohort investigations are feasible because surgery happens at a planned time, permitting the acquisition of individualised pre-insult controls samples at specific post-insult time points. Surgical patients are subject to standardised preoperative assessment protocols (Stringer, 2010), which defines the study group with superior accuracy and facilitates the investigation of specific immunologically relevant preoperative disease.

While microbiological investigations permit the identification of possible infections, they provide little information about the quantity or severity of infection – it remains unclear to

what extent sepsis is a product of infective burden and/or an inappropriate host response. By contrast, the 'dose' of surgery is more homogenous, and maybe controlled further by recruiting patients who have similar procedures performed by the same operative teams. This surgical model of sepsis is biologically relevant because – as explored within chapter 1 human responses to infection and trauma are highly conserved at molecular (Matzinger, 1994; Nathan, 2006), genomic (Haimovich et al., 2014; Xiao et al., 2011) and clinical (Matzinger, 1994; Seong and Matzinger, 2004) levels.

This chapter will establish whether the theoretical methodological advantages of studying surgical patients are realised within the translational immunological literature. A preliminary PubMed search determined that the most frequently investigated functional assay for the principal circulating immune cells was neutrophil respiratory burst, monocyte endotoxin tolerance and lymphocyte apoptosis. The experimental design of these three topics was then compared across sepsis, trauma and elective surgery patients.

3.1.1 Hypothesis

Translational immunological investigations in elective surgery patients are methodologically superior to those in septic and trauma patients, since they facilitate the use of cohort study design and carefully timed sampling from a precisely defined study population.

3.1.2 Aims

To survey the sepsis, trauma and surgical

human immune literature to establish:

- i. Use of cohort or case control study design
- ii. Differences between study and control group age, ethnicity, sex, comorbid disease and therapeutic interventions
- iii. The timing of patient sampling in relation to the inflammatory insult
- iv. Variations in the criteria used to define sepsis.

3.2 Methods

PubMed, PubMed Central and Embase databases were searched for the terms "Neutrophil respiratory burst" OR "Monocyte endotoxin tolerance" OR "Lymphocyte apoptosis" AND "Sepsis" OR "Trauma" OR "Surgery", restricted to adult human studies published between 01/03/1998 and 01/03/2013. The abstract of each paper was manually assessed for suitability. Healthy volunteer in-vitro investigations were excluded. Clinical and laboratory data collected are detailed below

Category	Data collected		
Demographics	Age, gender, ethnicity, severity, control population, number		
	of patients, a priori power analysis.		
Control population	Source (Healthy volunteer/cohort/other patient		
	population), number.		
Purpose of study	Experimental context (Clinical outcome, experimental,		
	pathophysiological, biomarker comparison)		
Timing of sampling	Sample trigger (hospital admission, ICU admission, onset		
	sepsis, onset of organ failure), time window for sampling,		
	number and timing of subsequent samples.		
Clinical severity	Scoring system used, average score and range.		
Microbiology	Microbiology results reported, independent adjudication of		
	sepsis diagnosis, definition of sepsis used.		
Exclusion criteria	Malignancy, immunosuppressive illness.		
Drug therapy	Sedation, antibiotics, steroids.		
Primary conclusion	Summary of study findings.		
of study			

3.2.1 Statistics

Data are presented as mean±SD, or median (interquartile range), as appropriate. 95% confidence intervals were constructed from age data, and used to compare control and study population age.

3.3 Results

57 eligible studies were identified and are summarized in Figure 3.1.

3.3.1 Literature search and study selection

Citations identified and screened (n=2405)

-> Citations excluded on basis of title and abstract (n=2335)

Papers retrieved for detailed assessment (n=70)

```
\rightarrow Papers excluded (n=13)
```

- Experimental readout unrelated to search terms (n=7)
- Non-English language (n=1)
- Paediatric study population (n=5)

Papers used in systematic review (n=57) (One reference appears under two categories).

- Neutrophil respiratory burst + sepsis (n=7)
- Neutrophil respiratory burst + trauma (n=7)
- Neutrophil respiratory burst + surgery (n=4)
- Monocyte endotoxin tolerance + sepsis (n=10)
- Monocyte endotoxin tolerance + trauma (n=1)
- Monocyte endotoxin tolerance + surgery (n=2)
- Lymphocyte apoptosis + sepsis (n=16)
- Lymphocyte apoptosis + trauma (n=3)
- Lymphocyte apoptosis + surgery (n=7)

Figure 3.1 Flow diagram of study selection process for literature review.

3.3.2 Data tables

Author (Year)	Study population	Subjects (n)	Control population	Control (n)	Experimental context	Outcome measure correlated with immune readout
(Santos et al., 2012)	Sepsis	49	Healthy volunteer	19	Clinical outcome	Yes
(Paunel-Görgülü et al., 2011)	Trauma	7	Healthy volunteer	6	Experimental	No
(Bruns et al., 2011)	Sepsis (cirrhotics)	45	Healthy volunteer and cohort	9 and 39	Pathophysiological	No
(Shih et al., 2010)	Trauma	32	Healthy volunteer	Not provided	Biomarker comparison	Yes
(Kasten et al., 2010)	Trauma	3	Healthy volunteer	3	Pathophysiological	No
(Valente et al., 2009)	Trauma	24	Healthy volunteer	11	Pathophysiological	No
(Kawasaki et al., 2007)	Elective surgery	20 (10,10)	Cohort	20	Pathophysiological	No
(Fröhlich et al., 2006)	Elective surgery	20	Cohort	20	Experimental	No
(Martins et al., 2003)	Sepsis	16	Healthy volunteer	16	Pathophysiological	Yes
(Barth et al., 2002)	Sepsis	27	Healthy volunteer	11	Biomarker comparison	No
(Mariano et al., 2001)	Sepsis (renal replacement therapy)	7	Haemodialysis patients.	10	Pathophysiological	No

(Quaid et al., 2001)	Trauma	7	Healthy volunteer	Not provided	Pathophysiological	No
(Wiezer et al., 2000)	Elective surgery	22 (6,6,10)	Cohort	22	Pathophysiological / experimental	Yes
(Ahmed et al., 1999)	Sepsis	32	Healthy volunteer	17	Pathophysiological	No
(Shih et al., 1999)	Trauma / Surgery	18	Cohort and healthy volunteer	18	Pathophysiological	No
(Ertel et al., 1999)	Trauma	10 (5,5)	Elective Surgery	10	Pathophysiological	No
(Ogura et al., 1999)	Trauma	24 (7 infected)	Cohort and healthy volunteer	24 and 15	Pathophysiological	Yes
(Pascual et al., 1998)	Sepsis	23	Elective surgery	23	Pathophysiological / experimental	No

Table 3.1 Principal features of neutrophil respiratory burst studies

Subjects: Values within brackets refer to number of sub-populations of study patients (e.g. different anaesthetic technique, presence of infection etc), used within the study
Authors (Year)		A	ge	G	ender (%	male)	etailed	Severity of subject disease			Subject drug exposure documentation			
	Subjects	Controls	Statistical test result	Subjects	Controls	Statistical test result	Subject ethnicity de	Index	Score	No. Groups	Sedatives	Antibiotics	Steroids	
(Santos et al., 2012)	60 ±17	55.3 ±18	N	57	53	N	N	APACHE II	17 (4-30)	3	N	N	N	
(Paunel- Görgülü et al., 2011)	46 ±4	33± 2	N* (p<0.001)	74	59	Ν	N	Mortality	9%	Ι	N	N	N	
(Bruns et al., 2011)	58 (40 - 80)	45 (37- 82); 58 (?)	0.437	82	73/ 48	0.341	N	-		I	N	N	Ν	
(Shih et al., 2010)	33 ±14	?	N	66	?	Ν	N	ISS	23	2	N	N	N	
(Kasten et al., 2010)	36 ±2	38 ±2	p>0.05	100	100	p>0.05	N	ISS	23	I	Ν	Ν	N	
(Valente et al., 2009)	75	>65	N	46	?	Ν	N	ISS	15.00	I	Ν	Ν	N	

(Kawasaki et al., 2007)	52 ±4 54± 4	N/A	N	70	70	p>0.05	N	ASA	1 - 11	2	Y	Ν	Ν
(Fröhlich et al., 2006)	66 ±10 69 ±6	N/A	Ν	40	20	N	N	ASA	I	2	Y t	Y t	Y t
(Martins et al., 2003)	50± 21	31 ±6	N* (p=0.0011)	?	?	N	N	Mortality	38%	2	N	Ν	Ν
(Barth et al., 2002)	N/S (36 - 82)	24 (22- 50)	Ν	60	36	Ν	N	Mortality	37%	I	N	Ν	Ν
(Mariano et al., 2001)	67 ±4	?	N	?	?	N	N	-		I	N	N	N
(Quaid et al., 2001)	37 (20 - 71)	?	Ν	?	?	N	N	ISS	24 (17-34)		N	N	N
(Wiezer et al., 2000)	57± 3 62± 2 58± 5	?	Ν	83, 66, 70		Ν	Ν	APACHE III	Graphs (No difference)	3	Ν	Ν	Ν
(Ahmed et al., 1999)	55 ±6	36 ±16	N* (p<0.0001)	46	?	N	N	APACHE II	20 ± I	I	N	Ν	Ν

(Shih et al., 1999)	42± 19	N/S	N	55	?	N	N	ISS	26 ±7.2	3	N	Ν	N
(Ertel et al., 1999)	N/S	?	Ν	?	?	Ν	N	AIS	Head 4.5 ±0.2, Chest 4.1 ±0.1	Ι	N	Ν	N
(Ogura et al., 1999)	40± 19	35 ±6	N	75	?	N	N	ISS	31 ±10	2	N	Ν	N
(Pascual et al., 1998)	59 (27 - 81)	45 (27- 81)	p>0.05	51	43	Ν	N	Mortality	21%	Ι	N	Ν	Y t

Table 3.2 Demographic information of neutrophil respiratory burst studies.

Age – N/S – not summarised (tabulated data for every patient provided), ?-not provided within the manuscript, N/A – not applicable Statistical test result – N=not reported. N*=not reported but significant p value identified from the original manuscript data. Severity of subject disease. The average clinical severity score of subjects with an index of listed in brackets. The number of severity groups which subjects were divided into is listed. ISS/AIS= Injury Severity Score/Abbreviated Injury Severity Score (Baker et al. 1974); ASA = American Society of Anesthesiologists Physical Status Classification System (ASA 2014); APACHE II= Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II (Knaus et al. 1985), APACHE III = Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation III (Knaus et al. 1991). Subject drug use detailed – whether patient exposure to known immunomodulating drugs was documented. A 't' signifies that the timing of the drug administration in relation to blood sampling was clear from the study methodology.

		Sample tim	sis	ults	ation of s	ia disease	ia	
Authors (Year)	Study populatio n	Time of first sample	No. samples (timespan)	Definition of sep	Microbiology res provided.	Independent adjudic: sepsis diagnosi	Exclusion criter immunosuppressive	Exclusion criter malignancy
(Santos et al., 2012)	Sepsis	72hrs (Dx sepsis); 48hrs (organ failure); onset of septic shock	2 (7days)	I A,B,C	N	Ν	Y	Y
(Paunel- Görgülü et al., 2011)	Trauma	24hrs (Hosp Adm)	I	2 A,B,C	N	Ν	Y	Ν
(Bruns et al., 2011)	Sepsis (cirrhotics)	24hrs (Hosp Adm)	Ι	5	Y	Ν	Y	Ν
(Shih et al., 2010)	Trauma	24hrs (Hosp Adm)	2 (3 days)	N	N	Ν	Y	Y
(Kasten et al., 2010)	Trauma	48-72hrs (Post- trauma)	Ι	N	N	Ν	Y	N
(Valente et al., 2009)	Trauma	48hrs (Hosp adm)	3 (5 days)	Ν	Ν	N	Y	N

(Kawasaki et al., 2007)	Elective surgery	Pre-insult	5 (4 days)	N	N	N	Y	Ν
(Fröhlich et al., 2006)	Elective surgery	Pre-insult	2 (end of anaesth)	Ν	n/a	n/a	Y	Y
(Martins et al., 2003)	Sepsis	48hrs (ICU adm)	I	I B,C	Y	N	Y	Y
(Barth et al., 2002)	Sepsis	?	6 (5 days)	I C (>4d)	Y	N	N	Ν
(Mariano et al., 2001)	Sepsis (renal replacemen t therapy)	?	4 (I day)	I B,D	N	N	N	N
(Quaid et al., 2001)	Trauma	24hrs (Hosp adm)	I	N	Ν	Ν	N	Ν
(Wiezer et al., 2000)	Elective surgery	Pre-insult	5 (7 days)	"clinical criteria "	N	N	Y	Ν
(Ahmed et al., 1999)	Sepsis	72hrs (Proof of infection)	I	I A,B	Y	Y	Y	Y
(Shih et al., 1999)	Trauma / Surgery	24hrs (Hosp adm)	3+ (7 days)	I A,B,C	Ν	Ν	Y	Y
(Ertel et al., 1999)	Trauma	24hrs (Hosp adm)	2 (3 days)	N	N	N	Y	N
(Ogura et al., 1999)	Trauma	24hrs (Post trauma)	4+1 (21 days)	2 A B C	Y	Ν	N	Ν
(Pascual et al., 1998)	Sepsis	24hrs (ICU adm)	1	I A C	Y	N	Ν	N

Table 3.3 Experimental conduct and exclusion criteria of neutrophil respiratory burst studies.

Sample Timing. Were control samples taken at the same time point after the inflammatory stimulus as subject samples? When was the first sample taken from the subject? How many samples were taken for each subject in total and over what time span?

Sepsis criteria. The criteria used to enrol subjects into the study. Where subgroups of these criteria were used (e.g. septic shock) these are detailed. 0=not stated I = ACCP/SCCM 1992 Consensus Conference(Bone et al., 1992), 2=ACCP/SCCM Consensus Conference 2001 (Levy et al., 2003), 3=SSC Consensus Conference 2008 (Dellinger et al., 2008), 4=CDC NNIC("CDC definitions for nosocomial infections, 1988.," 1989), 5=Microbiology and clinical assessment, 6=Postmortem identification of infection, N=infection not considered, ?=criteria not described. Sepsis severity groups enrolled: A=sepsis, B=severe sepsis, C=septic shock, D=acute renal failure E=SIRS

Microbiology documentation - Were causative organisms isolated and identified? Were additional steps taken to define whether subject had sepsis beyond the initial clinical diagnosis i.e. retrospective review of case considering subsequent information?

Author/Year	Study population	Subjec ts (n)	Control population	Control s (n)	Experimental context	Outcome measure correlated with immune readout
(Liu et al., 2011)	Sepsis	2	Healthy volunteer	2	Experimental	No
(Buttenschoen et al., 2009)	Elective surgery	20	Cohort	20	Pathophysiological	No
(Pachot et al., 2008)	Sepsis	47	Healthy volunteer	21	Pathophysiological	Yes
(West et al., 2007)	Sepsis	7	Healthy volunteer, elective surgery and SIRS	16, 5 and 4	Pathophysiological	No
(Härter et al., 2004)	Sepsis	21	Healthy volunteer	12	Pathophysiological	No
(Flohé et al., 2004)	Surgery in trauma patients	16	Healthy volunteer	12	Pathophysiological	No
(Arnalich et al., 2003)	Sepsis	3(5)	Healthy volunteer	3	Pathophysiological	No
(Heagy et al., 2003)	ICU patients (sepsis)	62	Healthy volunteer	15	Clinical outcome	Yes
(Calvano et al., 2003)	Sepsis	18 (10)	Healthy volunteer	15 (6)	Pathophysiological	No
(Sfeir et al., 2001)	Sepsis	10	Healthy volunteer	10	Pathophysiological	No
(Kawasaki et al., 2001)	Elective surgery	20	Cohort	20	Pathophysiological	No
(Heagy et al., 2000)	Sepsis	58	Healthy volunteer	14	Clinical outcome	Yes
(Bergmann et al., 1999)	Sepsis	30 (2)	Healthy volunteer	12	Pathophysiological	No

Table 3.4 Principal features of monocyte tolerance studies

Subjects: Values within brackets refer to number of sub-populations of study patients (e.g. different anaesthetic technique, presence of infection etc), used within the study

Authors (Year)	Age			Gender (%male)			×	Severity of subject disease			Subject drug exposure documentation		
	Subjects	Controls	Statistical test result	Subjects	Controls	Statistical test result	Subject ethnicit	Index	Score	No. Groups	Sedatives	Antibiotics	Steroids
(Liu et al., 2011)	?	?	N	?	?	N	N	?	?	I	N	N	N
(Buttensc hoen et al., 2009)	56 (33-88)	N/A	N	70	N/A	N	N	?	?	n/a	Ν	N	N
(Pachot et al., 2008)	68 (54-76)	51 (42-65)	N	62	52	N	N	SAPS II	5 I (±5)	2	N	N	N
(West et al., 2007)	N/S	N/S	N	42	100; 20; 56	N	Ν	?	?	2	N	N	N
(Härter et al., 2004)	48 ±20	"comparable"	N	71	12	N	N	APACHE II	13±6	I	N	N	N
(Flohé et al., 2004)	47±18	37±14	N	68	50	N	N	ISS	39±9	I	N	N	N
(Arnalich et al., 2003)	51±12	49±12	N	?	?	N	N	?	?	Ι	N	N	N

(Heagy et al., 2003)	49±3; 44±8	?	N	?	?	N	N	Mortality	20%, 9.6%	2	N	N	Ν
(Calvano et al., 2003)	60; 61	58	N	66; 66	66	N	N	?	?	2	N	N	Y t
(Sfeir et al., 2001)	63±3	50±7	N*(p<0 .0001)	80	50	N	N	APACHE II	27±5		N	N	Ν
(Kawasak i et al., 2001)	?	N/A	N	?	N/A	N	N	ASA	1-11	I	N	N	N
(Heagy et al., 2000)	49±21	?	N	66	?	N	N	?	?	4	N	N	Ν
(Bergman n et al., 1999)	60; 51	32	N	?	?	N	N	MODS	5± , 7±	2	N	N	N

Table 3.5 Demographic information of monocyte tolerance studies

Age – N/S – not summarised (tabulated data for every patient provided), ?-not provided within the manuscript, N/A – not applicable Statistical test result – N=not reported. N*=not reported but significant p value identified from the original manuscript data. Severity of subject disease. The average clinical severity score of subjects with an index of listed in brackets. The number of severity groups which subjects were divided into is listed. ISS/AIS= Injury Severity Score/Abbreviated Injury Severity Score(Baker et al., 1974); ASA = American Society of Anesthesiologists Physical Status Classification System (ASA, 2014); APACHE II= Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation III (Knaus et al., 1985), APACHE III = Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation III (Knaus et al., 1991)(REF).

Subject drug use detailed – whether patient exposure to known immunomodulating drugs was documented. A 't' signifies that the timing of the drug administration in relation to blood sampling was clear from the study methodology.

		Sample timing		S	ults	sis	Ð	_
Authors (Year)	Study populatio n	Time of first sample	No. Samples (timespan)	Definition of sepsi	Microbiology result provided.	Independent adjudication of seps diagnosis	Exclusion criteria immunosuppressiv disease	Exclusion criteria malignancy
(Liu et al., 2011)	Sepsis	?	I	? B C	N	N	N	Ν
(Buttensc hoen et al., 2009)	Elective surgery	Pre-insult	4 (2days)	N	Ν	N	Y	N
(Pachot et al., 2008)	Sepsis	72hrs (onset sep shock)	2	ΙC	Y	Y	Ν	Ν
(West et al., 2007)	Sepsis	24hrs (ICU adm)	I	I A, E	Y	N	N	Ν
(Härter et al., 2004)	Sepsis	?	I	IABC	Y	Y	N	N
(Flohé et al., 2004)	Surgery in trauma patients	48hrs (ICU adm)	Mon, Thu.	IABC	Y	N	Y	Y
(Arnalich et al., 2003)	Sepsis	48hrs (onset sepsis)	Ι	IA	Y	Y	Y	Y

ICU patients (sepsis)	72hrs (ICU adm)	I	5	N	Y	N	N
Sepsis	?	Ι	IEA	Y	Ν	Ν	N
Sepsis	24 (Sep Shock)	I	I C	Y	Y	Y	N
Elective surgery	Pre-ins	7 (7days)	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	N
Sepsis	72hrs (ICU adm)	I	5	Y	Y	N	N
Sepsis	?		IBC	N	Ν	N	N
	ICU patients (sepsis) Sepsis Sepsis Elective surgery Sepsis Sepsis	ICU patients (sepsis)72hrs (ICU adm)Sepsis)adm)Sepsis?Sepsis?Sepsis24 (Sep Shock)Elective surgeryPre-insSepsis72hrs (ICU adm)Sepsis?	ICU patients (sepsis)72hrs (ICU adm)Ipatients (sepsis)adm)ISepsis?ISepsis24 (Sep Shock)IElective surgeryPre-ins7 (7days)Sepsis72hrs (ICU adm)ISepsis?I	ICU patients (sepsis)72hrs (ICU adm)I5Sepsisadm)IIFSepsis?IIIASepsis24 	ICU patients (sepsis)72hrs (ICU adm)I5Npatients (sepsis)adm)II5NSepsis?II E AYSepsis24 (Sep Shock)II CYElective surgeryPre-ins7 (7days)NNSepsis72hrs (ICU adm)I5YSepsis?II B CN	ICU patients (sepsis)72hrs (ICU adm)I5NYSepsis?II E AYNSepsis?II CYYSepsis24 (Sep Shock)II CYYElective surgeryPre-ins7 (7days)NNNSepsis72hrs (ICU adm)I5YYSepsis?IB CNN	ICU patients (sepsis)72hrs (ICU adm)I5NYNSepsis?II E AYNNSepsis?II CYYYSepsis24 (Sep Shock)II CYYYElective surgeryPre-ins7 (7days)NNNYSepsis72hrs (ICU adm)I5YYNSepsis?IBCNNN

Table 3.6 Experimental conduct and exclusion criteria of monocyte tolerance studies

Sample Timing. Were control samples taken at the same time point after the inflammatory stimulus as subject samples? When was the first sample taken from the subject? How many samples were taken for each subject in total and over what time span? Sepsis criteria. The criteria used to enrol subjects into the study. Where subgroups of these criteria were used (e.g. septic shock) these are detailed. 0=not stated I = ACCP/SCCM 1992 Consensus Conference(Bone et al., 1992), 2=ACCP/SCCM Consensus Conference 2001 (Levy et al., 2003), 3=SSC Consensus Conference 2008(Dellinger et al., 2008), 4=CDC NNIC("CDC definitions for nosocomial infections, 1988.," 1989), 5=Microbiology and clinical assessment, 6=Postmortem identification of infection, N=infection not considered, ?=criteria not described. Sepsis severity groups enrolled: A=sepsis, B=severe sepsis, C=septic shock, D=acute renal failure E=SIRS. Microbiology documentation - Were causative organisms isolated and identified? Were additional steps taken to define whether subject had sepsis beyond the initial clinical diagnosis i.e. retrospective review of case considering subsequent information?

Author (Year)	Study population	Subjects (n)	Control population	Controls (n)	Experimental context	Outcome measure correlated with immune readout
(Roger et al., 2012)	Sepsis	48	Healthy volunteer	15	Pathophysiological	No
(Bandyopadhyay et al., 2012)	Trauma	113	Healthy volunteer	?	Pathophysiological	No
(White et al., 2011)	Sepsis	60	Gram negative infection and healthy volunteer	15 and 20	Pathophysiological	Yes
(White et al., 2011)	Elective surgery (infective complications)	19	Cohort	41	"	"
(Zhang et al., 2011)	Sepsis	19	Healthy volunteer	22	Pathophysiological	No
(Guignant et al., 2011)	Sepsis	64	Healthy volunteer	49	Pathophysiological	No
(Vaki et al., 2011)	Sepsis	48 (68)	Healthy volunteer	20	Pathophysiological	No
(Słotwiński et al., 2011)	Elective surgery	50 (26, 24)	Cohort	50	Experimental / clinical outcome	No
(Gogos et al., 2010)	Sepsis	PN 183, CAP 97, IA 100, PB 61, HAP 64	N/A		Pathophysiological	Yes
(Hoogerwerf et al., 2010)	Sepsis	16	Healthy volunteer	24	Pathophysiological	No
(Yousef et al., 2010)	Sepsis	32	SIRS and w/o SIRS	35 / 33	Patient outcome	Yes

(Turrel-Davin et al., 2010)	Sepsis	13	Healthy volunteer	15	Biomarker comparison	No
(Pelekanou et al., 2009)	Sepsis	VAP 36	Other infections	32	Pathophysiology	No
(Resident et al., 2009)	Elective surgery	40 (21, 19)	Cohort	40	Pathophysiological	No
(Delogu et al., 2008)	Sepsis	16	? 'individuals'		Pathophysiological	No
(Weber et al., 2008)	Sepsis	16	Non-infected ICU and healthy volunteer	10 and 11	Pathophysiological	No
(Roth et al., 2003)	Sepsis	15	Healthy volunteer	20	Pathophysiological	No
(Le Tulzo et al., 2002)	Sepsis	47 (25, 23)	SIRS and healthy volunteer	7 and 25	Pathophysiological / clinical outcome	Yes
(Hotchkiss et al., 2001)	Sepsis	27 (FC 5) (3 intraop, 24 autopsy)	Critically ill non-septic and trauma	16 and 25 (FC 6) - 3 prospective, 13 retrospective	Pathophysiological	No
(Delogu et al., 2001)	Elective surgery	18	Cohort	18	Pathophysiological	No
(Pellegrini et al., 2000)	Trauma	17 (+13 burns)	Healthy volunteer	17	Clinical outcome / pathophysiological	(Correlate to MODS)
(Delogu et al., 2000)	Surgical	15	Healthy volunteer	10	Pathophysiological / patient outcome	Yes
(Hotchkiss et al., 2000)	Trauma	10	Elective surgery	6 (all prospective)	Pathophysiological	No
(Hotchkiss et al., 1999)	Sepsis	20	Non-septic prospective / non-septic retrospective /	/9/6/2/ 8	Pathophysiological	No

			prospective trauma splenectomy / prospective colectomy / retrospective colectomy.			
(Sasajima et al., 1999)	Elective surgery	16 (11, 5)	Cohort	16	Pathophysiological	No
(Sugimoto et al., 1998)	Elective surgery	10 (5, 5)	Cohort	10	Pathophysiological	No

Table 3.7 Principal features of lymphocyte apoptosis studies

Subjects: Values within brackets refer to number of sub-populations of study patients (e.g. different anaesthetic technique, presence of infection etc), used within the study

Authors (Year)		Age			Gender (%male)			Severity of subject disease			Subject drug exposure documentation			
	Subjects	Controls	Statistical test result	Subjects	Controls	Statistical test result	Ethnicity	Index	Score	No. Groups	Sedatives	Antibiotics	Steroids	
(Roger et al., 2012)	63 (37- 82)	55 (37-5)	0.04	50	43	0.76	N	SAPS II	55 (12-92)	2	Ν	Y t	Y t	
(Bandyopa dhyay et al., 2012)	?	"matched"	N	?	"matched"	N	N	APACHE	>21	I	N	N	N	
(White et al., 2011)	54 (72- 80)	Bacteraemia: 73 (70-82)	>0.05	52	Bacteraemia 40	>0.05	Y	APACHE	25 (21-28)	2	N	N	Ν	
(White et al., 2011)	64± 2	65±1	0.74	68	70	0.86	Ν			2	N	N	Ν	
(Zhang et al., 2011)	58± 4	59±4	N	52	50	N	Ν	APACHE II	26±3	I	Ν	Y t	Y t	
	63 (54- 73)	?	N	68	N	N		SAPS II	53(39-64)	I	N	N	Y t	

(Guignant et al., 2011)													
(Vaki et al., 2011)	71± 2	?	N	54	?	N	N	APACHE II	20±9	 (3)	N	Ν	Ν
(Słotwiński et al., 2011)	62± 9 63± 9	-	N	5, 50	-	N	N	TNM	?	Ι	N	Y t	N
(Gogos et al., 2010)	67± 17, 68± 20, 54± 25, 64± 16		P<0.00 01	52, 62, 57, 67, 64		P=0.01 I	Ν	APACHE II	12±7, 16±9, 13±8, 18±8, 20±5	3	Ν	Ν	Ν
(Hoogerw erf et al., 2010)	57± 5,	66±5	N* (p<0.00 01)	63	50	N	N	APACHE II	19±2	Ι	N	Ν	N
(Yousef et al., 2010)	44± 9	45±9, 44±10	N	59	60, 57	N	Ν	SOFA	12 (7-14)	3 (5)	N	Ν	Ν
(Turrel- Davin et al., 2010)	60± 4	'Age matched'	N	63	'Sex matched'	N	N	SAPS II	51±3	Ι	Ν	N	Y
(Pelekanou et al., 2009)	69± 16	64±20	0.099	64	43	0.300	N	APACHE II	18±4, 15±5	Ι	N	N	Y
(Resident et al., 2009)	66± 7,		0.8	85, 47		0.54	Ν	ASA	1-11	Ι	Y t	Y t	Y t

	67± 10												
(Delogu et al., 2008)	?	?	N	?	?	N	Ν	?	?	I	Ν	Ν	Ν
(Weber et al., 2008)	56± 4	61±5,?	>0.05	68, 80	?	N	N	SAPS II	26± 2	Ι	Ν	N	Y
(Roth et al., 2003)	56± 6	52±14	N	66	"matched"	N	Ν	APACHE	N/S	I	Ν	Ν	Ν
(Le Tulzo et al., 2002)	55± 4, 64± 4	72 ±4, 55± 4	N* (p<0.00 01)	?	?	Ν	N	SAPS II	33±3, 58±4	2	Ν	Ν	Ν
(Hotchkiss et al., 2001)	N/S	N/S	N	59	56, ?	N	N	-		Ι	Ν	N	Y
(Delogu et al., 2001)	47± 17	"matched"	N	?	"matched"	N	Ν	ASA	1-11	I	Y	Ν	Y t
(Pellegrini et al., 2000)	44 (20- 83)	(18-60)	Ν	?	?	Ν	N	ISS	25 (9-59)	Ι	Ν	Ν	Ν
(Delogu et al., 2000)	?	"matched"	Ν	?	"matched"	N	Ν	ASA	1-11	I	Ν	Ν	Y t
(Hotchkiss et al., 2000)	18- 46	?	N	90	?	N	N	ISS	N/S (9-50)	I	N	N	Ν
(Hotchkiss et al., 1999)	N/S	N/S	Ν	65	?	Ν	Ν	-		Ι	N	Ν	Y

(Sasajima et al., 1999)	62 (55- 74), 49(3 7- 58)	N		?	N	N	?	?	I	Ν	Ν	Ν
(Sugimoto et al., 1998)	N/S	N	50		N	N	?	?	I	N	Ν	Y t

<u>I able 3.8 Demographic information of lymphocyte apoptosis studies.</u>

Age - N/S - not summarised (tabulated data for every patient provided), ?-not provided within the manuscript, N/A - not applicable

Statistical test result – N=not reported. N*=not reported but significant p value identified from the original manuscript data.

Severity of subject disease. The average clinical severity score of subjects with an index of listed in brackets. The number of severity groups which subjects were divided into is listed. ISS/AIS= Injury Severity Score/Abbreviated Injury Severity Score(Baker et al., 1974); ASA = American Society of Anesthesiologists Physical Status Classification System(ASA, 2014); APACHE II= Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II (Knaus et al., 1985), APACHE III = Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation III (Knaus et al., 1991)(REF).

Subject drug use detailed – whether patient exposure to known immunomodulating drugs was documented. A 't' signifies that the timing of the drug administration in relation to blood sampling was clear from the study methodology.

"matched" – paper provided no details but stated the control population was matched to the study population.

Authors	Study	Sample	sepsis	ts provided	ation of sepsis s	iteria ive disease	riteria cy	
(Year)	populati on	Time of first sample	No. samples (timespan)	Definition of	Microbiology resul	Independent adjudic diagnosi	Exclusion cri immunosuppressi	Exclusion cr malignan
(Roger et al., 2012)	Sepsis	Before 1st abs	I	3 B C	Y	Y	Y	Y
(Bandyopadhyay et al., 2012)	Trauma	?	Every 4 days (28 days)	N	N	N	Y	N
(White et al., 2011)	Sepsis	24hrs (ICU adm/positive BC)	2 (7 days)	I B C	N	Y	Y	N
(White et al., 2011)	Elective surgery (infective complica tions)	Pre-insult	3 (5 days)	4	N	Y	Y	Ν
(Zhang et al., 2011)	Sepsis	24hrs (sep shock)	I	l C	N	N	Y	Ν
(Guignant et al., 2011)	Sepsis	48hrs (sep shock)	3 (10 days)	I C	Y	Y	Ν	Y

(Vaki et al., 2011)	Sepsis	l 2hrs (organ failure)		2 B C	Y	Y	Y	N
(Słotwiński et al., 2011)	Elective surgery	Pre-insult	4 (7 days)	N	N	Ν	Y	N
(Gogos et al., 2010)	Sepsis	24hrs (signs of sepsis)	I	2 B C	Y	Y	Y	N
(Hoogerwerf et al., 2010)	Sepsis	24hrs (dx sepsis)	I	2 A	Y	Y	Y	N
(Yousef et al., 2010)	Sepsis	?	I	I A B C	N	N	Y	N
(Turrel-Davin et al., 2010)	Sepsis	48hrs (sep shock)	2 (5 days)	IC	Y	Y	N	N
(Pelekanou et al., 2009)	Sepsis	24hrs (signs of sepsis)	I	I 2 A B C	Y	Y	Y	N
(Resident et al., 2009)	Elective surgery	Pre-insult	2 (I day)	N	-		Y	Y
(Delogu et al., 2008)	Sepsis	24hrs (septic shock)	I	? C	Y	Ν	N	N
(Weber et al., 2008)	Sepsis	4hrs (severe sepsis)	I	l B	N	N	Y	Y
(Roth et al., 2003)	Sepsis	?	I	I A B C	N	Ν	N	N
(Le Tulzo et al., 2002)	Sepsis	+ve microbio- logy ±3days	2 (6 days)	I B C E	Y	Ν	N	N
(Hotchkiss et al., 2001)	Sepsis	6hrs (death)	Ι	6	Y	N	Y	N
(Delogu et al., 2001)	Elective surgery	Pre-insult	3 (4 days)	N	Ν	Ν	Y	Y

(Pellegrini et al., 2000)	Trauma	?	2/wk (until death/ discharge)	N	N	N	Ν	Ν
(Delogu et al., 2000)	Surgical	Pre-insult	3 (4 days)	N	N	Ν	Y	Y
(Hotchkiss et al., 2000)	Trauma	10hrs (injury to surgery)	I	N	N	Ν	N	N
(Hotchkiss et al., 1999)	Sepsis	6hrs (death)	I	6	Y	Y	N	Ν
(Sasajima et al., 1999)	Elective surgery	Pre-insult	5 (7 days)	Ν	N	Ν	N	Ν
(Sugimoto et al., 1998)	Elective surgery	Pre-insult	4 (4 days)	N	N	Ν	N	N

Table 3.9 Experimental conduct and exclusion criteria of lymphocyte apoptosis studies.

Sample Timing. Were control samples taken at the same time point after the inflammatory stimulus as subject samples? When was the first sample taken from the subject? How many samples were taken for each subject in total and over what time span?

Sepsis criteria. The criteria used to enrol subjects into the study. Where subgroups of these criteria were used (e.g. septic shock) these are detailed. 0=not stated I = ACCP/SCCM I992 Consensus Conference (Bone et al. 1992), 2=ACCP/SCCM Consensus Conference 2001(Levy et al. 2003), 3=SSC Consensus Conference 2008(Dellinger et al. 2008), 4=CDC NNIC(Anon 1989), 5=Microbiology and clinical assessment, 6=Postmortem identification of infection, N=infection not considered, ?=criteria not described. Sepsis severity groups enrolled: A=sepsis, B=severe sepsis, C=septic shock, D=acute renal failure E=SIRS

Microbiology documentation - Were causative organisms isolated and identified? Were additional steps taken to define whether subject had sepsis beyond the initial clinical diagnosis i.e. retrospective review of case considering subsequent information?

Investigator	Source	Control group	Duration follow up (days)	Duration burst increased	Duration burst decreased
(Hughes et al., 2010)	Surgical	Preop	5 days	1 day	0
(Kawasaki et al., 2007)	Surgical	Preop	4 days	0	0
(Fröhlich et al., 2006)	Surgical	Preop	2hrs	0	2 hrs
(Wiezer et al., 2000)	Surgical	Preop	7 days	2 hrs	0
(Paunel- Görgülü et al., 2011)	Trauma	ΗV	1 day	1 day	-
(Shih et al. <i>,</i> 2010)	Trauma	HV	3 days	3 days	-
(Kasten et al., 2010)	Trauma	HV	4 days	3 days	?
(Valente et al., 2009)	Trauma	ΗV	5 days	3 days.	0
(Quaid et al., 2001)	Trauma	ΗV	1 day	1 day	-
(Oehler et al. 2000)	Trauma	ΗV	5 days	5 days	-
(Ertel et al., 1999)	Trauma	Surgery	3 days	3 days	-
(Ogura et al., 1999)	Trauma	ΗV	21 days	21 days	-
(Shih et al. <i>,</i> 1999)	Trauma	HV	7 days	3 days	0
(Botha et al., 1995)	Trauma	ΗV	3 days	1 day	0
(Tanaka et al., 1991)	Trauma	ΗV	7 days	3 days	0
(Santos et al., 2012)	Sepsis	ΗV	7 days	7 days	-
(Bruns et al., 2011)	Sepsis	HV/patients	Single measurement	Rec	duced
(Martins et al., 2003)	Sepsis	ΗV	Single measurement	Incr	eased
(Barth et al., 2002)	Sepsis	ΗV	Daily assessment	Increased	throughout
(Mariano et al., 2001)	Sepsis	Patients	Single measurement	Incr	eased
(Ahmed et al., 1999)	Sepsis	HV	Single measurement	-	-

(Pascual et al., 1998)	Sepsis	ΗV	Single measurement	Increased
(Kaufmann et al. <i>,</i> 2006)	Sepsis	ΗV	Single measurement	Increased fMLP
(Wenisch and Graninger, 1995)	Sepsis	HV	Single measurement	Reduced
(Bass et al., 1986)	Sepsis	HV	Single measurement	Increased

Table 3.10	Respiratory	y burst assa	y results.
	• •		

3.3.3 Study power and source of experimental control subjects

Sample size calculations utilising existing laboratory or clinical data were not performed by any study. Cohort methodology was only employed by 25% (14/57) studies, of which 86% (12/14) were performed in elective surgery patients, meaning only one elective surgery study did not use this method. Case-control study design was used by 74% (42/57) of studies, of which 83% (35/42) recruited healthy volunteers and the rest utilised variously and loosely described clinical samples (Figure 3.2, Tables 3.1, 3.4, 3.7). The remaining 25% (14/57) studies used cohort methodology



Figure 3.2 Identity of control groups used by for different study populations

3.3.4 Age, gender and ethnicity

Only 48% (20/42) of case control studies included age data for both study and control populations. Of the 35 healthy volunteer studies, 27 reported age data for both study and control populations. Within these 27 studies the average age of study populations was higher than control populations on 17 occasions, but this difference was only significantly different on one occasion (Roger et al., 2012), due to the wide range of ages recruited. Gender distribution was reported by 62% (26/42) of studies and ethnicity by only one. Collectively these data demonstrate frequent underreporting, and within reported data widespread heterogeneity between and within case control study groups, of immunologically relevant parameters.

3.3.5 Comorbid disease

60% (34/57) of studies excluded patients with confirmed immune suppression, and 14% (8/57) excluded those with malignancy (Fig 3.3)





major immunological comorbidities.

3.3.6 Definitions of sepsis

Most studies (79%; 26/33) used established consensus conference criteria to define sepsis syndrome (ACCP/SCCM or Surviving Sepsis Campaign) (Bone et al., 1992; Dellinger et al., 2008; Levy et al., 2003). 58% (15/26) of these studies enrolled patients with 'sepsis', 77% (20/26) those with 'severe sepsis' and 92% (24/26) those with septic shock. These subcategories were combined for analysis by 42% (11/26). One study only included patients with septic shock of 4 days duration (Barth et al., 2002). Of the studies within trauma and surgery patients, only 25% (6/24) reported whether infection developed during the study course, with 5/6 using consensus conference criteria.

3.3.7 Microbiology

Although 44% (25/57) studies provided microbiological data, only 30% (17/57) of studies described independent post hoc evaluation of this data and the sepsis diagnosis. Two studies by Hotchkiss provided autopsy evidence of infection (Hotchkiss et al., 2001, 1999)

3.3.8 Organ dysfunction and illness severity

Indices of organ dysfunction, such as SAPS-II or APACHE-II were reported by 33% (19/57) of studies, which in turn reported a wide range of illness severity. Only 7% (4/57) reported whether patients died and none of these described the severity of illness in survivors.

3.3.9 Sample timing

While the majority (72%; 24/33) of sepsis studies reported the timing of the index blood sample, sampling triggers varied widely (Figure 3.4). These included the onset of septic shock (7/24), diagnosis of sepsis (5/24), ICU admission (5/24), onset of organ failure (3/24) evidence of infection (2/24), death with autopsy sampling (2/24), onset of sepsis (1/24) and hospital admission (1/24) (Fig 3.4). Several studies combined the above triggers to create composite inclusion criteria.

The index patient sample was acquired within 24 hours of hospital admission within 58% (14/24) of sepsis studies. One study restricted inclusion to patients identified within 24hrs of the onset of sepsis symptoms, which included accident and emergency patients, plus followed them up for 28 days (Gogos et al., 2010). Overall, serial sampling was frequently undertaken, but over variable time intervals which were not defined a priori. Similar patterns of sample timing were described for trauma patients. Conversely all 12 elective surgery studies collected preoperative control samples and further samples on predetermined postoperative days. Two studies investigated whether the time delay between patient sampling and laboratory processing affected the results (Gogos et al., 2010; Hotchkiss et al., 1999).



Figure 3.4 Septic patient sample timing

3.3.10 Confounding impact of therapeutic interventions

The concurrent administration of drugs with widely recognised immune modulating properties was reported by 25% (14/57) studies, and of these sedative agents were reported by 7% (4/57), antibiotics by 11% (6/57) and steroids by 26% (15/57) (Fig 3.5). In one study of trauma patients the range for administration of blood products was 0-49 units, with data reported from blood sampled after transfusion (Quaid et al., 2001).





3.3.11 Relationship between study population, experimental context outcomes and experimental assay results.

Neutrophil respiratory burst studies conducted in septic patients repeatedly revealed an increased burst response within the septic patient groups (Table 3.10). However, these studies invariably employed a healthy volunteer control group, therefore it is uncertain whether this is attributable to the presence of sepsis, other differences between the groups or perhaps even predisposes to sepsis. None of the three surgical studies investigating the neutrophil burst identified any perioperative change. Monocyte and lymphocyte studies described similar patterns. An index of clinical outcome was related to immune cell function by 23% (13/57) of clinical studies.

Simultaneous sampling of blood and tissue neutrophils from live patients was employed by only one study (Ahmed et al., 1999), which reported that tissue neutrophils had diminished functionality when compared to blood derived neutrophils.

3.3.12 Response of respiratory burst to surgery, trauma and sepsis

Table 3.10 summarises respiratory burst assay results for septic, trauma and surgical patients. All trauma studies identified an increase in respiratory burst when compared to healthy volunteers, or in one case surgical patients, which persisted for between 1 and 21 days. Conversely investigations of surgical and septic patients yielded more variable results, with both increased and decreased respiratory burst commonly described. The experimental assay methodology for these studies is summarised in Appendix A, and demonstrates a wide variation in experimental protocols.

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 Key findings

I. Translational investigations of surgical patients use individualised pre-insult control samples for each patient, unlike equivalent studies within septic and trauma patients. Every study of surgical patients used cohort study design, with each patient serving as their own control sample. In addition, surgical studies described the study population with more detail and used accurately timed sampling in relation to the primary insult.

2. Some patients enrolled into sepsis studies may not have an infection. Many studies of septic patients failed to report microbiological data and few utilised post-admission clinical/microbiological information to confirm the initial diagnosis.

3. Sepsis studies employ control populations that are not age, race or gender matched. Therefore, studies of septic patients cannot determine whether observed differences within experimental readouts are due to sepsis, predispose to sepsis or are a consequence of the many other differences between the study and control groups.

4. There is a wide variation in enrolment criteria between studies of sepsis patients, with immunologically relevant patient information often not reported.

This is partly generated by subtle differences in sepsis diagnosis between various iterations of sepsis guidelines, and may limit inter-study comparisons. Several studies combined different subcategories of sepsis to create composite study groups, e.g. severe sepsis and septic shock. Since these are essentially clinical syndromes that require institution of specific therapeutic interventions with known immunological effects – such as septic shock and noradrenaline - it is not possible to determine whether the observed differences are due to sepsis. It follows that combining these different subpopulations into composite groups may diminish or distort sepsis experimental signals.

137

3.4.2 Interpretation of results

Experimental conclusions from translational sepsis investigations are limited by intrinsic challenges of study design and a failure to consider or report potentially controllable factors which may impact upon immune function. By contrast, translational investigations within major elective surgery overcame many of these limitations. As described, observations from surgical patients are relevant to those with sepsis because of the established molecular, genomic and clinical similarities between these groups. Therefore, the study of surgical patients may provide a translational model of human critical illness, which overcomes the methodological challenges of human sepsis, and the biological limitations of model organism investigations.

3.4.2. I Intrinsic limitations presented by the unpredictable and indeterminate onset of human sepsis.

This prevents pre-insult control samples from being taken, meaning alternative control populations must be chosen that differ from the study population in many immunologically relevant ways, aside from the presence of infection. Such uncertainty also precludes the accurate timing of patient sampling and consequently the description of putative dynamic immune processes. The importance of accurately timed patient samples is supported by genomic data describing differences in inflammatory markers at 24 hours of intensive care admission which predict survival (Xiao et al., 2011).

3.4.2.2 The diagnostic challenge of sepsis

The most important controllable factor which was ignored by sepsis investigations was confirmation of the sepsis diagnosis i.e. review of latterly returned microbiological results. Some patients enrolled into sepsis studies may not have an infection, since most sepsis studies did not make full use of available information to confirm the sepsis diagnosis, such as post-hoc microbiology results. Critically ill patients are colonised with potentially pathogenic organisms. Failure to demonstrate infection is important, since recent laboratory investigations have revealed that the clinical signs/symptoms of sepsis are frequently mimicked by non-pathogenic molecules (Menu and Vince, 2011). Even then, the binary presence of infection may be insufficiently accurate, since the location and type of micro-organisms may generate specific immune responses (Menu and Vince, 2011; Vandenesch et al., 2012) - only one study of the 57 described above specified infection site

or pathogen type. This criticism is also true of many surgical and trauma studies, which failed to record whether infections developed in the study population.

3.4.2.3 Underexplored, but potentially controllable variables

Other under explored controllable factors included the selection of an appropriate control population, enrolment criteria and reporting of therapeutic interventions. Therefore, although the finding of almost universally increased respiratory burst within septic patients is interesting (table 3.10), deeper consideration of the many limitations within these studies questions their validity.

The variation of assays used to measure specific immune processes is fundamental problem of translational studies. There are no agreed standards, with both major and subtle differences between assay protocols (Table 3.11-3.12) that may impact upon the assay result. For example, heparin has been shown to affect lipopolysaccharide priming of the respiratory burst (Bortolussi et al., 1997). This underscores the importance of using multiple assays of same process within studies, to improve the internal validity.

3.4.2.4 Experimental and clinical implications of findings

Incorporation of the surgical model into the translational investigative process does not mean identical studies must first be performed in surgical patients. What it allows is robust characterisation of standardised immune processes which can be used as readouts for other patient types, for example the use of immune modulating agents may be trialled in septic patients with appropriate immunological readouts. A study of vasoactive medications would never be performed without measuring blood pressure, therefore it is remarkable that so many immunological studies have been performed without the appropriate immune readouts.

Findings from studies of immune function cannot be extrapolated to describe clinical outcome unless they are adequately powered, since the up-regulation of immune function may improve bacterial killing but at expense of increased host cell injury, ultimately causing more harm. Power calculations were not described by any studies for immune function or clinical outcome.

Beyond directly modelling inflammation with the surgical insult, the incidence of sepsis is sufficiently high in surgical patients to permit cohort investigations of postoperative sepsis. Depending upon health care system and database chose, the incidence of clinically defined sepsis varies between 6.98% and 12.25% (Lawson et al., 2012). Since approximately 240 million surgical procedures are performed worldwide each year, large numbers of well characterised patients may be followed.

3.4.3 Strengths and weaknesses

The studies chosen are representative of the current translational literature, spanning the three most popular areas of translational immunological research over the past fifteen years. Despite this, the number of studies included in this investigation is relatively small. Therefore, it was only possible to perform descriptive rather than quantitative comparisons between the different study types.

These findings support the use of the surgical model as a bridge between model organism and septic patient research, where understanding of immune processes may be refined prior to definitive evaluation in carefully selected and characterised septic patients, which may then be subject to pragmatic real-world testing. They do not imply this model is a replacement for animal model or septic patient research.

This study has only examined the methodological advantages of studying surgical patients over septic patients. While the many similarities between human responses to infection and trauma have already been described, no studies have reported how functional immune assays, such as those described within this study, vary between these two patient groups. For example, there are clinical scenarios where clear differences exist. The fulminant septic responses of patients with meningococcal septicaemia are never encountered following major surgery. Whilst presenting a limitation, studies which directly compare surgical and sepsis patients may identify the key molecular switches which define the differences between the two groups. Although original papers were retrieved for each study, these only contained summary data, therefore the raw data for each investigation was not examined.

140

3.4.4 Conclusions

The translational investigation of septic patients presents potentially controllable but often ignored methodological limitations. The study of major elective surgery overcomes many of these. The molecular, genomic and clinical similarities that exist between surgical and septic patients provide biological plausibility to this model. The study of major elective surgery may therefore provide an additional translational model between model organism research, healthy volunteer studies and clinical evaluation. Within other areas of translational research, such as cancer cell biology, experimental protocols have been standardised to facilitate comparisons between different studies. Translational sepsis research would benefit from similar standardisation. In addition, the incidence of post-operative sepsis is sufficiently common to permit cohort investigations of septic patients that include individualised presepsis control data. Chapter 4. The perioperative neutrophil phenotype.

4.1 Introduction

Neutrophils may have an important role in determining the human response to surgery, because they are the predominant cell type of the early inflammatory response (J. C. Marshall, 2005). Although neutrophil function is critical to the timely resolution of infection/inflammation (Almyroudis et al., 2013; Morgenstern et al., 1997) these effector processes may also cause collateral tissue injury (Chollet-Martin et al., 1996; Miller et al., 1992; Steinberg et al., 1994). Therefore, excessive and diminished neutrophil function may both be associated with harm, depending upon the context within which they are operating.

Within laboratory models of neutrophil impairment, using both neutrophil depletion or chemical inhibition, the timing of neutrophil impairment in relation to the index inflammatory insult and further inflammatory stimuli ('second hits') alters experimental outcome (Deitch et al., 1990; Hoesel et al., 2005, Chen et al., 2015, Liu et al., 2006). The coordination of these various immune activities during systemic inflammatory responses remains poorly understood.

Sampling from major elective surgical patients may allow an accurate temporal description of the putative dynamic changes in neutrophil immune function which follow a major inflammatory insult, where individualised human subjects are directly compared to their own pre-insult control samples, thereby accounting for pre-existing comorbidity. Within previous studies the baseline variability in neutrophil respiratory burst assays overlaps with post insult samples, suggesting important experimental signals may be missed unless paired statistical analysis is used (Fröhlich et al., 2006; Kawasaki et al., 2007; Shih et al., 1999; Wiezer et al., 2000).

Key neutrophil immune processes include the respiratory burst and phagocytosis. These effector processes rely upon common cellular mechanisms such as energy generation, cellular remodelling and the fusion of cellular plus vesicular membranes. Two investigations have identified diminished neutrophil phagocytosis following major surgery (Jones et al., 2014; Kawasaki et al., 2007) and three investigations have failed to show any change in perioperative neutrophil respiratory burst function (Fröhlich et al., 2006; Kawasaki et al., 2007; Wiezer et al., 2000). In addition to these effector processes, a range of cell surface proteins are necessary for coordinated activity of neutrophil within experimental

143

investigations. These include adhesion receptors, cytokine receptors, pattern recognition receptors and immunoglobulin heavy chain receptors, and are described below.

Previous investigations have described how individual cell surface proteins and effector processes change within patients undergoing specific surgical procedures (e.g. liver resection, cataract surgery). None of these studies have documented a wide range of markers/processes within a highly phenotyped general surgical cohort patients undergoing major elective surgery, who are likely to acquire postoperative sepsis.

4.1.1 Hypothesis

Major elective surgery is associated with impaired neutrophil immune function.

4.1.2 Aims

To describe how major elective surgery alters:

- I. Circulating numbers of major immune blood cells,
- 2. Effector processes: the respiratory burst and phagocytosis (including CD16 expression).
- 3. Cell surface expression of key ligands necessary for the entry of neutrophils into inflamed tissues (CD62L, CD11b, CXCR2) and the detection of tissue injury and infection (TLR-4, TREM-1)
4.2 Methods

Patients were recruited from the Post-Operative Morbidity Oxygen study (POMO, MREC 09/H0805/58) and VISION-UK (MREC 10/WNo03/25) studies. All samples were compared to preoperative controls. POMO was a randomised study of goal directed therapy. I examined patient responses independently of their treatment/control group allocation, and remained blinded to group allocation during the experimental part my investigation - table 4.4 describes the relative contribution of treatment/control patients within each experimental assay. VISION-UK was an observational study. Patient selection, blood sampling, clinical data collection and further details of these studies are described in General Methods.

Blood samples was collected on the morning before surgery, postoperative day two and on postoperative day five. A five-day follow-up period was chosen because this is the time frame in which major elective surgery patients have frequently clinically recovered (mobilising freely, switched to oral medications, urinary catheter out etc). For tests where significant differences were identified on postoperative day two, further patients were recruited for analysis of blood samples after surgery was complete and anaesthesia reversed, within the theatre recovery areas.

Whole blood assays were performed to minimise iatrogenic impact of cell isolation upon results. To validate the isolated neutrophil model used in subsequent chapters, key findings were retested in isolated cells, and described at the end of this chapter. Flow cytometric assays are described with General Methods.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Patient details

The total study population characteristics are described within tables 4.1 and 4.2, perioperative care details within table 4.3. Due to the large number of experimental assays used, each assay was not performed within all patients. The characteristics of patients used for each assay are compared within chapter 4.4.

Clinical and demographic details											
Demographics											
Number of patients studied	59										
Age (median, [IQR]) (years)	64 [55-72]										
Male (n, [%])	36 [61.0]										
Surgery	Туре										
Hepatobiliary (n, [%])	42 [71.2]										
Upper gastrointenstinal (n, [%])	9 [15.3]										
Colorectal (n, [%])	2 [3.3]										
Urology (n, [%])	2 [3.3]										
Gynaecological oncology (n, [%])	2 [3.3]										
Perioperative ri	sk evaluation										
Body Mass Index (median, [IQR]) kg/m ²	27.4 [24.5-30.3]										
Current smoking (n, [%])	16 [27.1]										
POSSUM predicted morbidity (%, [IQR])	53.9 [41.1-72.5]										
POSSUM predicted mortality (%, [IQR])	5.24 [1.8-6.3]										
Duke Activity Status Index (median, [IQR])	35.0 [21.1-50.7]										
VSAQ METS (median, [IQR])	8 [5-8]										

Table 4.1 Demographic and clinical features of study patients.

<u>Co-morbidities and preoperative medications</u>											
Co-morbidities											
Malignancy	38 [64.4]										
Estimated glomerular filtration rate (GFR)	72.8 [16.2]										
mls/min/1.73m ²											
Abnormal electrocardiogram/ECG	26 [44.1]										
Hypertension	25 [42.3]										
Diabetes Mellitus	14 [23.7]										
Asthma / Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	10 [17.5]										
Ischaemic heart disease	9 [15.3]										
Arrhythmia	6 [10.2]										
Rheumatoid arthritis	4 [6.8]										
Cerebrovascular disease	2 [3.4]										
Thyroid disease	2 [3.4]										
Chronic congestive heart failure	2 [3.3]										
Renal impairment (GFR <50 mls/min/1.73m²)	I [I.7]										
Crohns	0 [0.0]										
Ulcerative colitis	0 [0.0]										
Cirrhosis	0 [0.0]										
Medications											
ACE inhibitor / angiotensin receptor blocker	24 [40.7]										
Statin	23 [39.0]										
Aspirin	14 [23.7]										
Beta-blocker	12 [20.3]										
Calcium channel blocker	[8.6]										
Diuretic	[8.6]										
Clopidogrel	3 [5.1]										
Warfarin	2 [3.4]										
Proton pump inhibitor / H ₂ antagonist	19[32.2]										
Chemotherapy (past 3 months)	7 [11.9]										
Paracetamol	5 [8.5]										
Oral opiates	4 [6.8]										

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents	2 [3.4]								
Sulfasalazine	I [I.7]								
Antibiotics	l [l.7]								
Steroids	0 [0.0]								
Azathioprine	0 [0.0]								
Anti-Tumour necrosis factor drugs	0 [0.0]								
Intravenous opiates	0 [0]								
Table 4.2 Comorbidities and preoperative medication use of study patients.									

All values refer to (number of patients, [%]) unless otherwise stated. *Abnormal ECG defined by any of left ventricular hypertrophy, left bundle branch block, ST/T-wave abnormalities.

Perioperative care										
	Perioperative day									
	Intraoperative	POD 2	POD 5							
Duration of operation hrs: mins	4:25 [1:57]									
(mean, [sd])										
Fluid mls/kg (median, [IQR])	22.3 [13.1-27.2]									
Patients received blood products	6 [10.2]									
Vasopressor / inotropic infusion	9 [15.3]	-	-							
Sedation	10 [17.0]	-	-							
Epidural	37 [62.7]	29 [49.2]	24 [40.7]							
Intravenous opiates	18 [30.5]	26 [44.1]	25 [42.4]							
Low molecular weight heparin	-	39 [66.1]	46 [78.0]							
Positive microbiology*	I [I.7]	0 [0]	2 [3.3]							
Location within postoperative	59 [100]	9 [15.3]	7 [11.9]							
care / intensive care unit										
Table 4.3 Perio	<u>perative care of stu</u>	udy patients.								

All values refer to (number of patients, [%]). * Microbiology cultures from blood/sputum/urine/wound/bile of potentially pathogenic organisms. Management of patients with suspected sepsis was left to discretion of bedside clinicians.

	<u>Individu</u>	ial assay pati	ient dem	nographics,	co-morbidit	y and medication	on data	
Assay	Total	Age	Male	Malignancy	Immune	POMS	Hepatobiliary	POMO
	number [#]	(median,	(n, [%])	(n, [%])	medications	morbidity	surgery	Goal
		[IQR]) (years)			(n, [%])	(median, [IQR])	(n, [%])	Directed
						(%)		Therapy*
								(n, [%])
Respiratory	18	63	12 [67]	6 [33]	2 [11]	49.2 [23.1-67.1]	12 [67]	10 [55]
burst		(58-73)						
(preop-pod2)								
Respiratory	4	73.5	I [25]	4 [100]	0 [0]	58.54 [53.9-62.3]	2 [50]	I [25]
burst		(68.5-77.25)						
(preop-postop)								
Respiratory	6	64	3 [50]	[7]	0 [0]	54.3 [47.6-63.1]	4 [67]	4 [67]
burst		(63-73)						
(preop-POD2-POD5)								
Phagocytosis	9	59	4 [44]	-	-	-	2 [22]	VISION
(preop-POD2)		(48-66)						
CD16	19	69	10 [52]	11 [58]	I [5]	51.2 [45.5-62.3]	11 [58]	7 [37]
(preop-POD2)		(61-74)						
CD16	4	73.5	I [25]	4 [100]	0 [0]	58.54 [53.9-62.3]	2 [50]	I [25]

(preop-postop)		(68.5-77.25)						
CD16 (preop-POD2-POD5)	11	66.5 (60-73.75)	5 [45]	7 [64]	I [9]	56.3 [50.6-62.3]	5 [45]	5 [45]
CXCR2 (preop-POD2)	4	61 (58.5-66.25)	3 [75]	-	-	-	I [25]	VISION
TREMI (preop-POD2)	6	58.5 (54.75-61.5)	3 [50]	-	-	-	I [I7]	VISION
TLR4 (preop-POD2)	6	61 (59.25-71)	4 [67]	-	-	-	2 [33]	VISION
CD62 (preop-POD2)	4	67 (61-76.5)	3 [75]	2 [50]	0 [0]	61.8 [47.2-71.1]	I [25]	2 [50]
CDIIb (preop-POD2)	15	73 (67-74)	6 [40]	7 [47]	0 [0]	49.8 [44.0-69.8]	8 [53]	8 [53]

Table 4.4 Key demographic, co-morbidity and medication data for individual experimental assays.

Each assay was not performed on every patient, therefore data from tables 4.1-4.3 is summarised here so that patients within each assay group maybe compared. #Only complete data sets for each time point are included within study analysis, therefore there are more preop-POD2 than preop-POD2-POD5, owing to missing patient samples. *Within POMO studied patients were randomised to receive standardised goal directed therapy or standard, anaesthetist directed, care (Ackland et al., 2015), "VISION" denotes patients were recruited through the VISION study. The inclusion criteria for these two studies are detailed within Table 2.1

4.3.2 Perioperative change in blood leukocyte numbers

Figure 4.1 describes perioperative changes in leukocyte subsets. The absolute neutrophil count was elevated, and the absolute lymphocyte reduced throughout the recorded perioperative period. Monocyte counts increased from postoperative day two. The biological significance of these changes in cell number is uncertain.



Figure 4.1 Perioperative change in blood leukocyte counts.

Box and whisker plots represent median and IQR. Postoperative (D0) samples were taken on arrival of patient within intensive care / postoperative care unit, D2=postoperative day 2, D5=postoperative day 5. Friedman's ANOVA with Dunn's post-test comparing preoperative with each postoperative value. * p<0.05. Only complete data sets represented, therefore total patient numbers described are less than total studied.

4.3.3 Perioperative neutrophil respiratory burst

The E. coli and PMA stimulated respiratory burst capacity were reduced on postoperative day 2 (Fig 4.2, 4.3), and began to return to baseline by postoperative day 5. No differences were identified with fMLP (Fig 4.4). fMLP is a gentler stimulant than E.coli and PMA, and has been used by other investigators to identify small differences in neutrophil priming. The distribution of burst responses within individuals was normally distributed - FACS plots did not identify any evidence for distinct subpopulations / multi-modal distributions. (Fig 4.2, 4.3, 4.4).

Next, using a murine model, I sought to establish whether the postoperative decrease in respiratory burst was also evident in bone marrow derived neutrophils which have not egressed into the systemic circulation. Mice were randomised to either 30 minutes of isoflurane anaesthesia plus midline laparotomy, or sham groups and bone marrow harvested 24hr later. The isoflurane/laparotomy group demonstrated reduced PMA stimulated oxygen consumption when compared to the sham group (Fig 4.5). The apparent increase in control sample (resting cell) ROS production on postoperative day two when compared to preoperative samples (Fig 4.2C, 4.3C) is explored further in Chapter 5.





All data are paired preoperative and postoperative samples. Only complete data sets for each time point are presented, therefore total numbers within each graph vary. A Preop-POD 2 population data. Box-whisker plot is median-IQR-max/min; Wilcoxon matched pairs test used. B Population data for other time points. C Overlay plot showing typical paired preop-POD 2-POD 5 data.



Figure 4.3 Perioperative change in whole blood granulocyte E. coli stimulated respiratory burst

All data are paired preoperative and postoperative samples. Only complete data sets for each graph are presented, therefore total numbers within each graph vary. A Population data for preop-POD2 time points. Box-whisker plot is median-IQR-max/min with Wilcoxon matched pairs test used. B Preop-post surgery and preop-POD2-POD5 time points. C Overlay plot showing typical paired preop-POD 2-POD 5 data.



Figure 4.4 Perioperative change in whole blood granulocyte fMLP stimulated respiratory burst

All data are paired preoperative and postoperative samples. Only complete data sets for each graph are presented, therefore total numbers within each graph vary. A. Population data for rhodamine 123 MFI at specified time points, box-whisker plots are mean-IQR-max/min with Wilcoxon matched pairs for preop-POD2. B Population data for % granulocytes with rhodamine 123 fluorescence, median-IQR-max/min.



Figure 4.5 PMA stimulated oxygen consumption of murine bone marrow neutrophils 24hrs after surgery.

Two groups were compared: 30 minutes of isoflurane anaesthesia plus midline laparotomy or sham (anaesthesia without surgery) groups. N=3 per group and each experiment performed in triplicate. Bone marrow neutrophils were plated 24hrs later. Animals were randomised through number identification and blinded selection of numbers. Further experimental details are provided within section 2.4. Oxygen consumption rates following PMA stimulation were measured with the Seahorse Bioscience XF respirometer. Error bars represent mean +/- sd.

4.3.4 Perioperative neutrophil phagocytosis.

Neutrophil phagocytosis of E. coli bacteria on postoperative day 2 were unchanged when compared to preoperative values (p=0.084) (Fig 4.6). However, cell surface expression of the Fc receptor CD16 was significantly reduced on postoperative day two, with no apparent relationship between postoperative day two and five levels (Fig 4.7).



Figure 4.6 Perioperative change in whole blood granulocyte phagocytosis of

heat-inactivated FITC-labelled E. coli bacteria.

All data are paired preoperative and postoperative samples. Only complete data sets for each graph are presented, therefore total numbers within each graph vary. **A** Population data at defined time points. Post-surgery samples taken within two hours of the end of surgery. Paired line charts are presented and Wilcoxon matched pairs test used for Preop-POD2 data. **B** Overlay plot of typical preoperative – postoperative day 2 sample, showing 0°C control and 37°C test samples.



Figure 4.7 Perioperative change in granulocyte cell surface expression of CD16.

All data are paired preoperative and postoperative samples. **A** Population data at specified time points. Post-surgery samples taken within two hours of the end of surgery. Paired t-test used for Preop-POD2 data, and Friedman matched pairs analysis used for Preop-POD2-POD5 data. **B** Overlay plot demonstrating typical paired patient samples.

4.3.5 Perioperative change in neutrophil adhesion and chemotaxis

receptors

No significant differences in cell surface expression of CD62L, CD11b or CXCR2 were identified on postoperative day two (Fig 4.8).





All data are paired preoperative and postoperative samples. Where n > 10 box-whisker plots are provided (median-IQR-max/min) and Wilcoxon matched pairs test used, if n < 10 paired line plots are provided alone.

4.3.6 Perioperative expression of neutrophil pattern recognition

receptors.

Neutrophil expression of TREM-I was significantly increased on postoperative day 2, although no difference in TLR4 expression was identified (Fig 4.9).



Figure 4.9 Perioperative change in neutrophil cell surface expression of TREMI.

All data are paired preoperative and postoperative samples. A Typical overlay plot B Population data. Paired line plot and Wilcoxon matched pairs test used.



Figure 4.10 Perioperative change in neutrophil cell surface expression of TLR4.

All data are paired preoperative and postoperative samples. Paired line plot and Wilcoxon matched pairs test.

4.3.7 Isolated granulocyte experiments.

There are many assays of neutrophil functions which have only been validated within isolated, rather than whole blood cells. Therefore, I repeated positive experimental findings from whole blood cells within isolated granulocytes. Isolated postoperative neutrophil displayed diminished CD16 and PMA simulated respiratory burst (Fig 4.11) – the same pattern as previous whole blood data. E.coli respiratory burst does not work within an isolated cell system.



Figure 4.11 Perioperative change in isolated neutrophil respiratory burst

and CD16 expression.

Granulocytes were isolated and prepared as described in general methods. All data are paired preoperative and postoperative samples. Overlay plots detail typical paired patient samples. A Perioperative change in isolated granulocyte CD16 expression. Wilcoxon matched pairs tests used. B Perioperative change in isolated granulocyte PMA stimulated respiratory burst. Wilcoxon matched paired test used.

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 Key findings

- 1. Patients on postoperative day two have a reduced respiratory burst and cell surface CD16 expression. The PMA (p<0.001; n=18) and E. coli (p=0.01; n=18) respiratory burst and cell surface CD16 (p=0.042; n=19) were both reduced on postoperative day two when compared to individualised preoperative control samples. The fMLP respiratory burst, a marker of more subtle changes in neutrophil function (priming), was unchanged. The PMA and E.coli respiratory burst samples were typically increased on postoperative day five. The baseline / resting variation in these data which is evident in every assay used suggests that subtle experimental signals may be missed if case control study design were used, with unpaired statistical tests. These findings are compatible with impaired Fc receptor mediated phagocytosis and bacterial killing/activation of neutrophil granular contents on postoperative day two. The postoperative expression of neutrophil surface TREM-1 was increased (p=0.03; n=6), which may reflect TREM-1 amplifying inflammatory responses following the detection of endogenous PAMPs.</p>
- 2. The neutrophil count was increased on postoperative day two. The absolute and relative neutrophil counts were increased on postoperative day two and five (p<0.001; n=37). Therefore, my data reveal a difference between a widely used index of inflammation (neutrophil count) and laboratory assays of circulating neutrophil immune function (PMA/E.coli respiratory burst). The activity of egressed tissue neutrophils was not recorded.</p>
- 3. Isolated neutrophils demonstrate diminished cell surface CD16 and PMA stimulated respiratory burst, similar to whole blood assays

The respiratory burst (p=0.016; n=7) and cell surface CD16 (p=0.032; n=11) were similarly reduced within an isolated system. These observations are mechanistically relevant, since they suggest that the postoperative functional impairment is not due to the tonic effects of circulating neurohumoral mediators or drugs. Additionally, they broaden the range of available assays which may be used in subsequent chapters, since many experimental assays are not validated for use with whole blood samples.

4.4.2 Interpretation of key findings

The data provide experimental evidence of reduced postoperative neutrophil immune function, and demonstrate how the inter-individual variation in baseline function may lead to missed experimental signals unless an individual's postoperative responses are compared to their own preoperative control samples. Whether this functional extends between postoperative days one to four is unknown, because samples were not recorded at these time points. This baseline variation is evident within other perioperative investigations of neutrophil immune function (Fröhlich et al., 2006; Takashi Kawasaki et al., 2001; Wiezer et al., 2000). It is possible that this variation is due to differences in patient's baseline health, such as comorbid disease, presence of malignancy or administration of immune altering medications. Such accurate timing and access to baseline data are not possible during the study of established critical illness, such as trauma and sepsis. It is therefore possible that studies within these patient groups may therefore miss subtle experimental signals.

This period of impaired neutrophil functionality – with reduced PMA and E. coli stimulated respiratory burst – may be plausibly related to the development of postoperative complications. The respiratory burst is not only responsible for direct bacterial killing but also optimises activity of phagocytic granules (Segal, 2005), while observations from patients with chronic granulomatous disease suggest a diminished respiratory burst may generate states of chronic non-resolving sterile inflammation (Morgenstern et al., 1997). The magnitude of postoperative respiratory burst depression is comparable with that found in alcoholic hepatitis superimposed upon cirrhosis (Mookerjee et al., 2007) and in established sepsis (Pascual et al., 1998).

Greater depression of postoperative PMA burst responses than E. coli burst responses may have mechanistic implications. PMA mediates a persistent, maximal activation of the respiratory burst through direct binding to protein kinase c. Therefore, the postoperative functional impairment is not simply due to reduction in DAMP receptor signalling pathways, for example through reduced CD14 expression. Confirmation of the PMA data within the isolated cell system further excludes the possibility of tonic effects of circulating neuro-

humoral mediators. At a molecular level, the diminished respiratory burst may therefore be mediated through impaired PHOX assembly, subunit activity or substrate availability.

At a cellular level, the decreased quantity of neutrophil surface CD16 is compatible with previous descriptions of immature neutrophil release (Brown et al., 1989; Orr et al., 2005), implying postoperative day two neutrophils will be functionally immature also. CD16 expression is acquired at the metamyelocyte stage, and increases progressively with neutrophil maturation in bone marrow (Terstappen et al., 1990). Alternatively, exposure of bone marrow cells to neuro-humoral mediators, or drug exposure, may result in mature but functionally impaired cells.

Measurement of circulating neutrophil lifespan in humans is difficult to perform. Studies using ex vivo transplant of modified neutrophils suggest circulating lifespan is less than I day in health (Dancey et al., 1976). Since the changes I recorded were evident at postoperative day two, the presence of functionally impaired mature cells may be more likely than circulating immature cells. The murine bone marrow data provided is compatible with both explanations. On average postoperative CD16 MFI was reduced by 20% of preoperative levels, far less than the 90% downregulation that is observed during early apoptosis (Dransfield et al., 1994). Therefore, the postoperative reduction in CD16 is unlikely to signify the presence of neutrophil apoptosis.

Together, these data suggest that established tests of systemic inflammation - white cell count and CRP – do not correlate with a functional assay of circulating neutrophil immune function. The clinical significance of these changes warrants further investigation. If immunomodulatory therapies are to be delivered to clinical benefit, then they must be administered according to reliable assays of immunological function. Therefore, the surgical model provides an opportunity to investigate and define the role of immunomodulatory therapy.

None of the three previous investigations into perioperative neutrophil respiratory burst identified any significant postoperative changes (Fröhlich et al., 2006; Kawasaki et al., 2007; Wiezer et al., 2000). There are several key differences between these studies and mine. One study was conducted in patients undergoing cataract surgery (Fröhlich et al., 2006) and only sampled neutrophils on the operative day. Here, the minor surgical insult coupled with short follow up time may be insufficient to promote a change in global immune function.

The other two studies were conducted in comparable patient populations, partial gastrectomy and major liver surgery, and used identical reagents E. coli/PMA stimulated Dihydrorhodamine-123 assays (Kawasaki et al., 2007; Wiezer et al., 2000). However, Kawasaki et al analysed patient responses on postoperative days I and 4, and will have missed the day 2 effect this investigation has revealed. Wiezer's data sampled blood on postoperative day two, however the assay methodology was different, using only isolated neutrophils, a different isolation technique, lower doses of PMA (10ng/ml) and the addition of calcium which will alter calcium dependent respiratory burst response. The number of patients studied with this investigation is comparable to the other respiratory burst investigations (table 3.1).

Respiratory burst studies in trauma and septic patients have typically demonstrated an increased burst response when compared to healthy volunteer control group populations (Table 3.10). Given the fundamental similarities of human innate immune responses to disparate stimuli revealed by genomic investigations (Xiao et al., 2011), the data presented in this chapter initially appears counterintuitive. However, chapter 3 identified several intrinsic limitations within studies of trauma and sepsis patients which may explain this apparent difference. Although these methodological limitations provide sufficient explanation for differences between these populations, it is possible that specific differences mediated by PAMP c.f. DAMP signalling, or perhaps the prior/simultaneous administration of anaesthetic/analgesic agents at the time of inflammatory insult significantly modifies functional responses.

In contrast, diminished CD16 expression has been described following surgery and traumatic injury (Fung et al. 2008; Holzer et al. 2010, Wakefield et al. 1995). Reduced postoperative expression of CD16 is compatible with impaired opsonin mediated phagocytosis, but may only be confirmed with further investigation. This investigation did not reproduce the commonly described neutrophil cell surface CD11b increase and CD62L decrease. Several of the studies reporting the CD11b/CD62L relationship recorded data from the immediate perioperative period, and reported a return to pre-surgery values by postoperative day two. Therefore, these changes may have occurred too early to be identified within this study.

4.4.3 Strengths and limitations

This study describes a reduction in PMA and E.coli neutrophil respiratory burst, and reduction in neutrophil surface CD16, on postoperative day two. These changes may be mechanistically relevant to the development of both infectious and non-infectious complications, however this would require further clinical correlation. The breadth of assays performed is larger, and the number of patients studied broadly comparable with other investigations of innate immune cell function (Table 3.1).

Patients were part of a controlled, protocolised clinical trial and therefore received highly standardised care and underwent extensive preoperative assessment. Whole blood assays were used with significant findings subsequently confirmed within an isolated model. Confirmation within the isolated system provides mechanistic insight since it removes the tonic effects of circulating neurohumoral mediators and validates the use of isolated cellular assays for the mechanistic experiments within chapters 5 and 6. The ROS probe dihydrorhodamine is generally agreed to be the most reliable cellular probe with which to measure the respiratory burst (van Pelt et al., 1996).

However, the in vitro measurement of a specific aspect of cellular function does not necessarily equate to in vivo changes. True assays of human bacterial killing are difficult to perform. Even then, such killing assays will not identify the impact of dysregulated chronic inflammation. Neutrophils are highly susceptible to injury and activation during isolation procedures, and it is not ethical to invoke direct infection. Diminished neutrophil immune functionality may lead to both protection and harm, however this was a pilot study, and not powered to explore relationships with clinical outcome.

This study examined circulating neutrophil immune function. The activity of tissue neutrophil function is unknown. Crucially, differences in endothelial activation at different time points may lead to more activated neutrophils being pulled from circulation. It is therefore possible that tissue neutrophils would behave differently to circulating cells.

The results I have provided do not describe a universal postoperative phenotype, because all assays were not performed within the same patients. Specifically, patients were recruited from two other clinical studies (POMO and VISION), with the POMO group being split into treatment (goal directed therapy) and control (standard care) populations. The overall patient features are described within tables 4.1-4.3, and the patient features for each assay

described within table 4.4. For example, less patients from the respiratory burst preop-POD2 group had malignancy than within the respiratory burst preop-POD2-POD5. Patients were not sampled upon postoperative days one and three, therefore it is uncertain how long the respiratory burst is depressed for.

4.4.4 Conclusions and further work

This study has identified an impairment of the neutrophil respiratory burst at postoperative day two, as well as a reduction in the Fc receptor CD16. This impairment is compatible with diminished bacterial killing and possible prolongation of inflammation which may both predispose to postoperative complications. The data support a functional cellular defect within the burst machinery itself, which is present within bone marrow as well as circulating cells following elective surgery. Microscopy examination of blood samples maybe performed to identify the proportion of neutrophil precursors at different time points.

Chapter 5 – Postoperative neutrophil mitochondrial dysfunction and regulation of the respiratory burst

5.1 Introduction

Oxidative stress is a feature of the human response to surgical injury (Biglioli et al., 2003; Lefer and Lefer, 1996; Stipancic et al., 2005). This chapter will investigate the role of reactive oxygen species (ROS) within postoperative neutrophils, focussing upon the mechanistic relationship between resting cellular ROS levels and activated functional activity.

Mitochondria are a common source of ROS within cells which synthesise bioenergetic ATP through oxidative phosphorylation (Fig 1.4). While neutrophils are considered to be solely glycolytic (Borregaard and Herlin, 1982; Karnovsky, 1968; Segal and Abo, 1993) they do contain mitochondria which maintain a membrane potential independent of cytoplasmic ATP production (Fossati et al., 2003; Maianski et al., 2003; Pryde et al., 2000), and regulate neutrophil life span through constitutive apoptosis.

In patients with established sepsis, monocytes and platelet mitochondrial function is impaired (Japiassú et al., 2011; Protti et al., 2014; Weiss et al., 2015). Similar impairment of neutrophil mitochondria is supported by genomic investigations of healthy volunteer endotoxin exposure, which reveal a dramatic reduction in the expression of genes associated with mitochondrial function (Calvano et al., 2005). Within a monocyte cell line, mitochondrial ROS production at complex III has been shown to transduce hypoxic and outside inflammatory stimuli (Brunelle et al., 2005) through stabilisation of HIF and the integration of inflammatory signals that promote inflammasome assembly (Menu and Vince, 2011).

Since the majority of priming agents simultaneously augment neutrophil effector function and prolong lifespan (El Kebir et al., 2009; Lee et al., 1993; a C. Lee et al., 1999), it is plausible that neutrophil mitochondria may be involved in inflammatory/immune effector signalling in addition to apoptotic signalling. Specifically, the generation of mitochondrial ROS within inflamed neutrophils may be responsible for the diminished postoperative respiratory burst response.

The regulation of neutrophil PHOX by mitochondrial ROS has not been directly addressed within the literature before. However, several investigations have addressed roles for (mitochondrial) ROS during activation of PHOX, and other immune processes within a range of immune cells. The direct addition of H_2O_2 to human neutrophils increases PHOX derived superoxide (El Jamali et al., 2010). Within human lymphoblasts, which contain

functional PHOX, the addition of the complex I inhibitor rotenone 10μ M and complex III inhibitor antimycin A 10μ M increases NADPH oxidase derived extracellular ROS (Dikalov et al., 2012). Within human neutrophils the inhibition of complex I and III increases resting neutrophil cellular ROS, impairs cytoskeletal rearrangement (Fossati et al., 2003) and inhibits LPS induced NF-kB activation and proinflammatory cytokine production (Zmijewski et al., 2008).

5.1.1 Hypothesis

Postoperative neutrophils exhibit mitochondrial dysfunction, which may inhibit the respiratory burst.

5.1.2 Aims

I. To describe postoperative changes in resting neutrophil mitochondrial function.

2. To determine whether postoperative neutrophil mitochondrial oxidative stress is mechanistically responsible for the impaired respiratory burst response.

5.2 Methods

Patient samples were collected from POMO (ISRCTN76894700) and VISION-UK (10/WNo03/25) studies, and the patient characteristics for each experimental assay are detailed in table 5.1. Laboratory methods, including HL-60 cell line and differentiation, are detailed in General Methods. Neutrophil isolation and assays in sections 5.2.1 and 5.2.2 are more completely described in General Methods.

5.2.1 Perioperative human mitochondrial function

The measurement of cellular and mitochondrial ROS and neutrophil apoptosis are described in General Methods.

5.2.2 Model I: Respiratory complex inhibition within human

neutrophils

Respiratory complex inhibitor experiments were performed within a standardised, isolated cell system consisting of 1×10^6 /ml neutrophils suspended within PBS plus glucose 10mM. The complex I inhibitor rotenone and complex III inhibitors Myxothiazol and Antimycin A were added to preoperative and postoperative samples initially at 10µM doses, as described previously (Zmijewski 2008, Dikalov 2012). 30 minute incubation times were chosen to minimise the impact of ex-vivo incubation upon neutrophil function (Wenisch et al., 2001). Time course assays were performed with a plate reader and the ROS probe dihydroethidium.

5.2.3 Model 2: ROS manipulation within cell line model

Undifferentiated and DMSO-differentiated HL-60 cells were prepared as described within general methods. The resting and PMA stimulated ROS profiles of undifferentiated and DMSO differentiated HL-60 cells were characterised using probes MitoSOX-Red, dihydroethidium, rhodamine-123, and TMRM.

The redox status of resting HL60 cells was manipulated using ROS generating myxothiazol, and the ROS scavenger MitoTEMPO. Dose response experiments with MitoTEMPO, within an isolated system using cytochrome c, identified MitoTEMPO 500 μ M to provide the greatest antioxidant protection within an isolated system (Trnka et al., 2009). Similarly, my own dose response / time course experiments with undifferentiated ('postoperative') HL-60 cells supported the 500 μ M dose, with an incubation time of 240 minutes.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Patient characteristics

Assay	Total number	Age (median, [IQR]) (years)	Male (n, [%])	Hepato-	Gynae-	Surgica (n Urology	I speciality , [%]) Maxillo-	G astro-	Ortho-	Breast	Patient study source
				Dillary	cology	-	lacial	intestinai	paediacs		
Whole blood	18	63	12 [67]	12 [67]	I	2	-	l	-		POMO
granulocytes DHR		(58-73)									
(preop-pod2) Fig 5.1AB											
Isolated granulocytes	8	61	4 [50]	I [I3]	[3]	3 [13]	-	2 [25]	-		VISION
Mitosox.		(51-69)									
(preop-POD2) Fig 5.1CD											
Whole blood TMRM	15	61	8 [53]	3 [20]	I [7]	7 [47]	2 [13]	I [7]	I [7]		VISION
(preop-POD2) Fig 5.2 AB		[54-65]									
Isolated granulocytes	4	66.5	2 [50]	I [25]	I [25]	2 [50]	-	-	-		VISION
TMRM		[61-72]									
(preop-POD2) Fig 5.2C											
Isolated granulocytes	8	69.5	3 [38]	6 [80]	I	-	-	I	-		POMO
JC-I		(60-75)									

(preop-POD2) Fig 5.3AB											
Isolated granulocytes	9	68	3 [33]	[]	3 [33]	-	-	[]	4 [44]		VISION
Annexin		(64-79)									
(preop-POD2) Fig 5.4AB											
Fas (CD95)	17	71	7 [41]	12 [71]	2	2	-	I	-		VISION
(preop-POD2) Fig 5.5 AB		(65-75)									
Rotenone 10µM + DHR	16	60	6 [38]	2 [13]	4 [25]	6 [38]	-		2 [13]	2 [13]	VISION
Fig 5.6 A		(53-72)									
Rotenone 10µM	7	55	4 [57]	[4]	0	3 [43]	-	2 [29]	-	I [I4]	VISION
+ Mitosox		(51-69)									
Fig 5.6 BC											
Rotenone 10µM	18	61.5	8 [44]	3 [17]	5 [28]	6 [33]	-	-	2 [11]	2 [11]	VISION
+ PMA + DHR		(53-74)									
Fig 5.6 DE											
Rotenone 10µM	6	57	3 [50]	[7]	I [I7]	2 [33]	-	-	I [I7]	I [17]	VISION
+ PMA + DHR		(54– 59)									
(preop-POD2) Fig 5.7											
Myxothiazol 10µM	7	65	4 [57]	-	I [I4]	4 [57]	-	2 [29]	-	-	VISION
+ Rhodamine		(61-77)									
Fig 5.8 AB											
Myxothiazol I0µM	7	55	4 [57]	I [I4]	-	3 [43]	-	2 [29]	-	I [I4]	VISION
+ Mitosox		(51-69)									

Fig 5.8 CD											
Myxothiazol I0µM	5	63	2 [40]	-	I [20]	2 [40]	-	2 [40]	-	-	VISION
+ PMA + DHR		(59-90)									
Fig 5.8 EF											
Myxothiazol 10µM	6	60	3 [50]	[7]	-	3 [50]	-	-	2 [33]	-	VISION
+ CD16		(55-69)									
Fig 5.9 AB											
Myxothiazol I0µM	3	54	2 [67]	-	-	3 [100]	-	-	-	-	VISION
+ Annexin		(54-68)									
Fig 5.9 CDE											
Antimycin A 10µM		62	6 [55]	2 [18]	I [9]	2 [18]	I [9]	3 [27]	2 [18]	-	VISION
+ DHR		(58-74)									
Fig 5.10 AB											
Antimycin A 10µM	11	62	6 [55]	2 [18]	I [9]	2 [18]	I [9]	3 [27]	2 [18]	-	VISION
+ PMA + DHR		(58-74)									
Fig 5.10 CD											
Antimycin A 10µM	7	61	3 [43]	2 [29]	-	-	I [I4]	2 [29]	2 [29]	-	VISION
+ CD16		(58-65)									
Fig 5.11 AB											
Antimycin A 10µM	6	62	3 [50]	2 [33]	-	-	[7]	[7]	2 [33]	-	VISION
+ Annexin		(60-67)									
Fig 5.11 CDE											

Myxothiazol IµM	14	65	8 [57]	I [7]	I [7]	4 [29]	-	I [7]	7 [50]	-	VISION
+ DHR		(59-72)									
Fig 5.12 AB											
Myxothiazol IµM	12	66	6 [50]	-	I [8]	3 [25]	-	I [8]	7 [58]	-	VISION
+ PMA + DHR		(61-75)									
Fig 5.12 CD											
Myxothiazol IµM	10	65	6 [60]	I [I0]	I [10]	3 [30]	-	-	5 [50]	-	VISION
+ CD16		(59-67)									
Fig 5.12 E											
Myxothiazol IµM	6	69	3 [50]	-	[7]	-	-	I [I7]	4 [67]	-	VISION
+ Annexin		(61-76)									
Fig 5.12 F											
Myxothiazol ± PMA +	2	55, 65	I [50]	-	I [50]	-	-	I [50]	-	-	VISION
DHE											
	Table 5.	I Characte	eristics o	<u>f the pati</u>	ents for C	<u>Chapter 5</u>	i experin	nental assa	lys.		

5.3.2 Perioperative neutrophil mitochondrial phenotype

Rhodamine-123 (Fig 5.1 A,B) and MitoSOX Red fluorescence (Fig 5.1 C,D) were increased in postoperative resting whole blood and isolated neutrophils respectively, when compared to matched preoperative control samples, which supports the presence of increased cellular and mitochondrial ROS within postoperative neutrophils.



Figure 5.1 Perioperative resting neutrophil reactive oxygen species production.

All data are paired preoperative and postoperative samples. A Overlay plot demonstrating typical change in perioperative Rhodamine-123 fluorescence. B Box whisker plots (median-IQR) demonstrating population change in perioperative Rhodamine-123 production. Paired t-test. C Overlay plot demonstrating typical change in perioperative Mitosox-Red fluorescence, D Paired line plot demonstrating population change in perioperative Mitosox-Red fluorescence, Wilcoxon matched pairs test

Within whole blood neutrophils TMRM staining was increased postoperatively (Fig 5.2 A,B), suggesting hyperpolarisation of the mitochondrial membrane potential within postoperative neutrophils.



Figure 5.2 Perioperative resting neutrophil mitochondrial membrane potential: <u>TMRM assay (whole blood and isolated granulocytes)</u>

All data are paired preoperative and postoperative samples. A Overlay plot demonstrating typical patients perioperative change in whole blood neutrophil TMRM fluorescence. I 0µM FCCP used as positive control. B Population box-whisker plots for perioperative change in whole blood neutrophils TMRM fluorescence. Wilcoxon matched pairs test used. C Perioperative change in isolated neutrophil TMRM fluorescence.

By contrast, isolated neutrophil TMRM fluorescence (Fig 5.2C) and JC-1 fluorescence (Fig 5.3 A,B) was diminished within postoperative neutrophils.



A Density plots demonstrating perioperative change in isolated neutrophil JC-1 fluorescence. FCCP 10µm used as positive control to generate 95% threshold for loss of mitochondrial membrane potential B Paired line diagram demonstrating population change in proportion of isolated neutrophils which have lost mitochondrial membrane potential, as determined by JC-1 fluorescence and comparison to individualised FCCP positive controls, Wilcoxon matched pairs test used.

There was no difference between matched preoperative and postoperative neutrophil Annexin-V and PI expression/uptake (Fig 5.4 A,B). These assays were performed immediately following neutrophil isolation. Neutrophil apoptosis is accompanied by a specific, and dramatic (80%+) downregulation of cell surface CD16 (Dransfield et al., 1994). Therefore, although chapter 4 identified an approximate 20% reduction in cell surface CD16, this is not a sufficient decrease to support the presence of apoptosis. Together these data suggest that there are no differences in the rate of neutrophil apoptosis on postoperative day two as preoperatively,



Figure 5.4 Perioperative isolated neutrophil apoptosis: Annexin-V assay.

All data are paired preoperative and postoperative samples. A Density plots demonstrating isolated neutrophil perioperative combined annexinV-FITC/PI staining. B Box whisker plots (median-IQR-max/min) demonstrating perioperative change in isolated neutrophil annexin V/PI expression, overall p-value for one way ANOVA reported.

However, expression of the extrinsic apoptosis regulator protein Fas (CD95) was higher upon postoperative neutrophils (Fig 5.5 A,B). Engagement of Fas activates the extrinsic apoptotic pathway, and may also have synergistic effects in promotion of intrinsic apoptosis (Brown and Savill, 1999; Liles et al., 1996; Renshaw et al., 2000). Postoperative neutrophils may be more susceptible to extrinsic apoptotic signalling.





A Population data demonstrating whole blood granulocyte cell surface CD95 expression, paired t-test used. B overlay plot demonstrating typical patient sample.

Collectively these data support the presence of postoperative neutrophil mitochondrial dysfunction, characterized by increased mitochondrial ROS and relatively hyperpolarised mitochondrial membrane potential within whole blood samples. By contrast isolated postoperative neutrophils display a loss of mitochondrial membrane potential, possibly because of an increased sensitivity to the isolation process. This study found no evidence to support the presence of increased neutrophil apoptosis on postoperative day two, however increased Fas receptor expression suggests these cells may be more sensitive to in-vivo FasL death receptor pathway signalling.
5.3.3 Model I: Respiratory complex inhibition within human neutrophils

The data presented above supports the presence of mitochondrial oxidative stress within resting postoperative neutrophils. Within chapter 4, I demonstrated that activated postoperative neutrophils possess a diminished respiratory burst. Here, I test the hypothesis that resting oxidative stress is mechanistically responsible for the diminished respiratory burst within postoperative cells, using two different models of oxidative stress.

The principal sites of mitochondrial ROS production are believed to be respiratory complexes I and III (Chen et al., 2003; Lenaz et al., 2006). Previous investigators have demonstrated that the addition of low doses of inhibitors to respiratory complex I and III to neurones promotes mitochondrial hyperpolarisation and ROS generation (Forkink et al., 2014) - the same phenotype I identified within postoperative cells. Therefore, for the first model I incubated granulocytes with respiratory complex inhibitors and measured respiratory burst responses. An isolated neutrophil system was chosen for these experiments to ensure the ratio of cells to inhibitor was constant.

5.3.2.1 Respiratory complex I inhibition: Rotenone.

Incubation of isolated preoperative neutrophils with rotenone 10μ M for thirty minutes did not increase resting cell rhodamine-123 fluorescence (Fig 5.6 A) but there was a trend for increased resting MitoSOX-Red fluorescence (Fig 5.6 B,C). Rotenone increased the PMA activated respiratory burst (Fig 5.6 D,E). Rotenone 10μ M did not alter expression of Annexin-V or CD16 in isolated preoperative neutrophils (data not shown).



Figure 5.6 The effect of respiratory complex I inhibition with Rotenone 10µM upon isolated neutrophil PMA respiratory burst.

All rotenone incubations performed with rotenone 10µM, at 37°C for 30minutes. Negative samples are unstained, without MitoSOX Red. Vehicle and rotenone samples are with MitoSOX Red. Wilcoxon matched pairs test used throughout. A Paired line diagram demonstrating change in proportion of resting neutrophils generating Rhodamine-123 following addition of Rotenone. B C Overlay plot / paired line diagram demonstrating typical sample / population response of MitoSOX-Red fluorescence following addition of Rotenone D E Overlay plot / Box-whisker (median-IQR-max/min) demonstrating typical response / population response in PMA-activated respiratory burst (Rhodamine-123 fluorescence) after preincubation with Rotenone. Pre-incubation with rotenone increased the preoperative PMA respiratory burst in every patient, however it was reduced for one patient postoperatively (Fig 5.7)



Figure 5.7 Perioperative change in isolated neutrophil PMA stimulated respiratory burst following incubation with rotenone 10µM.

Isolated neutrophils were incubated with rotenone $I0\mu M$ for 30 minutes prior to respiratory burst assay.

5.3.2.2 Respiratory complex III inhibition: Myxothiazol and Antimycin A

Incubation of isolated resting neutrophils with Myxothiazol 10µM for 30mins increased Rhodamine (Fig 5.8 A,B) and MitoSOX-Red (Fig 5.8 C,D) derived fluorescence and was accompanied by a trend for reduced PMA stimulated Rhodamine fluorescence (Fig 5.8 E,F).



Figure 5.8 The effect of myxothiazol 10µM upon isolated neutrophil ROS.

All Myxothiazol incubations performed at 37°C for 30minutes. Wilcoxon matched pairs test used throughout. A B Overlay plot / paired line diagram demonstrating typical sample / population response of resting neutrophils Rhodamine-I 23 fluorescence following incubation with Myxothiazol. C D Overlay plot / paired line diagram demonstrating typical sample population response of resting neutrophils Mitosox-Red fluorescence following incubation with Myxothiazol demonstrating typical sample population response of resting neutrophils Mitosox-Red fluorescence following incubation with Myxothiazol. E F Overlay plot / paired line diagram demonstrating typical sample / population response of resting neutrophils Mitosox-Red fluorescence following incubation with Myxothiazol. E F Overlay plot / paired line diagram demonstrating typical sample / population response of resting neutrophils Mitosox-Red fluorescence following incubation with Myxothiazol. E F Overlay plot / paired line diagram demonstrating typical sample / population response of resting neutrophils Mitosox-Red fluorescence following incubation with Myxothiazol. E F Overlay plot / paired line diagram demonstrating typical sample / population response of PMA stimulated neutrophil burst.

However, the addition of Myxothiazol 10 μ M to isolated neutrophils also promoted an approximately 80% down-regulation of cell surface CD16 (Fig 5.9 A,B) and a trend for increased Annexin binding (Fig 5.9 C-E). These data suggest that incubation of isolated neutrophils with Myxothiazol 10 μ M for 30 minutes induces apoptosis.



Figure 5.9 The effect of Myxothiazol 10µM upon isolated neutrophil apoptosis.

All Myxothiazol incubations performed at 37°C for 30 minutes. A B Overlay plot / Paired line diagram demonstrating typical sample / population change in neutrophil surface CD16 expression following incubation with Myxothiazol, Wilcoxon matched pairs test used C D E Density plots / paired line diagram demonstrating effect of Myxothiazol upon neutrophil apoptosis (Annexin-V positivity). Quadrant numbers represent percentage of gated population within each quadrant. F Paired line diagram demonstrating change in isolated neutrophil TMRM fluorescence following incubation with Myxothiazol.

Incubation of isolated neutrophils with a second respiratory complex III inhibitor -Antimycin-A 10µM - produced similar effects upon resting and PMA activated neutrophil ROS levels to Myxothiazol 10µM, with an increase in resting Rhodamine fluorescence (Fig 5.10 A,B), reduction in PMA stimulated Rhodamine fluorescence (Fig 5.10 C,D).



Figure 5.10 The effect of Antimycin A 10µM upon isolated neutrophil ROS.

All Antimycin A incubations performed at 37°C for 30minutes. Wilcoxon matched pairs test used throughout. A B Overlay plot / paired line diagram demonstrating typical sample / population response of resting neutrophils Rhodamine-123 fluorescence following incubation with Antimycin A. C D Overlay plot / paired line diagram demonstrating typical sample / population response of PMA stimulated neutrophil following preincubation with Antimycin A Incubation of isolated neutrophils with Antimycin A consistently downregulated neutrophil cell surface CD16 (Fig 5.11 A,B), and tended to increase Annexin V binding (Fig5.11 C-E), suggesting than incubation with Antimycin A promotes resting isolated neutrophil apoptosis. However, the magnitude of CD16 downregulation and of annexin binding was less than previously with Myxothiazol (Fig 5.9).



Figure 5.11 The effect of Antimycin A 10µM upon isolated neutrophil apoptosis.

All Antimycin A incubations performed at 37°C for 30minutes. A B Overlay plot / paired line diagram demonstrating typical sample / population change in neutrophil surface CD16 expression following incubation with antimycin A, Wilcoxon matched pairs test used. C D E Density plots / paired line diagram demonstrating effect of antimycin A upon neutrophil apoptosis (Annexin-V positivity).

Within other cell types, respiratory complex III inhibitors demonstrate a dose dependent effect upon mitochondria, with high doses causing lipid peroxidation with complex disaggregation and lower doses increasing the mitochondrial membrane potential while maintaining mitochondrial viability (Lenaz et al., 2006). Therefore, I repeated these experiments using Myxothiazol 1µM. Myxothiazol 1µM did not cause a measurable change in resting neutrophil Rhodamine fluorescence (Fig 5.12 A,B), however PMA stimulated Rhodamine fluorescence was increased (Fig 5.12 C,D), without any change in cell surface CD16 (Fig 5.12 E) or Annexin (Fig 5.12 F).



Figure 5.12 The effect of Myxothiazol 1µM upon isolated neutrophil ROS and apoptosis

All myxothiazol incubations performed at 37°C for 30 minutes. Wilcoxon matched pairs test used throughout. A B Overlay plot / paired line diagram demonstrating typical sample / population response of

resting neutrophils Rhodamine-123 fluorescence following incubation with Myxothiazol 1 μ M. C D Overlay plot / paired line diagram demonstrating typical sample / population response of PMA stimulated neutrophils following preincubation with myxothiazol 1 μ M. E Paired line diagram demonstrating population change in neutrophil surface CD16 expression following incubation with Myxothiazol. F Paired line diagram demonstrating effect of myxothiazol upon neutrophil apoptosis (Annexin-V positivity).

Having demonstrated differences between Myoxthiazol 1 μ M and 10 μ M upon resting and activated isolated neutrophil ROS levels following 30-minute incubation, I next tested the effect of incubation time for these Myxothiazol concentrations using a platereader (Fig 5.13) to permit sequential fluorescence measurements. At 1 μ M Myxothiazol did not increase resting cell DHE fluorescence, and did not affect PMA stimulated burst. At 10 μ M Myxothiazol tended to increase resting neutrophil dihydroethidium fluorescence, but reduced PMA stimulated respiratory burst fluorescence (Fig 5.8).

Therefore, myxothiazol may have different effects upon resting DHR and DHE fluorescence. 10µM myxothiazol may increase resting DHR and DHE fluorescence, however 1µM only increases resting DHE fluorescence.



Figure 5.13 The effect of Myxothiazol 1uM and 10uM upon isolated resting and PMA stimulated neutrophil DHE fluorescence.

Two patient samples were used. Each condition was performed in triplicate at each time point. Graph represents mean +/- standard deviation.

5.3.4 Model 2: HL-60 cell line model

The data from model 1 describes how respiratory complex III inhibitors may increase resting neutrophil ROS and impair the PMA stimulated respiratory burst within healthy volunteer/preoperative cells – mimicking the postoperative neutrophil phenotype. Now, I again tested the hypothesis that mitochondrial ROS may impair the neutrophil respiratory burst within a new model, using the HL-60 promyelocyte cell line. DMSO-differentiated HL-60 cells have been widely employed as a model to explore neutrophil biology (Birnie, 1988). The addition of DMSO to undifferentiated promyelocyte precursors promotes their differentiation into neutrophil like cells over a 5-7 day period (Collins et al., 1979; Newburger et al., 1979). DMSO differentiated cells display diminished ATP turnover and an increased respiratory burst when compared to undifferentiated cells (Muranaka et al., 2005; Newburger et al., 1979). Therefore, correlation of HL-60 oxidative stress/respiratory burst profile permits further interrogation of the primary hypothesis that mitochondrial dysfunction (ROS) may regulate the neutrophil respiratory burst.

5.3.3.1 DMSO differentiated and undifferentiated HL-60 cells mimic the oxidative characteristics of preoperative and postoperative neutrophils respectively.

Resting undifferentiated HL60 cells displayed increased MitoSOX Red (Fig 5.14 A,B), Rhodamine-123 (Fig 5.14 C,D) and TMRM (Fig5.15 E,F) fluorescence. These data suggest the resting undifferentiated HL-60 cells contain more mitochondrial and cellular ROS than DMSO differentiated cells.



Resting HL-60 cells

Figure 5.14 Resting HL-60 cell ROS characteristics.

Overlay plots demonstrate typical samples, dot plots population responses. A B MitoSOX Red fluorescence of resting HL-60 cells. C D Rhodamine fluorescence of resting HL-60 cells. E F TMRM fluorescence in resting HL-60 cells, with FCCP 10uM positive control samples.

PMA activation caused a reduction in DMSO differentiated MitoSOX Red fluorescence (Fig5.15 A,B), and an increase in cellular ROS production (Fig 5.15 C,D), that were not evident within undifferentiated cells. DMSO differentiated HL-60 cells and undifferentiated HL-60 cells mimic the resting ROS characteristics I identified within preoperative and postoperative neutrophils.



Figure 5.15 PMA activated HL-60 cell ROS characteristics

Overlay plots demonstrate typical samples, dot plots population responses. A B MitoSOX Red fluorescence of PMA stimulated HL-60 cells C D Rhodamine-123 fluorescence of PMA stimulated HL-60 cells

5.3.3.2 The addition of Myxothiazol 10μ M to DMSO differentiated HL-60 cells increases resting cell ROS, but not the PMA stimulated respiratory burst.

Next, I sought to determine whether I could recreate the postoperative ROS phenotype within 'preoperative' DMSO differentiated cells by increasing resting ROS levels through the addition of Myxothiazol 10 μ M and promoting a decrease in activated DMSO differentiated respiratory burst.

Myxothiazol 10µM did not increase resting cellular ROS, but did increase PMA stimulated ROS (Fig 5.13 A,B) - similar to the addition of Myxothiazol 1uM to isolated human neutrophils (Fig 5.12). Therefore, I tested a higher dose of Myxothiazol, and found that the addition of 100µM Myxothiazol to DMSO differentiated HL-60 cells increased baseline ROS, but had no significant effect upon PMA activated cell ROS production (Fig 5.16 A,B). The addition of Myxothiazol to DMSO differentiated HL60 cells did not reproduce the postoperative neutrophil phenotype.



Figure 5.16 The effect of Myxothiazol upon resting and PMA stimulated DMSO differentiated ('preoperative') HL-60 cell ROS production.

Myxothiazol incubations were performed for 20mins, prior dihydrorhodamine assay as described above. A Resting DMSO differentiated HL60 cells. B PMA simulated DMSO differentiated HL60 cells.

5.3.3.3 Addition of the mitochondrial antioxidant MitoTEMPO to undifferentiated HL-60 cells does not increase the PMA stimulated respiratory burst

Next, I attempted to induce the preoperative ROS phenotype (low resting ROS, high activated ROS) within undifferentiated HL-60 cells (analogous to postoperative neutrophils), through the addition of the mitochondrial antioxidant MitoTEMPO.

Previous investigators have published MitoTEMPO incubation data at doses ranging from 25µM to 500µM and times ranging from 30mins to 240mins (Dikalov et al., 2014; Trnka et al., 2009). At lower dose range and incubation times I observed no effects upon undifferentiated HL-60 cell ROS production. Incubation of undifferentiated HL-60 cells with MitoTEMPO 500µM for 240 minutes tended to increase resting cell MitoSOX Red fluorescence (Fig 5.17 A,B), but there was no clear effect upon either resting cell Rhodamine fluorescence (Fig 5.17 C,D) or PMA activated Rhodamine fluorescence (Fig 5.17 E,F).



Figure 5.17 The effect of mitochondrial antioxidant mitoTEMPO upon resting and PMA stimulated undifferentiated ('postoperative') HL-60 cells.

Undifferentiated HL-60 cells were incubated with MitoTEMPO 500µM for 240minutes prior to addition of ROS probes or PMA activation for 10mins then subsequent addition of ROS probes. Overlay plots demonstrate typical samples, dot plots population responses. Mann-Whitney test where statistics used. A B MitoSOX Red fluorescence, resting cells. C D Rhodamine fluorescence, resting cells. E F Rhodamine fluorescence, PMA activated cells.

5.4 Discussion

5.4.1 Key findings

This study has made several findings which support the presence of dysfunctional mitochondria within postoperative neutrophils. Mitochondria within postoperative neutrophils display a raised mitochondrial membrane potential and produce increased amount of mitochondrial ROS. Two models were presented which each support a mechanistic association between elevated postoperative mitochondrial ROS and the impaired activated cell respiratory burst.

1. Mitochondrial dysfunction is acquired within postoperative neutrophils.

Postoperative neutrophil mitochondria produce more ROS and have a hyperpolarised membrane potential when compared to preoperative cells. Together, these observations suggest that damaged mitochondria persist within postoperative cells, and that a distal impairment of oxidative phosphorylation may be preventing the return of hydrogen ions to the matrix. These findings are consistent with dysfunctional mitochondria that release ROS, impair cellular function and may ultimately promote apoptosis and/or inflammation.

An association between raised membrane potential and increased ROS production has been previously identified within neurones. Although an increase in mitochondrial membrane potential maybe plausibly associated with an increase in ROS production, there are other possible sources of ROS production within postoperative neutrophils, such as endoplasmic reticulum or PHOX activity within partially activated cells (Balaban et al., 2005; Landmesser et al., 2003; Sevier and Kaiser, 2008).

2. The proportion of neutrophils undergoing (Annexin-V positive) apoptosis is similar in isolated preoperative and postoperative preparations. Total apoptosis and overt necrosis were unchanged within postoperative samples when compared to paired preoperative controls. Reported rates of in vitro neutrophil apoptosis widely between different laboratories (Luo and Loison, 2008), e.g. 10 to 75% at 6hours (Blomgran et al., 2007; Cowburn et al., 2005). A previous perioperative study identified an increased rate of neutrophil apoptosis at 12hrs (Delogu et al., 2001a) and decreased at 24hrs (Fanning et al., 1999b), but neither reported on postoperative day two. FasL was upregulated on postoperative cells. As well as mediating extrinsic apoptosis, there is evidence for cross talk between FasL and neutrophil constitutive apoptosis (Brown, 1999; Liles et al., 1996; Renshaw et al., 2000) and may directly promote mitochondrial dysfunction (Watson et al., 1999).

In contrast to whole blood samples, isolated neutrophils demonstrated a postoperative loss of mitochondrial membrane potential - an established measure of apoptosis - suggesting that postoperative cells may be more likely to enter apoptosis under physiologically stressful conditions.

3. Two different models of neutrophil mitochondrial dysfunction support a mechanistic relationship between resting ROS levels and respiratory burst function:

a. Pharmacological inhibition of respiratory complex III. Myxothiazol is a competitive inhibitor of ubiquinol, and blocks electron transfer to the Rieske protein of complex III (Thierbach and Reichenbach, 1981). Antimycin binds to the Qi site of cytochrome reductase within complex III (Bolgunas et al., 2006). Both Myxothiazol and Antimycin increased resting neutrophil ROS and decreased the PMA activated respiratory burst. The magnitude of respiratory burst depression and cell surface CD16 expression which followed incubation of preoperative neutrophils with Antimycin 10µM was similar to that found within freshly isolated postoperative neutrophils. Myxothiazol 10µM produced greater depressions in PMA stimulated respiratory burst and CD16 expression than was seen in postoperative neutrophils. Both Antimycin A 10µM and Myxothiazol 10µM caused an increased rate of neutrophil apoptosis when compared to resting postoperative cells.

Conversely, lower doses of respiratory complex III inhibitors and complex I inhibition augmented/primed the neutrophil respiratory burst. These findings are consistent with previously reported effects of rotenone 10µM and Myxothiazol 10µM upon lymphoblast respiratory burst (Dikalov et al., 2014) and Oligomycin 1ug/ml upon neutrophil burst (Fossati et al., 2003). This observation supports the presence of decreased complex I responsiveness within postoperative cells, and may be mechanistically relevant to the decreased postoperative burst. The priming effect of Rotenone was not apparent within postoperative neutrophils, which is compatible with inhibition of the respiratory burst within preoperative neutrophils by higher dose complex III inhibition.

b. DMSO differentiated and undifferentiated HL-60 cells parallel the resting and PMA stimulated oxidative profiles of preoperative and postoperative neutrophils respectively. DMSO differentiated HL60 cells demonstrate lower resting cellular ROS production with higher PMA stimulated ROS production. Conversely, undifferentiated HL60 cells demonstrate higher resting cellular ROS production, but lower PMA stimulated ROS production. The addition of Myxothiazol to DMSO differentiated HL60 cells and MitoTEMPO to undifferentiated cells did not mimic the postoperative and preoperative neutrophil phenotypes respectively.

5.4.2 Interpretation of key findings

These data describe several related differences between preoperative and postoperative neutrophil mitochondrial function. Together, these observations support the presence of dysfunctional mitochondria within postoperative neutrophils and furthermore, are consistent with a mechanistic relationship between resting neutrophil ROS and the respiratory burst.

The methodological advantages presented by the study of surgical patients allowed carefully timed postoperative samples to be taken and compared to individualised control results. The only previous investigation of postoperative neutrophil mitochondrial function used a single probe ($DiOC_6$) within isolated cells, and reported an increased rate of apoptosis at 12

hours post insult (Delogu et al., 2001) which had fallen at 24 hours (Fanning et al., 1999), neither sampled at 48 hours post insult.

Previously, the mechanistic impact of mitochondrial ROS upon neutrophil inflammatory function has only been described in terms of NF-kB stabilisation and cytokine expression, not actual immune effector mechanisms (Zmijewski et al., 2009, 2008). The interrogation of effector mechanisms does not necessarily reflect changes observed in alternative markers of inflammation do not necessarily correlate with those of neutrophil effector function [Chapter 4].

The production of mitochondrial ROS following hyperpolarisation of mitochondrial membrane potential has been described before within neurones, and was associated with diminished ATP production and H⁺ utilisation (Abramov et al., 2005, 2004). Alternative explanations for the increase in mitochondrial ROS would be an increase in flux through oxidative phosphorylation or impaired ROS detoxification capacity, including reduced mitochondrial superoxide dismutase, cytoplasmic catalase or glutathione peroxidase (Hellmich et al., 2005)(Fosslien, 2003; Hellmich et al., 2005; Lebovitz et al., 1996). However, none of these alternative explanations provides a unifying explanation for all the experimental observations I have made, which the presence of postoperative mitochondrial dysfunction does. Glutathione peroxidase requires NADPH, therefore it is possible that impaired hexose monophosphate shunt may promote both an increase in resting ROS levels and an impaired respiratory burst within activated cells.

The differences between whole blood and isolated data – where isolated data showed loss of postoperative mitochondrial membrane potential – may be explained by an increased sensitivity of postoperative cells to the isolation process. This sensitivity may be a manifestation of limited postoperative bioenergetic reserve, thereby limiting effector function (explored further within chapter 6).

The increase in PMA stimulated respiratory burst following addition of Rotenone 10 μ M or Myxothiazol 1 μ M is supported by previous work which revealed similar increases in PMA burst responses following the direct addition of H₂O₂ (El Jamali et al., 2010) or Oligomycin (Fossati et al., 2003) to neutrophils, and Rotenone or Myxothiazol to lymphoblasts (Dikalov et al., 2012). However, other investigators have demonstrated that the incubation of neutrophils with complex I and III inhibitors causes diminished NF-kB signalling and cytokine production (Zmijewski et al., 2009, 2008). Hypoxia has been shown to inhibit the respiratory burst and killing of S. aureus in human neutrophils (McGovern et al., 2011). The addition of rotenone 10µM delivered measurable increases in resting neutrophil mitochondrial superoxide production (MitoSOX Red), but not overall cellular ROS (Rhodamine-123), supporting a mechanistic role for mitochondrial ROS.

The reduction in postoperative respiratory burst following the addition of the complex I inhibitor Rotenone suggests that complex I may act as a signal transducer during the respiratory burst, and toward a loss of complex I responsiveness postoperatively. Diminished mitochondrial complex I function has been previously described within septic peripheral blood mononuclear cells (Garrabou et al., 2012).

Conversely, the reduction in preoperative respiratory burst following the addition of complex III inhibitors Antimycin A 10µM and Myxothiazol 10µM suggests that loss of complex III function may mediate the observed postoperative mitochondrial dysfunction. Since complex III is the principal source of mitochondrial ROS, distal inhibition of oxidative phosphorylation (e.g. absence of terminal electron recipient oxygen) will lead to liberation of electrons at complex III, and therefore ROS formation. Beyond its role in oxidative phosphorylation, complex III is critical for wider range of cellular functions that effectively function independently of oxidative phosphorylation, such as oxygen tension sensing at complex III and initiation of HIF signalling (Brunelle et al., 2005; Klimova and Chandel, 2008).

Although HIF was first identified as a mediator of hypoxic inflammatory signalling, it is now understood to be activated during many other inflammatory insults (Klimova and Chandel, 2008), which may or may not be dependent upon mitochondrial ROS. Within other cell types HIF signalling and AMPK regulate the interaction between mitophagy and glycolysis. Cellular AMP accumulates with bioenergetic stress and is detected by AMPK, which in synergy with growth signal integrating mTOR (Papandreou et al., 2006; Semenza et al., 1994; Zhang et al., 2007) regulates mitochondrial biogenesis (Jäger et al., 2007). HIF-1 regulates cellular oxygen consumption, in part through the promotion of glycolysis and inhibition of mitochondrial biogenesis and function. Healthy volunteer endotoxin experiments reveal a reduction in leukocyte ATP that is associated with simultaneous decline in AMPK and increase in autophagy (Haimovich et al., 2014; Z. Zhang et al., 2010)) at very low doses of endotoxin that are insufficient to cause a SIRS response.

These two models support a mechanistic role for mitochondrial ROS in the regulation of the respiratory burst. ROS are not only injurious, but at lower concentrations mediate signal transduction for a diverse range of cellular functions, where specific redox reactions within target proteins causes a change in shape and function (Dröge, 2002). There are many possible targets which could impact upon the respiratory burst function beyond HIF signalling e.g. NADPH oxidase assembly and function, inflammatory cytokine binding (Davidson et al., 2013; Segal et al., 2010), or regulation of associated cellular processes such as NADPH production. Alternatively, the increase in mitochondrial ROS may not be directly related and could be on feature of a wider mitochondrial impairment. For example, maintenance of mitochondrial membrane potential is necessary for calcium/potassium transport and calcium homeostasis (Graier et al., 2007), and respiratory burst is a calcium dependent process. Calcium flux through the VDAC family of mitochondrial membrane proteins is critical to ROS production, and inhibition of VDAC causes a reduction in mitochondrial ROS (Colombini, 2004).

While human neutrophils are traditionally considered to be solely glycolytic, the experiments which determined this were all performed within healthy, non-inflamed, human subjects. Perhaps the bioenergetic profiles of neutrophils during established inflammatory responses differ to healthy circulating counterparts. Indeed, some of these studies have reported a change in neutrophil ATP balance following the addition of respiratory complex inhibitors (Minakami, 1968; Sbarra and Karnovsky, 1959). Therefore, it is possible that mitochondrial dysfunction may impair postoperative neutrophil immune function through by limiting the supply of ATP.

5.4.3 Strengths and weaknesses

Comorbid disease, age and therapeutic interventions are associated with altered mitochondrial function, and may confound experimental observations without the selection of an appropriately matched control population. This study used patients matched preoperative and postoperative samples, so that each test sample could be compared to its own, individualised preoperative control sample. Theoretically this allows the effect of the experimental insult – surgery and anaesthesia – to be individually isolated from baseline

variations in immune function. However, it remains possible that specific comorbidities or medications may interact with perioperative insult differently, therefore it is not possible to expand the results of individual assays to the wider surgical population. Since different assays were performed in different patients, it is not possible to generalise observations into a universal postoperative phenotype. Samples were taken within the same postoperative window that was associated with impairment of neutrophil function described in Chapter 4.

Assays of mitochondrial function were performed in whole blood whenever possible to minimise processing artefacts. The fluorescent probes used have been extensively characterised by other investigators, and are generally agreed to be the most specific available. Visualisation with confocal microscopy would identify the specific subcellular location of fluorescent signals, and may help determine whether ROS signals were coming from mitochondria or other cytoplasmic sources, such as resting NOX/PHOX activity.

The two in vitro models of oxidative stress both support the hypothesis for mitochondrial ROS regulating the postoperative neutrophil phenotype, with each demonstrating an increase in baseline ROS with a decrease in the respiratory burst/activated cell ROS production, through different mitochondrial insults. Pharmacological inhibition of respiratory complex III within preoperative cells profoundly inhibits the respiratory burst. The redox characteristics of DMSO differentiated and undifferentiated HL-60 cells mirror those of postoperative and preoperative human neutrophils respectively.

Taken together, these models reproduce the redox relationship between resting and activated/respiratory burst neutrophils to that found in perioperative samples. Specific limitations of each model should be considered. Mitochondrial inhibitor experiments could only be incubated for short periods of time (30 minutes), due to the fragility of isolated incubated neutrophils – the rate of apoptosis within freshly isolated neutrophils was 70% at this time point. The transition of priming to depression of the respiratory burst as Myxothiazol dose increased from 1uM to 10uM suggests a critical dose exists, beyond which ROS scavenging mechanisms become overwhelmed and lipid peroxidation ensues with ROS amplification. While undifferentiated HL60 cells have been shown to contain functional PHOX machinery (Muranaka et al., 2005), it is possible that the quantity of PHOX present is very much less in undifferentiated as compared to DMSO differentiated cells, and that this is responsible for the reduced burst responses, rather than tonic activity of resting cellular ROS levels.

Further corroborative evidence could not be provided through manipulation of HL-60 ROS levels – attempts to augment and scavenge HL-60 ROS and alter respiratory burst function produced opposite results to those expected. The addition of MitoTEMPO increased baseline mitochondrial ROS in undifferentiated cells, which may possibly be explained by complex interactions between oxidative and reductive complexes with MitoTEMPO, or by non-specific cellular location or molecular targets of the probes and antioxidants used.

5.4.4 Conclusions

I. Whole blood postoperative neutrophil mitochondria possess a hyperpolarised mitochondrial membrane potential and have greater levels of mitochondrial ROS than matched preoperative samples.

2. Increased resting mitochondrial ROS may impair the neutrophil respiratory burst.

Chapter 6 – Neutrophil pyruvate kinase and perioperative respiratory burst

6.1 Introduction

Investigations into the regulation of the neutrophil respiratory burst have largely focussed upon the phosphorylation and assembly of PHOX subunits (Segal, 2005). However, substrate level control is also plausible because of the dramatic changes in neutrophil metabolism which accompany the respiratory burst. Pyruvate kinase, a rate limiting step of neutrophil glycolysis (Fauth et al., 1993), is upregulated within neutrophils during inflammatory responses (Oehler et al., 2000) and the isoform expressed within human neutrophils is subject to redox regulation (Kechemir et al., 1989). Having demonstrated a plausible relationship between resting neutrophil ROS and activated neutrophil respiratory burst within Chapter 5, Chapter 6 will explore whether oxidative inhibition of the glycolytic enzyme pyruvate kinase regulates the human postoperative respiratory burst by limiting the supply of NADPH substrate

Granulocytes may utilise both exogenous glucose and intracellular glycogen (Weisdorf et al., 1982). Neutrophil activation promotes glucose uptake by MAP Kinase/HIF- α driven translocation Glucose Transport I (GLUTI) – responsible for passive/constitutive uptake of glucose (Carruthers, 1990) to the cell surface (Schuster et al., 2007), while exogenous glucose, up to a plateau of 10mmol/L, increases both the PMA respiratory burst and lactate production (Oehler et al., 2000; Schuster et al., 2007; Tan et al., 1998).

The principal substrate of respiratory burst is NADPH, synthesised through the hexose monophosphate shunt (Figure 1.4). G6PDH regulates the entry of glucose substrate into the hexose monophosphate shunt, and within murine stem cells G6PDH activity is regulated by NADPH:NAD (Filosa et al., 2003). The G6PDH inhibitor dehydroepiandrosterone abolishes the PMA stimulated respiratory burst plus associated glucose consumption (Bender and Van Epps, 1985; Oehler et al., 2000), but leaves other processes such as chemotaxis unaffected (Bender and Van Epps, 1985). Neutrophils have a six-fold higher expression of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase than lymphocytes (Beck, 1958).

The hexose monophosphate shunt competes directly with glycolysis for glucose-6phosphate (Fig 1.3). Fluorometric analysis of glycolytic mass action ratios within human and guinea pig neutrophils has identified that the enzymes hexokinase, phosphofructokinase and pyruvate kinase are the rate limiting steps (Beck, 1958; Minakami, 1968). These guinea pig neutrophils were harvested from a chemical peritonitis model, meaning they are primed/activated cells and may therefore be of greater relevance to human postoperative neutrophil investigations. By contrast, many studies into neutrophil metabolic control have been performed within animal and cell line models which do not address the changes that occur during established inflammation.

Several human genomic investigations of human leukocytes have identified a rapid change in expression of genes related to metabolic processes, with upregulation of glycolytic and downregulation of mitochondrial genes (Fessler et al., 2002; Malcolm et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2004). Furthermore, the addition of low doses of endotoxin to human volunteers promotes cellular metabolic changes without an increase in circulating cytokine levels, underlining the importance of metabolic reprogramming during inflammation (Haimovich et al., 2014). Within a series of trauma patients an increase in respiratory burst from day I which peaked at day 5 was accompanied by similar increases in pyruvate kinase protein expression and activity (Oehler et al., 2000). Collectively these genomic, proteomic and metabolic investigations suggest that pyruvate kinase is upregulated during pro-inflammatory responses, and is a rate limiting step in the formation of NADPH (Fig 1.4).

Pyruvate kinase is composed of up to four subunits which combine to form three distinct isoforms and whose expression is tissue specific. The different isoforms share several regulatory mechanisms, including the phosphorylation and allosteric modulation of subunit shape that determines the transition from inactive dimers to active heterodimers. For example, binding of fructose 1,6 bisphosphate, to a series of tyrosine (tyr) residues favours heterodimer formation ('feed forward regulation') (Mazurek et al., 2005), while phosphorylation of tyr105 prevents fructose 1,6 bisphosphate from binding (Hitosugi et al., 2009). Conversely, ATP acts as a negative allosteric regulator. The tetramer must disassemble for subunits to alter their function.

In addition to these shared regulatory mechanisms of all pyruvate kinase isoforms the PKM2 isoform of pyruvate kinase is also sensitive to oxidative regulation. Diverse types of cancer cells share a common metabolic phenotype termed the Warburg effect, where glycolytic activity is increased and mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation depressed. This metabolic phenotype maintains ATP production while simultaneously increasing flow to the hexose monophosphate shunt, generating NADPH for glutathione antioxidant pathway, and ribose sugars for cell cycle progression / anabolism. PKM2 has also been identified in neutrophils (Kechemir et al., 1989).

Physiological concentrations of specific oxidative products – including O_2^- and H_2O_2 – may interact with a host of cellular signalling cascades and metabolic processes (Dröge, 2002; Janssen-Heininger et al., 2008; Jones, 2008). Cysteine residues are particularly susceptible to oxidation, and dimerise via a disulphide bridge to form cystine (McDonagh et al., 2009) (Fig1.2). PKM2 is inhibited by oxidation at cys358 within the catalytic site, which diverts glucose-6-phosphate to hexose monophosphate shunt (Mazurek et al., 2005, 2002). Transgenic substitution of PKM2 Cys358 for Ser358 renders the enzyme insensitive to ROS inhibition and impairs tumour growth (Anastasiou et al., 2012). Oxidative control of pyruvate kinase orthologs is widely preserved between species (Cumming et al., 2004; Maeba and Sanwal, 1968; McDonagh et al., 2009) .

DASA10 is a small molecular activator of PKM2 Cys358 that may be used to investigate redox regulation of PKM2. DASA10 is a substituted N, N diarylsulfonamide which prevents oxidative H_2O_2 inhibition of PKM2 Cys358, preserving heterodimerisation and increasing baseline function 2.8-fold (Anastasiou et al., 2012). The DASA10 compound must be applied before the ROS insult in order to provide protection (Anastasiou et al., 2012), because subunit reassembly prevents access the regulatory site.

Since neutrophils also express the PKM2 (Kechemir et al., 1989) isoform of pyruvate kinase, the neutrophil hexose monophosphate shunt may be subject to redox regulation in a manner similar to cancer cells. Redox regulation of PKM2 may therefore be a key regulator of postoperative neutrophil metabolism and innate immunity.

6.1.1 Hypothesis

Oxidative inhibition of the glycolytic enzyme pyruvate kinase determines postoperative impairment of respiratory burst by limiting supply of NADPH substrate.

6.1.2 Aims

1. To describe perioperative resting and activated neutrophil glucose uptake and glycolytic activity.

2. To determine how preservation of pyruvate kinase activity with DASA affects the perioperative respiratory burst.

3. To determine whether DASA may prevent oxidative stress induced inhibition of the respiratory burst.

6.2 Methods

Patient sample collection, laboratory techniques and protocols are described in General Methods.

6.2.1 Perioperative neutrophil glucose uptake

The effect of extracellular glucose concentration upon the respiratory burst was determined by comparing the PMA stimulated respiratory burst of isolated neutrophils in the absence, or presence, of glucose 10mM in preoperative samples.

Next, whole blood neutrophil glycolytic activity was determined at rest, following PMA activation and under oxidative stress (Myxothiazol 10 μ M). Briefly, PMA and Myxothiazol were added for 10 minutes each, and all samples incubated for an equal amount of time overall. Whole blood glucose, lactate, pH and ionised calcium were measured using Radiometer ABL800 Flex blood gas analyser.

Perioperative glucose uptake was similarly determined at rest, following PMA activation and after addition of Myxothiazol 10µM using the fluorescent glucose analog 2-NBDG.

6.2.2 Redox regulation of pyruvate kinase

The effect of PMK2 small molecule activator DASA upon neutrophil redox status and glycolysis was determined in whole blood. DASA was prepared in DMSO vehicle. DASA (100µM) was added immediately before each assay was performed. Resting oxidative stress and PMA stimulated respiratory burst were quantified with Rhodamine-123, as previously described, and extracellular glucose and lactate concentrations measured with Radiometer ABL800 Flex blood gas analyser. DASA respiratory burst experiments were then repeated within paired preoperative and postoperative samples.

The capacity for DASA to maintain neutrophil respiratory burst in the presence of a subsequent oxidative challenge was then assessed. Since application of Myxothiazol (10μ M) to isolated neutrophils for 10 minutes was shown to reduce the respiratory burst (Chapter 5), this dose was chosen. Dose response experiments with DASA were performed in the isolated neutrophil system, and a 10μ M dose was shown to increase respiratory burst by a similar magnitude as 100μ M dose in whole blood system. Isolated neutrophils were incubated with DASA 10 μ M for 10 minutes, prior to addition of myxothiazol for 10 minutes and resting plus PMA activated responses recorded.

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Patient characteristics

Assay	Total	Age	Male	Surgical speciality							Patient
	number	(median,	(n, [%])	(n, [%])							study
		[IQR])								source	
		(years)									
				Hepato-	Gynae-	Urology	Maxillo-	Gastro-	Ortho-	Breast	
				biliary	cology		facial	intestinal	paediacs		
Glucose + PMA + DHR	7	60	5 [71]	2 [29]	-	I [I4]	-	3 [43]	[4]	-	VISION
Fig 6.1 AB		(54-64.5)									
Myxothiazol: blood	5	71	2 [40]	-	-	2 [40]	-	I [20]	2 [40]	-	VISION
glucose, lactate and pH		(69-73)									
Fig 6.1 CDE											
2-NBDG dose response	2	61,71	I [50]	-	-	I [50]	-	-	I [50]	-	VISION
Fig 6.2 A											
2-NBDG + PMA	5	63	5 [20]	-	-	I [20]	-	I [20]	3 [60]	-	VISION
(Preop-PODI) Fig 6.2 BC		(56-69)									
2-NBDG +	4	61	3 [75]	-	-	2 [50]	-	2 [50]	-	-	VISION
Rotenone/Myxothiazol		(53-68)									
Fig 6.2 DE											
DASA + DHR	8	59	3 [38]	I [I3]	-	-	-	5 [63]	2 [25]	-	VISION
Fig 6.3 A		(53-62)									

DASA + PMA + DHR	8	59	3 [38]	[3]	-	-	-	5 [63]	2 [25]	-	VISION
Fig 6.3 BC		(53-62)									
DASA + PMA:	5	71	2 [40]	-	-	2 [40]	-	I [20]	2 [40]	-	VISION
Blood glucose & lactate		(69-73)									
Fig 6.3 DE											
DASA + PMA/E.coli	5	71	2 [40]	-	-	2 [40]	-	I [20]	2 [40]	-	VISION
+ DHR		(69-73)									
(preop-PODI)											
Fig 6.4 ABCD											
DASA 100µM ± PMA	4	66	I [25]	-	I [25]	2 [50]	-	I [25]	-	-	VISION
+ DHR		(62-74)									
Fig 6.5 AB											
DASA 10µM ± PMA	5	65	3 [60]	I [20]	I [20]	2 [40]	-	-	I [20]	-	VISION
+ DHR		(58-65)									
Fig 6.6 CDF											
DASA 10µM + CD16	10	63	6 [60]	I [10]	I [10]	2 [20]	-	I [10]	5 [50]	-	VISION
		(57-67)									
DASA 10µM ±	5	71	2 [40]	-	-	2 [40]	-	I [20]	2 [40]	-	VISION
Myxothiazol + DHR		(69-73)									

Table 6.1 Characteristics of the patients for Chapter 6 experimental assays.

6.3.2 Perioperative neutrophil glucose uptake

Figures 6.1 and 6.2 suggest that the neutrophil respiratory burst uses extracellular glucose as a metabolic substrate, supporting similar observations from other authors (Oehler et al., 2000; Tan et al., 1998). Specifically, the presence of extracellular glucose increases the respiratory burst (Fig6.1A,B) and PMA neutrophil activation promotes a fall in extracellular glucose concentration (Fig 6.1C) plus increased transportation of the fluorescent glucose analog 2-NBDG (Fig6.2B). Extracellular lactate concentrations were unchanged. The induction of oxidative stress with Myxothiazol 10µM did not alter resting or activated neutrophil glucose uptake, but did increase extracellular lactate concentration and reduce extracellular pH (Fig6.1 D,E).

Having established that the respiratory burst utilises extracellular glucose, next I investigated whether glucose uptake differed between preoperative and postoperative neutrophil preparations. The fluorescent glucose analog 2-NBDG has been widely used to investigate glucose uptake in a diverse range of cell types (Gandhi et al., 2009; Yamada et al., 2007). Dose response experiments demonstrated that IµM 2-NBDG provided optimal fluorescence conditions for FACS analysis (Fig 6.2 A); 2-NBDG is intensely fluorescent and saturated the detector at higher concentrations. Postoperative resting and PMA activated 2-NBDG were increased when compared to preoperative control samples (Fig 6.2 B,C).

In chapter 5 I demonstrated that Rotenone 10μ M (respiratory complex I inhibitor) primed the respiratory burst and Myxothiazol 10μ M (respiratory complex III inhibitor) inhibited it. Here, the addition of rotenone and myxothiazol to neutrophil preparations did not affect resting neutrophil glucose uptake (Fig 6.2 D,E).

211



Figure 6.1 Glycolytic profile of neutrophils at rest, following PMA activation and under myxothiazol 10µM redox stress.

AB Typical plot and population data for PMA stimulated respiratory burst following the addition of extracellular glucose to isolated granulocytes, suspended in phosphate-buffered saline. Glucose added immediately before burst assay. Wilcoxon matched pairs test used. C D E Change in whole blood extracellular glucose/lactate/pH following the addition of Myxothiazol and PMA activation. Assays performed simultaneously on each test sample using Radiometer ABL 800 blood gas analysed. Myxothiazol incubations for 30 minutes, PMA incubations for 10minutes. The total incubation times were all identical.



Figure 6.2 Neutrophil uptake of glucose analog 2-NBDG following surgery and addition of respiratory complex inhibitors.

Isolated neutrophils used throughout. 2-NBDG was added for 10 minutes and incubated at 37°C, then washed twice and resuspended in PBS. A. Dose response experiment to find optimal concentration of 2-NBDG. B C Perioperative change in 2-NBDG in resting and PMA activated granulocytes. D E The effect of Rotenone and Myxothiazol upon resting granulocyte uptake of 2-NBDG. Cells were incubated with Rotenone/Myxothiazol for 30 minutes prior to addition of 2-NBDG.

6.3.3 DASA stimulation of pyruvate kinase.

DASA is a highly specific molecule which both prevents the oxidative inhibition of, and activates, PKM2. The addition of small molecule activator DASA increased whole blood PMA respiratory burst without affecting baseline ROS production (Fig 6.3 A,B,C) or extracellular glucose concentration (Fig 6.3 D).



whole blood respiratory burst and glycolytic profile.

DASA was added immediately before each assay – no additional incubation time. A Baseline ROS production following addition of DASA 100 μ M. B PMA stimulated respiratory burst following addition of DASA 100 μ M. C D Extracellular glucose and lactate concentration following addition of DASA and PMA, Wilcoxon matched pairs test used. Here, whole blood samples were incubated with DASA for 10 minutes and PMA for 10 minutes. Total incubation times the same. Next, paired preoperative and postoperative whole blood respiratory burst responses were compared in the presence of DASA. DASA consistently increased preoperative but not postoperative PMA (Fig 6.4 A,B) and E. coli burst responses (Fig 6.4 C,D).



Figure 6.4. Perioperative effect of DASA 100µM upon whole blood PMA and E. coli stimulated respiratory burst.

DASA 100 μ M was added immediately before each burst assay – no additional incubation time. A B C The effect of DASA upon perioperative PMA stimulated respiratory burst; (A) typical plot, (B) fold-change in respiratory burst, = MFI_{PMA}/MFI_{resting} C D The effect of DASA upon perioperative E. coli stimulated respiratory burst, = MFI_{E. coli}/MFI_{resting}.

6.3.4 DASA reversal of Myxothiazol mediated respiratory burst inhibition

DASA must be added to PKM2 prior to oxidative challenge for oxidative protection (Anastasiou et al., 2012), which has been explained through conformational change and access to relevant allosteric site. Therefore, the ability of DASA to augment preoperative, but not postoperative respiratory burst suggests that postoperative PKM2 may be subject to oxidative inhibition. In chapter 5, I demonstrated that Myxothiazol causes an increase in baseline neutrophil ROS and impairs the respiratory burst. Therefore, I tested the hypothesis that preincubation of resting preoperative neutrophils with DASA could prevent the Myxothiazol driven inhibition of the respiratory burst.

My investigations have shown that myxothiazol works reliably within isolated neutrophil preparations, but not within whole blood (Chapter 5). Therefore, I began by testing the effects of DASA within an isolated system. DASA 100μ M – as used in whole blood experiments above – reduced the PMA burst (Fig 6.5 A,B). However, subsequent resting with a lower dose, DASA 10μ M, increased the PMA burst (Fig 6.5 C,D,E), similar to whole blood experiments above.

Isolated neutrophils were then incubated with DASA 10 μ M for 10 minutes prior to addition of Myxothiazol 10 μ M and characterisation of respiratory burst responses. Neither preincubation with DASA 10 μ M or 100 μ M preserved the PMA respiratory burst in the presence of Myxothiazol (Fig 6.6).


Figure 6.5 The effect of DASA upon isolated granulocyte <u>PMA stimulated respiratory burst.</u>

Paired t-test used throughout. DASA was added immediately before each assay – no additional incubation time. A B The effect of DASA 100 μ M upon resting (A) ROS production and (B) PMA stimulated respiratory burst. C D E F The effect of DASA 10 μ M upon (A) resting ROS production, (B) cell surface CD16 expression (C, D) typical plot and population data for PMA stimulated respiratory burst.



Figure 6.6 The effect of preincubation with DASA upon myxothiazol mediated inhibition of the PMA stimulated respiratory burst in isolated granulocytes.

DASA added for 10 minutes, Myxothiazol for 30minutes and PMA for 10 minutes. Total incubation times were all identical. A DASA $10\mu M$. B DASA $100\mu M$.

6.4 Discussion

6.4.1 Key Findings

1. The magnitude of the neutrophil respiratory burst is partly determined by the availability of metabolic substrate. PMA activation promoted a fall in the concentration of extracellular glucose and an increase in the intracellular transport of the fluorescent glucose analog 2-NBDG within isolated neutrophil preparations, supporting findings from other authors that suggest activated neutrophils utilise extracellular glucose (Oehler et al., 2000; Tan et al., 1998). Isolated neutrophil preparations demonstrated a greater PMA respiratory burst in the presence of glucose 10mM, although the recording of measurable burst responses in the absence of extracellular glucose suggests that both intracellular and extracellular glucose reserves are used during neutrophil activation.

Together, these data suggest that the availability of extracellular metabolic substrate, and consequently competition between glycolysis and hexose-monophosphate shunt for glucose-6-phosphate, may affect the magnitude of the respiratory burst.

2. Resting and PMA activated postoperative neutrophils demonstrate increased 2-NBDG uptake when compared to paired preoperative

controls. These data suggest either an increase in baseline metabolic rate, or a reduction in intracellular glucose reserves, within postoperative neutrophils. The divergence between this increase in glucose uptake and the previously identified reduction in postoperative respiratory burst would support an increase in resting neutrophil substrate use.

3. The PKM2 activator DASA consistently increased the preoperative neutrophil respiratory burst. DASA is a highly specific molecule which activates the PKM2 isoform of pyruvate kinase but not the more common PKM1. These data suggest that PKM2 activity may regulate the respiratory burst, supporting findings from trauma patient neutrophils (Oehler et al., 2000).

4. DASA does not consistently increase the postoperative neutrophil

respiratory burst. These data suggest that the postoperative metabolic profile and regulation of respiratory burst is different to preoperative cells. Since DASA can only prevent, but not reverse, oxidative inhibition of PKM2, this finding supports the hypothesis that raised resting oxidative stress within postoperative cells is responsible for inhibition of the respiratory burst. Alternatively, postoperative neutrophils may contain an additional rate limiting step which leaves them unaffected by DASA stimulation.

5. DASA cannot prevent Myxothiazol 10µM / ROS induced impairment of the respiratory burst within isolated neutrophils. These data do not support the hypothesis that postoperative oxidative inhibition of PKM2 is responsible for the impaired respiratory burst. However, as described in chapter 5, this short-term Myxothiazol ROS model is not completely consistent with the postoperative phenotype, and that these differences may be responsible for the observed DASA resistance.

6.4.2 Interpretation of key findings

These experiments have identified several differences within the perioperative metabolic responses of neutrophils which are associated with functional changes in neutrophil immune function. The preoperative neutrophil respiratory burst is consistently increased in the presence of DASA, a highly specific small molecule activator of PKM2. By contrast, postoperative neutrophils are often resistant to DASA and demonstrate increased glucose uptake at rest and when activated.

DASA activates and prevents oxidative inhibition of the PKM2 isoform. Therefore, the ability of DASA to increase the respiratory burst in preoperative neutrophils suggests that the neutrophil respiratory burst may be subject to metabolic (glycolytic) regulation.

DASA was specifically designed to investigate the role of PKM2 regulation within cancer cells. Within my experiments, the effect of DASA upon metabolic flux in neutrophils appears to be opposite to that in lung cancer cells. Within cancer cells DASA activation of PKM2 reduces NADPH synthesis by increasing flow through glycolysis. Here, within neutrophils DASA appears to increase flux through the hexose monophosphate shunt because the respiratory burst is increased, which implies an increase in NADPH formation.

These divergent results within neutrophil and cancer cells may be explained by differences in the outflow of hexose monophosphate shunt between terminally differentiated neutrophils and highly anabolic cancer cells. In cancer cells the carbon skeletons from hexose monophosphate shunt may form ribose sugars thereby supporting nucleotide synthesis and ultimately promote cell cycle progression. However, within neutrophils these carbon skeleton return to glycolysis proximal to pyruvate kinase (Figure 1.4), supported by the reported increase in neutrophil lactate production which follows PMA activation (Oehler et al., 2000).

The relative resistance of postoperative neutrophils to DASA supports the presence of oxidised PKM2 within postoperative cells, since it is established that DASA prevents, but cannot reverse, oxidative inhibition within the PKM2 isoform (Anastasiou et al., 2012). Therefore, beyond the specific established allosteric regulators of pyruvate kinase function by both immediate and distant substrates and products, these data support an additional regulatory mechanism, whereby resting neutrophil oxidative stress may act as a transducer to regulate activated cell immune effector mechanisms.

221

Since DASA may prevent but not reverse oxidative inhibition of PKM2, I attempted to prevent Myxothiazol mediated inhibition of the respiratory burst through the prior addition of DASA. However, DASA did not prevent Myxothiazol induce inhibition of the respiratory burst within this model. Although this observation does not support the hypothesis for oxidative regulation of PKM2 within neutrophils, limitations within the experimental model may also be responsible. In earlier experiments, I found that Myxothiazol 10µM increased apoptosis as well as impairing the respiratory burst. Therefore, apoptotic demands for ATP may limit flux through pentose phosphate pathway. Alternatively, the ROS generation within this Myxothiazol model may overwhelm physiological buffering, consume NADPH through glutathione and cause non-specific lipid peroxidation and cellular injury.

Cellular metabolism is subject to complex regulatory processes, with multiple steps that involve substrate availability, feedback inhibition and compartmentalisation (Srere, 1994), that are difficult to fully replicate in vitro. There are alternative explanations for these postoperative experimental observations. These include the development of an alternative rate determining step within the formation of NADPH, competition for NADPH and an inability to utilise NADPH.

The rate determining step maybe competition for glucose-6-phosphate between glycolysis and the hexose monophosphate shunt. Together, observations of DASA resistance and increased glucose uptake suggest an increased rate of cellular ATP consumption. Alternatively, postoperative mitochondrial dysfunction may place an increased demand on less efficient glycolytic ATP production – if mitochondria do indeed make a meaningful contribution to (postoperative) neutrophil ATP production.

Increased glucose uptake has been reported in neutrophils from trauma patients (Oehler et al., 2000). These observations would also be compatible with a population of immature circulating neutrophils. Data from a HL60 model found increased Glucose-6-Phosphate Dehydrogenase and hexose monophosphate shunt activity within DMSO differentiated cells when compared to undifferentiated cells (Ahmed et al., 1993). Alternatively, partially activated postoperative cells may have depleted glycogen reserves. In these settings glycolysis is already running at maximal capacity to meet the raised metabolic demands of these cells, providing the additional rate limiting step described above.

222

NADPH is required for other cellular processes beyond the neutrophil respiratory burst, such as the maintenance of glutathione – an important antioxidant pathway. The presence of increased postoperative resting oxidative stress is compatible with increased glutathione turnover. Therefore, the failure of DASA to increase the respiratory burst DASA may be explained by competition for NADPH. Finally, the PHOX function may be impaired such that it is insensitive to increases in NADPH. Again, immature precursors may have insufficient amounts of PHOX – a hypothesis supported by HL-60 data comparing PHOX content of undifferentiated promyelocytes and DMSO differentiated cells (Ahmed et al., 1993) - although other regulatory processes that alter enzyme function may also be responsible.

This study supports the more extensive observational literature concerning the genomic responses that occur within the circulating leukocyte transcriptome from humans with systemic inflammation, which collectively report an upregulation of glycolytic, and down regulation of mitochondrial genes (Calvano et al., 2005; Xiao et al., 2011). Healthy volunteer experiments have revealed how low dose endotoxin challenge – at doses insufficient to promote release of systemic cytokines – are associated with altered expression of metabolic genes (Haimovich et al., 2014). Taken with the mechanistic data from this study, these observations support the concept of metabolic regulation of neutrophil immune function.

6.4.3 Strengths and weaknesses

This study identified metabolic differences in postoperative neutrophils when compared to matched preoperative control samples. Paired sampling is important because comorbid disease, age and therapeutic interventions may affect neutrophil metabolism. By using individually matched control samples, the direct effect of these premorbid factors upon the experimental signal can be minimised. However, how these premorbid factors interact with surgery/anaesthesia remains unknown. Since all assays were not performed in the same patients, it is not possible to extrapolate the study findings to a universal postoperative phenotype.

These postoperative data extend the literature concerning metabolic function of human neutrophils during established inflammation, since most human data has been obtained from healthy volunteers – including the widely accepted fluorometric data describing the rate limiting steps of neutrophil glycolysis. My findings suggest a shared regulatory mechanism with cancer cells, which adds to the wider literature describing similarities between cancer cell biology and inflammatory processes (Hotchkiss et al., 2014).

Whole blood samples were used where possible, including for preoperative and postoperative DASA experiments. DASA is a highly specific activator molecule, widely investigated and published within cancer literature and considered to act solely upon PKM2. Therefore, its ability to manipulate neutrophil function at the same doses used within the cancer literature directly supports the presence of PKM2 within neutrophils. Nonetheless, as with any drug therapy, alternative off-target effects may be responsible. Some authors have proposed that 2NBDG may become metabolised to a non-fluorescent colour (Yamada et al., 2007), however the experiments in this study compared different treatments over identical time periods, therefore these differences should be controlled for.

The complex nature of metabolic networks makes the interpretation of relatively isolated experimental results challenging, and are compounded by the modest evidence base describing metabolic profiles of human neutrophils from humans with active inflammation. Assuming DASA is acting upon PKM2, the data presented within this chapter may be explained by either the presence of oxidised PKM2 within postoperative samples, or alternatively by the presence of an additional rate determining step. These two explanations may be differentiated by measuring the rates of glycolysis and hexose monophosphate shunt reactions within preoperative and postoperative samples, as originally performed in resting cells in the 1960s and 1970s using fluorometric measurement techniques (Beck, 1958; Minakami, 1968).

224

6.4.4 Conclusions

1. The metabolic profile of postoperative neutrophils is different to their matched preoperative counterparts, and may include increased resting glucose uptake.

2. The glycolytic enzyme PKM2 may be involved in the regulation of the neutrophil respiratory burst and may be subject to postoperative oxidative inhibition by mitochondrial ROS.

Chapter 7 – Discussion

7.1 Introduction

This thesis has demonstrated how the study of patients undergoing major elective surgery may provide a translational model of human sepsis. This surgical model provides the methodological advantages of laboratory research within human subjects. Ex-vivo assays may therefore be performed in a controlled manner using human tissues and cells. Surgical patients receive a relatively homogenous inflammatory insult at a known time, permitting the collection of individualised pre-insult control samples and precisely timed post-insult samples.

Using the surgical model, this thesis has identified impairments of neutrophil immune and metabolic function on postoperative day two. These impairments had improved by postoperative day five, and may predispose to the development of postoperative infections, non-infective complications and chronic, non-resolving inflammation.

Two different laboratory models of mitochondrial oxidative stress reproduced key features of the postoperative functional immune impairment. The most notable immune defect was a reduction in the neutrophil respiratory burst, a process which consumes NADPH that is supplied by the hexose monophosphate shunt. Substrate flow through hexose monophosphate shunt and glycolysis are intrinsically linked, and a key glycolytic regulatory enzyme was identified as a possible target for this mitochondrial redox signal. Chemical manipulation of PKM2 function reproduced many features of the perioperative immune phenotype.

7.2 Summary of key findings

- 1. Major elective surgery may provide a translational model of human sepsis which overcomes many of the methodological challenges of sepsis studies. Most translational sepsis studies in humans do not use all the information available to determine whether infection is present, and employ control groups whose baseline immunological profiles are dramatically different to the study population. By contrast, patients undergoing major elective surgery are extensively phenotyped and receive a planned and relatively homogenous inflammatory insult - provided specific enrolment criteria are used. Consequently, each patient may act as their own preoperative control and measurements/blood sampling may occur at specified postinsult time points, facilitating accurate interrogation of dynamic inflammatory processes. Highly conserved genomic and metabolic responses to DAMP and PAMP signals provide biological plausibility to this model.
- 2. The neutrophil respiratory burst is impaired on postoperative day two, when the circulating white cell counting is increased. Whole blood and isolated neutrophil investigations revealed a significant reduction in respiratory burst following activation with clinically relevant E. coli bacteria and PMA, a potent activator of Protein Kinase C. Neutrophil cell surface CD16 was significantly reduced on postoperative day two, compatible with diminished phagocytosis. These defects had begun to improve by postoperative day five.
- 3. Postoperative neutrophil mitochondria may have impaired functionality. Postoperative neutrophil mitochondria are hyperpolarised, and liberate increased amounts of superoxide.
- 4. Mitochondrial dysfunction may be mechanistically responsible for the impairment of postoperative neutrophil effector function. Two distinct models of mitochondrial dysfunction that increased ROS production both down

regulated the respiratory burst. Mitochondria may therefore act as inflammatory signal transducers, with mitochondrial ROS acting upon cytoplasmic targets to regulate the respiratory burst.

5. Mitochondrial ROS may regulate the respiratory burst by limiting the supply of NADPH substrate, through oxidative inhibition of pyruvate kinase M2. Pyruvate kinase is a rate limiting step in neutrophils isolated from human healthy volunteers and from peritoneal fluid of guinea pigs with peritonitis. Within cancer cell biology PKM2 function is an established regulatory mechanism that determines flux through glycolysis and the hexose monophosphate shunt. The PKM2 small molecule activator DASA - which can activate non-oxidised PKM2 - increased the preoperative but not postoperative respiratory burst.

7.3 Translational relevance of results

7.3.1 The surgical model of inflammation

Decades of translational critical care research has failed to deliver a single immunomodulatory agent that has been reliably demonstrated to improve clinical outcome (Angus et al., 2000; Lehmann et al., 2014; Ranieri et al., 2012; Rimmer et al., 2012; Sprung et al., 2008). This thesis has identified several challenges to the rational design and of sepsis studies, including uncertainties surrounding diagnosis, sample timing to the index insult and the identification of appropriate control populations. Therefore, translational investigations of sepsis are maybe being performed within patients who have not been reliably demonstrated to have an infection, and comparisons made to control groups whose baseline immunological status may be very different to the study population.

The importance of comparing paired preoperative control samples with carefully timed postoperative samples is underlined by the data presented within chapters 4 to 6, which describes the perioperative neutrophil immune and metabolic phenotype. The variation in baseline immune function and the specific time window during which functional impairment occurs mean these experimental signals would have been missed if all the postoperative samples were grouped together and compared to a separate and poorly defined control population, as can happen during sepsis studies.

Biological plausibility of the surgical model is provided by studies that have shown how similar human inflammatory responses to traumatic and infective injury are at genomic (Haimovich et al., 2014; Xiao et al., 2011), molecular (Matzinger, 1994), local and systemic (Matzinger, 1994; Seong and Matzinger, 2004) levels. This surgical model would not replace the use of animal models during early investigations, nor the need for pragmatic effectiveness studies of novel therapies within critically unwell patients. What the surgical model offers is a translational bridge between these two extremes, providing the methodological advantages of laboratory studies within a human immune environment.

7.3.2 Postoperative neutrophil immune impairment (tolerance)

This thesis has revealed that patients undergoing major elective surgery have an impaired neutrophil respiratory burst on postoperative day two, which has begun to improve by postoperative day five, as well as a down regulation of CD16 receptors which mediate the recognition and phagocytosis of pathogenic microorganisms. The magnitude of respiratory burst depression is similar to that found in patients with alcoholic hepatitis superimposed upon cirrhosis (Mookerjee et al., 2007). Therefore, the nature, magnitude and timing of this functional impairment make it a plausible candidate for development of infectious and non-infectious complications, through the following mechanisms:

7.3.2.1 Predisposition to infectious complications

Gross reductions in human neutrophil numbers, and absolute absence of the respiratory burst are associated with an increased incidence of sepsis and soft tissue infection (Anderson et al., 1985; Kuderer et al., 2006; Morgenstern et al., 1997). Similarly, within critically ill patients who are not being treated for an infection, those with diminished neutrophil burst and phagocytosis are more likely to develop a subsequent nosocomial infection (Stephan et al., 2002). Within animal models of haemorrhagic shock, neutrophil depletion increases systemic bacterial translocation (Deitch et al., 1990). Therefore, it is possible that the 90% reduction in postoperative neutrophil burst responses, and other deficits, described in chapter 4 may lead to an increased risk of postoperative infection.

Impairment of the respiratory burst will likely lead to a wider impairment of other neutrophil immune functions. The respiratory burst is not just responsible for direct killing of bacteria, but also provides the electromotive potential for optimisation and activation of granule contents and is absolutely required for the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) (Segal, 2005).

7.3.2.2 Protection from tissue damage and non-infectious complications

Postoperative neutrophil impairment may protect against non-infectious complications by limiting autotoxic neutrophil activities. Bacterial killing and removal may cause collateral tissue injury (Chollet-Martin et al., 1996; Nathens et al., 1997; Steinberg et al., 1994), and

activated neutrophils may also enter non-inflamed tissues to cause remote damage (Lowell and Berton, 1998).

Experimental blockade of neutrophil CD11b/CD18 receptor prevents neutrophil transmigration across endothelium and limits tissue oedema and injury. In contrast to endotoxin translocation data, lung injury models which include blunt chest trauma (Raghavendran et al., 2005) and 'double-hit' chest trauma plus caecal ligation and puncture (Perl et al., 2012) and lung stretch injury all report a protective effect from neutrophil depletion (Kotani et al., 2004). Similarly, neutrophil depletion protects against hepatic ischaemic reperfusion injury (Poggetti et al., 1992) and may hasten sterile wound closure (Dovi et al., 2003). Knockout of tyrosine kinase signalling – necessary for adhesion dependent activation of the respiratory burst – confers renal and hepatic protection within a murine LPS model of sepsis (Lowell and Berton, 1998). These model data are supported by observational clinical data from critically ill patients (Chollet-Martin et al., 1996; Steinberg et al., 1994).

The increased susceptibility of postoperative neutrophils to lose mitochondrial membrane potential, and therefore enter apoptosis, under conditions of stress (described in chapter 5) may confer additional protective properties. Apoptotic neutrophils downregulate expression of many proinflammatory genes, and their ingestion by macrophages favours an anti-inflammatory macrophage phenotype (Ariel et al., 2006; Fadok et al., 1998; Kobayashi et al., 2003). Injection of apoptotic neutrophils provides protection within an LPS model of inflammation (Ren et al., 2008).

7.3.2.3 Predisposition to chronic inflammation

Failure to switch off inflammation in a timely manner may lead to a non-resolving state of chronic inflammation (Fullerton et al., 2013; Lawrence and Gilroy, 2007). Data from patients with chronic granulomatous disease – who possess an absent respiratory burst – suggest that capacity to mount an adequate initial inflammatory response is necessary for the timely resolution of that response. As well as a predisposition to infection, patients with chronic granulomatous disease also develop foci of sterile inflammation, (Hampton et al., 2002; Hatanaka et al., 2004; Kasahara et al., 1997; Morgenstern et al., 1997). Neutrophils isolated from these patients demonstrate increased secretion of IL-8 (Hatanaka et al., 2004), prolonged survival (Kasahara et al., 1997) and reduced uptake by macrophages (Hampton et al., 2002). Murine models of chronic granulomatous disease demonstrate sustained and

exaggerated lung inflammation (Davidson et al., 2013; Deng et al., 2012; Schauer et al., 2014; Segal et al., 2010, 2007), as well as a predisposition to autoimmune arthritis that may be prevented through reactivation of PHOX (Hultqvist et al., 2004). Impaired NET formation may partly explain this phenomenon. The respiratory burst is necessary for formation of NETs, which act to retain inflammatory mediators, thereby preventing systemic propagation of local inflammatory responses.

7.3.3 Postoperative neutrophil metabolic dysfunction

The genomic revolution that has swept through cancer cell biology has led to an expanded understanding of gene product function, and how these products interact in complex networks to regulate cellular processes. The classification and nomenclature of these gene products has changed accordingly. It is now appreciated that many oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes actually have a primary metabolic role within non-cancerous cells (Boroughs and DeBerardinis, 2015). It follows that these metabolic changes are now considered prime movers of phenotypic change, rather than simply suppliers of metabolic products.

The concept of metabolic regulation of cellular functions may similarly revolutionise how we conceptualise inflammation, and is supported by genomic descriptions of leukocytes from trauma patients and healthy volunteers who have received endotoxin, which include a decline in mitochondrial gene expression (Calvano et al., 2005). In particular, the administration of low doses of endotoxin which are insufficient to induce measurable changes in systemic cytokine levels may promote metabolic reprogramming of circulating leukocytes, while higher doses of endotoxin promote metabolic reprogramming before classical immunological changes are evident (Haimovich et al., 2014). Activated neutrophils are highly metabolically active, therefore even modest changes in metabolic profile may have dramatic effects in function.

My experiments that postoperative neutrophil mitochondria may have impaired functionality, which would support the genomic investigations above. Specifically, postoperative mitochondria were hyperpolarised and displayed an increased production of mitochondrial ROS, the same phenotype which has been identified within neuronal mitochondria (Abramov et al., 2005, 2004).

7.3.3.1 Parallels with cancer cell metabolism: The Warburg effect

The Warburg effect describes a metabolic signature common to many cancers. The principal features are an increased rate of glycolysis, depression in the rate of oxidative phosphorylation with increased flux through the hexose monophosphate shunt (Hsu and Sabatini, 2008; Vander Heiden, M. G., Cantley, L.C., Thompson, 2009). Therefore, perioperative neutrophils demonstrating mitochondrial dysfunction in parallel with an increased rate of glucose uptake, mirrors this phenotype. It is therefore possible that other core features of Warburg metabolism may be relevant to postoperative neutrophil biology:

- PI3/Akt/mTOR pathway. Within cancer cells this promotes cellular proliferation and anabolism. In neutrophils PI3K/Akt activates a range of inflammatory transcription factors such as NF-kB, c-jun and FosB (Ratajczak-Wrona et al., 2013), and in context of Fas engagement promotes apoptosis (Alvarado-Kristensson et al., 2002).
- AMP-kinase (AMPK) activation. AMPK is activated by an increase in AMP:ATP ratio, which signals a bioenergetic debt and promotes utilisation of alternative energy sources to glucose (Winder and Hardie, 1999). Within neutrophils AMPK activation reduces TLR4 induced neutrophil activation and is protective in an LPS model of lung injury, consistent with the postoperative phenotype.
- JAK/STAT stimulation of PIMI-PIM2. JAK/STAT is a common signalling
 pathway in many malignancies, activated by a range of cell surface receptors and
 promotes gene transcription. In neutrophils JAK/STAT pathway is engaged by a
 range of cytokine receptors, including G-CSF, GM-CSF and IL-6 (Futosi et al., 2013),
 promoting differentiation and inhibiting apoptosis. PIMI-PIM2 genes and products
 are not well characterised in neutrophils.

7.3.3.2 The functional significance of mitochondrial dysfunction

Regulation of constitutive apoptosis by neutrophil mitochondria is widely described, and established within the literature (Liu et al., 2003; Maianski et al., 2004; Murphy et al., 2003; Pryde et al., 2000. The initiation of neutrophil apoptosis promotes the down-regulation of many neutrophil immune processes at level of gene expression. This thesis provides evidence that neutrophil mitochondria may have an extended signalling role, and act as signal transducers during inflammatory responses which activate and inhibit the respiratory burst responses through interaction with cytoplasmic metabolic responses. Two different models of mitochondrial dysfunction were presented. Both induced resting mitochondrial oxidative stress and reduced activated respiratory burst responses. Within macrophages, depletion of autophagy proteins has been shown to promote mitochondrial ROS synthesis (Nakahira et al., 2011).

7.4 Unifying explanations for immunological and metabolic impairments within postoperative neutrophils

This thesis has presented and explored the relationship between functional impairment of neutrophil immune and mitochondrial function through transmission of oxidative stress signals. Regulation via PKM2 was proposed as the target for this oxidative signal. In addition to this proposal, there are several alternative, but overlapping explanations for the experimental observations I have made.

Many of these explanations focus upon the supply, demand and competition for metabolic substrates ATP and NADPH. Although the respiratory burst directly utilises NADPH, the supply of ATP may be directly relevant to the respiratory burst, since it is necessary for the many cellular processes which occur in parallel during neutrophil activation, such as cytoskeletal rearrangement for trafficking of organelles and phagolysosomes. ATP demand may also directly impact upon the supply of NADPH to the respiratory burst, since glycolysis and hexose monophosphate shunt both compete for glucose-6-phosphate. Although outflow from hexose monophosphate shunt does return to distal glycolytic pathway, this is at the expense of the first synthetic step for ATP (Figure 1.4).

Since the hexose monophosphate shunt feeds off and returns into glycolysis, these two processes will be subject to reciprocal regulation, which may manifest directly through open competition for shared substrate, or indirectly through extrinsic regulation of enzyme activity.

Competition for substrate may be interpreted as a limitation of bioenergetic ATP supply. My data suggest increased resting and activated neutrophil glucose uptake, in the presence of a diminished burst, which is compatible with increased metabolic utilisation for glucose-6phosphate, limiting respiratory burst substrate within postoperative neutrophils. The loss of mitochondrial membrane potential may be a manifestation of limited bioenergetic reserve. Failure of DASA, a PKM2 activator, to stimulate the postoperative respiratory burst may also be interpreted as substrate limitation, i.e. postoperative neutrophils are functioning at metabolic capacity therefore cannot increase output any further.

Increases in postoperative neutrophil ATP demand may be explained by the presence of immature neutrophils or by partially activated neutrophils, both of which will be subject to intensive gene expression and protein synthesis.

7.4.1 The relevance of mitochondrial dysfunction

The dysfunctional postoperative mitochondrial phenotype suggested within chapter 5 may limit neutrophil immune function through limited synthesis of ATP or other synthetic/transport processes dependent upon mitochondrial membrane potential. The presence of impaired mitophagy would reduce efficiency of ATP synthesis.

Although neutrophils are traditionally considered to be solely dependent upon glycolytic ATP, the addition of respiratory complex inhibitors does diminish neutrophil ATP concentration (Minakami, 1968; Sbarra and Karnovsky, 1959). Most of these experiments were performed within neutrophils collected from healthy volunteers (i.e. non-inflamed) humans, or model animals. The bioenergetic behaviour of neutrophils in established human inflammation has not been adequately addressed before. Therefore, it is possible that postoperative neutrophils do rely upon mitochondria for generation of ATP, and that dysfunctional mitochondria may be a limiting factor in neutrophil function through bioenergetic mechanisms.

Alternatively, mitochondrial ATP may serve a non-bioenergetic role. There is a precedent for this through Pannexin I/P_2Y_2 mediated chemotaxis, which relies upon the autocrine release of mitochondrial ATP (Bao et al., 2014). The release of nucleotides by necrotic cells is an important clearance signal (Elliott et al., 2009), therefore this mechanism may also facilitate neutrophil clearance of apoptotic cells.

Mitochondria may act as inflammatory signal transducers. Neutrophil mitochondria are known to coordinate apoptosis, integrating a range of intrinsic/extrinsic signals to determine output of Bcl-2 homologs (Brenner and Mak, 2009; Reed, 2006). In a similar manner, mitochondrial may act as inflammatory signal transducers through the release of mitochondrial ROS. Several processes relevant to inflammation have been described which may lead to the release of mitochondrial ROS species. In this manner, ROS are not simply a toxic by-product, but an important signal that regulates expression of the inflammatory phenotype. For example, mitochondrial potassium channels may provide a mechanism for ROS induced mitochondrial dysfunction since O_2^- and H_2O_2 directly promote their opening (Gao and Mann, 2009), alternatively mitochondrial ROS could cause generalised mitochondrial impairment through peroxidation.

The production of mitochondrial ROS may be explained through several mechanisms related to oxidative phosphorylation, including hyperpolarisation due to reduced distal electron acceptors leading to inefficient electron transport (Vincent et al., 2004), specific dysfunction of individual respiratory complexes, loss of supracomplex organisation limiting efficiency of electron transfer or impairment of scavenging processes such as mitochondrial superoxide dismutase. Respiratory complexes are also involved in biochemical pathways that proceed independently of oxidative phosphorylation, for example oxygen sensing through complex III-ROS–HIF signalling (Brunelle et al., 2005). My data describe differential perioperative effects of complex I inhibition. It is also possible that impaired mitophagy, for example through diminished PINK I/Parkin expression, may lead to persistence of damaged mitochondria and unchecked mitochondrial ROS release.

Although ATP production is considered the primary role of mitochondria, there are other essential biochemical and metabolic processes which rely upon the electromotive potential generated by respiratory complexes. The presence of increased ROS production may therefore be considered a barometer for mitochondrial health, with a proportional impairment of these other processes. Relevant processes to the postoperative phenotype include calcium homeostasis, anion flux through VDAC channels and integrin signalling (Colombini, 2004). In reality these processes are closely related, for example VDAC activity favours a reduction in ROS formation (Zhou et al., 2011). Alternatively mitochondrial dysfunction may be associated with release of mtDNA, an established DAMP providing a universal inflammatory stimulus (Nakahira et al., 2011) in a manner analogous to gut derived endotoxin.

237

7.4.2 Cellular targets for mitochondrial ROS signalling

This thesis has focussed upon redox regulation of PKM2 as a regulator of postoperative neutrophil immune function. However, in addition to PKM2 there are several other possible targets. The molecular specificity of ROS signalling makes it an ideal mechanism to propagate cell-wide signals, coordinating the activity of structurally distant targets which share common amino acid residues around functional or allosteric sites.

7.4.2.1 Pyruvate kinase M2 (PKM2)

Oxidative regulation of substrate flow through glycolysis and hexose monophosphate shunt is an established feature of the cancer cell biology (Warburg effect). This thesis has presented data strongly supporting presence of redox sensitive PKM2 within neutrophils. Specifically, postoperative neutrophils are subject to redox stress and are less responsive to the highly specific PKM2 activator DASA. Therefore, it is plausible that PKM2 may act to regulate flow through glycolysis and the hexose monophosphate shunt. Central to this argument is regulation of PKM2 through heterodimerisation, where oxidation of cys358 leads to a change in quaternary structure which prevents further access to the site. Consequently, DASA can protect from, but not reverse oxidative inhibition.

The PKM2 isoform has a second unique property, it may translocate to the nucleus and act as a transcription factor. Within cancer cells EGFR-activated ERK2 phosphorylates PKM2, but not PKM1, to promote nuclear translocation (Yang et al., 2012). Nuclear PKM2 induces c-myc expression, leading to GLUT1 and positive feedback PKM2 expression. Transgenic translocation-deficient PKM2 blocks the Warburg effect within a mouse glioblastoma model. It follows that neutrophil PKM2 may direct gene transcription in a similar manner.

7.4.2.1 Hypoxia inducible factor (HIF)

HIF was initially identified as a mediator of hypoxic adaptation and inflammatory signalling, but has since been shown to be activated following many other inflammatory stimuli (Klimova and Chandel, 2008). The key signal for stabilisation of HIF is the production of mitochondrial ROS at respiratory complex III (Brunelle et al., 2005), or possibly respiratory complex II (Dikalov, 2011). Pharmacological inhibition of respiratory complex III is an established experimental tool for investigation of HIF signalling (Dikalov, 2011).

HIF activation has pleiotropic molecular effects, many of which combine to promote glycolysis and inhibit oxidative phosphorylation and mitochondrial biogenesis. HIF is

intimately associated with the control of autophagy, which may liberate endogenous metabolic reserves during times of energy starvation, as well as being responsible for physiological cellular turnover. Here a decline in leukocyte ATP and rise in AMP signals metabolite stress, promoting a decline in AMP-kinase and increase in HIF1-α, which signals autophagy (Zhang et al., 2010). Sub-inflammatory doses of endotoxin have been shown to promote the same changes in AMP-kinase and HIF-1 (Haimovich et al., 2014). AMP-kinase regulated mitochondrial biogenesis (Jäger et al., 2007) acts in synergy with growth signal integrating mTOR (Papandreou et al., 2006; Semenza et al., 1994; Zhang et al., 2007).

7.4.2.2 Redox regulation of inflammatory gene expression

Neutrophils are subject to intense gene regulation and protein synthesis (Calvano et al., 2005; Teles et al., 2012; Xiao et al., 2011). Several transcription factors display altered DNA binding following ROS driven oxidation (Kolls, 2006), including NF-kB (Han et al., 2013) and Nrf2 (Davidson et al., 2013; Segal et al., 2010). The addition of respiratory complex I and III inhibitors to neutrophils has been shown to stabilise NF-kB and promote cytokine expression (Zmijewski et al., 2009, 2008). NRF2 is involved in antioxidant and cytoprotective responses, revealing how ROS may promote their own detoxification (Davidson et al., 2013; Segal et al., 2010). These processes may be intrinsically linked to regulation of mitochondrial function, since transcription of key apoptotic signals, which target mitochondria, are altered by NF-kB and PI3K (Edwards et al., 2004). As discussed above, PKM2 may enter the nucleus and serve as a transcription factor. The time scale of transcriptional changes is compatible with the functional changes on postoperative day two, and may account for shorter term classical priming or tolerance through interaction of transcription factors with other signalling pathways, such as MAPK pathway. Gene silencing has been previously reported as a possible mechanism of immune tolerance (Liu et al., 2011; McCall and Yoza, 2007).

7.4.2.3 The NLRP3 inflammasome

Within macrophages the NLRP3 inflammasome has emerged as a key regulator of innate immunity, responsible for the release of proinflammatory mediators IL-IB and IL-18 through cleavage of caspase-I (Stutz et al., 2009). The depletion of autophagy mediators has been shown to promote NLRP3 mediated inflammation, through preservation of dysfunctional mitochondria (Nakahira et al., 2011). Here, the depletion of mitophagy signalling proteins

leads to the persistence of ROS generating mitochondria, and activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome. The NLRP3 inflammasome has been identified within neutrophils and is necessary for the synthesis of neutrophil IL-1 β , however beyond this it remains less well characterised than within monocytes (Karmakar et al., 2015).

7.4.2.4 Direct regulation of NADPH oxidase

There is evidence for direct signalling between mitochondrial NADPH oxidase and NADPH oxidase (Dikalov, 2011), although most of these studies have investigated the Angiotensin-II-NOX pathway (rather than PHOX) and the exact site of ROS/NADPH interaction remains speculative. Within HAEC cells, SOD2 knockdown prevents angiotensin-II stimulated NADPH oxidase activity (Dikalova et al., 2010) and accumulated mitochondrial damage within rabbit aortic smooth muscle cells is associated with diminished NOX1 mRNA expression (Wosniak et al., 2009). The mitochondrial-NOX communication may be reciprocal, promoting positive feedback and further ROS production. Depletion of p22^{phox} causes a significant reduction in Angiotensin-II stimulated mitochondrial ROS production (Mehta and Griendling, 2007). There is no evidence from CGD patients than diminished respiratory burst function alters metabolic function, since glycolysis/oxidative phosphorylation appear unchanged (Borregaard and Herlin, 1982).

7.4.3 A neutrophil specific manifestation of a global metabolic phenotype.

Systemic inflammatory responses are associated with body wide metabolic reprogramming. Since the bioenergetics and synthetic requirements of different cells types vary, the various changes of cellular function which accompany inflammatory responses may be the product of a common metabolic phenotype interacting with each cell's specific metabolic requirements. For example, within highly anabolic cells the hexose monophosphate shunt is a source of ribose sugars, while platelets possess few mitochondria and have no nucleus to support mRNA synthesis. In this setting acquired mitochondrial dysfunction could represent a common pathological mechanism of clinically different states (Neustadt and Pieczenik, 2008).

7.4.4 A consequence of circulating, immature neutrophil precursors.

The short life span of circulating neutrophils, typically estimated to be one day (Luo and Loison, 2008; Maianski et al., 2004; Pillay et al., 2010), combined with the release of immature neutrophils during systemic inflammatory responses suggests that the postoperative phenotype may be partly explained by an increase in the proportion of circulating immature cells. Within septic patients the presence of immature neutrophil precursors (myelocytes and metamyelocytes) may have prognostic significance (Mare et al, 2015)

Immaturity is unlikely to be the sole explanation, because postoperative bone marrow derived neutrophils demonstrate a diminished burst response when compared to preoperative control bone marrow (Chapter 4), which supports a global change in the entire neutrophil pool. Nonetheless there are similarities between immature neutrophils and the postoperative cells I have described.

7.5 Clinical relevance

7.5.1 Clinical study design

This thesis supports the use of major elective surgery as a translational model for sepsis, serving as a bridge between model organism studies and clinical sepsis research. The addition of this extra layer of investigations would help refine experimental hypotheses and questions so clinical studies within critically ill may be better designed to isolate/identify the experimental signals in question. This also implies that the many studies already performed within surgical patients may serve as a valuable resource for sepsis research. Looking to the future, perioperative medicine is a rapidly expanding field. Firstly, this will hopefully provide information and observations which may push sepsis research onwards. Secondly, collusion between perioperative and critical care research will be mutually beneficial.

Moving beyond surgery, similarities between other patient groups and septic patients may mean that observations within these other groups are relevant to septic patients. For example, mechanisms underlying anergic immune responses within cancer patients may be relevant to similar responses within long stay ICU patients. The effect of surgery upon cancer patients may therefore provide a tool to investigate effects of acute-on-chronic inflammation.

7.5.2 Assays of inflammation

The postoperative functional impairments of neutrophil function described within this thesis occur at a time when routine laboratory markers of inflammation, such as CRP and white cell count, are increased.

The development of clinical assays of more specific markers of immune function may improve patient care in many ways. At present, clinicians may only guess at how effective the immune response a patient is mounting. This is because the two critical variables are unknown: infective burden/potency and the magnitude of the immune response. Therefore, a septic patient may deteriorate because they mount an insufficient or excessive immune response. The development of validated immune assays would also be directly relevant to future studies of immune modulating agents.

7.5.3 Novel targets for immunomodulation

Metabolic changes are a feature of the inflammatory response. Therefore, metabolic targets may potentially be used to regulate inflammation within patients. Many established therapeutic agents have direct metabolic actions, such as metformin which inhibits mitochondrial respiratory complex I. Within the cancer literature many chemotherapy agents have been shown to have metabolic activities, for example cyclosporin-A inhibits lymphocyte glycolysis (Röpke et al., 2000).

7.6 Further work

7.6.1 Extension of the postoperative immune function and metabolic postoperative phenotype

Functional analysis may be extended through specific assays of bacterial killing, chemotaxis and NET formation. The metabolic phenotype may be explored in several ways. Firstly, in vitro assays of isolated neutrophil mitochondria may provide insight into how function of specific respiratory complexes changes over perioperative period. These assays may be performed within whole neutrophils, using the Seahorse respirometer (Chapter 2), or within isolated mitochondria using a Clarke electrode. Similarly, for glycolysis, the function of individual enzymes may be quantified to determine precisely how these activities change during human inflammatory responses – these assays have only been performed within 'healthy' human cells before.

7.6.2 Correlation with clinical outcome

It is possible that increased and decreased neutrophil functions may be beneficial or harmful. Therefore, this study may be extended to follow the relationship between functional changes and clinical outcome. This is a necessary step before studies of immune modulation could be attempted. Beyond this, the surgical model may also provide a tool to investigate the immunosuppressive phase of sepsis, using tools such as latent virus reactivation (Limaye et al., 2008; Luyt et al., 2007) and colonisation by opportunistic and gut derived pathogens (Guan et al., 2013). Cancer patients share many of the immunological defects of sepsis, therefore elective surgery within cancer patients offers a further opportunity to simulate the critically unwell patient.

7.7 Conclusions

Major elective surgery may provide a valuable translational model of human sepsis, which overcomes many of methodological challenges presented by patients with an established illness. Postoperative neutrophils demonstrate a reversible impairment of neutrophil respiratory burst, as well as features that support mitochondrial dysfunction, that may be relevant to development of postoperative complications, and therefore outcomes in sepsis. These metabolic changes may regulate immune function through novel signalling molecules such as mitochondrial ROS, as well as the delivery of metabolic substrate to these processes. Investigations into metabolic regulation of cancer cells have revolutionised cancer research, and further characterisation of metabolic responses within human sepsis may offer similar benefits and identify new therapeutic targets. **APPENDIX A – Experimental assay details for studies** included in Chapter 3.

Author	Clinical	Experimental protocol [#]	ROS substrate ^{\$}	Burst stimulus
(Year)	Setting*			
(Santos et al., 2012)	Septic patients		DCFH-DA	P.aeruginosa, S.aureus
(Paunel- Görgülü et al., 2011)	Trauma patients	WB, ?AC [FC:morph/-vecd14]	DHR	PMA
(Bruns et al., 2011)	Septic patients (cirrhosis)	Gran, Hep, DG: Percoll,? (Abs) [FC]	DHR	E. coli, fmlp, PMA
(Shih et al., 2010)	Trauma patients	WB, Hep [FC:morph]	SOD inhibition of Cyt c	fMLP
Kasten et al. 2010)	Trauma patients	Gran, Hep, DG:Ficoll-Hypaque+Dextran, HL (abs) [trypan blue]	Scopoletin, HPO	FN attached
(Valente et al., 2009)	Trauma patients	PBL, EDTA, HL, (FN attached) [confocal]	DHR	PMA
(Kawasaki et al., 2007)	Surgical patients	PBL, Hep [FC:morph]	DHR	E. coli

Fröhlich	Surgical patients	WB, Hep [FC:morph]	DHR	fmlp, pma
et al.				
2006)				
(Martins	Septic patients	PBL, Hep, DG:Ficoll lymph sep 1.077 [FC:morph]	DCF	fMLP, LPS, PMA, S.aureus
et al.,				
2003)				
(Barth et	Septic patients	WB, Hep [FC:morph]	DHR	E. coli
al., 2002)				
(Mariano	Septic patients	WB, Hep [FC:morph]	Luminol (HV neu)	Patient sera
et al.,	(RRT)			
2001)				
(Quaid et	Trauma patients	Gran, EDTA, Lo/Hi centrifugation, HL [Giesma stain]	Scopoletin, HPO	FN attached, PMA, TNF- α
al., 2001)				
(Wiezer	Surgical patients	Gran,EDTA, DG: Histopaque1077, HL, (FN) [">95%	DHR	PMA (stop with BSA)
et al.,		pure"]		
2000)				
Ahmed et	Septic patients	PBL, hep, DG: Lymphoprep, IL [FS:morph]	DHR (tissue+blood neu)	fMLP
al. 1999)				
(Shih et	Surgical patients	Gran, hep, DG: dextran-70, Ficoll-Hypaque, HL	SOD inhibition of Cyt c	fMLP
al., 1 999)		[FS:morph]		

(Ertel et	Trauma patients	Gran, EDTA, DG: Ficcol-Paque, HL [Wright stain]	DHR (HV neu)	BALF,CSF,fMLP
al., 1999)				
(Ogura et	Trauma patients	Gran, hep, DG: Histopaque 1077, IL [FC:cd-15]	DCFH	fmlp
al., 1999)				
(Pascual et	Septic patients	WB, ?, "lysis soln" [FC:morph]	Lucigenin (Patient+HV	Patient+HV serum
al., 1998)			neu),	

Table AI Experimental assay details for respiratory burst studies

#Experimental protocol: format: cell used, anticoagulation, separation technique:colloid used, lysis step. (Additional substances added) [Identification of neutrophils]. WB=Whole blood, Gran=granulocytes, PBL=peripheral blood leukocytes. ?AC=anticoagulant not detailed, Hep=heparin, EDTA=Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid. DG:density gradient. HL=hypotonic lysis, IL=isotonic lysis. Abs=cultured with antibiotics, FN=cultured in fibronectin coated plates. FC=flow cytometer, morph=forward scatter/side scatter on flow cytometer used to identify neutrophils

\$DCFH-DA=2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate; DHR=Dihydrorhodamine 123; PMA=Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate; fMLP=Formyl-Methionyl-Leucyl-Phenylalanine; SOD=Superoxide Dismutase; Cyt c=Cytochrome C, HPO=Horseradish peroxidase; FN=Fibronectin; HV=Healthy volunteer; TNF-α=Tumour necrosis factor α; BSA=Bovine serum albumin; BALF=Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid; CSF=cerebrospinal fluid.

Author/Year	Clinical	Experiment	Tolerance	Tolerance assay ^{\$}	Experimental Readout ^{&}
	Setting	protocol [#]	induction*		
(Liu et al.,	Septic	Plasma: EDTA. WB:	LPS, ?dose, ex-vivo,	PBL, qRT-PCR, TNF-α.	PBL, ChIP, SIRT1 and RelB @ TNF-
2011)	patients	[FC:CD 14	1hr, WB		α promoter.
(Buttenschoen	Surgical	PBMC: ?, DG:	LPS 0.2ng/ml,ex-vivo,	WB SN, ELISA, TNF- α	MNF, qRT-PCR, TLR-2 TLR-4
et al., 2009)	patients	Ficoll/Isopaque.	6hrs, WB.	II-1ß IL-6.	
(Pachot et al.,	Septic	PBMC: ?, DG:Ficoll-	Unstimulated	monocyte, mAb, HLA-	WB, qRT-PCR, CX3CR1.
2008)	patients	plaque, BD Pharm Lyse		DR	Monocyte, mAb, CX3CR1.
		Buffer. Monocyte: cd14			
		MACS isolation.			
(West et al.,	Septic	WB: Hep. [FC:morph]	LPS, 10ng/ml, ex-vivo,	Plasma, ELISA, TNF-α.	WB, mAb, MAPK ERK1/2
2007)	Patients		15min WB		
(Härter et al.,	Septic	PBMC: Hep,	LPS 1ug/ml / MALP2	Neu+monocyte,	Neu+mono, mAb, TLR2 TLR4
2004)	patients	DG:histopaque, IL,	2nM, ex-vivo, 4/16hrs	ELISA, IL-8 TNF-α	
		[FC:cd14]	, neu+monocyte		
(Flohé et al.,	Surgery in	WB: Hep. [FC:CD-14]	LPS, 10ng/ml, ex-vivo,	Plasma, ELISA, TNF-α	
2004)	trauma		14hrs, WB. (abs)	IL-10. WB mAb HLA-	
	patients			DR CD14	

(Arnalich et	Septic	Monocytes: ?, DG:Ficoll-	LPS, 10/ng/ml /	Monocyte, qRT-PCR,	IRAK-M TLR-4
al., 2003)	patients	Hypaque Plus, adh-sep	100ng/ml, ex-vivo,	TNF-α IL-6	
		(abs).	1hr, monocyte.		
(Heagy et al.,	ICU patients	WB (discarded):, Hep.	LPS, 10ng/ml,ex-vivo,	Plasma, ELISA, TNF-α,	LOS, VFD, WCC, Infection
2003)			3hrs, WB.	IL-6	
(Calvano et	Septic	WB: ?AC, TNF-α.	LPS, 10ng/ml, ex-vivo,	Plasma, ELISA, TNF-α	Monocyte, mAb, TLR2 TLR4 CD14.
al., 2003)	patients	Monocytes: ?, Rosette	24hrs		Monocyte, qRT-PCR cd14 TLR4
		Sep enrichment, cell sort			TLR2. MD-2.
		with CD15, confirm			
		CDI4			
(Sfeir et al.,	Septic	Monocytes: Citrate,	LPS, 1ug/ml, ex-vivo,	Monocyte, ELISA, TNF-	Repeat with anti-IL-10+anti TGF-ß
2001)	patients	DG:Nycoprep, adh-sep	16hrs, monocytes.	α IL10 TGF-ß	
		[FC:CD14]			
(Kawasaki et	Surgical	WB: Hep/EDTA.	LPS, 10ng/ml, ex-vivo,	Plasma, L929 cell	WB, mAb, HLA-DR CD14
al., 2001)	patients		4hrs, WB.	cytotoxicity, TNF-α.	
				Plasma, ELISA, IL-10.	
(Heagy et al.,	Septic	WB (discarded): Hep.	LPS, 10ng/m, ex-vivo,	Plasma, ELISA, TNF-α	WB, mAb, CD14 45 TNF-α _{IC}
2000)	patients	[FC:CD14]	3hrs, WB (abs)		
(Bergmann et	Septic	PBMC: Citrate, DG:Ficoll.	LPS, 1ug/ml, ex-vivo,	Plasma, ELISA, TNF- α ,	MNF, Nblot, TNF-α IL-1 IL-6
al., 1 999)	patients		1-3hrs, WB.	IL-1, IL-6	

Table A2 Experimental assay details for monocyte endotoxin tolerance studies

#Experimental protocol: format: cell used, anticoagulation, separation technique: colloid used, lysis step. (Additional substances added) [Identification of neutrophils]. WB=Whole blood, Discarded=blood used from aspiration of dead-space in venous cannulas, PBMC=Peripheral blood mononuclear cells. ?AC=anticoagulant not detailed, Hep=heparin, EDTA=Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid. DG: density gradient. HL=hypotonic lysis, IL=isotonic lysis. Abs=cultured with antibiotics, FC=flow cytometer, morph=forward scatter/side scatter on flow cytometer used to identify monocytes.

*Tolerance induction: Agent, dose, location, exposure time, blood product (additional agents). LPS=Lipopolysaccharide, WB=Whole blood, neu=neutrophil, abs=antibiotics

\$Tolerance assay: Blood product, assay, target. PBL=Peripheral blood leukocyte, ELISA= Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, qRT-PCR = quantitative real time polymerase chain reaction, mAb = monoclonal antibody,

&Experimental Readout: Blood product, assay, target. ChIP=Chromatin Immunoprecipitation, Wblot = Western blot, Nblot = Northern blot, LOS=Length of ITU stay, VFD=Ventilator free days, WCC=White cell count.

Author (Year)	Clinical Setting	Experimental [#] Apoptosis readout [*]		Cell types ^{\$}	
		protocol			
(Roger et al.,	Septic	WB: ?AC	Hoeschst dye	CD4, CD8(CD3⁺	
2012)	patients			CD4 ⁻)	
(Bandyopadhyay	Trauma patients	PBMC: ?AC, DG:Ficoll-Hypaque,	Annexin-V, 7AAD. Caspase-10 _{IC}	T cell	
et al., 2012)		NTSR.			
(White et al.,	Septic	PBMC: EDTA, Lymphoprep.	mRNA: BAX, BCL-2, BIM.	PBMC	
2011)	patients				
(White et al.,	Surgical patients	PBMC: EDTA, Lymphoprep.	mRNA: BAX, BCL-2, BIM.	PBMC	
2011)	(infective				
	complications)				
(Zhang et al.,	Septic	PBL: ?AC, VersaLyse).	Annexin-V. Caspase-3, PD-1	CD4, CD8, CD19	
2011)	patients	Lympho. (?,DG: Ficoll + cd14 neg			
(Guignant et al	Septic	WB: ?AC.	PD-1	CD4	
(Ouignanie ee all., 2011)	patients				
$(V_{2}k_{1} \text{ ot } 2 - 2011)$	Soptic	HV Lympho + subject serum: Hep	Annovin V. Caspaso 3 activity		
	Dationts	DG: Ficoll-Hypaque. Serum		CD4	
	patients	incubation for 24hrs, adh-sep (non	CD75.		
		adherant analysed).			
(Słotwiński et al.,	Surgical patients	WB.	Bax, Bcl-2, Caspase-3 9, Fas,	Lymphocytes	
2011)		Lympho,: Hep, DG:Lymphoprep, ?, ?.	PARP-I, TNFRI.		
(Gogos et al.,	Septic	PBL: EDTA, IL.	Annexin-V, 7-AAD	CD4, CD8, 19, CD56	
--------------------	-------------------	---------------------------------	--	--------------------	
2010)	patients				
(Hoogerwerf et	Septic	Lympho: Hep, IL, cell sort CD4.	Microarray: 30 genes	CD4	
al., 2010)	patients				
(Yousef et al.,	Septic	PBL: EDTA, IL.	Annexin-V, 7-AAD	CD3, CD19	
2010)	patients				
(Turrel-Davin et	Septic	WB: EDTA.	Annexin-V. Bcl-2, Caspase-3.	CD4, CD8, CD19	
al., 2010)	patients	PBMC: EDTA, DG: Ficoll-Paque,	mRNA: BAK, BAX, BCL-XL,BID,		
		'lysed'.	BIM, FAS		
(Pelekanou et al.,	Septic	PBL: Hep, IL.	Annexin-V, Pl	CD4, CD8, CD19,	
2009)	patients			CD56	
(Resident et al.,	Surgical patients	PBL: Citrate, VersaLyse.	Annexin-V,PI	Lymphocytes (FC	
2009)				morphology)	
(Delogu et al.,	Septic	"Isolated PBMC"	Annexin-V, 7AAD, DiOC _{6.} Bcl-2,	PBMC	
2008)	patients		Caspase-3 8 9, Fas, FasL.		
(Weber et al.,	Septic	PBL. (EDTA, HL). PCR=Paxgene	Annexin-V, 7AAD. Bcl-2,	CD4, CD8, CD19.	
2008)	patients		Caspase-3. mRNA: BCL-2, BCL-XL,	mRNA=WB	
			BID, BAK.		
(Roth et al.,	Septic	PBMC: EDTA, DG:Ficoll	Annexin-V, 7AAD. ACE, IL-1B,	CD3. Serum	
2003)	patients		IL-10. sCD95, sTNFR1.	cytokines.	

(Le Tulzo et al.,	Septic	PBL: EDTA, Othro-lysis.	Annexin-V, 7AAD. CD95,	CD4, CD8 (CD4 ⁻
2002)	patients		CD95L, TRAIL-R1, TRAIL-R2.	CD3⁺), CD19
(Hotchkiss et al., 2001)	Volunteer endotoxin	PBMC: EDTA, DG:Ficoll.	Annexin-V, 7AAD	PBMC
(Delogu et al.,	Septic	Fixed cadaveric/(intraoperative)	Lightmicroscopy.	Splenic tissue.
2001)	patients	spleens	Immunohistochemistry (inc	B cells, CD20, CD4,
			caspase 9). Annexin-V, Pl.	CD8, CD3, NK.
(Pellegrini et al., 2000)	Surgical patients	Lymphocytes: Hep, DG:Lymphoprep	7AAD	CD4, CD8
(Delogu et al., 2000)	Trauma patients	PBMC +T-cells: (Hep, DG:Ficoll- Hypaque, adh-sep NTSR)	PI (loss of)	T cell, PBMC
(Hotchkiss et al., 2000)	Surgical	Lympho: Hep, DG: Lymphoprep, ?.	7AAD. Bcl-2, Fas FasL, p35.	CD4, CD8
(Hotchkiss et al.,	Trauma patients	Fixed intraoperative bowel tissue.	Light microscopy.	Lymphocyte
1999)			Immunohistochemistry	aggregates within
			(Cytokeratin 18). Hoechst dye.	bowel biopsy.
(Sasajima et al.,	Septic	Fixed cadaveric/(intraoperative)	Light microscopy.	Lymphocyte
l 999)	patients	spleen tissue.	Immunohistochemistry (inc	aggregates within
			Caspase-3, Bcl-2). DAGE,	bowel and spleen
			TUNEL.	biopsies.

(Sugimoto et al.,	Surgical patients	Lympho: ?,Lymphoprep, IL.	DAGE	Lymphocytes
l 998)				
(Roger et al.,	Surgical patients	PBMC: Hep, DG:Lymphoprep.	Fas. mRNA: FASL	CD4
2012)				

Table A3 Experimental assay details of lymphocyte apoptosis studies

#Experimental protocol. Format: "cell used: (anticoagulation, separation technique: colloid used, lysis step). <Additional substances added>". WB=Whole blood, PBMC=Peripheral blood mononuclear cells, PBL= Peripheral blood leukocytes, Lympho=lymphocytes. ?AC=anticoagulant not detailed, Hep=heparin, EDTA=Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid. DG=density gradient:colloid used. HL=hypotonic lysis, IL=isotonic lysis. Abs=cultured with antibiotics, FC=flow cytometer, morph=forward scatter/side scatter on flow cytometer used to identify monocytes.

*Apoptotic readout. Italics indicate genes/ribonucleic acid gene products. PI = Propidium iodide, 7AAD= 7-Aminoactinomycin D, FLICA = fluorochrome inhibitors of caspases, TUNEL = Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labelling, DNA agarose gel electrophoresis

\$Cell type studied. PBMC - peripheral blood mononuclear cell, FC=flow cytometry (i.e. forward scatter/side scatter), WB=Whole Blood.

References

- Abe, Y., Sekiya, S., Yamasita, T., Sendo, F., 1990. Vascular hyperpermeability induced by tumor necrosis factor and its augmentation by IL-1 and IFN-gamma is inhibited by selective depletion of neutrophils with a monoclonal antibody. J. Immunol. 145, 2902–7.
- Abramov, A.Y., Canevari, L., Duchen, M.R., 2004. Beta-amyloid peptides induce mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in astrocytes and death of neurons through activation of NADPH oxidase. J. Neurosci. 24, 565–75.
- Abramov, A.Y., Jacobson, J., Wientjes, F., Hothersall, J., Canevari, L., Duchen, M.R., 2005. Expression and modulation of an NADPH oxidase in mammalian astrocytes. J. Neurosci. 25, 9176–84.
- Ackland, G., Grocott, M.P., Mythen, M.G., 2000. Understanding gastrointestinal perfusion in critical care: so near, and yet so far. Crit. Care 4, 269–81.
- Ackland, G.L., Iqbal, S., Paredes, L.G., Toner, A., Lyness, C., Jenkins, N., Bodger, P., Karmali, S., Whittle, J., Reyes, A., Singer, M., Hamilton, M., Cecconi, M., Pearse, R.M., Mallett, S. V, Omar, R.Z., POM-O (PostOperative Morbidity-Oxygen delivery) study group, 2015. Individualised oxygen delivery targeted haemodynamic therapy in high-risk surgical patients: a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, controlled, mechanistic trial. Lancet Respir. Med. 3, 33–41.
- Ahmed, N. a, McGill, S., Yee, J., Hu, F., Michel, R.P., Christou, N. V, 1999. Mechanisms for the diminished neutrophil exudation to secondary inflammatory sites in infected patients with a systemic inflammatory response (sepsis). Crit. Care Med. 27, 2459–68.
- Ahmed, N., Williams, J.F., Weidemann, M.J., 1993. Glycolytic, glutaminolytic and pentosephosphate pathways in promyelocytic HL60 and DMSO-differentiated HL60 cells. Biochem. Mol. Biol. Int. 29, 1055–67.
- Akgul, C., Moulding, D.A., Edwards, S.W., 2001. Molecular control of neutrophil apoptosis. FEBS Lett. 487, 318–22.
- Alejandria, M.M., Lansang, M.A.D., Dans, L.F., Mantaring Iii, J.B., 2013. Intravenous immunoglobulin for treating sepsis, severe sepsis and septic shock. Cochrane database Syst. Rev. 9, CD001090.
- Almyroudis, N.G., Grimm, M.J., Davidson, B. a, Röhm, M., Urban, C.F., Segal, B.H., 2013. NETosis and NADPH oxidase: at the intersection of host defense, inflammation, and injury. Front. Immunol. 4, 45.
- Alvarado-Kristensson, M., Porn-Ares, M.I., Grethe, S., Smith, D., Zheng, L., Andersson, T., 2002. p38 Mitogen-activated protein kinase and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activities have opposite effects on human neutrophil apoptosis. FASEB J. 16, 129–31.
- Anastasiou, D., Poulogiannis, G., Asara, J.M., Boxer, M.B., Jiang, J., Shen, M., Bellinger, G., Sasaki, A.T., Locasale, J.W., Auld, D.S., Thomas, C.J., Heiden, M.G. Vander, Lewis, C., 2012. Inhibition of pyruvate kinase M2 by reactive oxygen species contributes to cellular antioxidant responses 334, 1278–1283.

- Anderson, D.C., Schmalsteig, F.C., Finegold, M.J., Hughes, B.J., Rothlein, R., Miller, L.J., Kohl, S., Tosi, M.F., Jacobs, R.L., Waldrop, T.C., 1985. The severe and moderate phenotypes of heritable Mac-1, LFA-1 deficiency: their quantitative definition and relation to leukocyte dysfunction and clinical features. J. Infect. Dis. 152, 668–89.
- Andreasen, a S., Krabbe, K.S., Krogh-Madsen, R., Taudorf, S., Pedersen, B.K., Møller, K., 2008. Human endotoxemia as a model of systemic inflammation. Curr. Med. Chem. 15, 1697–705.
- Angele, M., Pratschke, S., Hubbard, W., Chaudry, I., 2014. Gender differences in sepsis: cardiovascular and immunological aspects. Virulence 5, 12–9.
- Angus, D.C., Birmingham, M.C., Balk, R.A., Scannon, P.J., Collins, D., Kruse, J.A., Graham, D.R., Dedhia, H. V, Homann, S., MacIntyre, N., 2000. E5 murine monoclonal antiendotoxin antibody in gram-negative sepsis: a randomized controlled trial. E5 Study Investigators. JAMA 283, 1723–30.
- Angus, D.C., Linde-Zwirble, W.T., Lidicker, J., Clermont, G., Carcillo, J., Pinsky, M.R., 2001. Epidemiology of severe sepsis in the United States: analysis of incidence, outcome, and associated costs of care. Crit. Care Med. 29, 1303–10.
- Ariel, A., Fredman, G., Sun, Y.-P., Kantarci, A., Van Dyke, T.E., Luster, A.D., Serhan, C.N., 2006. Apoptotic neutrophils and T cells sequester chemokines during immune response resolution through modulation of CCR5 expression. Nat. Immunol. 7, 1209– 16.
- Arnalich, F., Eduardo, L., Escoll, P., del Fresno, C., García, L., Vallés, G., Lendínez, M.J., López-Collazo, E., Garcia, L., Lendinez, M.J., 2003. Rapid up-regulation of IRAK-M expression following a second endotoxin challenge in human monocytes and in monocytes isolated from septic patients. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 311, 465– 472.
- ASA, 2014. ASA Physical Status Classification System. URL http://www.asahq.org/For-Members/Clinical-Information/ASA-Physical-Status-Classification-System.aspx
- Ayala, A., Chung, C., Lomas, J.L., Song, G.Y., Doughty, L.A., Gregory, S.H., Cioffi, W.G., Leblanc, B.W., Reichner, J., Simms, H.H., Grutkoski, P.S., 2002. Shock-Induced Neutrophil Mediated Priming for Acute Lung Injury in Mice 161, 2283–2294.
- Bahador, M., Cross, A.S., 2007. From therapy to experimental model: a hundred years of endotoxin administration to human subjects. J. Endotoxin Res. 13, 251–79.
- Baker, S.P., O'Neill, B., Haddon, W., Long, W.B., 1974. The injury severity score: a method for describing patients with multiple injuries and evaluating emergency care. J. Trauma 14, 187–96.
- Balaban, R.S., Nemoto, S., Finkel, T., 2005. Mitochondria, oxidants, and aging. Cell 120, 483– 95.
- Ballinger, S.W., 2005. Mitochondrial dysfunction in cardiovascular disease. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 38, 1278–95.
- Bandyopadhyay, G., Bankey, P.E., Miller-Graziano, C.L., Human, T., 2012. Trauma patients' elevated tumor necrosis related apoptosis inducing ligand (TRAIL) contributes to increased T cell apoptosis. Clin. Immunol. 145, 44–54.

- Bao, Y., Ledderose, C., Seier, T., Graf, A.F., Brix, B., Chong, E., Junger, W.G., 2014. Mitochondria regulate neutrophil activation by generating ATP for autocrine purinergic signaling. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 26794–803.
- Barsness, K. a, Arcaroli, J., Harken, A.H., Abraham, E., Banerjee, A., Reznikov, L., McIntyre, R.C., 2004. Hemorrhage-induced acute lung injury is TLR-4 dependent. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 287, R592-9.
- Barth, E., Fischer, G., Schneider, E.M., Moldawer, L.L., Georgieff, M., Weiss, M., 2002. Peaks of endogenous G-CSF serum concentrations are followed by an increase in respiratory burst activity of granulocytes in patients with septic shock. Cytokine 17, 275–84.
- Baruah, S., Keck, K., Vrenios, M., Pope, M.R., Pearl, M., Doerschug, K., Klesney-Tait, J., 2015. Identification of a Novel Splice Variant Isoform of TREM-1 in Human Neutrophil Granules. J. Immunol. 195, 5725–5731.
- Bass, D.A., Olbrantz, P., Szejda, P., Seeds, M.C., McCall, C.E., 1986. Subpopulations of neutrophils with increased oxidative product formation in blood of patients with infection. J. Immunol. 136, 860–6.
- Bassøe, C., Li, N., Ragheb, K., Lawler, G., Sturgis, J., Robinson, J.P., 2003. Investigations of Phagosomes, Mitochondria, and Acidic Granules in Human Neutrophils Using Fluorescent Probes 29, 21–29.
- Bateman, B.T., Schmidt, U., Berman, M.F., Bittner, E.A., 2010. Temporal trends in the epidemiology of severe postoperative sepsis after elective surgery: a large, nationwide sample. Anesthesiology 112, 917–25.
- Beck, W., 1958. The control of leukocyte glycolysis. J. Biol. Chem. 232, 251-70.
- Beckman-Coulter, 2009. Research & Discovery | Clinical Diagnostics Beckman Coulter, Inc. URL https://www.beckmancoulter.com/wsrportal/wsr/index.htm
- Belda, F.J., Aguilera, L., García de la Asunción, J., Alberti, J., Vicente, R., Ferrándiz, L., Rodríguez, R., Company, R., Sessler, D.I., Aguilar, G., Botello, S.G., Ortí, R., 2005.
 Supplemental perioperative oxygen and the risk of surgical wound infection: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 294, 2035–42.
- Bender, J.G., Van Epps, D.E., 1985. Inhibition of human neutrophil function by 6aminonicotinamide: the role of the hexose monophosphate shunt in cell activation. Immunopharmacology 10, 191–9.
- Bennett-Guerrero, E., Panah, M.H., Barclay, G.R., Bodian, C. a, Winfree, W.J., Andres, L. a, Reich, D.L., Mythen, M.G., 2001. Decreased endotoxin immunity is associated with greater mortality and/or prolonged hospitalization after surgery. Anesthesiology 94, 992–8.
- Bergmann, M., Gornikiewicz, A., Sautner, T., Waldmann, E., Weber, T., Mittlböck, M., Roth, E., Függer, R., 1999. Attenuation of catecholamine-induced immunosuppression in whole blood from patients with sepsis. Shock 12, 421–7.
- Bhatti, I., Peacock, O., Lloyd, G., Larvin, M., Hall, R.I., 2010. Preoperative hematologic markers as independent predictors of prognosis in resected pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: neutrophil-lymphocyte versus platelet-lymphocyte ratio. Am. J. Surg. 200, 197–203.

- Bhutta, H., Agha, R., Wong, J., Tang, T.Y., Wilson, Y.G., Walsh, S.R., 2011. Neutrophillymphocyte ratio predicts medium-term survival following elective major vascular surgery: a cross-sectional study. Vasc. Endovascular Surg. 45, 227–31.
- Bianchetti, R., Lucchini, G., Crosti, P., Tortora, P., 1977. Dependence of mitochondrial protein synthesis initiation on formylation of the initiator methionyl-tRNAf. J. Biol. Chem. 252, 2519–23.
- Biglioli, P., Cannata, A., Alamanni, F., Naliato, M., Porqueddu, M., Zanobini, M., Tremoli, E., Parolari, A., 2003. Biological effects of off-pump vs. on-pump coronary artery surgery: focus on inflammation, hemostasis and oxidative stress. Eur. J. Cardiothorac. Surg. 24, 260–9.
- Birnie, G.D., 1988. The HL60 cell line: a model system for studying human myeloid cell differentiation. Br. J. Cancer. Suppl. 9, 41–5.
- Blomgran, R., Zheng, L., Stendahl, O., 2004. Uropathogenic Escherichia coli triggers oxygendependent apoptosis in human neutrophils through the cooperative effect of type I fimbriae and lipopolysaccharide. Infect. Immun. 72, 4570–8.
- Blomgran, R., Zheng, L., Stendahl, O., 2007. Cathepsin-cleaved Bid promotes apoptosis in human neutrophils via oxidative stress-induced lysosomal membrane permeabilization. J. Leukoc. Biol. 81, 1213–23.
- Bolgunas, S., Clark, D.A., Hanna, W.S., Mauvais, P.A., Pember, S.O., 2006. Potent inhibitors of the Qi site of the mitochondrial respiration complex III. J. Med. Chem. 49, 4762–6.
- Bone, R.C., Balk, R.A., Cerra, F.B., Dellinger, R.P., Fein, A.M., Knaus, W.A., Schein, R.M., Sibbald, W.J., 1992. Definitions for sepsis and organ failure and guidelines for the use of innovative therapies in sepsis. The ACCP/SCCM Consensus Conference Committee. American College of Chest Physicians/Society of Critical Care Medicine. Chest 136, 1644–55.
- Booke, M., Hinder, F., McGuire, R., Traber, L.D., Traber, D.L., 2000. Noradrenaline and nomega-monomethyl-L-arginine (L-NMMA): effects on haemodynamics and regional blood flow in healthy and septic sheep. Clin. Sci. (Lond). 98, 193–200.
- Boomer, J., To, K., Chang, K., Takasu, O., Osborne, D., Walton, A., Bricker, T., Jarman, S., Kreisel, D., Krupnick, A., Srivastava, A., Swanson, P., J, G., Hotchkiss, R., 2011. Immunosuppression in patients who die of sepsis and multiple organ failure. JAMA 306, 2594–2605.
- Boroughs, L.K., DeBerardinis, R.J., 2015. Metabolic pathways promoting cancer cell survival and growth. Nat. Cell Biol. 17, 351–9.
- Borregaard, N., Herlin, T., 1982. Energy metabolism of human neutrophils during phagocytosis. J. Clin. Invest. 70, 550–7.
- Bortolussi, R., Rajaraman, K., Qing, G., Rajaraman, R., 1997. Fibronectin enhances in vitro lipopolysaccharide priming of polymorphonuclear leukocytes. Blood 89, 4182–9.
- Boss, O., Muzzin, P., Giacobino, J.P., 1998. The uncoupling proteins, a review. Eur. J. Endocrinol. 139, 1–9.
- Botha, A.J., Moore, F.A., Moore, E.E., Kim, F.J., Banerjee, A., Peterson, V.M., 1995. Postinjury neutrophil priming and activation: an early vulnerable window. Surgery 118, 358-64–5.

- Bouchon, A., Facchetti, F., Weigand, M.A., Colonna, M., 2001. TREM-1 amplifies inflammation and is a crucial mediator of septic shock. Nature 410, 1103–7.
- Bouchon, a., Dietrich, J., Colonna, M., 2000. Cutting Edge: Inflammatory Responses Can Be Triggered by TREM-1, a Novel Receptor Expressed on Neutrophils and Monocytes. J. Immunol. 164, 4991–4995.
- Boveris, A., Oshino, N., Chance, B., 1972. The cellular production of hydrogen peroxide. Biochem. J. 128, 617–30.
- Boxer, M.B., Jiang, J., Vander Heiden, M.G., Shen, M., Skoumbourdis, A.P., Southall, N., Veith, H., Leister, W., Austin, C.P., Park, H.W., Inglese, J., Cantley, L.C., Auld, D.S., Thomas, C.J., 2010. Evaluation of substituted N,N'-diarylsulfonamides as activators of the tumor cell specific M2 isoform of pyruvate kinase. J. Med. Chem. 53, 1048–55.
- Brealey, D., Brand, M., Hargreaves, I., Heales, S., Land, J., Smolenski, R., Davies, N.A., Cooper, C.E., Singer, M., 2002. Mechanisms of disease association between mitochondrial dysfunction and severity and outcome of septic shock. Lancet 360, 219– 223.
- Brenner, D., Mak, T.W., 2009. Mitochondrial cell death effectors. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 21, 871–7.
- Briggs, R.T., Robinson, J.M., Karnovsky, M.L., Karnovsky, M.J., 1986. Superoxide production by polymorphonuclear leukocytes. A cytochemical approach. Histochemistry 84, 371– 8.
- Brinkmann, V., Reichard, U., Goosmann, C., Fauler, B., Uhlemann, Y., Weiss, D.S., Weinrauch, Y., Zychlinsky, A., 2004. Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. Science 303, 1532–5.
- Brown, C.C., Malech, H.L., Gallin, J.I., 1989. Intravenous endotoxin recruits a distinct subset of human neutrophils, defined by monoclonal antibody 31D8, from bone marrow to the peripheral circulation. Cell. Immunol. 123, 294–306.
- Brown, G.C., 1992. Control of respiration and ATP synthesis in mammalian mitochondria and cells. Biochem. J. 284, 1–13.
- Brown, G.C., 1999. Nitric oxide and mitochondrial respiration. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1411, 351–69.
- Brown, G.E., Stewart, M.Q., Bissonnette, S. a., Elia, A.E.H., Wilker, E., Yaffe, M.B., 2004. Distinct ligand-dependent roles for p38 MAPK in priming and activation of the neutrophil NADPH oxidase. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 27059–27068.
- Brown, K.A., Brain, S.D., Pearson, J.D., Edgeworth, J.D., Lewis, S.M., Treacher, D.F., 2006. Neutrophils in development of multiple organ failure in sepsis. Lancet 368, 157–69.
- Brown, S.B., Savill, J., 1999. Phagocytosis triggers macrophage release of Fas ligand and induces apoptosis of bystander leukocytes. J. Immunol. 162, 480–5.
- Brown, V., Elborn, J.S., Bradley, J., Ennis, M., 2009. Dysregulated apoptosis and NFkB expression in COPD subjects. Respir. Res. 10, 24.
- Brownlee, M., 2001. Biochemistry and molecular cell biology of diabetic complications. Nature 414, 813–20.

- Brunelle, J.K., Bell, E.L., Quesada, N.M., Vercauteren, K., Tiranti, V., Zeviani, M., Scarpulla, R.C., Chandel, N.S., 2005. Oxygen sensing requires mitochondrial ROS but not oxidative phosphorylation. Cell Metab. 1, 409–14.
- Brunori, M., Giuffrè, A., Sarti, P., Stubauer, G., Wilson, M.T., 1999. Nitric oxide and cellular respiration. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 56, 549–57.
- Bruns, T., Peter, J., Hagel, S., Herrmann, a, Stallmach, a, 2011. The augmented neutrophil respiratory burst in response to Escherichia coli is reduced in liver cirrhosis during infection. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 164, 346–56.
- Buckley, C.D., Ross, E.A., McGettrick, H.M., Osborne, C.E., Haworth, O., Schmutz, C., Stone, P.C.W., Salmon, M., Matharu, N.M., Vohra, R.K., Nash, G.B., Rainger, G.E., 2006.
 Identification of a phenotypically and functionally distinct population of long-lived neutrophils in a model of reverse endothelial migration. J. Leukoc. Biol. 79, 303–11.
- Buttenschoen, K., Schneider, M.E., Utz, K., Kornmann, M., Beger, H.G., Carli Buttenschoen, D., 2009. Effect of major abdominal surgery on endotoxin release and expression of Toll-like receptors 2/4. Langenbecks. Arch. Surg. 394, 293–302.
- Cain, D.J., del Arroyo, A.G., Ackland, G.L., 2015. Man is the new mouse: Elective surgery as a key translational model for multi-organ dysfunction and sepsis. J. Intensive Care Soc. 16, 154–163.
- Calvano, J.E., Agnese, D.M., Um, J.Y., Goshima, M., Singhal, R., Coyle, S.M., Reddell, M.T., Kumar, A., Calvano, S.E., Lowry, S.F., 2003. Modulation of the lipopolysaccharide receptor complex (CD14, TLR4, MD-2) and toll-like receptor 2 in systemic inflammatory response syndrome-positive patients with and without infection: relationship to tolerance. Shock 20, 415–9.
- Calvano, S.E., Coyle, S.M., 2012. Experimental human endotoxemia: a model of the systemic inflammatory response syndrome? Surg. Infect. (Larchmt). 13, 293–9.
- Calvano, S.E., Xiao, W., Richards, D.R., Felciano, R.M., Baker, H. V, Cho, R.J., Chen, R.O., Brownstein, B.H., Cobb, J.P., Tschoeke, S.K., Miller-Graziano, C., Moldawer, L.L., Mindrinos, M.N., Davis, R.W., Tompkins, R.G., Lowry, S.F., 2005. A network-based analysis of systemic inflammation in humans. Nature 437, 1032–7.
- Campanella, M., Casswell, E., Chong, S., Farah, Z., Wieckowski, M.R., Abramov, A.Y., Tinker, A., Duchen, M.R., 2008. Regulation of mitochondrial structure and function by the FIFO-ATPase inhibitor protein, IFI. Cell Metab. 8, 13–25.
- Carré, J.E., Singer, M., 2008. Cellular energetic metabolism in sepsis: the need for a systems approach. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1777, 763–71.
- Carruthers, A., 1990. Facilitated diffusion of glucose. Physiol. Rev. 70, 1135–76.
- CDC definitions for nosocomial infections, 1988. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 139, 1058-9.
- Chabot, F., Mitchell, J.A., Gutteridge, J.M., Evans, T.W., 1998. Reactive oxygen species in acute lung injury. Eur. Respir. J. 11, 745–57.
- Chapman, R.W., Phillips, J.E., Hipkin, R.W., Curran, A.K., Lundell, D., Fine, J.S., 2009.
 CXCR2 antagonists for the treatment of pulmonary disease. Pharmacol. Ther. 121, 55–68.
- Charlson, M., Szatrowski, T.P., Peterson, J., Gold, J., 1994. Validation of a combined

comorbidity index. J. Clin. Epidemiol. 47, 1245–51.

- Chen, G., Xu, F., Li, J., Lu, S., 2015. Depletion of neutrophils protects against L-arginineinduced acute pancreatitis in mice. Cell. Physiol. Biochem. 35, 2111–20.
- Chen, G.Y., Nuñez, G., 2010. Sterile inflammation: sensing and reacting to damage. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 10, 826–37.
- Chen, Q., Vazquez, E.J., Moghaddas, S., Hoppel, C.L., Lesnefsky, E.J., 2003. Production of reactive oxygen species by mitochondria: central role of complex III. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 36027–31.
- Cheng, S.-C., Scicluna, B.P., Arts, R.J.W., Gresnigt, M.S., Lachmandas, E., Giamarellos-Bourboulis, E.J., Kox, M., Manjeri, G.R., Wagenaars, J.A.L., Cremer, O.L., Leentjens, J., van der Meer, A.J., van de Veerdonk, F.L., Bonten, M.J., Schultz, M.J., Willems, P.H.G.M., Pickkers, P., Joosten, L.A.B., van der Poll, T., Netea, M.G., 2016. Broad defects in the energy metabolism of leukocytes underlie immunoparalysis in sepsis. Nat. Immunol. 17, 406–13.
- Chertov, O., Yang, D., Howard, O.M., Oppenheim, J.J., 2000. Leukocyte granule proteins mobilize innate host defenses and adaptive immune responses. Immunol. Rev. 177, 68– 78.
- Chishti, A.D., Shenton, B.K., Kirby, J.A., Baudouin, S. V, 2004. Neutrophil chemotaxis and receptor expression in clinical septic shock. Intensive Care Med. 30, 605–11.
- Chitnis, D., Dickerson, C., Munster, A.M., Winchurch, R.A., 1996. Inhibition of apoptosis in polymorphonuclear neutrophils from burn patients. J. Leukoc. Biol. 59, 835–9.
- Chollet-Martin, S., Jourdain, B., Gibert, C., Elbim, C., Chastre, J., Gougerot-Pocidalo, M.A., 1996. Interactions between neutrophils and cytokines in blood and alveolar spaces during ARDS. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 154, 594–601.
- Chow, J.C., Young, D.W., Golenbock, D.T., Christ, W.J., Gusovsky, F., 1999. Toll-like receptor-4 mediates lipopolysaccharide-induced signal transduction. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 10689–92.
- Christou, N. V, Rode, H., Larsen, D., Loose, L., Broadhead, M., Meakins, J.L., 1984. The walk-in anergic patient. How best to assess the risk of sepsis following elective surgery. Ann. Surg. 199, 438–44.
- Clapham, J.C., Arch, J.R., Chapman, H., Haynes, A., Lister, C., Moore, G.B., Piercy, V., Carter, S.A., Lehner, I., Smith, S.A., Beeley, L.J., Godden, R.J., Herrity, N., Skehel, M., Changani, K.K., Hockings, P.D., Reid, D.G., Squires, S.M., Hatcher, J., Trail, B., Latcham, J., Rastan, S., Harper, A.J., Cadenas, S., Buckingham, J.A., Brand, M.D., Abuin, A., 2000. Mice overexpressing human uncoupling protein-3 in skeletal muscle are hyperphagic and lean. Nature 406, 415–8.
- Clarke, A.R., Purdie, C.A., Harrison, D.J., Morris, R.G., Bird, C.C., Hooper, M.L., Wyllie, A.H., 1993. Thymocyte apoptosis induced by p53-dependent and independent pathways. Nature 362, 849–52.
- Cohen, P.J., 1973. Effect of anesthetics on mitochondrial function. Anesthesiology 39, 153– 64.
- Cohn, Z., Morse, S., 1959. Interactions between rabbit polymorphonuclear leucocytes and

staphylococci. J. Exp. Med. 110, 419-43.

- Collins, S.J., Ruscetti, F.W., Gallagher, R.E., Gallo, R.C., 1979. Normal functional characteristics of cultured human promyelocytic leukemia cells (HL-60) after induction of differentiation by dimethylsulfoxide. J. Exp. Med. 149, 969–74.
- Colombini, M., 2004. VDAC: the channel at the interface between mitochondria and the cytosol. Mol. Cell. Biochem. 256–257, 107–15.
- Colotta, F., Re, F., Muzio, M., Bertini, R., Polentarutti, N., Sironi, M., Giri, J.G., Dower, S.K., Sims, J.E., Mantovani, A., 1993. Interleukin-1 type II receptor: a decoy target for IL-1 that is regulated by IL-4. Science 261, 472–5.
- Colotta, F., Re, F., Polentarutti, N., Sozzani, S., Mantovani, A., 1992. Modulation of granulocyte survival and programmed cell death by cytokines and bacterial products. Blood 80, 2012–20.
- Condliffe, A.M., Kitchen, E., Chilvers, E.R., 1998. Neutrophil priming: pathophysiological consequences and underlying mechanisms. Clin. Sci. (Lond). 94, 461–71.
- Copeland, G.P., Jones, D., Walters, M., 1991. POSSUM: a scoring system for surgical audit. Br. J. Surg. 78, 355–60.
- Costa, A.D.T., Garlid, K.D., 2008. Intramitochondrial signaling: interactions among mitoKATP, PKCepsilon, ROS, and MPT. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 295, H874-82.
- Cowburn, A.S., White, J.F., Deighton, J., Walmsley, S.R., Chilvers, E.R., 2005. z-VAD-fmk augmentation of TNF alpha-stimulated neutrophil apoptosis is compound specific and does not involve the generation of reactive oxygen species. Blood 105, 2970–2.
- Coxon, A., Rieu, P., Barkalow, F.J., Askari, S., Sharpe, A.H., von Andrian, U.H., Arnaout, M.A., Mayadas, T.N., 1996. A novel role for the beta 2 integrin CD11b/CD18 in neutrophil apoptosis: a homeostatic mechanism in inflammation. Immunity 5, 653–66.
- Cramer, T., Yamanishi, Y., Clausen, B.E., Förster, I., Pawlinski, R., Mackman, N., Haase, V.H., Jaenisch, R., Corr, M., Nizet, V., Firestein, G.S., Gerber, H.P., Ferrara, N., Johnson, R.S., 2003. HIF-1α is essential for myeloid cell-mediated inflammation. Cell 112, 645–57.
- Crimi, E., Sica, V., Slutsky, A.S., Zhang, H., Williams-Ignarro, S., Ignarro, L.J., Napoli, C., 2006. Role of oxidative stress in experimental sepsis and multisystem organ dysfunction. Free Radic. Res. 40, 665–72.
- Cruz, D.N., Antonelli, M., Fumagalli, R., Foltran, F., Brienza, N., Donati, A., Malcangi, V., Petrini, F., Volta, G., Bobbio Pallavicini, F.M., Rottoli, F., Giunta, F., Ronco, C., 2009.
 Early use of polymyxin B hemoperfusion in abdominal septic shock: the EUPHAS randomized controlled trial. JAMA 301, 2445–52.
- Cumming, R., Andon, N.L., Haynes, P. a., Park, M., Fischer, W.H., Schubert, D., 2004b. Protein disulfide bond formation in the cytoplasm during oxidative stress. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 21749–21758.
- Cummings, C.J., Martin, T.R., Frevert, C.W., Quan, J.M., Wong, V.A., Mongovin, S.M., Hagen, T.R., Steinberg, K.P., Goodman, R.B., 1999. Expression and function of the chemokine receptors CXCR1 and CXCR2 in sepsis. J. Immunol. 162, 2341–6.
- Damas, P., Ledoux, D., Nys, M., Vrindts, Y., De Groote, D., Franchimont, P., Lamy, M., 1992.

Cytokine serum level during severe sepsis in human IL-6 as a marker of severity. Ann. Surg. 215, 356–62.

- Dancey, J.T., Deubelbeiss, K.A., Harker, L.A., Finch, C.A., 1976. Neutrophil kinetics in man. J. Clin. Invest. 58, 705–15.
- Darrah, E., Andrade, F., 2012. NETs: the missing link between cell death and systemic autoimmune diseases? Front. Immunol. 3, 428.
- Davidson, B.A., Vethanayagam, R.R., Grimm, M.J., Mullan, B.A., Raghavendran, K., Blackwell, T.S., Freeman, M.L., Ayyasamy, V., Singh, K.K., Sporn, M.B., Itagaki, K., Hauser, C.J., Knight, P.R., Segal, B.H., 2013. NADPH oxidase and Nrf2 regulate gastric aspirationinduced inflammation and acute lung injury. J. Immunol. 190, 1714–24.
- de Godoy, L.M.F., Olsen, J. V, Cox, J., Nielsen, M.L., Hubner, N.C., Fröhlich, F., Walther, T.C., Mann, M., 2008. Comprehensive mass-spectrometry-based proteome quantification of haploid versus diploid yeast. Nature 455, 1251–4.
- De Maio, A., Torres, M.B., Reeves, R.H., 2005. Genetic Determinants Influencing the Response To Injury, Inflammation, and Sepsis. Shock 23, 11–17.
- Deitch, E.A., Bridges, W., Berg, R., Specian, R.D., Granger, D.N., 1990. Hemorrhagic shockinduced bacterial translocation: the role of neutrophils and hydroxyl radicals. J. Trauma 30, 942-51-2.
- Delano, M.J., Scumpia, P.O., Weinstein, J.S., Coco, D., Nagaraj, S., Kelly-Scumpia, K.M., O'Malley, K.A., Wynn, J.L., Antonenko, S., Al-Quran, S.Z., Swan, R., Chung, C.-S., Atkinson, M.A., Ramphal, R., Gabrilovich, D.I., Reeves, W.H., Ayala, A., Phillips, J., Laface, D., Heyworth, P.G., Clare-Salzler, M., Moldawer, L.L., 2007. MyD88-dependent expansion of an immature GR-1(+)CD11b(+) population induces T cell suppression and Th2 polarization in sepsis. J. Exp. Med. 204, 1463–74.
- DeLeo, F.R., Renee, J., McCormick, S., Nakamura, M., Apicella, M., Weiss, J.P., Nauseef, W.M., 1998. Neutrophils exposed to bacterial lipopolysaccharide upregulate NADPH oxidase assembly. J. Clin. Invest. 101, 455–63.
- Dellinger, R.P., Levy, M.M., Carlet, J.M., Bion, J., Parker, M.M., Jaeschke, R., Reinhart, K., Angus, D.C., Brun-Buisson, C., Beale, R., Calandra, T., Dhainaut, J.-F., Gerlach, H., Harvey, M., Marini, J.J., Marshall, J., Ranieri, M., Ramsay, G., Sevransky, J., Thompson, B.T., Townsend, S., Vender, J.S., Zimmerman, J.L., Vincent, J.-L., 2008. Surviving Sepsis Campaign: international guidelines for management of severe sepsis and septic shock: 2008. Intensive Care Med. 34, 17–60.
- Dellinger, R.P., Levy, M.M., Rhodes, A., Annane, D., Gerlach, H., Opal, S.M., Sevransky, J.E., Sprung, C.L., Douglas, I.S., Jaeschke, R., Osborn, T.M., Nunnally, M.E., Townsend, S.R., Reinhart, K., Kleinpell, R.M., Angus, D.C., Deutschman, C.S., Machado, F.R., Rubenfeld, G.D., Webb, S., Beale, R.J., Vincent, J.-L., Moreno, R., 2013. Surviving sepsis campaign: international guidelines for management of severe sepsis and septic shock, 2012. Intensive Care Med. 39, 165–228.
- Delogu, G., Famularo, G., Moretti, S., De Luca, A., Tellan, G., Antonucci, A., Marandola, M., Signore, L., 2001. Interleukin-10 and apoptotic death of circulating lymphocytes in surgical/anesthesia trauma. J. Trauma 51, 92–7.
- Delogu, G., Famularo, G., Tellan, G., Marandola, M., Antonucci, A., Signore, M., Marcellini, S.,

Moretti, S., 2008. Lymphocyte apoptosis, caspase activation and inflammatory response in septic shock. Infection 36, 485–7.

- Delogu, G., Moretti, S., Antonucci, A., Marcellini, S., Masciangelo, R., Famularo, G., Signore, L., De Simone, C., 2000. Apoptosis and surgical trauma: dysregulated expression of death and survival factors on peripheral lymphocytes. Arch. Surg. 135, 1141–7.
- Delogu, G., Moretti, S., Famularo, G., Antonucci, L., Signore, L., Marcellini, S., Bosco, L., Simone, C., 2001. Circulating neutrophils exhibit enhanced apoptosis associated with mitochondrial dysfunctions after surgery. Acta Anaesthesiol. Scand. 45, 87–94.
- Deng, J., Wang, X., Qian, F., Vogel, S., Xiao, L., Ranjan, R., Park, H., Karpurapu, M., Ye, R.D., Park, G.Y., Christman, J.W., 2012. Protective role of reactive oxygen species in endotoxin-induced lung inflammation through modulation of IL-10 expression. J. Immunol. 188, 5734–40.
- Dikalov, S., 2011. Cross talk between mitochondria and NADPH oxidases. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 51, 1289–301.
- Dikalov, S., Skatchkov, M., Bassenge, E., 1997. Spin trapping of superoxide radicals and peroxynitrite by 1-hydroxy-3-carboxy-pyrrolidine and 1-hydroxy-2,2,6, 6-tetramethyl-4-oxo-piperidine and the stability of corresponding nitroxyl radicals towards biological reductants. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 231, 701–4.
- Dikalov, S.I., Li, W., Doughan, A.K., Blanco, R.R., Zafari, a M., 2012. Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species and calcium uptake regulate activation of phagocytic NADPH oxidase. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 302, R1134-42.
- Dikalov, S.I., Nazarewicz, R.R., Bikineyeva, A., Hilenski, L., Lassègue, B., Griendling, K.K., Harrison, D.G., Dikalova, A.E., 2014. Nox2-induced production of mitochondrial superoxide in angiotensin II-mediated endothelial oxidative stress and hypertension. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 20, 281–94.
- Dikalova, A.E., Bikineyeva, A.T., Budzyn, K., Nazarewicz, R.R., McCann, L., Lewis, W., Harrison, D.G., Dikalov, S.I., 2010. Therapeutic targeting of mitochondrial superoxide in hypertension. Circ. Res. 107, 106–116.
- Doeing, D.C., Borowicz, J.L., Crockett, E.T., 2003. Gender dimorphism in differential peripheral blood leukocyte counts in mice using cardiac, tail, foot, and saphenous vein puncture methods. BMC Clin. Pathol. 3, 3.
- Doevendans, P., Daemen, M., Muinck, E., Smits, J., 1998. Cardiovascular phenotyping in mice. Cardiovasc. Res. 39, 34–49.
- Dombrovskiy, V.Y., Martin, A.A., Sunderram, J., Paz, H.L., 2007. Rapid increase in hospitalization and mortality rates for severe sepsis in the United States: a trend analysis from 1993 to 2003. Crit. Care Med. 35, 1244–50.
- Dovi, J. V, He, L.-K., DiPietro, L.A., 2003. Accelerated wound closure in neutrophil-depleted mice. J. Leukoc. Biol. 73, 448–55.
- Dransfield, I., Buckle, A.M., Savill, J.S., McDowall, A., Haslett, C., Hogg, N., 1994. Neutrophil apoptosis is associated with a reduction in CD16 (Fcγ RIII) expression. J. Immunol. 153, 1254–63.
- Dröge, W., 2002. Free radicals in the physiological control of cell function. Physiol. Rev. 82,

47–95.

- Eckenhoff, R.G., Johansson, J.S., 1997. Molecular interactions between inhaled anesthetics and proteins. Pharmacol. Rev. 49, 343–67.
- Edwards, M.R., Sultan, P., Del Arroyo, A.G., Whittle, J., Karmali, S.N., Moonesinghe, S.R., Haddad, F.S., Mythen, M.G., Singer, M., Ackland, G.L., 2015. Metabolic dysfunction in lymphocytes promotes postoperative morbidity. Clin. Sci. (Lond). 129, 423–37.
- Edwards, S.W., Derouet, M., Howse, M., Moots, R.J., 2004. Regulation of neutrophil apoptosis by McI-1. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 32, 489–92.
- Ehrenberg, B., Montana, V., Wei, M.D., Wuskell, J.P., Loew, L.M., 1988. Membrane potential can be determined in individual cells from the nernstian distribution of cationic dyes. Biophys. J. 53, 785–94.
- El Jamali, A., Valente, A.J., Clark, R.A., 2010. Regulation of phagocyte NADPH oxidase by hydrogen peroxide through a Ca(2+)/c-Abl signaling pathway. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 48, 798–810.
- El Kebir, D., Filep, J.G., 2013. Modulation of Neutrophil Apoptosis and the Resolution of Inflammation through β2 Integrins. Front. Immunol. 4, 60.
- El Kebir, D., József, L., Pan, W., Wang, L., Petasis, N.A., Serhan, C.N., Filep, J.G., 2009. 15epi-lipoxin A4 inhibits myeloperoxidase signaling and enhances resolution of acute lung injury. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 180, 311–9.
- El Mezayen, R., El Gazzar, M., Seeds, M.C., McCall, C.E., Dreskin, S.C., Nicolls, M.R., 2007. Endogenous signals released from necrotic cells augment inflammatory responses to bacterial endotoxin. Immunol. Lett. 111, 36–44.
- Elghetany, M.T., Davis, B.H., 2005. Impact of preanalytical variables on granulocytic surface antigen expression: a review. Cytometry B. Clin. Cytom. 65, 1–5.
- Elliott, M.R., Chekeni, F.B., Trampont, P.C., Lazarowski, E.R., Kadl, A., Walk, S.F., Park, D., Woodson, R.I., Ostankovich, M., Sharma, P., Lysiak, J.J., Harden, T.K., Leitinger, N., Ravichandran, K.S., 2009. Nucleotides released by apoptotic cells act as a find-me signal to promote phagocytic clearance. Nature 461, 282–6.
- Ertel, W., Keel, M., Buergi, U., Hartung, T., Imhof, H.G., Trentz, O., 1999. Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor inhibits neutrophil apoptosis at the local site after severe head and thoracic injury. J. Trauma 46, 784-92–3.
- Ertel, W., Keel, M., Infanger, M., Ungethüm, U., Steckholzer, U., Trentz, O., 1998. Circulating mediators in serum of injured patients with septic complications inhibit neutrophil apoptosis through up-regulation of protein-tyrosine phosphorylation. J. Trauma 44, 767-75–6.
- Fadok, V.A., Bratton, D.L., Konowal, A., Freed, P.W., Westcott, J.Y., Henson, P.M., 1998. Macrophages that have ingested apoptotic cells in vitro inhibit proinflammatory cytokine production through autocrine/paracrine mechanisms involving TGF-beta, PGE2, and PAF. J. Clin. Invest. 101, 890–8.
- Fan, J., Kapus, A., Marsden, P.A., Li, Y.H., Oreopoulos, G., Marshall, J.C., Frantz, S., Kelly, R.A., Medzhitov, R., Rotstein, O.D., 2002. Regulation of Toll-like receptor 4 expression in the lung following hemorrhagic shock and lipopolysaccharide. J. Immunol. 168, 5252–

9.

- Fan, J., Li, Y., Levy, R.M., Fan, J.J., Hackam, D.J., Vodovotz, Y., Yang, H., Tracey, K.J., Billiar, T.R., Wilson, M.A., 2007. Hemorrhagic shock induces NAD(P)H oxidase activation in neutrophils: role of HMGB1-TLR4 signaling. J. Immunol. 178, 6573–80.
- Fanning, N.F., Kell, M.R., Shorten, G.D., Kirwan, W.O., Bouchier-Hayes, D., Cotter, T.G., Redmond, H.P., 1999. Circulating granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor in plasma of patients with the systemic inflammatory response syndrome delays neutrophil apoptosis through inhibition of spontaneous reactive oxygen species generation. Shock 11, 167–74.
- Fanning, N.F., Porter, J., Shorten, G.D., Kirwan, W.O., Bouchier-Hayes, D., Cotter, T.G., Redmond, H.P., 1999. Inhibition of neutrophil apoptosis after elective surgery. Surgery 126, 527–34.
- Fauth, U., Schlechtriemen, T., Heinrichs, W., Puente-Gonzalez, I., Halmágyi, M., 1993. The measurement of enzyme activities in the resting human polymorphonuclear leukocyte-critical estimate of a method. Eur. J. Clin. Chem. Clin. Biochem. 31, 5–16.
- Fay, A.J., Qian, X., Jan, Y.N., Jan, L.Y., 2006. SK channels mediate NADPH oxidaseindependent reactive oxygen species production and apoptosis in granulocytes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 17548–53.
- Feng, B., Xu, J.J., Bi, Y.-A., Mireles, R., Davidson, R., Duignan, D.B., Campbell, S., Kostrubsky, V.E., Dunn, M.C., Smith, A.R., Wang, H.F., 2009. Role of Hepatic Transporters in the Disposition and Hepatotoxicity of a HER2 Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor CP-724,714. Toxicol. Sci. 108, 492–500.
- Fessler, M.B., Malcolm, K.C., Duncan, M.W., Worthen, G.S., 2002. A genomic and proteomic analysis of activation of the human neutrophil by lipopolysaccharide and its mediation by p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 31291–302.
- Feterowski, C., Weighardt, H., Emmanuilidis, K., Hartung, T., Holzmann, B., 2001. Immune protection against septic peritonitis in endotoxin-primed mice is related to reduced neutrophil apoptosis. Eur. J. Immunol. 31, 1268–77.
- Fildes, J.E., Shaw, S.M., Yonan, N., Williams, S.G., 2009. The immune system and chronic heart failure: is the heart in control? J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 53, 1013–20.
- Filosa, S., Fico, A., Paglialunga, F., Balestrieri, M., Crooke, A., Verde, P., Abrescia, P., Bautista, J.M., Martini, G., 2003. Failure to increase glucose consumption through the pentose-phosphate pathway results in the death of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase gene-deleted mouse embryonic stem cells subjected to oxidative stress. Biochem. J. 370, 935–43.
- Fink, M.P., 2001. Cytopathic hypoxia. Mitochondrial dysfunction as mechanism contributing to organ dysfunction in sepsis. Crit. Care Clin. 17, 219–37.
- Fink, M.P., 2014. Animal models of sepsis. Virulence 5, 143–53.
- Flohé, S., Lendemans, S., Schade, F.-U., Kreuzfelder, E., Waydhas, C., 2004. Influence of surgical intervention in the immune response of severely injured patients. Intensive Care Med. 30, 96–102.
- Fontes, B., Moore, E.E., Moore, F.A., Koike, K., Carl, V., Banerjee, A., 1995. PMNs primed

for superoxide release and increased CDIIb expression do not sequester in normal lung. J. Surg. Res. 58, 599–604.

- Forkink, M., Manjeri, G.R., Liemburg-Apers, D.C., Nibbeling, E., Blanchard, M., Wojtala, A., Smeitink, J.A.M., Wieckowski, M.R., Willems, P.H.G.M., Koopman, W.J.H., 2014.
 Mitochondrial hyperpolarization during chronic complex I inhibition is sustained by low activity of complex II, III, IV and V. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1837, 1247–56.
- Fortenberry, J.D., Owens, M.L., Chen, N.X., Brown, L.A., 2001. S-nitrosoglutathione inhibits TNF-alpha-induced NFkappaB activation in neutrophils. Inflamm. Res. 50, 89–95.
- Fortin, C.F., Ear, T., McDonald, P.P., 2009. Autocrine role of endogenous interleukin-18 on inflammatory cytokine generation by human neutrophils. FASEB J. 23, 194–203.
- Fossati, G., Moulding, D. a, Spiller, D.G., Moots, R.J., White, M.R.H., Edwards, S.W., 2003. The mitochondrial network of human neutrophils: role in chemotaxis, phagocytosis, respiratory burst activation, and commitment to apoptosis. J. Immunol. 170, 1964–72.
- Fosslien, E., 2003. Review: Mitochondrial medicine- cardiomyopathy caused by defective oxidative phosphorylation. Ann. Clin. Lab. Sci. 33, 371–95.
- Foulds, S., Galustian, C., Mansfield, a O., Schachter, M., 2001. Transcription factor NF kappa B expression and postsurgical organ dysfunction. Ann. Surg. 233, 70–8.
- Francois, S., El Benna, J., Dang, P.M.C., Pedruzzi, E., Gougerot-Pocidalo, M. -a., Elbim, C., 2005. Inhibition of Neutrophil Apoptosis by TLR Agonists in Whole Blood: Involvement of the Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase/Akt and NF- B Signaling Pathways, Leading to Increased Levels of McI-1, A1, and Phosphorylated Bad. J. Immunol. 174, 3633–3642.
- Fridovich, I., 2004. Mitochondria: are they the seat of senescence? Aging Cell 3, 13-6.
- Fröhlich, D., Trabold, B., Rothe, G., Hoerauf, K., Wittmann, S., 2006. Inhibition of the neutrophil oxidative response by propofol: preserved in vivo function despite in vitro inhibition. Eur. J. Anaesthesiol. 23, 948–53.
- Fuchs, T.A., Abed, U., Goosmann, C., Hurwitz, R., Schulze, I., Wahn, V., Weinrauch, Y., Brinkmann, V., Zychlinsky, A., 2007. Novel cell death program leads to neutrophil extracellular traps. J. Cell Biol. 176, 231–41.
- Fullerton, J.N., O'Brien, A.J., Gilroy, D.W., 2013. Pathways mediating resolution of inflammation: when enough is too much. J. Pathol. 231, 8–20.
- Fung, Y.L., Silliman, C.C., Minchinton, R.M., Wood, P., Fraser, J.F., 2008. Cardiopulmonary bypass induces enduring alterations to host neutrophil physiology: a single-center longitudinal observational study. Shock 30, 642–8.
- Futier, E., Constantin, J.-M., Paugam-Burtz, C., Pascal, J., Eurin, M., Neuschwander, A.,
 Marret, E., Beaussier, M., Gutton, C., Lefrant, J.-Y., Allaouchiche, B., Verzilli, D., Leone,
 M., De Jong, A., Bazin, J.-E., Pereira, B., Jaber, S., 2013. A trial of intraoperative lowtidal-volume ventilation in abdominal surgery. N. Engl. J. Med. 369, 428–37.
- Futosi, K., Fodor, S., Mócsai, A., 2013. Neutrophil cell surface receptors and their intracellular signal transduction pathways. Int. Immunopharmacol. 17, 638–50.
- Gandhi, S., Wood-Kaczmar, A., Yao, Z., Plun-Favreau, H., Deas, E., Klupsch, K., Downward, J., Latchman, D.S., Tabrizi, S.J., Wood, N.W., Duchen, M.R., Abramov, A.Y., 2009.

PINK I-associated Parkinson's disease is caused by neuronal vulnerability to calciuminduced cell death. Mol. Cell 33, 627–38.

- Gao, L., Mann, G.E., 2009. Vascular NAD(P)H oxidase activation in diabetes: a double-edged sword in redox signalling. Cardiovasc. Res. 82, 9–20.
- Garcea, G., Ladwa, N., Neal, C.P., Metcalfe, M.S., Dennison, A.R., Berry, D.P., 2011. Preoperative neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) is associated with reduced diseasefree survival following curative resection of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. World J. Surg. 35, 868–72.
- Garlichs, C.D., Eskafi, S., Cicha, I., Schmeisser, A., Walzog, B., Raaz, D., Stumpf, C., Yilmaz, A., Bremer, J., Ludwig, J., Daniel, W.G., 2004. Delay of neutrophil apoptosis in acute coronary syndromes. J. Leukoc. Biol. 75, 828–35.
- Garrabou, G., Morén, C., López, S., Tobías, E., Cardellach, F., Miró, O., Casademont, J., 2012. The effects of sepsis on mitochondria. J. Infect. Dis. 205, 392–400.
- Gattinoni, L., Brazzi, L., Pelosi, P., Latini, R., Tognoni, G., Pesenti, A., Fumagalli, R., 1995. A trial of goal-oriented hemodynamic therapy in critically ill patients. SvO₂ Collaborative Group. N. Engl. J. Med. 333, 1025–32.
- Ghoreschi, K., Laurence, A., O'Shea, J.J., 2009. Janus kinases in immune cell signaling. Immunol. Rev. 228, 273–87.
- Ghosh, S., Karin, M., 2002. Missing pieces in the NF-kappaB puzzle. Cell 109 Suppl, S81-96.
- Gibot, S., Massin, F., Le Renard, P., Béné, M.C., Faure, G.C., Bollaert, P.-E., Levy, B., 2005. Surface and soluble triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-1: expression patterns in murine sepsis. Crit. Care Med. 33, 1787–93.
- Gibson, P.H., Croal, B.L., Cuthbertson, B.H., Small, G.R., Ifezulike, A.I., Gibson, G., Jeffrey, R.R., Buchan, K.G., El-Shafei, H., Hillis, G.S., 2007. Preoperative neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio and outcome from coronary artery bypass grafting. Am. Heart J. 154, 995–1002.
- Gilroy, D.W., Lawrence, T., Perretti, M., Rossi, A.G., 2004. Inflammatory resolution: new opportunities for drug discovery. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 3, 401–16.
- Gogos, C., Kotsaki, A., Pelekanou, A., Giannikopoulos, G., Vaki, I., Maravitsa, P., Adamis, S., Alexiou, Z., Andrianopoulos, G., Antonopoulou, A., Athanassia, S., Baziaka, F., Charalambous, A., Christodoulou, S., Dimopoulou, I., Floros, I., Giannitsioti, E., Gkanas, P., Ioakeimidou, A., Kanellakopoulou, K., Karabela, N., Karagianni, V., Katsarolis, I., Kontopithari, G., Kopterides, P., Koutelidakis, I., Koutoukas, P., Kranidioti, H., Lignos, M., Louis, K., Lymberopoulou, K., Mainas, E., Marioli, A., Massouras, C., Mavrou, I., Mpalla, M., Michalia, M., Mylona, H., Mytas, V., Papanikolaou, I., Papanikolaou, K., Sartzi, M., Skouras, V., Souli, M., Spyridaki, A., Strouvalis, I., Tsaganos, T., Zografos, G., Mandragos, K., Klouva-Molyvdas, P., Maggina, N., Giamarellou, H., Armaganidis, A., Giamarellos-Bourboulis, E.J., 2010. Early alterations of the innate and adaptive immune statuses in sepsis according to the type of underlying infection. Crit. Care 14, R96.
- Gootz, T.D., Barrett, J.F., Sutcliffe, J.A., 1990. Inhibitory effects of quinolone antibacterial agents on eucaryotic topoisomerases and related test systems. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 34, 8–12.
- Gosselin, E.J., Wardwell, K., Rigby, W.F., Guyre, P.M., 1993. Induction of MHC class II on

human polymorphonuclear neutrophils by granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor, IFN-gamma, and IL-3. J. Immunol. 151, 1482–90.

- Graier, W.F., Frieden, M., Malli, R., 2007. Mitochondria and Ca²⁺ signaling: old guests, new functions. Pflugers Arch. 455, 375–96.
- Guan, J., Liu, S., Lin, Z., Li, W., Liu, X., Chen, D., 2013. Severe Sepsis Facilitates Intestinal Colonization by ESBL-Producing Klebsiella pneumoniae and Transfer of the SHV-18 Resistance Gene to Escherichia coli During Antimicrobial Treatment. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.
- Guignant, C., Lepape, A., Huang, X., Kherouf, H., Denis, L., Poitevin, F., Malcus, C., Chéron, A., Allaouchiche, B., Gueyffier, F., Ayala, A., Monneret, G., Venet, F., 2011. Programmed death-1 levels correlate with increased mortality, nosocomial infection and immune dysfunctions in septic shock patients. Crit. Care 15, R99.
- Gupta, H., Gupta, P.K., Schuller, D., Fang, X., Miller, W.J., Modrykamien, A., Wichman, T.O., Morrow, L.E., 2013. Development and validation of a risk calculator for predicting postoperative pneumonia. Mayo Clin. Proc. 88, 1241–9.
- Guzik, T.J., Griendling, K.K., 2009. NADPH oxidases: molecular understanding finally reaching the clinical level? Antioxid. Redox Signal. 11, 2365–70.
- Hadley, J.S., Wang, J.E., Michaels, L.C., Dempsey, C.M., Foster, S.J., Thiemermann, C., Hinds, C.J., 2007. Alterations in inflammatory capacity and TLR expression on monocytes and neutrophils after cardiopulmonary bypass. Shock 27, 466–73.
- Haimovich, B., Zhang, Z., Calvano, J.E., Calvano, S.E., Kumar, A., Macor, M. a., Corbett, S., Coyle, S.M., Lowry, S.F., 2014. Cellular metabolic regulators: novel indicators of lowgrade inflammation in humans. Ann. Surg. 259, 999–1006.
- Hamilton, M. a, Cecconi, M., Rhodes, A., 2011. A systematic review and meta-analysis on the use of preemptive hemodynamic intervention to improve postoperative outcomes in moderate and high-risk surgical patients. Anesth. Analg. 112, 1392–402.
- Hampton, M.B., Vissers, M.C.M., Keenan, J.I., Winterbourn, C.C., 2002. Oxidant-mediated phosphatidylserine exposure and macrophage uptake of activated neutrophils: possible impairment in chronic granulomatous disease. J. Leukoc. Biol. 71, 775–81.
- Han, W., Li, H., Cai, J., Gleaves, L.A., Polosukhin, V. V, Segal, B.H., Yull, F.E., Blackwell, T.S., 2013. NADPH oxidase limits lipopolysaccharide-induced lung inflammation and injury in mice through reduction-oxidation regulation of NF-κB activity. J. Immunol. 190, 4786–94.
- Hanley, P.J., Ray, J., Brandt, U., Daut, J., 2002. Halothane, isoflurane and sevoflurane inhibit NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase (complex I) of cardiac mitochondria. J. Physiol. 544, 687–93.
- Harrison, D.A., Welch, C.A., Eddleston, J.M., 2006. The epidemiology of severe sepsis in England, Wales and Northern Ireland, 1996 to 2004: secondary analysis of a high quality clinical database, the ICNARC Case Mix Programme Database. Crit. Care 10, R42.
- Härter, L., Mica, L., Stocker, R., Trentz, O., Keel, M., Harter, L., Al, E.T., 2004. Increased Expression of Toll-Like Receptor-2 and -4 on Leukocytes From Patients With Sepsis. Shock 22, 403–409.

- Haslett, C., 1992. Resolution of acute inflammation and the role of apoptosis in the tissue fate of granulocytes. Clin. Sci. (Lond). 83, 639–48.
- Hatanaka, E., Carvalho, B.T.C., Condino-Neto, A., Campa, A., 2004. Hyperresponsiveness of neutrophils from gp 91phox deficient patients to lipopolysaccharide and serum amyloid A. Immunol. Lett. 94, 43–6.
- Hayashi, F., Means, T.K., Luster, A.D., 2003. Toll-like receptors stimulate human neutrophil function. Blood 102, 2660–9.
- Hayes, M.A., Yau, E.H., Timmins, A.C., Hinds, C.J., Watson, D., 1993. Response of critically ill patients to treatment aimed at achieving supranormal oxygen delivery and consumption. Relationship to outcome. Chest 103, 886–95.
- Heagy, W., Hansen, C., Nieman, K., Cohen, M., Richardson, C., Rodriguez, J.L., West, M.A., 2000. Impaired ex vivo lipopolysaccharide-stimulated whole blood tumor necrosis factor production may identify "septic" intensive care unit patients. Shock 14, 271-6-7.
- Heagy, W., Nieman, K., Hansen, C., Cohen, M., Danielson, D., West, M.A., 2003. Lower levels of whole blood LPS-stimulated cytokine release are associated with poorer clinical outcomes in surgical ICU patients. Surg. Infect. (Larchmt). 4, 171–80.
- Hellmich, H.L., Garcia, J.M., Shimamura, M., Shah, S.A., Avila, M.A., Uchida, T., Parsley, M.A., Capra, B.A., Eidson, K.A., Kennedy, D.R., Winston, J.H., DeWitt, D.S., Prough, D.S., 2005. Traumatic brain injury and hemorrhagic hypotension suppress neuroprotective gene expression in injured hippocampal neurons. Anesthesiology 102, 806–14.
- Henderson, L.M., Chappell, J.B., 1992. The NADPH-oxidase-associated H⁺ channel is opened by arachidonate. Biochem. J. 283, 171–5.
- Henderson, L.M., Chappell, J.B., 1993. Dihydrorhodamine 123: a fluorescent probe for superoxide generation? Eur. J. Biochem. 217, 973–80.
- Henderson, L.M., Meech, R.W., 1999. Evidence that the product of the human X-linked CGD gene, gp91-phox, is a voltage-gated H⁺ pathway. J. Gen. Physiol. 114, 771–86.
- Henneke, P., Golenbock, D., 2001. TIRAP : how Toll receptors fraternize. Nat. Immunol. 2, 2–4.
- Henriksen, D.P., Pottegård, A., Laursen, C.B., Jensen, T.G., Hallas, J., Pedersen, C., Lassen, A.T., 2015. Risk factors for hospitalization due to community-acquired sepsis a population-based case-control study. PLoS One 10, e0124838.
- Henriksen, M.G., Hessov, I., Dela, F., Hansen, H.V., Haraldsted, V., Rodt, S., 2003. Effects of preoperative oral carbohydrates and peptides on postoperative endocrine response, mobilization, nutrition and muscle function in abdominal surgery. Acta Anaesthesiol. Scand. 47, 191–199.
- Hinshaw, L.B., Beller-Todd, B.K., Archer, L.T., Benjamin, B., Flournoy, D.J., Passey, R., Wilson, M.F., 1981. Effectiveness of steroid/antibiotic treatment in primates administered LD100 Escherichia coli. Ann. Surg. 194, 51–6.
- Hitosugi, T., Kang, S., Vander Heiden, M.G., Chung, T.-W., Elf, S., Lythgoe, K., Dong, S., Lonial, S., Wang, X., Chen, G.Z., Xie, J., Gu, T.-L., Polakiewicz, R.D., Roesel, J.L., Boggon, T.J., Khuri, F.R., Gilliland, D.G., Cantley, L.C., Kaufman, J., Chen, J., 2009. Tyrosine phosphorylation inhibits PKM2 to promote the Warburg effect and tumor

growth. Sci. Signal. 2, ra73.

- Hlatky, M. a, Boineau, R.E., Higginbotham, M.B., Lee, K.L., Mark, D.B., Califf, R.M., Cobb, F.R., Pryor, D.B., 1989. A brief self-administered questionnaire to determine functional capacity (the Duke Activity Status Index). Am. J. Cardiol. 64, 651–4.
- Hoesel, L.M., Neff, T.A., Neff, S.B., Younger, J.G., Olle, E.W., Gao, H., Pianko, M.J., Bernacki, K.D., Sarma, J.V., Ward, P.A., 2005. Harmful and protective roles of neutrophils in sepsis. Shock 24, 40–47.
- Hoffman, R.A., 2009. Pulse width for particle sizing. Curr. Protoc. Cytom. Chapter 1, Unit 1.23.
- Holman, J.M., Saba, T.M., 1988. Hepatocyte injury during post-operative sepsis: activated neutrophils as potential mediators. J. Leukoc. Biol. 43, 193–203.
- Holzer, K., Hofmann, D., Oppermann, E., Zeuzem, S., Mönch, C., Henrich, D., Bechstein, W.-O., 2010. Neutrophil phenotype and function in partial hepatectomy in man. Langenbecks. Arch. Surg. 395, 643–53.
- Hoogerwerf, J.J., van Zoelen, M. a, Wiersinga, W.J., van 't Veer, C., de Vos, A.F., de Boer, A., Schultz, M.J., Hooibrink, B., de Jonge, E., van der Poll, T., 2010. Gene expression profiling of apoptosis regulators in patients with sepsis. J. Innate Immun. 2, 461–8.
- Hotchkiss, R.S., Moldawer, L.L., Ph, D., 2014. Clinical implications of basic research: Parallels between cancer and infectious Disease 380–383.
- Hotchkiss, R.S., Schmieg, R.E., Swanson, P.E., Freeman, B.D., Tinsley, K.W., Cobb, J.P., Karl, I.E., Buchman, T.G., 2000. Rapid onset of intestinal epithelial and lymphocyte apoptotic cell death in patients with trauma and shock. Crit. Care Med. 28, 3207–17.
- Hotchkiss, R.S., Swanson, P.E., Cobb, J.P., Jacobson, A., Buchman, T.G., Karl, I.E., 1997. Apoptosis in lymphoid and parenchymal cells during sepsis: findings in normal and Tand B-cell-deficient mice. Crit. Care Med. 25, 1298–307.
- Hotchkiss, R.S., Swanson, P.E., Freeman, B.D., Tinsley, K.W., Cobb, J.P., Matuschak, G.M., Buchman, T.G., Karl, I.E., 1999. Apoptotic cell death in patients with sepsis, shock, and multiple organ dysfunction. Crit. Care Med. 27, 1230–51.
- Hotchkiss, R.S., Tinsley, K.W., Swanson, P.E., Chang, K.C., Cobb, J.P., Buchman, T.G., Korsmeyer, S.J., Karl, I.E., 1999. Prevention of lymphocyte cell death in sepsis improves survival in mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96, 14541–6.
- Hotchkiss, R.S., Tinsley, K.W., Swanson, P.E., Schmieg, R.E., Hui, J.J., Chang, K.C., Osborne, D.F., Freeman, B.D., Cobb, J.P., Buchman, T.G., Karl, I.E., 2001. Sepsis-induced apoptosis causes progressive profound depletion of B and CD4+ T lymphocytes in humans. J. Immunol. 166, 6952–63.
- Hsu, P.P., Sabatini, D.M., 2008. Cancer cell metabolism: Warburg and beyond. Cell 134, 703–7.
- Huang, J., Canadien, V., Lam, G.Y., Steinberg, B.E., Dinauer, M.C., Magalhaes, M.A.O., Glogauer, M., Grinstein, S., Brumell, J.H., 2009. Activation of antibacterial autophagy by NADPH oxidases. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106, 6226–31.
- Hughes, J., Johnson, R.J., Mooney, A., Hugo, C., Gordon, K., Savill, J., 1997. Neutrophil fate in experimental glomerular capillary injury in the rat. Emigration exceeds in situ

clearance by apoptosis. Am. J. Pathol. 150, 223-34.

- Hughes, S.F., Hendricks, B.D., Edwards, D.R., Maclean, K.M., Bastawrous, S.S., Middleton, J.F., 2010. Total hip and knee replacement surgery results in changes in leukocyte and endothelial markers. J. Inflamm. (Lond). 7, 2.
- Hultqvist, M., Olofsson, P., Holmberg, J., Bäckström, B.T., Tordsson, J., Holmdahl, R., 2004. Enhanced autoimmunity, arthritis, and encephalomyelitis in mice with a reduced oxidative burst due to a mutation in the NcfI gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101, 12646–51.
- Hüttemann, M., Lee, I., Pecinova, A., Pecina, P., Przyklenk, K., Doan, J.W., 2008. Regulation of oxidative phosphorylation, the mitochondrial membrane potential, and their role in human disease. J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 40, 445–56.
- Izquierdo, M., Ruiz-Granell, R., Bonanad, C., Chaustre, F., Gomez, C., Ferrero, A., Lopez-Lereu, P., Monmeneu, J. V, Nuñez, J., Chorro, F.J., Bodi, V., 2013. Value of early cardiovascular magnetic resonance for the prediction of adverse arrhythmic cardiac events after a first noncomplicated ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction. Circ. Cardiovasc. Imaging 6, 755–61.
- Jäger, S., Handschin, C., St-Pierre, J., Spiegelman, B.M., 2007. AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) action in skeletal muscle via direct phosphorylation of PGC-1alpha. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104, 12017–22.
- Janssen-Heininger, Y.M.W., Mossman, B.T., Heintz, N.H., Forman, H.J., Kalyanaraman, B., Finkel, T., Stamler, J.S., Rhee, S.G., van der Vliet, A., 2008. Redox-based regulation of signal transduction: principles, pitfalls, and promises. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 45, 1–17.
- Japiassú, A.M., Santiago, A.P.S. a, d'Avila, J.D.C.P., Garcia-Souza, L.F., Galina, A., Castro Faria-Neto, H.C., Bozza, F. a, Oliveira, M.F., 2011. Bioenergetic failure of human peripheral blood monocytes in patients with septic shock is mediated by reduced FIFO adenosine-5'-triphosphate synthase activity. Crit. Care Med. 39, 1056–63.
- Jimenez, M.F., Watson, R.W., Parodo, J., Evans, D., Foster, D., Steinberg, M., Rotstein, O.D., Marshall, J.C., 1997. Dysregulated expression of neutrophil apoptosis in the systemic inflammatory response syndrome. Arch. Surg. 132, 1263-9-70.
- Johnson, G.M., Gomez-Cambronero, J., 1995. Priming of tyrosine phosphorylation in GM-CSF-stimulated adherent neutrophils. J. Leukoc. Biol. 57, 692–8.
- Jones, D.P., 2008. Radical-free biology of oxidative stress. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 295, C849-68.
- Jones, R.O., Brittan, M., Anderson, N.H., Conway Morris, A., Murchison, J.T., Walker, W.S., Simpson, A.J., 2014. Serial characterisation of monocyte and neutrophil function after lung resection. BMJ open Respir. Res. 1, e000045.
- József, L., Khreiss, T., Filep, J.G., 2004. CpG motifs in bacterial DNA delay apoptosis of neutrophil granulocytes. FASEB J. 18, 1776–8.
- Kakinuma, K., 1970. Metabolic control and intracellular pH during phagocytosis by polymorphonuclear leucocytes. J. Biochem. 68, 177–85.
- Kalghatgi, S., Spina, C.S., Costello, J.C., Liesa, M., Morones-Ramirez, J.R., Slomovic, S., Molina, A., Shirihai, O.S., Collins, J.J., 2013. Bactericidal antibiotics induce mitochondrial

dysfunction and oxidative damage in Mammalian cells. Sci. Transl. Med. 5, 185–92.

- Kanoh, S., Rubin, B.K., 2010. Mechanisms of action and clinical application of macrolides as immunomodulatory medications. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 23, 590–615.
- Karmakar, M., Katsnelson, M., Malak, H.A., Greene, N.G., Howell, S.J., Hise, A.G., Camilli, A., Kadioglu, A., Dubyak, G.R., Pearlman, E., 2015. Neutrophil IL-1β processing induced by pneumolysin is mediated by the NLRP3/ASC inflammasome and caspase-1 activation and is dependent on K⁺ efflux. J. Immunol. 194, 1763–75.
- Karnovsky, M., 1968. The metabolism of leukocytes. Semin Hematol 5, 156.
- Kasahara, Y., Iwai, K., Yachie, A., Ohta, K., Konno, A., Seki, H., Miyawaki, T., Taniguchi, N., 1997. Involvement of reactive oxygen intermediates in spontaneous and CD95 (Fas/APO-1)-mediated apoptosis of neutrophils. Blood 89, 1748–53.
- Kasten, K.R., Goetzman, H.S., Reid, M.R., Rasper, A.M., Adediran, S.G., Robinson, C.T., Cave, C.M., Solomkin, J.S., Lentsch, A.B., Johannigman, J. a, Caldwell, C.C., 2010. Divergent adaptive and innate immunological responses are observed in humans following blunt trauma. BMC Immunol. 11, 4.
- Kaufmann, I., Hoelzl, A., Schliephake, F., Hummel, T., Chouker, A., Peter, K., Thiel, M., 2006. Polymorphonuclear leukocyte dysfunction syndrome in patients with increasing sepsis severity. Shock 26, 254–61.
- Kawasaki, T., Ogata, M., Kawasaki, C., Okamoto, K., Sata, T., 2007. Effects of epidural anaesthesia on surgical stress-induced immunosuppression during upper abdominal surgery. Br. J. Anaesth. 98, 196–203.
- Kawasaki, T., Ogata, M., Kawasaki, C., Tomihisa, T., Okamoto, K., Shigematsu, A., 2001. Surgical stress induces endotoxin hyporesponsiveness and an early decrease of monocyte mCD14 and HLA-DR expression during surgery. Anesth. Analg. 92, 1322–6.
- Kechemir, D., Max-Audit, I., Rosa, R., 1989. Comparative study of human M2-type pyruvate kinases isolated from human leukocytes and erythrocytes of a patient with red cell pyruvate kinase hyperactivity. Enzyme 41, 121–30.
- Keel, M., Ungethüm, U., Steckholzer, U., Niederer, E., Hartung, T., Trentz, O., Ertel, W., 1997. Interleukin-10 counterregulates proinflammatory cytokine-induced inhibition of neutrophil apoptosis during severe sepsis. Blood 90, 3356–63.
- Khreiss, T., József, L., Hossain, S., Chan, J.S.D., Potempa, L.A., Filep, J.G., 2002. Loss of pentameric symmetry of C-reactive protein is associated with delayed apoptosis of human neutrophils. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 40775–81.
- Kilkenny, C., Browne, W.J., Cuthill, I.C., Emerson, M., Altman, D.G., 2013. The ARRIVE Guidelines Animal Research: Reporting of In Vivo Experiments.
- Killock, D.J., Ivetić, A., 2010. The cytoplasmic domains of TNFalpha-converting enzyme (TACE/ADAM17) and L-selectin are regulated differently by p38 MAPK and PKC to promote ectodomain shedding. Biochem. J. 428, 293–304.
- Kim-Han, J.S., Reichert, S.A., Quick, K.L., Dugan, L.L., 2001. BMCP1: a mitochondrial uncoupling protein in neurons which regulates mitochondrial function and oxidant production. J. Neurochem. 79, 658–68.
- Kim, J., Tchernyshyov, I., Semenza, G.L., Dang, C. V, 2006. HIF-1-mediated expression of

pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase: a metabolic switch required for cellular adaptation to hypoxia. Cell Metab. 3, 177–85.

- Kindzelskii, A.L., Petty, H.R., 2002. Apparent role of traveling metabolic waves in oxidant release by living neutrophils. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 99, 9207–12.
- Klichko, V.I., Radyuk, S.N., Orr, W.C., 2004. Profiling catalase gene expression in Drosophila melanogaster during development and aging. Arch. Insect Biochem. Physiol. 56, 34–50.
- Klimova, T., Chandel, N.S., 2008. Mitochondrial complex III regulates hypoxic activation of HIF. Cell Death Differ. 15, 660–6.
- Knaus, W.A., Draper, E.A., Wagner, D.P., Zimmerman, J.E., 1985. APACHE II: a severity of disease classification system. Crit. Care Med. 13, 818–29.
- Knaus, W.A., Wagner, D.P., Draper, E.A., Zimmerman, J.E., Bergner, M., Bastos, P.G., Sirio, C.A., Murphy, D.J., Lotring, T., Damiano, A., 1991. The APACHE III prognostic system. Risk prediction of hospital mortality for critically ill hospitalized adults. Chest 100, 1619–36.
- Kobayashi, M., Mohri, Y., Inoue, Y., Okita, Y., Miki, C., Kusunoki, M., 2008. Continuous follow-up of surgical site infections for 30 days after colorectal surgery. World J. Surg. 32, 1142–6.
- Kobayashi, S.D., Voyich, J.M., Braughton, K.R., DeLeo, F.R., 2003. Down-regulation of proinflammatory capacity during apoptosis in human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. J. Immunol. 170, 3357–68.
- Koike, K., Moore, F.A., Moore, E.E., Poggetti, R.S., Tuder, R.M., Banerjee, A., 1992. Endotoxin after gut ischemia/reperfusion causes irreversible lung injury. J. Surg. Res. 52, 656–662.
- Kolls, J.K., 2006. Oxidative stress in sepsis: a redox redux. J. Clin. Invest. 116, 860–3.
- Kotani, M., Kotani, T., Ishizaka, A., Fujishima, S., Koh, H., Tasaka, S., Sawafuji, M., Ikeda, E., Moriyama, K., Kotake, Y., Morisaki, H., Aikawa, N., Ohashi, A., Matsushima, K., Huang, Y.-C.T., Takeda, J., 2004. Neutrophil depletion attenuates interleukin-8 production in mild-overstretch ventilated normal rabbit lung. Crit. Care Med. 32, 514–9.
- Kotz, K.T., Xiao, W., Miller-Graziano, C., Qian, W.-J., Russom, A., Warner, E.A., Moldawer, L.L., De, A., Bankey, P.E., Petritis, B.O., Camp, D.G., Rosenbach, A.E., Goverman, J., Fagan, S.P., Brownstein, B.H., Irimia, D., Xu, W., Wilhelmy, J., Mindrinos, M.N., Smith, R.D., Davis, R.W., Tompkins, R.G., Toner, M., 2010. Clinical microfluidics for neutrophil genomics and proteomics. Nat. Med. 16, 1042–7.
- Krabbe, K.S., Bruunsgaard, H., Qvist, J., Fonsmark, L., Møller, K., Hansen, C.M., Skinhøj, P., Pedersen, B.K., 2002. Activated T lymphocytes disappear from circulation during endotoxemia in humans. Clin. Diagn. Lab. Immunol. 9, 731–5.
- Kreymann, G., Grosser, S., Buggisch, P., Gottschall, C., Matthaei, M., Greten, M., 1993. Oxygen consumption and resting metabolic rate in sepsis, sepsis syndrome and septic shock. Crit. Care Med. 21, 1012–1019.
- Kuderer, N.M., Dale, D.C., Crawford, J., Cosler, L.E., Lyman, G.H., 2006. Mortality, morbidity and cost associated with febrile neutropenia in adult cancer patients. Cancer 106, 2258–66.

- Kuijpers, T.W., Tool, A.T., van der Schoot, C.E., Ginsel, L.A., Onderwater, J.J., Roos, D., Verhoeven, A.J., 1991. Membrane surface antigen expression on neutrophils: a reappraisal of the use of surface markers for neutrophil activation. Blood 78, 1105–11.
- Kurdowska, A., Noble, J.M., Steinberg, K.P., Ruzinski, J.T., Hudson, L.D., Martin, T.R., 2001. Anti-interleukin 8 autoantibody: interleukin 8 complexes in the acute respiratory distress syndrome. Relationship between the complexes and clinical disease activity. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 163, 463–8.
- Lambert, A.J., Brand, M.D., 2004. Inhibitors of the quinone-binding site allow rapid superoxide production from mitochondrial NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase (complex I). J. Biol. Chem. 279, 39414–20.
- Lambeth, J.D., 2004. NOX enzymes and the biology of reactive oxygen. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 4, 181–9.
- Landmesser, U., Dikalov, S., Price, S.R., McCann, L., Fukai, T., Holland, S.M., Mitch, W.E., Harrison, D.G., 2003. Oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin leads to uncoupling of endothelial cell nitric oxide synthase in hypertension. J. Clin. Invest. 111, 1201–9.
- Lawrence, T., Gilroy, D.W., 2007. Chronic inflammation: a failure of resolution? Int. J. Exp. Pathol. 88, 85–94.
- Lawson, E.H., Louie, R., Zingmond, D.S., Brook, R.H., Hall, B.L., Han, L., Rapp, M., Ko, C.Y., 2012. A Comparison of Clinical Registry Versus Administrative Claims Data for Reporting of 30-Day Surgical Complications. Ann. Surg. 256, 1.
- Le Tulzo, Y., Pangault, C., Gacouin, A., Guilloux, V., Tribut, O., Amiot, L., Tattevin, P., Thomas, R., Fauchet, R., Drénou, B., 2002. Early circulating lymphocyte apoptosis in human septic shock is associated with poor outcome. Shock 18, 487–94.
- Lebovitz, R.M., Zhang, H., Vogel, H., Cartwright, J., Dionne, L., Lu, N., Huang, S., Matzuk, M.M., 1996. Neurodegeneration, myocardial injury, and perinatal death in mitochondrial superoxide dismutase-deficient mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 93, 9782–7.
- Lee, A., Whyte, M.K., Haslett, C., 1993. Inhibition of apoptosis and prolongation of neutrophil functional longevity by inflammatory mediators. J. Leukoc. Biol. 54, 283–8.
- Lee, a C., Fenster, B.E., Ito, H., Takeda, K., Bae, N.S., Hirai, T., Yu, Z.X., Ferrans, V.J., Howard, B.H., Finkel, T., 1999. Ras proteins induce senescence by altering the intracellular levels of reactive oxygen species. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 7936–40.
- Lee, J.A., Spidlen, J., Boyce, K., Cai, J., Crosbie, N., Dalphin, M., Furlong, J., Gasparetto, M., Goldberg, M., Goralczyk, E.M., Hyun, B., Jansen, K., Kollmann, T., Kong, M., Leif, R., McWeeney, S., Moloshok, T.D., Moore, W., Nolan, G., Nolan, J., Nikolich-Zugich, J., Parrish, D., Purcell, B., Qian, Y., Selvaraj, B., Smith, C., Tchuvatkina, O., Wertheimer, A., Wilkinson, P., Wilson, C., Wood, J., Zigon, R., Scheuermann, R.H., Brinkman, R.R., 2008. MIFlowCyt: The minimum information about a flow cytometry experiment. Cytom. Part A 73A, 926–930.
- Lee, T.H., Marcantonio, E.R., Mangione, C.M., Thomas, E.J., Polanczyk, A., Cook, E.F., Sugarbaker, D.J., Donaldson, M.C., Ho, K.K.L., Ludwig, L.E., Pedan, A., Goldman, L., 1999. Prediction of Cardiac Risk of Major Noncardiac Surgery.
- Lefer, A.M., Lefer, D.J., 1996. The role of nitric oxide and cell adhesion molecules on the microcirculation in ischaemia-reperfusion. Cardiovasc. Res. 32, 743–51.

- Lehmann, A.K., Halstensen, A., Bassøe, C.F., 1998. Flow cytometric quantitation of human opsonin-dependent phagocytosis and oxidative burst responses to meningococcal antigens. Cytometry 33, 406–13.
- Lehmann, C., Sharawi, N., Al-Banna, N., Corbett, N., Kuethe, J.W., Caldwell, C.C., 2014. Novel approaches to the development of anti-sepsis drugs. Expert Opin. Drug Discov. 9, 523–31.
- Lenaz, G., Fato, R., Genova, M.L., Bergamini, C., Bianchi, C., Biondi, A., 2006. Mitochondrial Complex I: structural and functional aspects. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1757, 1406–20.
- Levy, M.M., Fink, M.P., Marshall, J.C., Abraham, E., Angus, D., Cook, D., Cohen, J., Opal, S.M., Vincent, J.-L., Ramsay, G., 2003. 2001 SCCM/ESICM/ACCP/ATS/SIS International Sepsis Definitions Conference. Crit. Care Med. 31, 1250–6.
- Liang, H.L., Sedlic, F., Bosnjak, Z., Nilakantan, V., 2010. SOD1 and MitoTEMPO partially prevent mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening, necrosis, and mitochondrial apoptosis after ATP depletion recovery. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 49, 1550– 60.
- Liles, W.C., Kiener, P.A., Ledbetter, J.A., Aruffo, A., Klebanoff, S.J., 1996. Differential expression of Fas (CD95) and Fas ligand on normal human phagocytes: implications for the regulation of apoptosis in neutrophils. J. Exp. Med. 184, 429–40.
- Limaye, A.P., Kirby, K.A., Rubenfeld, G.D., Leisenring, W.M., Bulger, E.M., Neff, M.J., Gibran, N.S., Huang, M.-L., Santo Hayes, T.K., Corey, L., Boeckh, M., 2008. Cytomegalovirus reactivation in critically ill immunocompetent patients. JAMA 300, 413–22.
- Lindbom, L., 2003. Regulation of vascular permeability by neutrophils in acute inflammation. Chem. Immunol. Allergy 83, 146–66.
- Liu, C.-Y., Takemasa, A., Liles, W.C., Goodman, R.B., Jonas, M., Rosen, H., Chi, E., Winn, R.K., Harlan, J.M., Chuang, P.I., 2003. Broad-spectrum caspase inhibition paradoxically augments cell death in TNF-α stimulated neutrophils. Blood 101, 295–304.
- Liu, M., Liu, H., Dudley, S.C., 2010. Reactive oxygen species originating from mitochondria regulate the cardiac sodium channel. Circ. Res. 107, 967–74.
- Liu, T.F., Yoza, B.K., Gazzar, M. El, Vachharajani, V.T., Mccall, C.E., El Gazzar, M., 2011. NAD+-dependent SIRT1 deacetylase participates in epigenetic reprogramming during endotoxin tolerance. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 9856–64.
- Liu, Z.-X., Han, D., Gunawan, B., Kaplowitz, N., 2006. Neutrophil depletion protects against murine acetaminophen hepatotoxicity. Hepatology 43, 1220–30.
- Lowell, C.A., Berton, G., 1998. Resistance to endotoxic shock and reduced neutrophil migration in mice deficient for the Src-family kinases Hck and Fgr. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95, 7580–4.
- Lowes, D., Galley, H., 2011. Mitochondrial protection by the thioredoxin-2 and glutathione systems in an *in vitro* endothelial model of sepsis. Biochem. J. 436, 123–132.
- Lowry, S.F., 2005. Human endotoxemia: a model for mechanistic insight and therapeutic targeting. Shock 24 Suppl 1, 94–100.
- Lund, J., Sato, A., Akira, S., Medzhitov, R., Iwasaki, A., 2003. Toll-like receptor 9-mediated recognition of Herpes simplex virus-2 by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J. Exp. Med. 198,

513-20.

- Lundqvist-Gustafsson, H., Bengtsson, T., 1999. Activation of the granule pool of the NADPH oxidase accelerates apoptosis in human neutrophils. J. Leukoc. Biol. 65, 196–204.
- Luo, H.R., Loison, F., 2008. Constitutive neutrophil apoptosis: mechanisms and regulation. Am. J. Hematol. 83, 288–95.
- Luyt, C.-E., Combes, A., Deback, C., Aubriot-Lorton, M.-H., Nieszkowska, A., Trouillet, J.-L., Capron, F., Agut, H., Gibert, C., Chastre, J., 2007. Herpes simplex virus lung infection in patients undergoing prolonged mechanical ventilation. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 175, 935–42.
- MacEwan, D.J., 2002. TNF receptor subtype signalling: differences and cellular consequences. Cell. Signal. 14, 477–92.
- MacLean, L.D., Meakins, J.L., Taguchi, K., Duignan, J.P., Dhillon, K.S., Gordon, J., 1975. Host resistance in sepsis and trauma. Ann. Surg. 182, 207–17.
- Madesh, M., Hajnóczky, G., 2001. VDAC-dependent permeabilization of the outer mitochondrial membrane by superoxide induces rapid and massive cytochrome c release. J. Cell Biol. 155, 1003–15.
- Maeba, P., Sanwal, B.D., 1968. The regulation of pyruvate kinase of Escherichia coli by fructose diphosphate and adenylic acid. J. Biol. Chem. 243, 448–50.
- Mahdy, A.M., Lowes, D.A., Galley, H.F., Bruce, J.E., Webster, N.R., 2006. Production of Soluble Triggering Receptor Expressed on Myeloid Cells by Lipopolysaccharide-Stimulated Human Neutrophils Involves De Novo Protein Synthesis. Clin. Vaccine Immunol. 13, 492–495.
- Maianski, N. a, Geissler, J., Srinivasula, S.M., Alnemri, E.S., Roos, D., Kuijpers, T.W., 2004. Functional characterization of mitochondria in neutrophils: a role restricted to apoptosis. Cell Death Differ. 11, 143–53.
- Maianski, N. a, Roos, D., Kuijpers, T.W., 2003. Tumor necrosis factor alpha induces a caspase-independent death pathway in human neutrophils. Blood 101, 1987–95.
- Malcolm, K.C., Arndt, P.G., Manos, E.J., Jones, D.A., Worthen, G.S., 2003. Microarray analysis of lipopolysaccharide-treated human neutrophils. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 284, L663-70.
- Mallick, A.A., Ishizaka, A., Stephens, K.E., Hatherill, J.R., Tazelaar, H.D., Raffin, T.A., 1989. Multiple organ damage caused by tumor necrosis factor and prevented by prior neutrophil depletion. Chest 95, 1114–20.
- Manilich, E., Vogel, J.D., Kiran, R.P., Church, J.M., Seyidova-Khoshknabi, D., Remzi, F.H., 2013. Key factors associated with postoperative complications in patients undergoing colorectal surgery. Dis. Colon Rectum 56, 64–71.
- Mare, T.A., Treacher, D.F., Shankar-Hari, M., Beale, R., Lewis, S.M., Chambers, D.J., Brown, K.A., 2015. The diagnostic and prognostic significance of monitoring blood levels of immature neutrophils in patients with systemic inflammation. Crit. Care 19, 57.
- Marian, M., Parrino, C., Leo, A.M., Vincenti, E., Bindoli, A., Scutari, G., 1997. Effect of the intravenous anesthetic 2,6-diisopropylphenol on respiration and energy production by rat brain synaptosomes. Neurochem. Res. 22, 287–92.

- Mariano, F., Tetta, C., Guida, G., Triolo, G., Camussi, G., 2001. Hemofiltration reduces the serum priming activity on neutrophil chemiluminescence in septic patients. Kidney Int. 60, 1598–605.
- Marshall, J.C., 2005. Lipopolysaccharide: an endotoxin or an exogenous hormone? Clin. Infect. Dis. 41 Suppl 7, S470-80.
- Marshall, J.C., 2005. Neutrophils in the pathogenesis of sepsis. Crit. Care Med. 33, S502– S505.
- Martin, G.S., Mannino, D.M., Eaton, S., Moss, M., 2003. The epidemiology of sepsis in the United States from 1979 through 2000. N. Engl. J. Med. 348, 1546–54.
- Martins, G.A., David, C.M., Mitchell, C., Rosas, S.L., da Costa Carvalho, M.G., 1999. Expression of heat shock protein 70 in leukocytes of patients with sepsis. Int. J. Mol. Med. 3, 401–4.
- Martins, P.S., Kallas, E.G., Neto, M.C., Dalboni, M.A., Blecher, S., Salomão, R., 2003. Upregulation of reactive oxygen species generation and phagocytosis, and increased apoptosis in human neutrophils during severe sepsis and septic shock. Shock 20, 208– 12.
- Matute-Bello, G., Liles, W.C., Radella, F., Steinberg, K.P., Ruzinski, J.T., Jonas, M., Chi, E.Y., Hudson, L.D., Martin, T.R., 1997. Neutrophil apoptosis in the acute respiratory distress syndrome. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 156, 1969–77.
- Matzinger, P., 1994. Tolerance, danger, and the extended family. Annu Rev Immunol 12, 991–1045.
- Mazurek, S., Boschek, C.B., Hugo, F., Eigenbrodt, E., 2005. Pyruvate kinase type M2 and its role in tumor growth and spreading. Semin. Cancer Biol. 15, 300–8.
- Mazurek, S., Grimm, H., Boschek, C.B., Vaupel, P., Eigenbrodt, E., 2002. Pyruvate kinase type M2: a crossroad in the tumor metabolome. Br. J. Nutr. 87 Suppl 1, S23-9.
- Mazzanti, L., Curatola, G., Zolese, G., Bertoli, E., Lenaz, G., 1979. Lipid protein interactions in mitochondria. VIII. Effect of general anesthetics on the mobility of spin labels in lipid vesicles and mitochondrial membranes. J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 11, 17–32.
- McCall, C.E., Grosso-Wilmoth, L.M., LaRue, K., Guzman, R.N., Cousart, S.L., 1993. Tolerance to endotoxin-induced expression of the interleukin-1 beta gene in blood neutrophils of humans with the sepsis syndrome. J. Clin. Invest. 91, 853–61.
- McCall, C.E., Yoza, B.K., 2007. Gene silencing in severe systemic inflammation. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 175, 763–7.
- McCord, J.M., Fridovich, I., 1969. Superoxide dismutase. An enzymic function for erythrocuprein (hemocuprein). J. Biol. Chem. 244, 6049–55.
- McDonagh, B., Ogueta, S., Lasarte, G., Padilla, C.A., Bárcena, J.A., 2009. Shotgun redox proteomics identifies specifically modified cysteines in key metabolic enzymes under oxidative stress in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J. Proteomics 72, 677–89.
- McDonald, P.P., Bald, A., Cassatella, M.A., 1997. Activation of the NF-kappaB pathway by inflammatory stimuli in human neutrophils. Blood 89, 3421–33.
- McEver, R.P., Zhu, C., 2010. Rolling cell adhesion. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 26, 363-96.

- McGill, S.N., Ahmed, N.A., Hu, F., Michel, R.P., Christou, N. V, 1996. Shedding of L-selectin as a mechanism for reduced polymorphonuclear neutrophil exudation in patients with the systemic inflammatory response syndrome. Arch. Surg. 131, 1141–6; discussion 1147.
- McGovern, N.N., Cowburn, A.S., Porter, L., Walmsley, S.R., Summers, C., Thompson,
 A.A.R., Anwar, S., Willcocks, L.C., Whyte, M.K.B., Condliffe, A.M., Chilvers, E.R., 2011.
 Hypoxia selectively inhibits respiratory burst activity and killing of Staphylococcus aureus in human neutrophils. J. Immunol. 186, 453–63.
- McGowan, J.E., Barnes, M.W., Finland, M., 1975. Bacteremia at Boston City Hospital: Occurrence and mortality during 12 selected years (1935-1972), with special reference to hospital-acquired cases. J. Infect. Dis. 132, 316–35.
- McLeish, K.R., Knall, C., Ward, R.A., Gerwins, P., Coxon, P.Y., Klein, J.B., Johnson, G.L., 1998. Activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase cascades during priming of human neutrophils by TNF-alpha and GM-CSF. J. Leukoc. Biol. 64, 537–45.
- Medzhitov, R., Janeway, C., 2002. Decoding the patterns of self and nonself by the innate immune system. Science 296, 298–300.
- Mehta, P.K., Griendling, K.K., 2007. Angiotensin II cell signaling: physiological and pathological effects in the cardiovascular system. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 292, C82-97.
- Melley, D.D., Evans, T.W., Quinlan, G.J., 2005. Redox regulation of neutrophil apoptosis and the systemic inflammatory response syndrome. Clin. Sci. (Lond). 108, 413–24.
- Melling, A.C., Ali, B., Scott, E.M., Leaper, D.J., 2001. Effects of preoperative warming on the incidence of wound infection after clean surgery: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 358, 876–80.
- Melvan, J.N., Bagby, G.J., Welsh, D.A., Nelson, S., Zhang, P., 2010. Neonatal sepsis and neutrophil insufficiencies. Int. Rev. Immunol. 29, 315–48.
- Menu, P., Vince, J.E., 2011. The NLRP3 inflammasome in health and disease: the good, the bad and the ugly. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 166, 1–15.
- Midwinter, R.G., Vissers, M.C.M., Winterbourn, C.C., 2001. Hypochlorous Acid Stimulation of the Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Pathway Enhances Cell Survival. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 394, 13–20.
- Mikawa, K., Akamatsu, H., Maekawa, N., Nishina, K., Niwa, Y., 1998. Propofol Inhibits Human Neutrophil Functions. Anesth Analg 87, 695–700.
- Miller, E.J., Cohen, A.B., Nagao, S., Griffith, D., Maunder, R.J., Martin, T.R., Weiner-Kronish, J.P., Sticherling, M., Christophers, E., Matthay, M.A., 1992. Elevated levels of NAP-I/interleukin-8 are present in the airspaces of patients with the adult respiratory distress syndrome and are associated with increased mortality. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 146, 427–32.
- Minakami, S., 1968. Studies on Leucocyte Metabolism: Glycolytic Intermediates and Nucleotides in Guinea Pig Exudate Granulocytes. J. Biochem. 63, 83–88.
- Minamikawa, T., Williams, D.A., Bowser, D.N., Nagley, P., 1999. Mitochondrial permeability transition and swelling can occur reversibly without inducing cell death in intact human

cells. Exp. Cell Res. 246, 26-37.

- Mócsai, A., Jakus, Z., Vántus, T., Berton, G., Lowell, C.A., Ligeti, E., 2000. Kinase pathways in chemoattractant-induced degranulation of neutrophils: the role of p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase activated by Src family kinases. J. Immunol. 164, 4321–31.
- Mollen, K.P., Anand, R.J., Tsung, A., Prince, J.M., Levy, R.M., Billiar, T.R., 2006. Emerging paradigm: toll-like receptor 4-sentinel for the detection of tissue damage. Shock 26, 430–437.
- Montecino-Rodriguez, E., Berent-Maoz, B., Dorshkind, K., 2013. Causes, consequences, and reversal of immune system aging. J. Clin. Invest. 123, 958–65.
- Mookerjee, R.P., Stadlbauer, V., Lidder, S., Wright, G.A.K., Hodges, S.J., Davies, N.A., Jalan, R., 2007. Neutrophil dysfunction in alcoholic hepatitis superimposed on cirrhosis is reversible and predicts the outcome. Hepatology 46, 831–40.
- Moore, E.E., Moore, F.A., Harken, A.H., Johnson, J.L., Ciesla, D., Banerjee, A., 2005. The two-event construct of postinjury multiple organ failure. Shock 24 Suppl 1, 71–4.
- Moore, F.A., Moore, E.E., Poggetti, R., McAnena, O.J., Peterson, V.M., Abernathy, C.M., Parsons, P.E., 1991. Gut bacterial translocation via the portal vein: a clinical perspective with major torso trauma. J. Trauma 31, 629-36–8.
- Morgenstern, D.E., Gifford, M.A., Li, L.L., Doerschuk, C.M., Dinauer, M.C., 1997. Absence of respiratory burst in X-linked chronic granulomatous disease mice leads to abnormalities in both host defense and inflammatory response to Aspergillus fumigatus. J. Exp. Med. 185, 207–18.
- Morris, A.C., Brittan, M., Wilkinson, T.S., McAuley, D.F., Antonelli, J., McCulloch, C., Barr, L.C., McDonald, N.A., Dhaliwal, K., Jones, R.O., Mackellar, A., Haslett, C., Hay, A.W., Swann, D.G., Anderson, N., Laurenson, I.F., Davidson, D.J., Rossi, A.G., Walsh, T.S., Simpson, A.J., 2011. C5a-mediated neutrophil dysfunction is RhoA-dependent and predicts infection in critically ill patients. Blood 117, 5178–88.
- Moulding, D.A., Akgul, C., Derouet, M., White, M.R., Edwards, S.W., 2001. BCL-2 family expression in human neutrophils during delayed and accelerated apoptosis. J. Leukoc. Biol. 70, 783–92.
- Mouncey, P.R., Osborn, T.M., Power, G.S., Harrison, D.A., Sadique, M.Z., Grieve, R.D., Jahan, R., Harvey, S.E., Bell, D., Bion, J.F., Coats, T.J., Singer, M., Young, J.D., Rowan, K.M., 2015. Trial of Early, Goal-Directed Resuscitation for Septic Shock. N. Engl. J. Med. 372, (14)1301-11
- Grocott, M, Dushianthan, A., Harrison, D., Rowan, K., 2013. Perioperative increase in global blood flow to explicit defined goals and outcomes following surgery. Cochrane 11:CD004082
- Mukhopadhyay, P., Rajesh, M., Yoshihiro, K., Haskó, G., Pacher, P., 2007. Simple quantitative detection of mitochondrial superoxide production in live cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 358, 203–8.
- Muranaka, S., Fujita, H., Fujiwara, T., Ogino, T., Sato, E.F., Akiyama, J., Imada, I., Inoue, M., Utsumi, K., 2005. Mechanism and Characteristics of Stimuli-Dependent ROS Generation in Undifferentiated HL-60 Cells. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 7, 1367–1376.

- Murphy, B.M., O'Neill, a. J., Adrain, C., Watson, R.W.G., Martin, S.J., 2003. The Apoptosome Pathway to Caspase Activation in Primary Human Neutrophils Exhibits Dramatically Reduced Requirements for Cytochrome c. J. Exp. Med. 197, 625–632.
- Murphy, M.P., Smith, R.A., 2000. Drug delivery to mitochondria: the key to mitochondrial medicine. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 41, 235–50.
- Myers, J., Bader, D., Madhavan, R., Froelicher, V., 2001. Validation of a specific activity questionnaire to estimate exercise tolerance in patients referred for exercise testing. Am. Heart J. 142, 1041–6.
- Nahas, N., Molski, T.F., Fernandez, G.A., Sha'afi, R.I., 1996. Tyrosine phosphorylation and activation of a new mitogen-activated protein (MAP)-kinase cascade in human neutrophils stimulated with various agonists. Biochem. J. 318 (Pt 1, 247–53.
- Nakahira, K., Haspel, J.A., Rathinam, V.A.K., Lee, S.-J., Dolinay, T., Lam, H.C., Englert, J.A., Rabinovitch, M., Cernadas, M., Kim, H.P., Fitzgerald, K.A., Ryter, S.W., Choi, A.M.K., 2011. Autophagy proteins regulate innate immune responses by inhibiting the release of mitochondrial DNA mediated by the NALP3 inflammasome. Nat. Immunol. 12, 222–30.
- Nathan, C., 2006. Neutrophils and immunity: challenges and opportunities. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 6, 173–82.
- Nathan, C., Ding, A., 2010. Nonresolving inflammation. Cell 140, 871–82.
- Nathan, C.F., 1987. Neutrophil activation on biological surfaces. Massive secretion of hydrogen peroxide in response to products of macrophages and lymphocytes. J. Clin. Invest. 80, 1550–1560.
- Nathens, A.B., Bitar, R., Davreux, C., Bujard, M., Marshall, J.C., Dackiw, A.P., Watson, R.W., Rotstein, O.D., 1997. Pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate attenuates endotoxin-induced acute lung injury. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 17, 608–16.
- Neustadt, J., Pieczenik, S.R., 2008. Medication-induced mitochondrial damage and disease. Mol. Nutr. Food Res. 52, 780–8.
- Newburger, P.E., Chovaniec, M.E., Greenberger, J.S., Cohen, H.J., 1979. Functional changes in human leukemic cell line HL-60. A model for myeloid differentiation. J. Cell Biol. 82, 315–22.
- Ni Choileain, N., MacConmara, M., Zang, Y., Murphy, T.J., Mannick, J.A., Lederer, J.A., 2006. Enhanced regulatory T cell activity is an element of the host response to injury. J. Immunol. 176, 225–36.
- Nixon, J.B., McPhail, L.C., 1999. Protein kinase C (PKC) isoforms translocate to Tritoninsoluble fractions in stimulated human neutrophils: correlation of conventional PKC with activation of NADPH oxidase. J. Immunol. 163, 4574–82.
- O'Gorman, M.R., Thomas, J., 1999. Isotype controls--time to let go? Cytometry 38, 78-80.
- Oehler, R., Weingartmann, G., Manhart, N., Salzer, U., Meissner, M., Schlegel, W., Spittler, A., Bergmann, M., Kandioler, D., Oismu, C., Struse, H.M., Roth, E., Oismüller, C., Weubgartmann, G., Manhart, N., Salzer, U., Meissner, M., Schlegel, W., Spittler, A., Bergmann, M., Kandioler, D., Oismu, C., Struse, H.M., Rothe, E., 2000. Polytrauma induces increased expression of pyruvate kinase in neutrophils. Blood 95, 1086–92.
- Offner, P.J., Moore, E.E., Biffl, W.L., 1999. Male gender is a risk factor for major infections

after surgery. Arch. Surg. 134, 935-8-40.

- Ogura, H., Tanaka, H., Koh, T., Hashiguchi, N., Kuwagata, Y., Hosotsubo, H., Shimazu, T., Sugimoto, H., 1999. Priming, second-hit priming, and apoptosis in leukocytes from trauma patients. J. Trauma 46, 774-81–3.
- Olsen, L.F., Kummer, U., Kindzelskii, A.L., Petty, H.R., 2003. A model of the oscillatory metabolism of activated neutrophils. Biophys. J. 84, 69–81.
- Orr, Y., Taylor, J.M., Bannon, P.G., Geczy, C., Kritharides, L., 2005. Circulating CD10-/CD16low neutrophils provide a quantitative index of active bone marrow neutrophil release. Br. J. Haematol. 131, 508–19.
- Pachot, A., Cazalis, M.-A., Turrel, F., Faudot, C., Voirin, N., Diasparra, J., Bourgoin, N., Poitevin, F., Mougin, B., Lepape, A., Monneret, G., Venet, F., 2008. Decreased expression of the fractalkine receptor CX3CR1 on circulating monocytes as new feature of sepsis-induced immunosuppression. J. Immunol. 180, 6421–9.
- Padfield, K.E., Astrakas, L.G., Zhang, Q., Gopalan, S., Dai, G., Mindrinos, M.N., Tompkins, R.G., Rahme, L.G., Tzika, A.A., 2005. Burn injury causes mitochondrial dysfunction in skeletal muscle. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102, 5368–73.
- Pallister, I., Topley, N., 2004. Chemiluminescence: Comparison of Whole Blood with Isolated Polymorphonuclear Leukocytes after Major Trauma. J. Trauma Inj. Infect. Crit. Care 57, 347–351.
- Pandolfi, P.P., Sonati, F., Rivi, R., Mason, P., Grosveld, F., Luzzatto, L., 1995. Targeted disruption of the housekeeping gene encoding glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD): G6PD is dispensable for pentose synthesis but essential for defense against oxidative stress. EMBO J. 14, 5209–15.
- Papandreou, I., Cairns, R.A., Fontana, L., Lim, A.L., Denko, N.C., 2006. HIF-1 mediates adaptation to hypoxia by actively downregulating mitochondrial oxygen consumption. Cell Metab. 3, 187–97.
- Parker, L.C., Jones, E.C., Prince, L.R., Dower, S.K., Whyte, M.K.B., Sabroe, I., 2005. Endotoxin tolerance induces selective alterations in neutrophil function. J Leukoc Biol. 78, 1301–1305.
- Parsons, P.E., Eisner, M.D., Thompson, B.T., Matthay, M.A., Ancukiewicz, M., Bernard, G.R., Wheeler, A.P., Acute, N., 2005. Lower tidal volume ventilation and plasma cytokine markers of inflammation in patients with acute lung injury Curr Infect Dis Rep. 33, 1–6.
- Pascual, C., Bredle, D., Karzai, W., Meier-Hellmann, a, Oberhoffer, M., Reinhart, K., 1998. Effect of plasma and LPS on respiratory burst of neutrophils in septic patients. Intensive Care Med. 24, 1181–6.
- Paunel-Görgülü, A., Flohé, S., Scholz, M., Windolf, J., Lögters, T., 2011. Increased serum soluble Fas after major trauma is associated with delayed neutrophil apoptosis and development of sepsis. Crit. Care 15, R20.
- Paunel-Görgülü, A., Lögters, T., Flohé, S., Cinatl, J., Altrichter, J., Windolf, J., Scholz, M., 2011. Stimulation of Fas signaling down-regulates activity of neutrophils from major trauma patients with SIRS. Immunobiology 216, 334–42.

Payne, C.M., Glasser, L., Tischler, M.E., Wyckoff, D., Cromey, D., Fiederlein, R., Bohnert, O.,

1994. Programmed cell death of the normal human neutrophil: an in vitro model of senescence. Microsc. Res. Tech. 28, 327–44.

- Peake, S.L., Delaney, A., Bailey, M., Bellomo, R., Cameron, P.A., Cooper, D.J., Higgins, A.M., Holdgate, A., Howe, B.D., Webb, S.A.R., Williams, P., 2014. Goal-Directed Resuscitation for Patients with Early Septic Shock. N. Engl. J. Med. 371 (16):1496-506.
- Pedley, K.C., Jones, G.E., Magnani, M., Rist, R.J., Naftalin, R.J., 1993. Direct observation of hexokinase translocation in stimulated macrophages. Biochem. J. 291, 515–22.
- Pelekanou, A., Tsangaris, I., Kotsaki, A., Karagianni, V., Giamarellou, H., Armaganidis, A., Giamarellos-Bourboulis, E.J., 2009. Decrease of CD4-lymphocytes and apoptosis of CD14-monocytes are characteristic alterations in sepsis caused by ventilator-associated pneumonia: results from an observational study. Crit. Care 13, R172.
- Pellegrini, J.D., De, a K., Kodys, K., Puyana, J.C., Furse, R.K., Miller-Graziano, C., 2000. Relationships between T lymphocyte apoptosis and anergy following trauma. J. Surg. Res. 88, 200–6.
- Pelletier, M., Maggi, L., Micheletti, A., Lazzeri, E., Tamassia, N., Costantini, C., Cosmi, L., Lunardi, C., Annunziato, F., Romagnani, S., Cassatella, M.A., 2010. Evidence for a crosstalk between human neutrophils and Th17 cells. Blood 115, 335–43.
- Perkins, G.D., Gates, S., Park, D., Gao, F., Knox, C., Holloway, B., McAuley, D.F., Ryan, J., Marzouk, J., Cooke, M.W., Lamb, S.E., Thickett, D.R., 2014. The beta agonist lung injury trial prevention. A randomized controlled trial. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 189, 674–83.
- Perl, M., Hohmann, C., Denk, S., Kellermann, P., Lu, D., Braumüller, S., Bachem, M.G., Thomas, J., Knöferl, M.W., Ayala, A., Gebhard, F., Huber-Lang, M.S., 2012. Role of activated neutrophils in chest trauma-induced septic acute lung injury. Shock 38, 98– 106.
- Perskvist, N., Long, M., Stendahl, O., Zheng, L., 2002. Mycobacterium tuberculosis promotes apoptosis in human neutrophils by activating caspase-3 and altering expression of Bax/Bcl-xL via an oxygen-dependent pathway. J. Immunol. 168, 6358–65.
- Petty, H.R., 2001b. Neutrophil oscillations: temporal and spatiotemporal aspects of cell behavior. Immunol. Res. 23, 85–94.
- Peyssonnaux, C., Datta, V., Cramer, T., Doedens, A., Theodorakis, E.A., Gallo, R.L., Hurtado-Ziola, N., Nizet, V., Johnson, R.S., 2005. HIF-Ialpha expression regulates the bactericidal capacity of phagocytes. J. Clin. Invest. 115, 1806–15.
- Pfeiffer, A., Böttcher, A., Orsó, E., Kapinsky, M., Nagy, P., Bodnár, A., Spreitzer, I., Liebisch, G., Drobnik, W., Gempel, K., Horn, M., Holmer, S., Hartung, T., Multhoff, G., Schütz, G., Schindler, H., Ulmer, A.J., Heine, H., Stelter, F., Schütt, C., Rothe, G., Szöllôsi, J., Damjanovich, S., Schmitz, G., 2001. Lipopolysaccharide and ceramide docking to CD14 provokes ligand-specific receptor clustering in rafts. Eur. J. Immunol. 31, 3153–64.
- Pillay, J., Kamp, V.M., Hoffen, E. Van, Visser, T., Tak, T., Lammers, J., Ulfman, L.H., Leenen, L.P., Pickkers, P., Koenderman, L., 2012. A subset of neutrophils in human systemic inflammation inhibits T cell responses through Mac-1 122, 327–336.
- Pillay, J., Ramakers, B.P., Kamp, V.M., Loi, A.L.T., Lam, S.W., Hietbrink, F., Leenen, L.P., Tool, A.T., Pickkers, P., Koenderman, L., 2010. Functional heterogeneity and differential

priming of circulating neutrophils in human experimental endotoxemia. J. Leukoc. Biol. 88, 211–20.

- Plow, E.F., Haas, T.A., Zhang, L., Loftus, J., Smith, J.W., Papers, J.B.C., 2000. Ligand Binding to Integrins. J Biol Chem 275(29):21785-8.
- Pluskota, E., Soloviev, D.A., Bdeir, K., Cines, D.B., Plow, E.F., 2004. Integrin $\alpha_M \beta_2$ orchestrates and accelerates plasminogen activation and fibrinolysis by neutrophils. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 18063–72.
- Pochini, L., Galluccio, M., Scumaci, D., Giangregorio, N., Tonazzi, A., Palmieri, F., Indiveri, C., 2008. Interaction of beta-lactam antibiotics with the mitochondrial carnitine/acylcarnitine transporter. Chem. Biol. Interact. 173, 187–94.
- Poggetti, R.S., Moore, F.A., Moore, E.E., Bensard, D.D., Anderson, B.O., Banerjee, A., 1992. Liver injury is a reversible neutrophil-mediated event following gut ischemia. Arch. Surg. 127, 175–9.
- Poot, M., Zhang, Y.Z., Kramer, J. a., Wells, K.S., Jones, L.J., Hanzel, D.K., Lugade, a. G., Singer, V.L., Haugland, R.P., 1996. Analysis of mitochondrial morphology and function with novel fixable fluorescent stains. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 44, 1363–1372.
- Protti, A., Fortunato, F., Caspani, M.L., Pluderi, M., Lucchini, V., Grimoldi, N., Solimeno, L.P., Fagiolari, G., Ciscato, P., Zella, S.M.A., Moggio, M., Comi, G.P., Gattinoni, L., 2014. Mitochondrial changes in platelets are not related to those in skeletal muscle during human septic shock. PLoS One 9, e96205.
- Pryde, J.G., Walker, A., Rossi, A.G., Hannah, S., Haslett, C., 2000. Temperature-dependent arrest of neutrophil apoptosis. Failure of Bax insertion into mitochondria at 15°C prevents the release of cytochrome c. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 33574–84.
- Purdon, P.L., Pierce, E.T., Bonmassar, G., Walsh, J., Harrell, P.G., Kwo, J., Deschler, D., Barlow, M., Merhar, R.C., Lamus, C., Mullaly, C.M., Sullivan, M., Maginnis, S., Skoniecki, D., Higgins, H.-A., Brown, E.N., 2009. Simultaneous electroencephalography and functional magnetic resonance imaging of general anesthesia. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1157, 61–70.
- Quaid, G., Cave, C., Williams, M. a, Hennigan, R.F., Bokoch, G., Solomkin, J.S., 2001. Mechanisms of human neutrophil oxidant production after severe injury. Surgery 130, 669-75–6.
- Queliconi, B.B., Wojtovich, A.P., Nadtochiy, S.M., Kowaltowski, A.J., Brookes, P.S., 2011. Redox regulation of the mitochondrial K(ATP) channel in cardioprotection. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1813, 1309–15.
- Qureshi, S.T., Larivière, L., Leveque, G., Clermont, S., Moore, K.J., Gros, P., Malo, D., 1999. Endotoxin-tolerant mice have mutations in Toll-like receptor 4 (Tlr4). J. Exp. Med. 189, 615–25.
- Radermacher, P., Haouzi, P., 2013. A mouse is not a rat is not a man: species-specific metabolic responses to sepsis a nail in the coffin of murine models for critical care research? Intensive Care Med. Exp. 1(1):26.
- Raghavendran, K., Davidson, B.A., Woytash, J.A., Helinski, J.D., Marschke, C.J., Manderscheid, P.A., Notter, R.H., Knight, P.R., 2005. The evolution of isolated bilateral lung contusion from blunt chest trauma in rats: cellular and cytokine responses. Shock

24, 132–8.

- Ranieri, V.M., Thompson, B.T., Barie, P.S., Dhainaut, J.-F., Douglas, I.S., Finfer, S., Gårdlund, B., Marshall, J.C., Rhodes, A., Artigas, A., Payen, D., Tenhunen, J., Al-Khalidi, H.R., Thompson, V., Janes, J., Macias, W.L., Vangerow, B., Williams, M.D., 2012. Drotrecogin alfa (activated) in adults with septic shock. N. Engl. J. Med. 366, 2055–64.
- Ratajczak-Wrona, W., Jablonska, E., Garley, M., Jablonski, J., Radziwon, P., Iwaniuk, A., Grubczak, K., 2013. PI3K-Akt/PKB signaling pathway in neutrophils and mononuclear cells exposed to N-nitrosodimethylamine. J. Immunotoxicol. 11, 231–7.
- Ray-coquard, I., Cropet, C., Glabbeke, M. Van, Sebban, C., Cesne, L., Judson, I., Tredan, O., Verweij, J., Biron, P., Labidi, I., Guastalla, J., Bachelot, T., Perol, D., Chabaud, S., Pancras, C.W., 2009. Lymphopaenia as a prognostic factor for overall survival in advanced carcinomas, sarcomas and lymphomas. Cancer Res 69, 5383–5391.
- Reed, J.C., 2006. Proapoptotic multidomain Bcl-2/Bax-family proteins: mechanisms, physiological roles, and therapeutic opportunities. Cell Death Differ. 13, 1378–86.
- Reed, P.W., Tepperman, J., 1969. Phagocytosis-associated metabolism and enzymes in the rat polymorphonuclear leukocyte. Am. J. Physiol. 216, 223–30.
- Rehli, M., 2002. Of mice and men: species variations of Toll-like receptor expression. Trends Immunol. 23, 375–8.
- Remijsen, Q., Vanden Berghe, T., Wirawan, E., Asselbergh, B., Parthoens, E., De Rycke, R., Noppen, S., Delforge, M., Willems, J., Vandenabeele, P., 2011. Neutrophil extracellular trap cell death requires both autophagy and superoxide generation. Cell Res. 21, 290– 304.
- Ren, Y., Xie, Y., Jiang, G., Fan, J., Yeung, J., Li, W., Tam, P.K.H., Savill, J., 2008. Apoptotic cells protect mice against lipopolysaccharide-induced shock. J. Immunol. 180, 4978–85.
- Renshaw, S.A., Timmons, S.J., Eaton, V., Usher, L.R., Akil, M., Bingle, C.D., Whyte, M.K., 2000. Inflammatory neutrophils retain susceptibility to apoptosis mediated via the Fas death receptor. J. Leukoc. Biol. 67, 662–8.
- Resident, A.P., Resident, M.B., Papadima, A., Boutsikou, M., Lagoudianakis, E.E., Kataki, A., Konstadoulakis, M., Georgiou, L., Katergiannakis, V., Manouras, A., 2009. Lymphocyte apoptosis after major abdominal surgery is not influenced by anesthetic technique: a comparative study of general anesthesia versus combined general and epidural analgesia. J. Clin. Anesth. 21, 414–21.
- Rhee, S.G., Chae, H.Z., Kim, K., 2005. Peroxiredoxins: a historical overview and speculative preview of novel mechanisms and emerging concepts in cell signaling. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 38, 1543–52.
- Rimmer, E., Kumar, A., Doucette, S., Marshall, J., Dial, S., Gurka, D., Dellinger, R.P., Sharma, S., Penner, C., Kramer, A., Wood, K., Ronald, J., Kumar, A., Turgeon, A.F., Houston, D.S., Zarychanski, R., 2012. Activated protein C and septic shock: a propensitymatched cohort study. Crit. Care Med. 40, 2974–81.
- Rinder, C., 2006. Cellular inflammatory response and clinical outcome in cardiac surgery. Curr. Opin. Anaesthesiol. 19, 65–8.
- Rivers E, Nguyen B, Havstad S, Ressler B, Muzzin A, Knoblich B., 2001. Early goal-directed

therapy in the treatment of severe sepsis and septic shock. NEJM 345, 1368–1377.

- Robinson, K.M., Janes, M.S., Pehar, M., Monette, J.S., Ross, M.F., Hagen, T.M., Murphy, M.P., Beckman, J.S., 2006. Selective fluorescent imaging of superoxide in vivo using ethidiumbased probes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 15038–43.
- Roederer, M., Darzynkiewicz, Z., Parks, D.R., 2004. Guidelines for the presentation of flow cytometric data. Methods Cell Biol. 75, 241–56.
- Roger, P.-M., Hyvernat, H., Ticchioni, M., Kumar, G., Dellamonica, J., Bernardin, G., 2012. The early phase of human sepsis is characterized by a combination of apoptosis and proliferation of T cells. J. Crit. Care 27, 384–93.
- Romani, L., Fallarino, F., De Luca, A., Montagnoli, C., D'Angelo, C., Zelante, T., Vacca, C., Bistoni, F., Fioretti, M.C., Grohmann, U., Segal, B.H., Puccetti, P., 2008. Defective tryptophan catabolism underlies inflammation in mouse chronic granulomatous disease. Nature 451, 211–5.
- Röpke, G., Ebert, O., Märten, A., Lefterova, P., Micka, B., Buttgereit, P., Niemitz, S., Trojaneck, B., Schmidt-Wolf, G., Rücker, A. V, Huhn, D., Wittig, B., Schmidt-Wolf, I.G., 2000. Increase in proliferation rate and normalization of TNF-alpha secretion by blockage of gene transfer-induced apoptosis in lymphocytes using low-dose cyclosporine A. Cancer Gene Ther. 7, 1411–3.
- Ross, E.A., Douglas, M.R., Wong, S.H., Ross, E.J., Curnow, S.J., Nash, G.B., Rainger, E., Scheel-Toellner, D., Lord, J.M., Salmon, M., Buckley, C.D., 2006. Interaction between integrin α₉β₁ and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) inhibits neutrophil apoptosis. Blood 107, 1178–83.
- Roth, G., Moser, B., Krenn, C., Brunner, M., Haisjackl, M., Almer, G., Gerlitz, S., Wolner, E., Boltz-nitulescu, G., Ankersmit, H.J., 2003. Susceptibility to programmed cell death in Tlymphocytes from septic patients: a mechanism for lymphopenia and Th2 predominance 308, 840–846.
- Rothe, G., Oser, A., Valet, G., 1988. Dihydrorhodamine 123: a new flow cytometric indicator for respiratory burst activity in neutrophil granulocytes. Naturwissenschaften 75, 354–5.
- Rothe, G., Valet, G., 1990. Flow cytometric analysis of respiratory burst activity in phagocytes with hydroethidine and 2',7'-dichlorofluorescin. J. Leukoc. Biol. 47, 440–8.
- Rothenburger, M., Soeparwata, R., Deng, M.C., Berendes, E., Schmid, C., Tjan, T.D., Wilhelm, M.J., Erren, M., Böcker, D., Scheld, H.H., 2001. The impact of anti-endotoxin core antibodies on endotoxin and cytokine release and ventilation time after cardiac surgery. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 38, 124–30.
- Rotstein, D., Parodo, J., Taneja, R., Marshall, J.C., 2000. Phagocytosis of Candida albicans induces apoptosis of human neutrophils. Shock 14, 278–83.
- Roumen, R.M., Frieling, J.T., van Tits, H.W., van der Vliet, J.A., Goris, R.J., 1993. Endotoxemia after major vascular operations. J. Vasc. Surg. 18, 853–7.
- Roussel, M., Davis, B.H., Fest, T., Wood, B.L., 2012. Toward a reference method for leukocyte differential counts in blood: comparison of three flow cytometric candidate methods. Cytometry. A 81, 973–82.
- Royall, J.A., Ischiropoulos, H., 1993. Evaluation of 2',7'-dichlorofluorescin and dihydrorhodamine 123 as fluorescent probes for intracellular H_2O_2 in cultured endothelial cells. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 302, 348–55.
- Sabroe, I., Jones, E.C., Usher, L.R., Whyte, M.K.B., Dower, S.K., 2002. Toll-like receptor (TLR)2 and TLR4 in human peripheral blood granulocytes: a critical role for monocytes in leukocyte lipopolysaccharide responses. J. Immunol. 168, 4701–10.
- Salvioli, S., Ardizzoni, A., Franceschi, C., Cossarizza, A., 1997. JC-1, but not DiOC₆(3) or rhodamine 123, is a reliable fluorescent probe to assess ΔΨ changes in intact cells: Implications for studies on mitochondrial functionality during apoptosis. FEBS Lett. 411, 77–82.
- Salzman, N., de Jong, H., Paterson, Y., Harmsen, H., Welling, G., Bos, N., 2002. Analysis of 16S libraries of mouse gastrointestinal microflora reveals a large new group of mouse intestinal bacteria. Microbiol. 2002 148, 3651–60.
- Santos, S.S., Brunialti, M.K.C., Rigato, O., Machado, F.R., Silva, E., Salomao, R., 2012. Generation of nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species by neutrophils and monocytes from septic patients and association with outcomes. Shock 38, 18–23.
- Sasajima, K., Inokuchi, K., Onda, M., Miyashita, M., Okawa, K.I., Matsutani, T., Takubo, K., 1999. Detection of T cell apoptosis after major operations. Eur. J. Surg. 165, 1020–3.
- Savill, J., Dransfield, I., Gregory, C., Haslett, C., 2002. A blast from the past: clearance of apoptotic cells regulates immune responses. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 2, 965–75.
- Savill, J.S., Wyllie, A.H., Henson, J.E., Walport, M.J., Henson, P.M., Haslett, C., 1989.
 Macrophage phagocytosis of aging neutrophils in inflammation. Programmed cell death in the neutrophil leads to its recognition by macrophages. J. Clin. Invest. 83, 865–75.
- Sbarra, A., Karnovsky, M., 1959b. The biochemical basis of phagocytosis. I. Metabolic changes during the ingestion of particles by polymorphonuclear leukocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 234, 1355–62.
- Schauer, C., Janko, C., Munoz, L.E., Zhao, Y., Kienhöfer, D., Frey, B., Lell, M., Manger, B., Rech, J., Naschberger, E., Holmdahl, R., Krenn, V., Harrer, T., Jeremic, I., Bilyy, R., Schett, G., Hoffmann, M., Herrmann, M., 2014. Aggregated neutrophil extracellular traps limit inflammation by degrading cytokines and chemokines. Nat. Med. 20, 511–7.
- Schenkman, K.A., Yan, S., 2000. Propofol impairment of mitochondrial respiration in isolated perfused guinea pig hearts determined by reflectance spectroscopy. Crit. Care Med. 28, 172–7.
- Schuster, D.P., Brody, S.L., Zhou, Z., Bernstein, M., Arch, R., Link, D., Mueckler, M., 2007. Regulation of lipopolysaccharide-induced increases in neutrophil glucose uptake. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 292, L845-51.
- Schwab, J.M., Chiang, N., Arita, M., Serhan, C.N., 2007. Resolvin E1 and protectin D1 activate inflammation-resolution programmes. Nature 447, 869–74.
- Schymeinsky, J., Mócsai, A., Walzog, B., 2007. Molecular mechanisms and clinical implications 262–273.
- Seekamp, A., van Griensven, M., Hildebrandt, F., Brauer, N., Jochum, M., Martin, M., 2001. The effect of trauma on neutrophil L-selectin expression and sL-selectin serum levels.

Shock 15, 254–60.

- Seely, A.J.E., Pascual, J.L., Christou, N. V, 2003. Science review: Cell membrane expression (connectivity) regulates neutrophil delivery, function and clearance. Crit. Care 7, 291– 307.
- Segal, A.W., 2005. How neutrophils kill microbes. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 23, 197–223.
- Segal, A.W., Abo, A., 1993. The biochemical basis of the NADPH oxidase of phagocytes. Trends Biochem. Sci. 18, 43–7.
- Segal, A.W., Dorling, J., Coade, S., 1980. Kinetics of fusion of the cytoplasmic granules with phagocytic vacuoles in human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. Biochemical and morphological studies. J. Cell Biol. 85, 42–59.
- Segal, B.H., Davidson, B.A., Hutson, A.D., Russo, T.A., Holm, B.A., Mullan, B., Habitzruther, M., Holland, S.M., Knight, P.R., 2007. Acid aspiration-induced lung inflammation and injury are exacerbated in NADPH oxidase-deficient mice. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 292, L760-8.
- Segal, B.H., Han, W., Bushey, J.J., Joo, M., Bhatti, Z., Feminella, J., Dennis, C.G., Vethanayagam, R.R., Yull, F.E., Capitano, M., Wallace, P.K., Minderman, H., Christman, J.W., Sporn, M.B., Chan, J., Vinh, D.C., Holland, S.M., Romani, L.R., Gaffen, S.L., Freeman, M.L., Blackwell, T.S., 2010. NADPH oxidase limits innate immune responses in the lungs in mice. PLoS One 5, e9631.
- Semenza, G.L., Roth, P.H., Fang, H.M., Wang, G.L., 1994. Transcriptional regulation of genes encoding glycolytic enzymes by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 23757– 63.
- Seong, S., Matzinger, P., 2004a. Hydrophobicity: an ancient damage-associated molecular pattern that initiates innate immune responses. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 4, 469–78.
- Serhan, C.N., Petasis, N.A., 2011. Resolvins and protectins in inflammation resolution. Chem. Rev. 111, 5922–43.
- Sevier, C.S., Kaiser, C.A., 2008. Erol and redox homeostasis in the endoplasmic reticulum. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1783, 549–56.
- Sfeir, T., Saha, D.C., Astiz, M., Rackow, E.C., 2001. Role of interleukin-10 in monocyte hyporesponsiveness associated with septic shock. Crit. Care Med. 29, 129–33.
- Sheth, K., De, A., Nolan, B., Friel, J., Duffy, A., Ricciardi, R., Miller-Graziano, C., Bankey, P., 2001. Heat shock protein 27 inhibits apoptosis in human neutrophils. J. Surg. Res. 99, 129–33.
- Shih, H.-C., Huang, M.-S., Lee, C.-H., 2010. Polymorphonuclear cell priming associated with NF-kB activation in patients with severe injury is partially dependent on macrophage migration inhibitory factor. J. Am. Coll. Surg. 211, 791–7.
- Shih, H.C., Su, C.H., Lee, C.H., 1999. Superoxide production of neutrophils after severe injury: impact of subsequent surgery and sepsis. Am. J. Emerg. Med. 17, 15–8.
- Shultz, L.D., Ishikawa, F., Greiner, D.L., 2007. Humanized mice in translational biomedical research. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 7, 118–30.
- Shyamsundar, M., McAuley, D.F., Shields, M.O., MacSweeney, R., Duffy, M.J., Johnston, J.R.,

McGuigan, J., Backman, J.T., Calfee, C.S., Matthay, M.M., Griffiths, M.J., McDowell, C., Elborn, S.J., O'Kane, C.M., 2014. Effect of simvastatin on physiological and biological outcomes in patients undergoing esophagectomy: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. Ann. Surg. 259, 26–31.

- Simmons, J.D., Lee, Y.-L., Mulekar, S., Kuck, J.L., Brevard, S.B., Gonzalez, R.P., Gillespie, M.N., Richards, W.O., 2013. Elevated levels of plasma mitochondrial DNA DAMPs are linked to clinical outcome in severely injured human subjects. Ann. Surg. 258, 591-6-8.
- Simon, H.-U., 2003. Neutrophil apoptosis pathways and their modifications in inflammation. Immunol. Rev. 193, 101–10.
- Simons, K., Gerl, M.J., 2010. Revitalizing membrane rafts: new tools and insights. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 11, 688–699.
- Singer, M., Deutschman, C.S., Seymour, C.W., Shankar-Hari, M., Annane, D., Bauer, M., Bellomo, R., Bernard, G.R., Chiche, J.-D., Coopersmith, C.M., Hotchkiss, R.S., Levy, M.M., Marshall, J.C., Martin, G.S., Opal, S.M., Rubenfeld, G.D., van der Poll, T., Vincent, J.-L., Angus, D.C., 2016. The Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA 315, 801.
- Skulachev, V.P., 2007. A biochemical approach to the problem of aging: "megaproject" on membrane-penetrating ions. The first results and prospects. Biochem. Biokhimiia 72, 1385–96.
- Słotwiński, R., Olszewski, W., Słodkowski, M., Lech, G., Zaleska, M., Kędziora, S., Włuka, A., Domaszewska, A., Słotwińska, S., Krasnodębski, W., Wójcik, Z., Słotwin, R., 2011. Apoptosis in lymphocytes of pancreatic cancer patients: influence of preoperative enteral immunonutrition and extensive surgery. Arch. Immunol. Ther. Exp. (Warsz). 59, 385–97.
- Smalley, D.M., Ley, K.,. L-selectin: mechanisms and physiological significance of ectodomain cleavage. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 9, 255–66.
- Smith, C.W., Marlin, S.D., Rothlein, R., Toman, C., Anderson, D.C., 1989. Cooperative interactions of LFA-1 and Mac-1 with intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in facilitating adherence and transendothelial migration of human neutrophils in vitro. J. Clin. Invest. 83, 2008–17.
- Smith, J., 1994. Newutrophil, host defense and inflammation: a double-edged sword. J Leuk Biol 56, 672–686.
- Smolen, J.E., Petersen, T.K., Koch, C., O'Keefe, S.J., Hanlon, W.A., Seo, S., Pearson, D., Fossett, M.C., Simon, S.I., 2000. L-selectin signaling of neutrophil adhesion and degranulation involves p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 15876– 84.
- Snyder, G.L., Greenberg, S., 2010. Effect of anaesthetic technique and other perioperative factors on cancer recurrence 105, 106–115.
- Sprung, C.L., Annane, D., Keh, D., Moreno, R., Singer, M., Freivogel, K., Weiss, Y.G., Benbenishty, J., Kalenka, A., Forst, H., Laterre, P.-F., Reinhart, K., Cuthbertson, B.H., Payen, D., Briegel, J., 2008. Hydrocortisone therapy for patients with septic shock. N. Engl. J. Med. 358, 111–24.
- Srere, P., 1994. Complexities of metabolic regulation. Trends Biochem. Sci. 19, 519-520.

Stadtmann, A., Zarbock, A., 2012. CXCR2: From Bench to Bedside. Front. Immunol. 3, 263.

- Steinberg, B.E., Grinstein, S., 2007. Unconventional roles of the NADPH oxidase: signaling, ion homeostasis, and cell death. Sci. STKE 379:pe11.
- Steinberg, K.P., Milberg, J.A., Martin, T.R., Maunder, R.J., Cockrill, B.A., Hudson, L.D., 1994. Evolution of bronchoalveolar cell populations in the adult respiratory distress syndrome. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 150, 113–22.
- Stephan, F., Yang, K., Tankovic, J., Soussy, C.-J., Dhonneur, G., Duvaldestin, P., Brochard, L., Brun-Buisson, C., Harf, A., Delclaux, C., 2002. Impairment of polymorphonuclear neutrophil functions precedes nosocomial infections in critically ill patients. Crit. Care Med. 30, 315–22.
- Stevanato, R., Momo, F., Marian, M., Rigobello, M.P., Bindoli, A., Bragadin, M., Vincenti, E., Scutari, G., 2002. Effects of nitrosopropola on mitochondrial energy-converting system. Biochem. Pharmacol. 64, 1133–8.
- Stewart, D., Fulton, W.B., Wilson, C., Monitto, C.L., Paidas, C.N., Reeves, R.H., De Maio, A., 2002. Genetic contribution to the septic response in a mouse model. Shock 18, 342–7.
- Stipancic, I., Zarkovic, N., Servis, D., Sabolović, S., Tatzber, F., Busic, Z., 2005. Oxidative Stress Markers After Laparoscopic and Open Cholecystectomy. J. Laparoendosc. Adv. Surg. Tech. 15, 347–352.
- Stocks, S.C., Ruchaud-Sparagano, M.H., Kerr, M.A., Grunert, F., Haslett, C., Dransfield, I., 1996. CD66: role in the regulation of neutrophil effector function. Eur. J. Immunol. 26, 2924–32.
- Strassheim, D., Park, J.S., Abraham, E., 2002. Sepsis: current concepts in intracellular signaling. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 34, 1527–33.
- Stringer, W.W., 2010. Cardiopulmonary exercise testing: current applications. Expert Rev. Respir. Med. 4, 179–88.
- Stutz, A., Golenbock, D.T., Latz, E., 2009. Inflammasomes: too big to miss. J. Clin. Invest. 119, 3502–11.
- Sugimoto, M., Shimaoka, M., Hosotsubo, K., Tanigami, H., Taenaka, N., Kiyono, H., Yoshiya, I., 1998. Up-regulation of Fas ligand (FasL) mRNA expression in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) after major surgery. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 112, 120–5.
- Svistunenko, D.A., Davies, N., Brealey, D., Singer, M., Cooper, C.E., 2006. Mitochondrial dysfunction in patients with severe sepsis: an EPR interrogation of individual respiratory chain components. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1757, 262–72.
- Taanman, J.W., 1999. The mitochondrial genome: structure, transcription, translation and replication. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1410, 103–23.
- Talwar, S., Munson, P.J., Barb, J., Fiuza, C., Cintron, A.P., Logun, C., Tropea, M., Khan, S., Reda, D., Shelhamer, J.H., Danner, R.L., Suffredini, A.F., 2006. Gene expression profiles of peripheral blood leukocytes after endotoxin challenge in humans. Physiol. Genomics 25, 203–15.
- Tamassia, N., Le Moigne, V., Calzetti, F., Donini, M., Gasperini, S., Ear, T., Cloutier, A., Martinez, F.O., Fabbri, M., Locati, M., Mantovani, A., McDonald, P.P., Cassatella, M. a., 2007. The MyD88-independent pathway is not mobilized in human neutrophils

stimulated via TLR4. J. Immunol. 178, 7344-7356.

- Tan, a S., Ahmed, N., Berridge, M. V, 1998. Acute regulation of glucose transport after activation of human peripheral blood neutrophils by phorbol myristate acetate, fMLP, and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor. Blood 91, 649–655.
- Tanaka, H., Ogura, H., Yokota, J., Sugimoto, H., Yoshioka, T., Sugimoto, T., 1991. Acceleration of superoxide production from leukocytes in trauma patients. Ann. Surg. 214, 187–92.
- Taneja, R., Parodo, J., Jia, S.H., Kapus, A., Rotstein, O.D., Marshall, J.C., 2004. Delayed neutrophil apoptosis in sepsis is associated with maintenance of mitochondrial transmembrane potential and reduced caspase-9 activity. Crit. Care Med. 32, 1460– 1469.
- Teles, L.M.B., Aquino, E.N., Neves, A.C.D., Garcia, C.H.S., Roepstorff, P., Fontes, B., Castro, M.S., Fontes, W., 2012. Comparison of the neutrophil proteome in trauma patients and normal controls. Protein Pept. Lett. 19, 663–72.
- Terstappen, L.W., Safford, M., Loken, M.R., 1990. Flow cytometric analysis of human bone marrow. III. Neutrophil maturation. Leukemia 4, 657–63.
- Thierbach, G., Reichenbach, H., 1981. Myxothiazol, a new inhibitor of the cytochrome bcl segment of th respiratory chain. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 638, 282–9.
- Traber, D.L., Redl, H., Schlag, G., Herndon, D.N., Kimura, R., Prien, T., Traber, L.D., 1988. Cardiopulmonary responses to continuous administration of endotoxin. Am. J. Physiol. 254, H833-9.
- Triantafilou, M., Triantafilou, K., 2002. Lipopolysaccharide recognition: CD14, TLRs and the LPS-activation cluster. Trends Immunol. 23, 301–4.
- Trnka, J., Blaikie, F.H., Logan, A., Smith, R.A.J., Murphy, M.P., 2009. Antioxidant properties of MitoTEMPOL and its hydroxylamine. Free Radic. Res. 43, 4–12.
- Tung, J.W., Heydari, K., Tirouvanziam, R., Sahaf, B., Parks, D.R., Herzenberg, L.A., Herzenberg, L.A., 2007. Modern flow cytometry: a practical approach. Clin. Lab. Med. 27, 453–68.
- Turrel-Davin, F., Guignant, C., Lepape, A., Mougin, B., Monneret, G., Venet, F., 2010. Upregulation of the pro-apoptotic genes BID and FAS in septic shock patients. Crit. Care 14, R133.
- Tyagi, S.R., Tamura, M., Burnham, D.N., Lambeth, J.D., 1988. Phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) augments chemoattractant-induced diglyceride generation in human neutrophils but inhibits phosphoinositide hydrolysis. Implications for the mechanism of PMA priming of the respiratory burst. J. Biol. Chem. 263, 13191–8.
- Vaki, I., Kranidioti, H., Karagianni, V., Spyridaki, A., Kotsaki, A., Routsi, C., Giamarellos-Bourboulis, E.J., 2011. An early circulating factor in severe sepsis modulates apoptosis of monocytes and lymphocytes. J. Leukoc. Biol. 89, 343–9.
- Valente, S. a, Fallon, W.F., Alexander, T.S., Tomas, E.R., Evancho-Chapman, M.M., Schmidt, S.P., Gorski, R., Pizov, O., DeFine, L., Clark, A.J., 2009. Immunologic function in the elderly after injury--the neutrophil and innate immunity. J. Trauma 67, 968–74.

van der Poll, T., Calvano, S.E., Kumar, A., Braxton, C.C., Coyle, S.M., Barbosa, K., Moldawer,

L.L., Lowry, S.F., 1995. Endotoxin induces downregulation of tumor necrosis factor receptors on circulating monocytes and granulocytes in humans. Blood 86, 2754–9.

- van der Poll, T., Coyle, S.M., Moldawer, L.L., Lowry, S.F., 1996. Changes in endotoxininduced cytokine production by whole blood after in vivo exposure of normal humans to endotoxin. J. Infect. Dis. 174, 1356–60.
- Van Leeuwen, P., Boermeester, M. Houdijk, P., Ferwerda, C.C., Cuesta, M., Meyer, S., Wesdorp, R.I., 1994. Clinical significance of translocation. Gut 35, S28-34.
- van Pelt, L.J., van Zwieten, R., Weening, R.S., Roos, D., Verhoeven, A.J., Bolscher, B.G., 1996. Limitations on the use of dihydrorhodamine 123 for flow cytometric analysis of the neutrophil respiratory burst. J. Immunol. Methods 191, 187–96.
- van Raam, B.J., Sluiter, W., de Wit, E., Roos, D., Verhoeven, A.J., Kuijpers, T.W., Raam, B.J. Van, Wit, E. De, 2008. Mitochondrial membrane potential in human neutrophils is maintained by complex III activity in the absence of supercomplex organisation. PLoS One 3, e2013.
- Van Spriel, a. B., Leusen, J.H.W., Van Egmond, M., Dijkman, H.B.P.M., Assmann, K.J.M., Mayadas, T.N., Van de Winkel, J.G.J., 2001. Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18) is essential for Fc receptor-mediated neutrophil cytotoxicity and immunologic synapse formation. Blood 97, 2478–2486.
- Vandenesch, F., Lina, G., Henry, T., 2012. Staphylococcus aureus hemolysins, bi-component leukocidins, and cytolytic peptides: a redundant arsenal of membrane-damaging virulence factors? Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 2, 12.
- Vander Heiden, M. G., Cantley, L.C., Thompson, C.B., 2009. Understanding the Warburg Effect: the metabolic requirements of cells proliferation. Science (80-.). 324, 1029– 1033.
- Vermes, I., Haanen, C., Steffens-Nakken, H., Reutelingsperger, C., 1995. A novel assay for apoptosis. Flow cytometric detection of phosphatidylserine expression on early apoptotic cells using fluorescein labelled Annexin V. J. Immunol. Methods 184, 39–51.
- Vincent, A.M., Olzmann, J.A., Brownlee, M., Sivitz, W.I., Russell, J.W., 2004. Uncoupling Proteins Prevent Glucose-Induced Neuronal Oxidative Stress and Programmed Cell Death. Diabetes 53, 726-34
- Visser, T., Hietbrink, F., Groeneveld, K.M., Koenderman, L., Leenen, L.P.H., 2011. Isolated blunt chest injury leads to transient activation of circulating neutrophils. Eur. J. Trauma Emerg. Surg. 37, 177–184.
- von Gunten, S., Simon, H.-U., 2006. Autophagic-like cell death in neutrophils induced by autoantibodies. Autophagy 3, 67–8.
- Wakefield, C.H., Carey, P.D., Foulds, S., Monson, J.R., Guillou, P.J., 1995. Surgery and the release of a neutrophil Fc gamma receptor. Am. J. Surg. 170, 277–84.
- Walrand, S., Valeix, S., Rodriguez, C., Ligot, P., Chassagne, J., Vasson, M.-P., 2003. Flow cytometry study of polymorphonuclear neutrophil oxidative burst: a comparison of three fluorescent probes. Clin. Chim. Acta. 331, 103–10.
- Walzog, B., Schuppan, D., Heimpel, C., Hafezi-Moghadam, A., Gaehtgens, P., Ley, K., 1995. The leukocyte integrin Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18) contributes to binding of human

granulocytes to collagen. Exp. Cell Res. 218, 28-38.

- Ward, R.A., Nakamura, M., McLeish, K.R., 2000. Priming of the neutrophil respiratory burst involves p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase-dependent exocytosis of flavocytochrome b558-containing granules. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 36713–9.
- Warnold, I., Lundholm, K., 1984. Clinical significance of preoperative nutritional status in 215 noncancer patients. Ann. Surg. 199, 299–305.
- Warren, H.S., 2009. Editorial: Mouse models to study sepsis syndrome in humans. J. Leukoc. Biol. 86, 199–201.
- Waterman, W.H., Sha'afi, R.I., 1995. Effects of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor and tumour necrosis factor-alpha on tyrosine phosphorylation and activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases in human neutrophils. Biochem. J. 307, 39–45.
- Watson, R.W., O'Neill, a, Brannigan, a E., Brannigen, a E., Coffey, R., Marshall, J.C., Brady, H.R., Fitzpatrick, J.M., 1999. Regulation of Fas antibody induced neutrophil apoptosis is both caspase and mitochondrial dependent. FEBS Lett. 453, 67–71.
- Watson, R.W., Redmond, H.P., Wang, J.H., Condron, C., Bouchier-Hayes, D., 1996. Neutrophils undergo apoptosis following ingestion of Escherichia coli. J. Immunol. 156, 3986–92.
- Watson, R.W., Rotstein, O.D., Nathens, A.B., Parodo, J., Marshall, J.C., 1997. Neutrophil apoptosis is modulated by endothelial transmigration and adhesion molecule engagement. J. Immunol. 158, 945–53.
- Watts, J.A., Kline, J.A., Thornton, L.R., Grattan, R.M., Brar, S.S., 2004. Metabolic dysfunction and depletion of mitochondria in hearts of septic rats. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 36, 141–50.
- Webb, J., Elliott, K., 1951. Effects of narcotics and convulsants on tissue glycolysis and respiration. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 103, 24–34.
- Weber, S.U., Schewe, J., Lehmann, L.E., Müller, S., Book, M., Klaschik, S., Hoeft, A., Stüber, F., 2008. Induction of Bim and Bid gene expression during accelerated apoptosis in severe sepsis 12, 1–10.
- Wedmore, C. V, Williams, T.J., 1981. Control of vascular permeability by polymorphonuclear leukocytes in inflammation. Nature 289, 646–50.
- Weisdorf, D.J., Craddock, P.R., Jacob, H.S., 1982a. Granulocytes utilize different energy sources for movement and phagocytosis. Blood 6, 888–93.
- Weiser, T.G., Regenbogen, S.E., Thompson, K.D., Haynes, A.B., Lipsitz, S.R., Berry, W.R., Gawande, A.A., 2008. An estimation of the global volume of surgery: a modelling strategy based on available data. Lancet 372, 139–144.
- Weiss, S.L., Selak, M.A., Tuluc, F., Perales Villarroel, J., Nadkarni, V.M., Deutschman, C.S., Becker, L.B., 2015. Mitochondrial dysfunction in peripheral blood mononuclear cells in pediatric septic shock. Pediatr. Crit. Care Med. 16, e4–e12.
- Weniger, M., D'Haese, J.G., Angele, M.K., Chaudry, I.H., 2015. Potential therapeutic targets for sepsis in women. Expert Opin. Ther. Targets 1–13.
- Wenisch, C., Fladerer, P., Patruta, S., Krause, R., 2001. Assessment of Neutrophil Function in Patients with Septic Shock : Comparison of Methods 8, 178–180.

- Wenisch, C., Graninger, W., 1995. Are soluble factors relevant for polymorphonuclear leukocyte dysregulation in septicemia? Clin. Diagn. Lab. Immunol. 2, 241–5.
- Werdehausen, R., Braun, S., Essmann, F., Schulze-Osthoff, K., Walczak, H., Lipfert, P., Stevens, M.F., 2007. Lidocaine induces apoptosis via the mitochondrial pathway independently of death receptor signaling. Anesthesiology 107, 136–43.
- West, M. a, Koons, A., Crandall, M., Skinner, R., Worley, M., Shapiro, M.B., 2007. Whole blood leukocyte mitogen activated protein kinases activation differentiates intensive care unit patients with systemic inflammatory response syndrome and sepsis. J. Trauma 62, 805–11.
- White, M., Mahon, V., Grealy, R., Doherty, D.G., Stordeur, P., Kelleher, D.P., McManus, R., Ryan, T., 2011. Post-operative infection and sepsis in humans is associated with deficient gene expression of γc cytokines and their apoptosis mediators. Crit. Care 15, R158.
- Wiezer, M.J., Meijer, C., Sietses, C., Prins, H.A., Cuesta, M. a, Beelen, R.H., Meijer, S., van Leeuwen, P. a, 2000. Bactericidal/permeability-increasing protein preserves leukocyte functions after major liver resection. Ann. Surg. 232, 208–15.
- William, R., Watson, G., Neill, A., Brannigen, A., Coffey, R., Marshall, J.C., Brady, H.R., Fitzpatrick, J.M., 1999. Regulation of Fas antibody induced neutrophil apoptosis is both caspase and mitochondrial dependent. FEBS Lett. 453, 67–71.
- Winder, W.W., Hardie, D.G., 1999. AMP-activated protein kinase, a metabolic master switch: possible roles in type 2 diabetes. Am. J. Physiol. 277, E1-10.
- Windsor, J.A., Hill, G.L., 1988. Weight loss with physiologic impairment. A basic indicator of surgical risk. Ann. Surg. 207, 290–6.
- Wosniak, J., Santos, C.X.C., Kowaltowski, A.J., Laurindo, F.R.M., 2009. Cross-talk between mitochondria and NADPH oxidase: effects of mild mitochondrial dysfunction on angiotensin II-mediated increase in Nox isoform expression and activity in vascular smooth muscle cells. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 11, 1265–78.
- Wright, S.D., Ramos, R. a, Hermanowski-Vosatka, a, Rockwell, P., Detmers, P. a, 1991. Activation of the adhesive capacity of CR3 on neutrophils by endotoxin: dependence on lipopolysaccharide binding protein and CD14. J. Exp. Med. 173, 1281–6.
- Wyche, K.E., Wang, S.S., Griendling, K.K., Dikalov, S.I., Austin, H., Rao, S., Fink, B., Harrison, D.G., Zafari, A.M., 2004. C242T CYBA polymorphism of the NADPH oxidase is associated with reduced respiratory burst in human neutrophils. Hypertension 43, 1246–51.
- Xiao, W., Mindrinos, M.N., Seok, J., Cuschieri, J., Cuenca, A.G., Gao, H., Hayden, D.L., Hennessy, L., Moore, E.E., Minei, J.P., Bankey, P.E., Johnson, J.L., Sperry, J., Nathens, A.B., Billiar, T.R., West, M. a., Brownstein, B.H., Mason, P.H., Baker, H. V., Finnerty, C.C., Jeschke, M.G., López, M.C., Klein, M.B., Gamelli, R.L., Gibran, N.S., Arnoldo, B., Xu, W., Zhang, Y., Calvano, S.E., McDonald-Smith, G.P., Schoenfeld, D. a., Storey, J.D., Cobb, J.P., Warren, H.S., Moldawer, L.L., Herndon, D.N., Lowry, S.F., Maier, R. V., Davis, R.W., Tompkins, R.G., Lopez, M.C., Klein, M.B., Gamelli, R.L., Gibran, N.S., Arnoldo, B., Xu, W., Zhang, Y., Calvano, S.E., McDonald-Smith, G.P., Schoenfeld, D. a., Storey, J.D., Cobb, J.P., Warren, H.S., Moldawer, L.L., Herndon, D.N., Lowry, S.F., Maier, R. V., Davis, R.W., Tompkins, R.G., López, M.C., Klein, M.B., Gamelli, R.L.,

Gibran, N.S., Arnoldo, B., Xu, W., Zhang, Y., Calvano, S.E., McDonald-Smith, G.P., Schoenfeld, D. a., Storey, J.D., Cobb, J.P., Warren, H.S., Moldawer, L.L., Herndon, D.N., Lowry, S.F., Maier, R. V., Davis, R.W., Tompkins, R.G., Lopez, M.C., Klein, M.B., Gamelli, R.L., Gibran, N.S., Arnoldo, B., Xu, W., Zhang, Y., Calvano, S.E., McDonald-Smith, G.P., Schoenfeld, D. a., Storey, J.D., Cobb, J.P., Warren, H.S., Moldawer, L.L., Herndon, D.N., Lowry, S.F., Maier, R. V., Davis, R.W., Tompkins, R.G., López, M.C., Klein, M.B., Gamelli, R.L., Gibran, N.S., Arnoldo, B., Xu, W., Zhang, Y., Calvano, S.E., McDonald-Smith, G.P., Schoenfeld, D. a., Storey, J.D., Cobb, J.P., Warren, H.S., Moldawer, L.L., Herndon, D.N., Lowry, S.F., Maier, R. V., Davis, R.W., Tompkins, R.G., 2011. A genomic storm in critically injured humans. J. Exp. Med. 208, 2581–90.

- Yamada, K., Saito, M., Matsuoka, H., Inagaki, N., 2007. A real-time method of imaging glucose uptake in single, living mammalian cells. Nat. Protoc. 2, 753–62.
- Yamamoto, A., Taniuchi, S., Tsuji, S., Hasui, M., Kobayashi, Y., 2002. Role of reactive oxygen species in neutrophil apoptosis following ingestion of heat-killed Staphylococcus aureus. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 129, 479–84.
- Yang, W., Zheng, Y., Xia, Y., Ji, H., Chen, X., Guo, F., Lyssiotis, C.A., Aldape, K., Cantley, L.C., Lu, Z., 2012. ERK1/2-dependent phosphorylation and nuclear translocation of PKM2 promotes the Warburg effect. Nat. Cell Biol. 14, 1295–304.
- Yasuhara, S., Zhu, Y., Matsui, T., Tipirneni, N., Yasuhara, Y., Kaneki, M., Rosenzweig, A., Martyn, J.A.J., 2003. Comparison of comet assay, electron microscopy, and flow cytometry for detection of apoptosis. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 51, 873–85.
- Yealy, D.M., Kellum, J.A., Huang, D.T., Barnato, A.E., Weissfeld, L.A., Pike, F., Terndrup, T., Wang, H.E., Hou, P.C., LoVecchio, F., Filbin, M.R., Shapiro, N.I., Angus, D.C., 2014. A randomized trial of protocol-based care for early septic shock. N. Engl. J. Med. 370, 1683–93.
- Yoshioka, K., Takahashi, H., Homma, T., Saito, M., Oh, K.B., Nemoto, Y., Matsuoka, H., 1996. A novel fluorescent derivative of glucose applicable to the assessment of glucose uptake activity of Escherichia coli. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1289, 5–9.
- Yousef, A.A., Suliman, G. a, Mabrouk, M.M., 2010. The value of correlation of serum 20S proteasome concentration and percentage of lymphocytic apoptosis in critically ill patients: a prospective observational study. Crit. Care 14, R215.
- Zhang, B., Hirahashi, J., Cullere, X., Mayadas, T.N., 2003. Elucidation of molecular events leading to neutrophil apoptosis following phagocytosis: cross-talk between caspase 8, reactive oxygen species, and MAPK/ERK activation. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 28443–54.
- Zhang, H., Gao, P., Fukuda, R., Kumar, G., Krishnamachary, B., Zeller, K.I., Dang, C. V, Semenza, G.L., 2007. HIF-1 inhibits mitochondrial biogenesis and cellular respiration in VHL-deficient renal cell carcinoma by repression of C-MYC activity. Cancer Cell 11, 407–20.
- Zhang, Q., Raoof, M., Chen, Y., Sumi, Y., Sursal, T., Junger, W., Brohi, K., Itagaki, K., Hauser, C.J., 2010. Circulating mitochondrial DAMPs cause inflammatory responses to injury. Nature 464, 104–7.
- Zhang, X., Kluger, Y., Nakayama, Y., Poddar, R., Whitney, C., DeTora, A., Weissman, S.M., Newburger, P.E., 2004. Gene expression in mature neutrophils: early responses to inflammatory stimuli. J. Leukoc. Biol. 75, 358–72.

- Zhang, Y., Li, J., Lou, J., Zhou, Y., Bo, L., Zhu, J., Zhu, K., Wan, X., Cai, Z., Deng, X., 2011. Upregulation of programmed death-1 on T cells and programmed death ligand-1 on monocytes in septic shock patients. Crit. Care 15, R70.
- Zhang, Z., Lowry, S.F., Guarente, L., Haimovich, B., 2010. Roles of SIRT1 in the acute and restorative phases following induction of inflammation. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 41391–401.
- Zhou, R., Yazdi, A.S., Menu, P., Tschopp, J., 2011. A role for mitochondria in NLRP3 inflammasome activation. Nature 469, 221–5.
- Zmijewski, J.W., Lorne, E., Banerjee, S., Abraham, E., 2009. Participation of mitochondrial respiratory complex III in neutrophil activation and lung injury. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 296, L624-34.
- Zmijewski, J.W., Lorne, E., Zhao, X., Tsuruta, Y., Sha, Y., Liu, G., Siegal, G.P., Abraham, E., 2008. Mitochondrial respiratory complex I regulates neutrophil activation and severity of lung injury. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 178, 168–79.
- Zoratti, M., Szabb, I., 1995. The mitochondrial permeability transition pore. A Biophys. 1241, 139–176.